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Meet Andrew
A patient praises the ‘brilliant’ treatment, care and 
communication from the Royal Free Hospital’s kidney 
cancer team.

Andrew Ellis, 48, was referred by UCLH to the Royal Free Hospital at the start of 
this year after he was diagnosed with a kidney tumour.

He came in to see the team at the Royal Free Hospital in February and discussed 
his treatment with a variety of staff members, including surgeon, Faiz Mumtaz, 
and clinical nurse specialist (CNS), David Cullen. 

Mr Ellis said he was delighted with his care from the start.

“The treatment here has been brilliant,” he said. “The staff really took the time 
to explain things to me and they let me ask questions,” he said. “I never felt 
rushed, even though I know they are all very busy. There are also lots of leaflets 
about the surgery and what I could expect, so that was really helpful.

“The best thing is that there is a CNS who you feel is really looking after you. 
You can call or email them if you have any concerns. I emailed once and David 
called me back half an hour later. That just puts you at ease.”

Mr Ellis had surgery to remove his tumour in March and was able to go home 
four days after the operation.

Mr Mumtaz carried out the operation with the help of da Vinci, a surgical robot.

He explained that the robot enabled him to remove the tumour, and only a small 
part of the kidney so that the rest of Mr Ellis’s kidney could be retained. He also 
used the robot to reconstruct the kidney so that it can continue to function. 

Mr Mumtaz said: “The robot also allows me to see a magnified image of the 
kidney so I can more easily distinguish between healthy kidney tissue and the 
tumour. This means the surgery can take place more quickly.

“During surgery the blood flow to the kidney needs to be stopped so we 
clamp the renal artery. If this takes more than 25 minutes the kidney is likely 
to suffer damage. Because the surgical robot allows me to remove the tumour 
more quickly, this reduces the clamping time and the kidney is less likely to be 
damaged.” 

“The best thing is 
that there is a CNS 
who you feel is 
really looking after 
you. You can call or 
email them if you 
have any concerns.”
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“I was so happy with 
the level of care I 
received at the Royal 
Free Hospital. Tara 
is my hero; she has 
saved my life.”

Meet Michelle
One-stop-shop makes complex vascular surgery a 
smooth journey.

After suffering an abdominal aortic aneurism, Michelle Tucknott underwent an 
operation at a hospital on the south coast to repair the damage. However, due 
to complications the operation was halted after two-and-a-half hours leaving 
her in significant discomfort and no closer to recovery.

The retired care worker was transferred to the Royal Free Hospital, which 
specialises in repairing complex aneurisms, and placed in the care of the aortic 
team and world-renowned vascular surgeon Tara Mastracci.

“Tara recommended I have a fenestrated endovascular graft that would be 
inserted inside my aorta using keyhole surgery. She was lovely. She took me 
through all my options and asked me what I wanted to do. After I opted for the 
graft she took me all the way through what was going to happen next.

“The graft was designed especially for me by the Royal Free Hospital’s aortic 
team before being hand made by a company in Australia.

“When I was referred to the Royal Free Hospital I was slightly nervous about all 
the travelling I would have to do from my home in Worthing. Before I went in 
for my first operation at the other hospital I was given loads of different dates 
for each different procedure. It was a pain, especially when I couldn’t drive and I 
had to get the train up. It was quite tiring.”

“But the aortic team at the Royal Free Hospital explained they were trialling 
a ‘one-stop-shop’ system, which means I go to as many of my pre-op 
appointments as possible in a single day. In one day I had my bloods taken, 
my swabs and scans done, and I met with the surgeons to talk through the 
procedure. It’s a much better system, especially for people like me who have to 
come from far away.”

Michelle had her operation in November 2014 and was discharged a week later. 
She is now under the care of the vascular team as an out-patient.
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“Thanks to Barnet 
Hospital I was able to 
start cooking for myself 
after about a month 
and have even started 
taking the dog for a walk. 
Hopefully I will be able to 
start playing golf again 
soon.”

Meet Derek
Joined-up hip fracture service puts patients quickly back on 
their feet.

In February 2015 82-year-old Derek Martin tripped over his front doorstep and 
fractured his right hip. He was taken to the A&E at Barnet Hospital and within 
22 hours was undergoing elective surgery for a full hip replacement.

Derek was fast-tracked through the system as part of a joint effort by the Royal 
Free London’s fractured neck of femur service, which aims to get older patients 
suffering hip fractures back on their feet as soon as possible.

The initiative is a collaboration between orthopaedic surgeons, the orthogeriatric 
team, physiotherapists and occupational therapists, as well as doctors and 
nurses, from, from A&E, theatres and anaesthetics. The team aims to get 
elderly patients who arrive at the A&E at Barnet Hospital with a fractured femur 
admitted to a ward within four hours and into surgery within 36 hours of 
admission.

Derek said: “I was taken to Barnet Hospital A&E and in what felt like no time at 
all I was up on Beech ward. A surgeon came down that day to explain that the 
best course of action was to have a total hip replacement on my right side and 
told me that I could have the operation the next day. 

“I was in shock at first. I felt angry at myself for letting this happen. The last 
time I had been in hospital was 1937 when I had my tonsils out, so I was also a 
bit apprehensive. But the doctors and nurses were very reassuring.

“After the operation I worked with a physiotherapist every day. When I was 
discharged the physiotherapist gave me a recovery plan and the occupational 
therapist made sure I had everything necessary to adapt the house to my needs.

“When I broke my hip I was afraid that I would suddenly turn into an old man 
and not be able to do the things I used to do like walk the dog and play golf. 
But thanks to Barnet Hospital I was able to start cooking for myself after about a 
month and have even started taking the dog for a walk. Hopefully I will be able 
to start playing golf again soon.”
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Meet Gillian
After a ladder fell on Gillian Mayer’s leg she was left 
with a wound she feared would never heal on its own. 
But a revolutionary skin grafting technique being 
trialled at the Royal Free Hospital spared her from 
undergoing invasive skin graft surgery and cut her 
recovery time dramatically.

The Royal Free London’s plastic surgery team is the first in the country to trial 
the new CelluTome procedure, which allows patients to be treated for unhealed 
wounds as out-patients, without the need for surgery or anaesthetic. 

Gillian said: “When the ladder fell on my leg I had no idea how deep it was. It 
was painful, but there wasn’t much blood so I just cleaned it up and put on a 
dressing. 

“But nearly three weeks later it still wasn’t healing. While I was at an 
appointment at the plastic surgery clinic at Mount Vernon Hospital, where I was 
being treated for skin cancer, a doctor referred me to the Royal Free Hospital to 
undergo the CelluTome treatment.”

A traditional skin graft involves surgically removing healthy skin from a donor 
site elsewhere on the body before applying it to the affected area, usually while 
the patient is under general anaesthesia.

CelluTome, however, uses a combination of suction and warmth to cause the 
skin’s surface to blister until it can be removed and captured on silicone gauze, 
which is then cut into strips and applied to the wound site.

“It was all done in an out-patient clinic in about an hour,” said Gillian. “I 
could only feel a slight pin pricking. The heat from the machine was not 
uncomfortable at all and I was able to go home the same day.

“The wound healed very quickly and there was no scarring at all on the donor 
site. I feel privileged to take part in this trial. It’s amazing how the treatment 
works. I was lucky to be in the clinic at the right time.”

“Pioneering wound 
treatment by the 
plastic surgery 
team is ‘amazing’”
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The past year has been one of 
the most important in our history. 
With the acquisition of Barnet and 
Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, we 
now provide services to 1.6 million 
patients at more than 30 sites in 
north London and Hertfordshire. 

The bringing together of our two 
trusts into one organisation gives us 
the opportunity to provide better 
care nearer to patients’ homes, use 
NHS resources more efficiently and 
help more patients to benefit from 
clinical research. It also creates a 
10,000-strong team of staff with 
greater opportunities for career 
progression and the potential 
to benefit from the training and 
research of a larger clinical and 
academic network. 

We may be a new trust but our 
aspiration remains the same: to 
provide our patients with world 
class expertise and local care. We 
continue to measure our progress 
towards this goal against five 
governing objectives:

Excellent outcomes in clinical 
services, research and teaching

Mortality rates are an important 
measure of our progress in this area 
and we remain among the best in 
the country, a position we have held 
for many years. We are ranked sixth 
and eighth best performing against 
the two main measures of mortality 
risk, compared to our peer group of 
26 English teaching trusts.  

We have seen good progress on 
infection control, for example 
the number of cases of C.difficile 
infections has fallen by 16% during 
the year. 

Our affiliated university, UCL, is 
ranked top in the UK and fifth in 
the world for research, which has 
continued to be a priority for the 
trust. We have made important 
advances in the search for better 
treatments for Parkinson’s disease 
and made important discoveries 
about what causes diabetes and 
primary immunodeficiency. We 
have also learned much about the 
treatment of the Ebola virus and 
seen the complete recovery of three 
patients admitted to our high level 
isolation unit. 

Our campus of UCL’s medical school 
has once again helped train around 
600 medical students and we have 
also trained many nurses, midwives 
and other health professionals. 

Excellent experience for our 
patients and staff

How we care for our patients is 
as important as the treatment 
we give them. We want all our 
patients, their carers, family 
and friends to feel welcome, 
respected and reassured by well-
trained, compassionate staff who 
communicate with them clearly.

One of the ways we measure our 
progress is with the national friends 
and family test. We ask all adult 
patients who attend A&E or a ward 
how likely it is that they would 
recommend us to friends and family. 
We are pleased that 88.3% of our 
15,546 in-patients were likely or 
very likely to recommend us and we 
will use their feedback to help us 
improve further. 

Our aspiration 
remains to provide 
patients with world 
class care and 
expertise. We do 
this by continually 
focusing on 
improving against 
our five governing 
objectives.

A word from our  
chairman and chief executive
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David Sloman, chief executive (left) and Dominic Dodd, chairman



Continual development of 
a strong and highly capable 
organisation

Expansion into a three hospital 
trust which also has a network of 
clinics and other services across 
north London and Hertfordshire 
has increased our resilience at a 
time when NHS services are under 
great pressure. We are looking 
forward to developing our detailed 
plans for the new Chase Farm 
Hospital, the Institute of Immunity 
and Transplantation and the new 
emergency department. Cancer 
patients will benefit from a new 
scanner and patients with kidney 
disease will enjoy more local care 
at our two new dialysis centres. 
We will also continue to develop 
our innovative schemes for treating 
patients which help to reduce 
unnecessary admissions.

There are huge challenges facing 
the NHS and we must work even 
harder to ensure that our patients 
get the best possible care and that 
we get the best possible value for 
taxpayers’ money. We are likely 
to see the populations we serve 
continue to grow and to see more 
patients aged 85 and older with 
complex needs. At the same time 
public spending will reduce and 
both the public and our regulators’ 
expectations will rise.

The risks and uncertainties ahead 
mean that ever closer collaboration 
with our partners across the 
health and social care system will 
be needed. The key will be the 
hard work, professionalism and 
compassion of our staff to whom 
we owe a debt of thanks.

Dominic Dodd 
Chairman

David Sloman 
Chief executive
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The latest national staff survey 
placed us in the top 20% for staff 
engagement and we also achieved 
high scores for the percentage of 
staff feeling that their role made 
a difference to patients and those 
feeling satisfied with the quality 
of patient care they were able to 
deliver. It also highlighted areas 
where we need to improve.  

Excellent financial 
performance

We are reporting a deficit of 
£5.8m compared to a planned 
surplus of £8.1m for the financial 
year 2014/15. The reported deficit 
is before the £186m gain we 
recognised on receipt of the net 
assets from Barnet and Chase 
Farm Hospitals NHS Trust. We had 
a cash balance at 31 March 2015 
of £94.6m. Despite the deficit, we 
achieved a continuity of service 
risk rating of four, the lowest point 
on Monitor’s risk scale.

We improved efficiency in a 
number of key areas to create 
savings of £24.2m, notably in 
the procurement of drugs, the 
opening of the Tottenham Hale 
Kidney and Diabetes Centre and 
by using technology to reduce 
administrative costs. 

We invested £44m during the year 
in a number of improvements, 
including a new renal dialysis facility, 
equipment for cancer treatment, 
a new pharmacy robot and better 
staff changing facilities. And we are 
planning significant investments in 
the new hospital at Chase Farm, 
phase two of the institute and the 
redevelopment of the Royal Free 
Hospital’s emergency department. 

Safe and compliant with our 
external duties

We have achieved a green rating 
from our regulator, Monitor, for 
each quarter of the year, including 
the three quarters which followed 
the acquisition. We foresaw that 
some performance problems 
inherited from Barnet Hospital and 
Chase Farm Hospitals – A&E waiting 
times, the maximum allowable 
number of C.difficile infections 
and the 18-week waiting time 
for consultant-led care – would 
take some time to recover. In the 
year ahead we envisage that our 
recovery plans will take effect on 
each of those. 

Like many trusts, particularly in 
London, we have experienced 
a record number of patients 
seeking emergency treatment. 
We have been working with 
partner organisations on a range 
of initiatives designed to offer 
alternatives to A&E closer to home.

Despite the overall reduction, we 
recorded more than the maximum 
number of C.difficile infections we 
had been set for the year and we 
will make the reduction of these 
a priority for next year. We have 
undertaken a very detailed analysis 
of every infection in order to learn 
lessons for the future.

We have achieved compliance 
against the waiting time standards 
for the Royal Free Hospital. For the 
Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm 
Hospital waiting lists we have 
worked to establish exactly who 
is still waiting for treatment, while 
treating long waiters in extra clinics 
and theatre sessions. Once we have 
completed this extensive validation 
exercise we will be able to report 
correct figures. 
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Make into 2 pages????? wiil every date have a 
picture
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At a glance -  
the highlights of the year

JULY  
2014

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation 
Trust acquired Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS 
Trust on 1 July 2014 – the biggest development in the history of the 
trust for 40 years. David Sloman, the chief executive of the trust and 
other board members, visited all hospitals to welcome staff to the 
enlarged organisation. On the same day the trust’s new website was 
launched.

SEPTEMBER 
2014

William Pooley, who was admitted to the high level isolation unit (HLIU) 
at the Royal Free Hospital in August with the Ebola virus, was discharged 
after making a complete recovery. 
He described as “world class” 
the care he received from the 
team, led by infectious disease 
consultant Dr Michael Jacobs. 
Two more Ebola patients, Pauline 
Cafferkey and Anna Cross, were 
subsequently treated in the HLIU 
and both made full recoveries. 

Gary Mabbutt, 
former captain 
of Tottenham 
Hotspur opened 
the Tottenham 
Hale Kidney and 
Diabetes Centre. 
The unit has 48 
dialysis stations 
and can treat 
up to 270 patients every week. 
The centre has a low clearance 
service for patients with progressive 
kidney disease and can offer 
patients support from dieticians, 
psychologists and renal consultants.

APRIL 
2014
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FEBRUARY  
2015

MARCH 
2015

OCTOBER  
2014

The infection control team won a Nursing Times award for its work 
in investigating how an antibiotic-resistant bacteria can spread. The 
survey also looked at whether screening patients was cost effective 
and the prevalence of the infection in the patient population. 
According to the judges, the team’s investigation is of national 
importance and their findings are now being used to inform Public 
Health England’s guidelines on controlling the infection.

Planning permission was granted to construct the Pears Building. 
The new building will be home to the UCL Institute of Immunity and 
Transplantation - a world renowned research facility - the Royal Free 
Charity’s offices, plus a car park and patient accommodation. The 
building is due to open in 2017.

The trust was granted planning permission to build a new Chase Farm 
Hospital. The redevelopment will see the existing hospital, which is in 
poor condition and not well suited to modern patient care, upgraded 
to a high standard so that world-class care can be delivered in the best 
possible environment for patients and staff.

DECEMBER 
2014

Tottenham Hotspur and 
Arsenal footballers visited the 
children’s wards in December 
to deliver Christmas presents. 
Spurs captain Younes Kaboul 
was joined by teammates Eric 
Dier and Michel Vorm, and 
Tottenham Ladies’ Leanne 
Mabey at Barnet Hospital. 
At the Royal Free Hospital 
Theo Walcott, Alex Oxlade-
Chamberlain, Wojciech 
Szczesny, Mikel Arteta and 
Calum Chambers handed out 
gifts and posed for photos 
with children, parents and 
staff on the ward.

DECEMBER 
2014

TV stars Richard Madeley and Judy Finnegan presented the staff 
achievement awards at a glittering ceremony. Nearly 100 members of 
staff were nominated for awards at the 
outstanding contributions 
and rewards (OSCaRs) 
event. Richard and Judy 
praised the staff for their 
hard work and helped to 
hand out 20 awards in eight 
different categories at the 
OSCaRs event, which around 
250 people attended.
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The strategic report

The purpose of this 
strategic report – 
as set out in the 
annual reporting 
guidance for NHS 
foundation trusts – 
is to inform users of 
the accounts and 
to help them assess 
how our directors 
have performed 
in promoting the 
success of our 
organisation. 

Further information is 
published throughout 
our annual and 
quality reports. 

About us 

A long tradition 

The founding of the Royal Free 
London 187 years ago set the 
standard for patient care which 
became enshrined in the principles 
of the NHS. Since then it has 
been renowned for its treatment, 
research, education and care. 

In 1828 William Marsden, a newly 
qualified surgeon, was shocked 
that he could not help a penniless 
young woman he found collapsed 
on the steps of a London church. 
Without a letter from a hospital 
“subscriber”, no one would take 
her in and she died. Enlisting the 
help of 27 friends, four months later 
he opened the first London hospital 
to provide treatment and care on 
the basis of need rather than the 
ability to pay. History was made.

In 1837 Queen Victoria awarded 
the hospital its royal status after it 
was the only hospital in London to 
stay open during a series of cholera 
epidemics. For many years it was 

the only hospital in London to train 
women doctors, beginning a long 
association with the London School 
of Medicine for Women which later 
became known as the Royal Free 
Hospital School of Medicine.

Our work today

Since 1 July 2014 we have consisted 
of three hospitals, in Barnet, Enfield 
and Hampstead and see 1.6 million 
patients a year from all over the 
world. We provide a network of 
services in other hospitals and 
centres across north London and 
Hertfordshire. We are a regional 
centre for kidney and liver diseases, 
including transplants, and for most 
of the year covered by this report 
the only centre in the UK with a 
high level isolation unit in which we 
cared for three patients who had 
contracted the Ebola virus.

The trust is the “hub” for north 
London for both vascular and 
haemophilia, and the Royal Free 
Hospital has one of two heart attack 
centres in the area. We provide a 
national centre of excellence for 
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•	 	Researchers	at	the	Institute	of	
Immunity and Transplantation 
have made an important 
discovery about causes of type 
1 diabetes, which may help 
develop an effective treatment 
for the 400,000 people in the 
UK living with this condition.

•	 	The	Royal	Free	Hospital	has	
successfully treated three 
patients with Ebola and is now 
one of the most experienced 
centres in the world in the 
management of this disease. 
The infectious disease team 
developed innovative approaches 
with new drugs, blood tests and 
isolation tents that will aid the 
treatment of future patients.

Our mission 

Our mission is to deliver world 
class care and expertise in services, 
research, teaching and education. 
We monitor our progress against 
five governing objectives:

facial reanimation surgery and are 
the only centre in the UK specialising 
in amyloidosis. We have the 
country’s largest myeloma clinic, are 
a European centre of excellence for 
neuroendocrine tumours and one of 
only six designated units for patients 
with lysosomal storage disorders. 

In 2012 we became an NHS 
foundation trust, giving our board, 
governors and members a much 
greater say in the way we deliver our 
services for the benefit of patients.

During 2014/15 we were compliant 
with our regulators’ standards and 
maintained our enviable record for 
having some of the lowest mortality 
rates in the country.

Translating research into 
treatments faster 

The Royal Free London is a founder 
member of UCLPartners, one of 
the world’s centres of medical 
discovery, healthcare innovation 
and research, giving our patients 
access to leading specialists and the 
latest drugs and treatments.

A number of ground-breaking 
research projects have been led 
by experts at the trust, with some 
significant discoveries and progress 
made with the potential to create 
measurable benefits for individuals 
and populations:

•	 	Research	in	our	neurology	
department has shown a 
possible approach to slow down 
the progress of Parkinson’s 
disease and has been awarded a 
£1 million grant by the Medical 
Research Council to help support 
preliminary clinical trials.

•	 	Researchers	at	the	UCL	Institute	
of Immunity and Transplantation 
have discovered that doctors 
can diagnose primary 
immunodeficiency much more 
easily using a simple genetic test, 
which could mean it is easier to 
treat patients with this condition. 
The discovery was published in 
the journal Nature Medicine.

5
KEY GOVERNING 

OBJECTIVES

Each year these objectives underpin 
all our work, which currently falls 
broadly into six development 
themes: 

•	 	Excellent	outcomes	in	
clinical services, research and 
teaching

•	 	Excellent	experience	for	our	
patients and staff

•	 	Excellent	financial	
performance and value for 
taxpayers’ money

•	 	Safety	and	compliance	with	
our targets

•	 	Continual	development	of	
a strong and highly capable 
organisation

6
DEVELOPMENT  

THEMES

While working to these ends, all 
our staff are expected to operate 
according to our world class care 
values. The values expect us to be:

•	 positively	welcoming

•	 actively	respectful

•	 clearly	communicating

•	 visibly	reassuring.

•	 	Extending	the	role	of	a	
major acute provider

•	 	Being	a	network	and	system	
leader, and the surgical hub

•	 	Being	a	leader	in	the	academic	
health science system

•	 	Being	experts	in	integrated	
care

•	 Reducing	unit	costs

•	 	Gaining	new	markets	and	
income sources
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We opened a unique set of 
laboratories which will enable 
researchers to create new types 
of medicines from human cells 
to treat lung cancer, haemophilia 
and macular degeneration, 
among other diseases.

Staff engagement at the trust 
was rated higher than average 
in the same year we acquired 
another trust.

The trust was named in an 
independent report as having 
mortality rates consistently lower 
than would be expected.

A new £1.8 million linear 
accelerator was installed, giving 
more patients with cancer access 
to the latest treatments.

We opened a kidney and diabetes 
centre in Tottenham Hale to bring 
care for patients with these long-
term conditions closer to their 
homes.

One of our leading researchers 
was awarded a £1m grant to 
advance studies on a possible 
new treatment for Parkinson’s 
disease.

We launched a ground-breaking 
joint venture with another trust 
and a private company to provide 
the most up-to-date pathology 
services.

Our performance

The Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust acquired Barnet 
and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust 
on 1 July 2014. 

Despite the challenges posed by 
the acquisition and unprecedented 
pressure on A&E departments, the 
trust has been able to maintain a 
green governance risk rating with 
our regulator, Monitor. 

Our key developments

The acquisition of Barnet Hospital 
and Chase Farm Hospital and the 
integration of their services and 
staff has characterised the year. In 
the three months leading up to the 
transaction, a huge amount of work 
was undertaken to ensure that staff 
were consulted and well informed 
about the new arrangements.

A team of clinicians from both 
legacy trusts, working closely with 
local commissioners and GPs, were 
tasked with developing more joint 
services and clinical pathways to 
ensure that patients at all three 
hospitals benefited from world class 
care. 

A major programme of engagement 
work with external stakeholders 
which had begun the previous year 
ensured that we were in touch 
with the views of local people and 
politicians, the majority of whom 
were supportive of our plans. 
This work has continued and will 
see the views of the community 
incorporated in our detailed plans.

In March 2015 we received the 
unanimous support of Enfield 
Council’s planning committee for 
our outline plans to replace the 
outdated and poorly arranged 
buildings at Chase Farm Hospital 
with facilities designed to deliver 
modern healthcare. 

Two other major developments also 
took major steps forward during 
the year. Phase two of our Institute 
of Immunity and Transplantation, 
known as the Pears Building 
and designed to swiftly translate 
discoveries about diseases into new 
treatments for patients, was given 
the go-ahead by Camden Council 
and now moves into the detailed 
planning stage.

And work is underway on the £25m 
redevelopment of the Royal Free 
Hospital’s emergency department 
to provide a range of new facilities, 
including a 23-hour assessment 
unit, a larger resuscitation area and 
imaging services.

In addition we continue to record 
some of the lowest mortality rates 
in the country and are ranked sixth 
and eighth best performing against 
the two main measures of mortality 
risk, compared to our peer group of 
26 English teaching trusts.  

We continue to develop our world 
class care programme, which is 
designed to improve patient and 
staff experience. We have renewed 
our focus on safety by launching a 
new patient safety programme. 

Our focus for 2015/16 is to ensure 
that all parts of our diverse trust 
reach and maintain the standards of 
the best performing hospitals. Key 
challenges will include returning 
to compliance with the A&E four-
hour standard, the cancer 62-
day standard and a resumption 
in reporting national 18-week 
performance data for Barnet 
Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital.  

Employee matters 

The care we provide can only be as 
good as our workforce. At the Royal 
Free London our staff are trained, 
committed and motivated to deliver 
the high-quality patient services for 
which this trust is renowned.

The expansion of the trust to 
include Barnet Hospital and Chase 
Farm Hospital has grown our 
workforce to more than 10,000, of 
whom over 1,500 are doctors and 
dentists and about 2,900 are nurses 
and midwives. 

We have paid close attention to the 
integration of the different cultures 
of the hospitals and other sites 
that are now part of the Royal Free 
London. This work is founded on 
our world class care values, which 
were developed by listening to 
patients and staff. There has been 
extensive engagement with staff 
and patients at all our hospitals to 
ensure these values remain relevant 
and meaningful following the trust’s 
expansion. Staff were transferred 
into the expanded organisation 
while patient safety and services 
continued unaffected.
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On day one all staff were welcomed 
by the chairman, chief executive 
and board members and given a 
booklet which outlined the trust’s 
mission, vision, governing objectives 
and values. 

Workforce policies and procedures 
and an appraisal process were 
harmonised under a unified 
management structure from the 
outset. Since then services and 
departments have continued 
to make progress in integrating 
structures, processes and procedures 
to maximise the benefits of the 
larger organisation for patients and 
staff.

Despite the significant changes, 
the 2014 national staff survey 
results rated the Royal Free London 
highly. Our response rate was 
44%, which is above the average 
of 42% for trusts in England. The 
trust scored better than average 
on staff engagement and good 
communications with senior 
management. The results will 
help us enhance the experience 
of staff, so they can continue to 
improve patient care. The survey 
will also inform our work on cultural 
integration.

As at 31 March 2015, the number of male and female: 

3

2

60%

40%

DIRECTORS

226

127

64%

36%

OTHER 
SENIOR 
MANAGERS

6912

2490

74%

26%

EMPLOYEES

During 2014/15 we made significant 
efforts to unify the equality and 
diversity work at all trust hospitals. 
We have extended our systems, 
processes and forums to promote 
equal opportunities throughout the 
organisation. 

Our annual equality diversity report 
was published in January 2015. It 
sets out in detail our progress with 
equality delivery schemes and how 
we are promoting diversity and 
inclusion across a workforce of more 
than 100 different nationalities.

Further information about our 
workforce and employee matters 
can be found in the “Supporting 
our dedicated staff” section on p.11

Education and development 
for staff

The trust is proud of its strong 
tradition in education and 
development of the future NHS 
workforce and its current staff. 
We are a campus of University 
College London (UCL) Medical 
School and our medical education is 
internationally renowned. We also 
teach nurses, midwives, therapists 
and other healthcare professionals. 

2

4

33.3%

66.6%

NON-
EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

UCL is one of the highest ranked 
medical schools in the UK (2nd in 
2014) and each year we carry out 
training for around 600 medical 
students. 

We also host a significant amount 
of earlier years’ medical student 
teaching. During 2014/15 we 
received good feedback from 
students about departmental 
teaching in cardiology, 
rheumatology, vascular surgery, 
neurology, endocrinology and the 
health of older people. 

The trust is leading on a 
“preparation for practice” module 
in year four, which concentrates 
on skills identified by the General 
Medical Council as important for 
newly-qualified doctors, and in 2014 
we introduced a new UCL degree 
programme in applied medical 
science. 

We have made changes to 
ensure that funds received for the 
education of students are now 
distributed in a way that incentivises 
the departments that deliver the 
best educational outcomes and 
experience.
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Our nursing programmes are with 
Middlesex University and involve 
about 300 nursing students each 
year. This year we received funding 
from Health Education North Central 
and East London (HENCEL) for a 
training programme for overseas 
qualified nurses who are currently 
working as health care assistants 
(HCAs). 

For those joining the HCA 
workforce the trust is delivering 
the “‘Cavendish’ Care Certificate”, 
ensuring staff are sufficiently 
trained and competent to the 
recommended standards. 

We are committed to supporting 
our current staff to continue their 
professional development. The 
trust provides a wide range of in-
house training (some of which is 
for accredited qualifications) and 
supports many staff to undertake 
external training and education 
programmes with study leave and 
assistance with course fees.

The trust has established a 
committee, chaired by the director 
of workforce and organisational 
development, to co-ordinate delivery 
of the trust’s strategy for education 
and workforce development. 

Environmental matters

As a major provider of services and 
employment in the local community, 
the trust works to promote 
sustainability and ensure a safe and 
clean environment for patients, 
visitors and staff. 

Patient-led assessments of the care 
environment (PLACE) measure the 
quality of the patient environment 
in places that provide NHS care. 
Every year PLACE teams, including 
local people, assess patient privacy 
and dignity, food, cleanliness and 
building maintenance.

During 2014/15 PLACE monitored 
the care environment in Barnet 
Hospital, Chase Farm Hospital and 
the Royal Free Hospital, which all 
performed well compared to other 
similar trusts. 

A complete smoking ban applies 
to patients, visitors and staff at all 
our hospitals. Smoking has not 
been permitted anywhere on the 
Royal Free Hospital site since 2005, 
and our smoke free Royal Free 
no-smoking policy was applied to 
Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm 
Hospital in March 2015.

Since our carbon reduction strategy 
was introduced in 2008, the Royal 
Free London has reduced its total 
carbon dioxide emissions each year. 
Our updated strategy will ensure a 
further reduction in our emissions 
by 2020, leading to a significant 
annual financial saving. The trust 
will continue to innovate and 
develop further reductions where 
viable. 

During 2014/15 we launched a 
bicycle loan scheme for staff and 
increased secure bicycle parking, 
started out-of-hours energy 
awareness auditing of departments 
and took part in National Climate 
Week and NHS Sustainability Day.

We completed energy efficiency 
upgrades to core plant such as 
our steam distribution system and 
cooling system. Energy efficient 
light emitting diode (LED) lighting 
and occupancy sensors were fitted 
throughout offices and laboratories, 
and environmental controls have 
been reconfigured in many areas to 
reduce energy consumption.

The trust continued to collaborate 
in a joint project to use waste heat 
from our hospitals to heat 1,500 
local homes.

Social, community and  
human rights 

A number of policies enshrine our 
commitment to the principles of 
equality, diversity and human rights 
both in our employment practices 
and services for patients. 

Our equal opportunities and 
equality policies are designed 
to provide equality and fairness 
for all staff and patients without 

discrimination on the grounds of 
age, disability, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, marriage 
and civil partnership, race, religion 
or belief, sex or sexual orientation.

Information on ways in which we 
are developing these policies can be 
found on pages 55.

Human rights are inherent in our 
mission to eliminate discrimination, 
not only through our policies, but 
also in creating the right culture 
in which it is understood to be 
everyone’s responsibility to achieve 
fairness, respect, equality, dignity 
and autonomy. 

One of the ways we do this is 
through our world class care 
programme (and on page 52 we 
provide more details). 

Following the expansion of the 
organisation, we have built on our 
productive relationships with local 
community health and social care 
teams to improve patient care. 
Our post-acute care enablement 
(PACE) service has been expanded 
to support Barnet and Enfield 
patients and we are also working 
with Hertfordshire organisations to 
extend PACE to their patients. 

We are partners with Enfield 
community services and social care 
at our older people’s assessment 
unit at Chase Farm Hospital in an 
initiative to reduce unnecessary 
admissions and provide support at 
home. 

More details of how we work 
together with community providers 
are included in “Playing our part in 
the local NHS” which starts on page 
46.
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Financial review

Year ended 31 
March 2014

£m

Three months 
ended 30 June 
2014

£m

*Nine months 
ended 31 
March 2015

£m

Income 339.6 75.7 243.5

EBITDA 
EBITDA %

4.2 
1.2%

(10.9) 
(14.4)%

(10.1) 
(4.1)% 

Surplus/deficit 
Surplus %

(16.4) 
(4.8)%

(22.0) 
(29.0)%

(18.7) 
(7.7)%

Acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust 

As explained on page 4, the acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust (BCF) was made so that we can deliver better quality healthcare 
nearer to patients’ homes, plan services more effectively, use NHS resources 
more efficiently, and enable more patients to benefit from clinical research.

It was understood from the outset that this was a trust in financial 
difficulties and that strong, focused and immediate action would be 
required to remedy those difficulties.

The three-month period from 1 April 2014 to 30 June 2014 reflects the 
scale of those difficulties faced, reporting a deficit of £22m, greater than the 
previous 12-month period.

The full annual 
accounts can be 
found on page 93. 
They have been 
prepared under a 
direction issue by 
Monitor under the 
National Health 
Service Act 2006.

*These balances are included in the Royal Free London statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 March 2015 and are the primary reason for the year-on-year increases 
that can be seen in those figures.

In the nine months since the acquisition the trust has been able to 
make headway in slowing these losses and bring some stability to the 
performance.

The key to bringing financial balance at the legacy organisation sites will be 
in the redevelopment of Chase Farm Hospital.

Further information on the assets and liabilities acquired, the performance 
of BCF and the accounting thereon can be found in note 31 of the trust’s 
annual accounts.
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Income

The trust receives most of its income from clinical commissioning groups and NHS England for patient care activities. 
It also receives monies for the education and training of clinical staff, research and development and from the sale 
of manufactured pharmacy products. 

Actual

£m

Plan

£m

Var.

£m

Var.

%

Operating income
Year ended 31 March 2015

Year ended 31 March 2014

907.7

593.7

859.0

579.4

48.7

14.3

5.7%

2.5%

Income from clinical activities
Year ended 31 March 2015

Year ended 31 March 2014

764.2

506.4

744.3

499.4

19.9

7.0

2.7%

1.4%

Income is ahead of plan due to an overall increase in patient demand and activity. This has been particularly 
prevalent in non-elective work.

The trust has met section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012) which 
requires that the income from the provision of goods and services for the purpose of the health service in England 
must be greater than its income from the provision of goods and services for any other purposes.

The income the trust receives from the provision of goods and services for any other purposes is generated from 
capacity within the organisation; such work is not given priority over NHS work. Income from such activities are 
undertaken only where they can demonstrate a positive impact for the trust, such as a financial contribution to the 
trust which can be invested for the purposes of healthcare, or as part of a wider clinical benefit analysis. 

Surplus

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) and reporting surplus are important measures 
for the trust. They are indicators of how much cash the trust is generating from its activities, and are used by Monitor 
in calculating the trust’s continuity of service risk rating. If the trust is unable to generate sufficient cash from its 
activities then it may not be capable of paying its staff and suppliers, or investing in new infrastructure and technology.

Actual

£m

Plan

£m

Var.

£m

Var.

%

 EBITDA  Year ended 31 March 2015 31.2 44.6 (13.4) (30.0)%

 % 3.4% 5.2%

 Year ended 31 March 2014 32.6 30.6 2.0 6.5%

 % 5.5% 5.4%

Reporting surplus/(deficit) Year ended 31 March 2015 (9.9) 8.1 (18.0) (222)%

Year ended 31 March 2014 8.1 7.9 0.2 2.5%

Retained surplus/(deficit) Year ended 31 March 2015 (5.8) 8.1 (13.9) (172)%

Year ended 31 March 2014 (22.0) 7.8 (29.8) (382)%
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The additional demand and activity which has driven income ahead of plan has required the trust to provide 
additional resources to support that work. In many instances this has been provided through the use of temporary 
staff (see payroll costs below) which comes at a premium and hence the EBITDA has declined as a result. The trust 
has also struggled to deliver its QIPP programme – see below.

The variance on the reporting surplus/deficit, ie the surplus/deficit before impairment of assets and gains/losses on disposal of 
assets, and the retained surplus/deficit arises because the trust does not plan or forecast for revaluations and impairments. 

Payroll costs

Pay costs are the single biggest expense the trust incurs. As a service provider, the trust aims to recruit and retain the 
highest calibre staff in order to provide patient care that meets the trust vision.

Actual Plan Var. Var.

£m £m £m %

Staff costs 2014/15 Permanent staff 390.3

Temporary staff 74.2

Total 464.5 446.5 (18.0) (4.0)%

Staff costs 2013/14 Permanent staff 250.7

Temporary staff 35.7

Total 286.4 280.2 (6.2) (2.2)%

Permanent staff numbers (avg.) 2014/15 7,603

Permanent staff numbers (avg.) 2013/14 4,279

Temporary staff numbers (avg.) 2014/15 2,546

Temporary staff numbers (avg.) 2013/14 1,452
   

The net adverse variance in payroll costs for both permanent and temporary staff is £18m. The trust has had 
difficulties in recruiting permanently to a number of posts and has had to utilise temporary resources to fill these 
gaps. In addition, due to the increased demand and activity there has been an increased need for additional staffing 
to maintain quality and safety.

The accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out in notes 1.4 and 5.7 to the accounts. 

Details of senior employees’ remuneration can be found in the remuneration report on page 81. 

The number of and average additional pension liabilities for individuals who retired early on ill-health grounds during 
the year are set out in note 5.5 to the accounts. Sickness absence data can be found in note 5.4 to the accounts.

Revaluation and impairment

At the year end the trust estate was valued by an independent expert. Due to the specialised nature of the trust 
estate there is no active market upon which to base a valuation - for example the estate value is not linked to the 
housing property market. 

Instead, the valuation is based on the current cost of its replacement with a modern equivalent, less any deductions 
for physical deterioration. This method considers whether, if rebuilding the estate, it would be in the same location 
and the same layout, as well as the current cost of purchasing the necessary materials and services.

The impact of the independent revaluation exercise is shown on page 18.
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Reduction 
in value 
charged as 
an expense

£m

Reduction 
in value 
charged to 
reserves

£m

Total 
reductions in 
value

£m

Increases in 
value taken 
to reserves

£m

Net changes

£m

31 March 2015

Land - - - - -

Buildings (4.6) (6.6) (11.2) 12.0 0.8

Total (4.6) (6.6) (11.2) 12.0 0.8

31 March 2014

Land (2.1) (22.5) (24.6) 1.2 (23.4)

Buildings (27.9) (2.5) (30.4) 0.2 (30.2)

Total (30.0) (25.0) (55.0) 1.4 (53.6)

The impairments arising are largely attributable to the reduction in the remaining life of the Chase Farm estate. 
Following permissions in March 2015 to redevelop this site the trust has considered and shortened the period over 
which the facilities in their existing state are expected to be used for services. The increase in the value of other 
buildings reflects the increased cost of rebuild.

Quality innovation productivity programme 

The quality innovation productivity programme (QIPP) is a national Department of Health strategy involving all NHS 
staff, patients, clinicians and the voluntary sector. It aims to improve the quality and delivery of NHS care while 
reducing costs. The savings made are reinvested to support frontline services. 

The trust delivery against its QIPP plans has been as follows:

Actual

£m

Plan

£m

Var.

£m

Var.

%

Year ended 31 March 2015 24.2 36.3 (12.4) (34.2)

% of total income 2.7% 4.2%

Year ended 31 March 2014 17.8 22.3 (4.5) (20.2)%

% of total income 3.0% 3.9%

The trust struggled to deliver its QIPP programme during the year as a result of the focus and demands placed on staff 
throughout the aquisition and other strategic initiatives. This resulted in a number of QIPP projects having their start 
dates delayed. However, the projects were started during the year and are expected to generate the planned savings.

Reference costs

The trust reference cost index, which measures the relative efficiency of English trusts against one another, 
continues to reduce, from 97 to 93. (This indicator relates to the trust prior to the transaction and inclusion of the 
reference cost performance of Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital. A combined reference cost is expected 
later in 2015.) In essence this means that the trust is 7% more efficient than the national average and demonstrates 
the trust’s commitment to deliver value for money in a health economy facing increasing financial pressures.
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Balance sheet

The trust continues to maintain a 
strong balance sheet. The cash held 
at year end is sufficient to cover 
more than a month of operating 
expenses of the enlarged trust. 

The increase in net current assets 
reflects the careful management of 
the trust’s financial resources and 
our continued ability to meet the 
ongoing needs of the organisation.

The increase in net assets arises 
predominantly due to the inclusion 
of the estate received as part of the 
BCF acquisition but also reflects the 
growth and investment made in our 
services.

The trust had an agreed overdraft 
facility of £42 million during 2014/15 
and 2013/14. We did not need to 
draw down on those funds in either 
year. Consequently, the trust has 
decided not to extend this facility. 

In September 2014 the trust drew 
down the remaining £10 million of 
a £30 million pre-approved loan; 
the other £20 million was drawn 
down in March 2014. This has been 
used to support the significant 
investment the trust is making in its 
premises and equipment to support 
clinical services.

Going concern and future 
outlook

After making enquiries, the directors 
have a reasonable expectation 
that the NHS foundation trust has 
adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, 
they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the 
accounts.

The trust plans for 2015/16 show 
a continued strong cash position, 
but this can only be achieved 
through delivery of its operating 
plan and QIPP targets. These 
are certainly challenging but 
achievable, but will need careful 
oversight in what will continue to 
be a year of further change.

31 March 2015

£m 

31 March 2014

£m

Cash 94.6 61.7

Net current assets 66.0 21.6

Net assets 486.1 242.7

Statement as to disclosure to 
auditors

So far as the directors are 
aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the NHS 
foundation trust’s auditor is 
unaware. The directors have taken 
all the steps that they ought to 
have taken as directors in order 
to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to 
establish that the NHS foundation 
trust’s auditor is aware of that 
information.

Countering fraud and 
corruption

The trust has a fraud and bribery 
policy and, through the accountancy 
and advisory firm Baker Tilly, has a 
local counter fraud service in order 
to prevent and detect fraud. The 
local counter fraud officer reports to 
the audit committee at each of its 
meetings on the work undertaken. 
The trust also participates in the 
national fraud initiative data matching 
exercise.

Financial risk management

The financial risk management 
objectives and policies of the trust, 
together with its exposure to 
financial risk, are set out in notes 
1.10, 16.1 and 26 of the accounts

Better payments practice 
code 

The code requires the trust to 
aim to pay 95% of undisputed 
invoices by the due date or within 

30 days of receipt of goods or a 
valid invoice, whichever is later. It is 
designed to promote good practice 
in the payment of debt from NHS 
organisations. Details of compliance 
with the code are given in note 6 of 
the accounts.

Prompt payment code

The trust has registered with the 
prompt payment code. The details 
of the code are shown below:

Pay suppliers on time

•	 	within	the	terms	agreed	at	the	
outset of the contract

•	 	without	attempting	to	change	
payment terms retrospectively

•	 	without	changing	practice	on	
length of payment for smaller 
companies on unreasonable 
grounds.

Give clear guidance to suppliers

•	 	providing	suppliers	with	clear	
and easily accessible guidance on 
payment procedures

•	 	ensuring	there	is	a	system	for	
dealing with complaints and 
disputes which is communicated 
to suppliers

•	 	advising	suppliers	promptly	
if there is any reason why an 
invoice will not be paid on the 
agreed terms.

Encourage good practice by 
requesting that lead suppliers 
encourage adoption of the code 
throughout their own supply chains.



20

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Financial review

Interest paid under the Late 
Payment of Commercial Debts 
(Interest) Act 1998

There were no interest charges 
paid in accordance with this act in 
2014/15 (2013/14: nil).

Cost allocation and charging

The trust has complied with the 
cost allocation and charging 
requirements set out in guidance 
from HM Treasury and the Office of 
Public Sector Information.

Future prospects, risks and 
uncertainties facing the trust 

The future operating environment 
for our trust is likely to feature the 
following:

•	 	A	continuing	marked	increase	in	
population in Barnet and Enfield, 
with lower, but still significant, 
increases elsewhere in the 
catchment

•	 	A	continuing	significant	increase	
in the number of people 
aged 85 and older, especially 
in Hertfordshire, Barnet and 
Enfield, meaning a greater need 
for complex acute and a wide 
range of other services

•	 	Reduced	real	terms	public	
spending, minimal growth in 
NHS spending and the need for 
real terms cost reductions

•	 	Expectation	by	the	public	and	
the health regulators of higher 
standards, and lower tolerance 
of poor service or outcomes.

Prospects for the financial 
positions of Barnet and Enfield 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) mean we must continue 
our strategy of helping local 
commissioners to reduce costs and 
achieve their savings programmes 
in ways which also improve the 
outcomes and experience for 
patients. 

Demand for specialised services 
continues to rise, in some cases by 
several percentage points each year. 
The principal commissioner of those 
services, NHS England, is currently 
considering how to manage future 
demand.

Recruitment and retention of 
appropriately skilled staff is 
becoming a greater challenge for 
the NHS, particularly in London. 

The risks and uncertainties ahead 
mean that ever closer collaboration 
with our partners across the health 
and social care system is needed. 

Directors’ responsibilities 
statement and going concern 

The directors are required under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 
to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. The secretary 
of state, with the approval of the 
Treasury, directs that these financial 
statements give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs and the 
income and expenditure of the trust 
for that period. In preparing those 
financial statements, the directors 
are required to:

•	 	apply	on	a	consistent	basis	
accounting policies laid down by 
the secretary of state with the 
approval of the Treasury

•	 	make	judgements	and	estimates	
which are reasonable and 
prudent

•	 	state	whether	applicable	
accounting standards have 
been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial 
statements.

The directors confirm to the best 
of their knowledge and belief that 
they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the 
financial statements. 

The directors are required to make 
a statement on whether or not 
the financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis. 
After making enquiries, the directors 
have a reasonable expectation 
that the NHS foundation trust has 
adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, 
they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the 
accounts.

Our accounts have been prepared 
under a direction issue by Monitor 
under the National Health Service 
Act 2006.

The strategic report has been 
approved by the directors of the 
trust. 

David Sloman 
Chief executive

28 May 2015 
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Our mission:  
patient care

By investing in 
major development 
projects, purchasing 
new equipment and 
constantly improving 
and introducing 
new services, we 
remain committed 
to providing our 
patients with world 
class treatment and 
local care.

Go-ahead for Chase Farm 
Hospital redevelopment 

Our plans to transform Chase 
Farm Hospital by replacing its 
ageing buildings with modern 
healthcare facilities took a major 
step forward this year as outline 
planning permission was granted by 
Enfield Council and the government 
approved the outline business case. 

The redevelopment will see the 
existing hospital, which is in a poor 
condition and not well suited to 
modern patient care, upgraded to 
a high standard so that world class 
care can be delivered in the best 
possible environment for patients 
and staff. 

As well as providing all existing 
services in improved facilities, the 
new hospital will include a planned 
investigation treatment unit and 
expanded endoscopy facilities. 

The decision by Enfield’s planning 
committee also means that the local 
area will benefit from additional 
homes, including affordable housing 
and key worker accommodation, 
and a new three-form primary 
school.

The multimillion pound scheme 
will be part funded by the sale of 
surplus land, with the Department 
of Health and the trust also 
contributing towards the cost. 

Emergency department 
redevelopment 

This December we began the 
£25 million redevelopment of the 
emergency department (ED) at the 
Royal Free Hospital. 

The redevelopment will include 
a new 23-hour assessment unit 
as well as a rapid assessment 
and treatment area, a larger 
resuscitation area and a diagnostic 
hub, which includes x-ray and 
computerised tomography (CT) 
scanning services. 

The plans also include the 
redevelopment of the urgent 
care centre and the provision of a 
dedicated paediatric emergency 
department.

The current ED was built to care for 
up to 60,000 patients a year and 
currently treats more than 90,000 
patients every year. The new facility, 
which is designed to support the 
delivery of world class care to our 
patients, will ensure the emergency 
department is fit for purpose. 

The ED will remain fully functional 
throughout the construction period 
and the works will take place in a 
number of phases, with the new 
facility due to open in 2017.

Directors’ report
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Kidney care closer to home

Three major developments during 
the year have advanced our strategy 
to provide clinical care closer to 
patients’ homes and in the heart of 
local communities.

 Gary Mabbutt, former captain of 
Tottenham Hotspur FC, officially 
opened our new Kidney and 
Diabetes Centre at Tottenham Hale 
in October. 

The centre has 48 dialysis stations, 
with capacity to treat 266 dialysis 
patients each week, and is the 
largest dialysis unit outside a 
hospital in the UK. It replaces the 
services previously provided at the 
North Middlesex University Hospital 
in Edmonton. Services also moved 
from the Mary Rankin unit at St 
Pancras Hospital and the Highgate 
dialysis unit.

Five of our consultants run clinics 
at the centre and where possible 
patients are supported to carry out 
dialysis and other therapies at home. 

The centre offers follow-up clinics 
for patients who have just had a 
transplant; transplant assessment 
clinics; renal vascular clinics; and a 
diabetic eye screening service for 
diabetic retinopathy, which occurs 
when high blood sugar levels 
damage the retina and which can 
lead to blindness if not treated. 

In another development for 
kidney patients, we opened a new 
supported self-care unit at our 
kidney and diabetes clinic at St 
Pancras Hospital in March.

The new purpose-built unit provides 
dialysis for up to 72 patients. The 
new unit offers eligible patients 

receiving dialysis at any of our 
current sites the chance to have 
more flexibility and independence 
in their dialysis care. They can 
attend consultant-led dialysis clinics 
and access dietetics, social care 
and psychology services. The unit 
includes a dedicated supported self-
care training area for patients.

And in Brent, we launched a new 
community cardiology service on 2 
March which will see more patients 
with heart conditions treated in 
community settings, closer to home.

The Brent community cardiology 
service provides community-based, 
consultant-led out-patient services 
for patients with cardiac conditions 
such as heart failure, stable angina, 
valvular heart disease and cardiac 
rehabilitation.
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Patients are now able to choose 
from two community centres – 
the Wembley Centre for Health 
and Care and the Willesden 
Centre for Health and Care – and 
appointments are available through 
the week and some evenings and 
Saturday mornings.

Radiotherapy unit expands 
access to latest treatments

More patients with cancer at the 
Royal Free Hospital will have access 
to the latest treatments thanks to a 
new £1.8 million radiotherapy unit. 

The new linear accelerator will 
replace one of our two current 
machines that is coming towards 
the end of its lifespan. Although 
installation began in January this 
year, the machine will not be fully 
up and running until August 2015.

The unit will allow radiotherapy to be 
targeted more effectively so tumours 
may be controlled more easily. In 

addition, the machine will allow staff 
to deliver cutting edge treatment 
techniques so more of our patients 
will have the opportunity to take part 
in clinical trials.

Helping patients with Pets as 
Therapy

After a 10-year gap, the Royal Free 
Hospital reintroduced an initiative to 
allow patients to enjoy the comfort 
of pets as part of their hospital 
stay or recovery. The initiative, 
which has been extended to Chase 
Farm Hospital, is being delivered in 
partnership with Pets as Therapy. 

Patients benefiting so far have 
included those using our elderly, 
stroke and neurology wards and the 
Ian Charleson Day Centre clinic. 

The initiative has been established 
in conjunction with the Royal 
Free Charity voluntary services 
department, who provide trained 
volunteers to facilitate the visits. 

Four volunteers at Chase Farm 
Hospital are on hand to help while 
the dogs are made available to 
patients as part of rehabilitation for 
physiotherapy services. Visits are 
also planned for Barnet Hospital.

Patient wifi launches at the 
Royal Free Hospital

We are always looking to improve 
our hospital environment for 
patients and visitors and in March 
we launched a new wifi service 
paid for by the Royal Free Charity, 
meaning that patients and visitors 
can access the internet without 
charge while at the hospital. 

During the next financial year we 
intend to extend this facility to 
patients at Barnet Hospital and 
Chase Farm Hospital. 
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Directors’ reportOur mission:  
research

Our researchers are 
among the best in 
the world and are 
making important 
advances areas 
such as Parkinson’s 
disease, diabetes 
and immune 
disorders. 

Slowing Parkinson’s disease

We now know that around 10% of 
patients suffering from Parkinson’s 
disease have a gene mutation that 
significantly increases the risk of 
developing it. The mutation causes 
an enzyme called GBA to reduce 
its activity in the human body. This 
promotes the accumulation of the 
protein synuclein which clogs the 
brain cells affected in Parkinson’s 
disease and stops them working 
properly.

Research work on the GBA enzyme 
in our neurology department, led 
by Professor Anthony Schapira, 
has indicated possible approaches 
to slow down the progress of the 
disease.

It is anticipated that this basic 
research will by 2016 lead to 
preliminary clinical trials. To help 
achieve this Professor Schapira has 
been awarded a £1 million grant 
by the Medical Research Council 
(MRC). This is one of only three 
large MRC experimental medicine 
grants awarded across the UK.

Advances in 
immunodeficiency

Researchers at the UCL Institute of 
Immunity and Transplantation (IIT) 
have discovered that a single gene 
plays an important role in ensuring 
humans are able to fight infections. 
Professor Bodo Grimbacher, 
Professor Lucy Walker and Professor 
David Sansom discovered that a 
faulty copy of gene CTLA4 leads 
to a condition called primary 
immunodeficiency (PID). 

Patients with PID have an immune 
system which does not provide 
them with enough protection from 
infections. As a result they can 
suffer from a range of symptoms, 
including heart problems, repeated 
bouts of severe infections like 
pneumonia and skin abscesses. In 
addition, patients with PID can also 
suffer from autoimmune symptoms 
caused by the poorly regulated 
immune system attacking the body. 

The discovery, published in the 
journal Nature Medicine, was made 
possible because the IIT, which is 
based at the Royal Free Hospital, 
places researchers, clinicians and 
patients together to promote world-
class research on immunological 
disorders. It means that doctors can 
diagnose this condition much more 
easily, using a simple genetic test, 
and could mean it is easier to treat 
patients with PID. 

Some patients with PID could be 
given abatacept, a drug used to 
treat patients with arthritis, because 
this drug plays a similar role to 
the body’s natural CTLA4 and 
suppresses autoimmune symptoms.

Understanding the causes of 
diabetes

Researchers at the IIT have also 
made an important discovery about 
what causes type 1 diabetes. Type 1 
diabetes is an autoimmune disease, 
which means that it is caused by 
the body’s own immune system. 
Because insulin-producing cells in 
the pancreas are destroyed by the 
immune system, the body cannot 
produce any insulin, which is a 
hormone that controls glucose levels 
in the blood and enables the body 
to use glucose as energy.
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Following six years of research, 
Professor Lucy Walker and her team 
have found that a particular kind of 
immune cell called a follicular helper 
T cell is responsible for triggering 
an immune response in the body 
which leads to the destruction 
of insulin-producing cells in the 
pancreas. Although scientists have 
known for some time that T cells 
cause diabetes, this is the first time 
the particular type of T cell has been 
identified.

This new research, published in the 
Journal of Clinical Investigation, 
means that an effective treatment 
for type 1 diabetes could be 
developed more easily.

There is currently no cure for type 
1 diabetes and patients with this 
condition are required to inject 
insulin whenever they eat in order 
to control their blood glucose levels. 
There are currently almost 400,000 
people in the UK with type 1 
diabetes, including 29,000 children.

Learning how to treat Ebola

In August 2014 the World Health 
Organisation declared the Ebola 
outbreak in West Africa a global 
health emergency. More than 
11,000 people are believed to have 
died of the disease.

The Royal Free Hospital has for 
many years treated patients with 
highly infectious diseases and 
hosts the UK’s only high level 
isolation Unit (HLIU) designed to 
safely treat patients with infectious 
diseases such as Ebola. It is run by a 
dedicated team of doctors, nurses 
and laboratory staff from the Royal 
Free London infectious diseases 
service. It was set up at the Royal 
Free Hospital in 2008 and has since 
looked after several cases of viral 
haemorrhagic fever.

During the current outbreak 
the Royal Free Hospital has 
successfully treated three patients 
with confirmed Ebola and several 
considered to be at high risk of 

developing the infection. In order 
to manage these patients, the 
infectious disease team developed 
innovative new approaches, many 
of which were used for the first time 
anywhere in the world. This includes 
the use of the drugs ZMapp and 
MIL77, designed specifically to treat 
Ebola. Other innovations include 
the introduction of new blood tests 
into the dedicated laboratory within 
the HLIU, which otherwise could 
not be carried out in blood samples 
containing the Ebola virus, and new 
approaches to the management of 
patients within the sealed Trexler 
isolation tents used by the HLIU.

As a result, the Royal Free London 
has become one of the most 
experienced centres in the world 
in the management of patients 
with Ebola and has developed 
techniques that will potentially aid 
the treatment of future patients.
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Our mission:  
education and workforce  
development 

This year our campus 
of UCL’s medical 
school helped train 
around 600 medical 
students.

The trust is proud of its strong 
tradition in education and 
developing the future NHS 
workforce and its current staff. 
We are a campus of University 
College London (UCL) Medical 
School and our medical education is 
internationally renowned. We also 
teach nurses, midwives, therapists 
and other healthcare professionals. 

UCL campus and medical 
school

Each year we carry out training 
for around 600 medical students 
- mainly in years four to six of the 
curriculum - with about 200 on site 
at the Royal Free Hospital at any one 
time.

We also host a significant amount 
of earlier years’ medical student 
teaching. Most clinical departments 
have a commitment to teaching and 
for some this is substantial. 

Of the three central teaching 
locations for UCL Medical School 
– the Royal Free Hospital, UCL 
Hospital and the Whittington 
Hospital – the Royal Free Hospital is 
particularly well placed to provide 
a full range of teaching in tertiary 
and secondary care as well as care 
integrated with the community.

In 2014/15 students gave good 
feedback about departmental 
teaching in cardiology, 
rheumatology, vascular surgery, 
neurology, endocrinology and the 
health of older people. Due to 
our expertise in these areas, the 
teaching of renal medicine and 
vascular surgery for the whole 
medical school is based at the Royal 
Free Hospital.

We are leading on a “preparation 
for practice” module in year four, 
which concentrates on particular 
skills identified by the General 
Medical Council as important 
for newly-qualified doctors - 
prescribing, assessment of the 
acutely unwell and understanding 
of integrated care pathways - to 
ensure our future doctors have a 
good understanding of seamless 
patient care.

In summer 2014 we introduced 
a new UCL degree programme in 
applied medical science. This is an 
innovative programme for students 
who wish to pursue careers allied 
to medicine – for instance in the 
pharmaceutical industry, medical 
research and related careers in the 
NHS.

The trust is paid for its education of 
medical students and each student 
brings us approximately £43,000 
of income. In 2014/15 the trust 
made a major change to the way 
it distributes these funds in order 
to supports the provision of high 
quality education. Funds are now 
distributed in a way that incentivises 
those departments delivering the 
best educational outcomes and 
experience.

Directors’ report
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Other student programmes

The trust has training places 
for nurses, midwives and other 
health professionals. Our nursing 
programmes are with Middlesex 
University and involve about 300 
nursing students each year.

This year we received funding from 
Health Education North Central 
and East London (HENCEL) to 
undertake an innovative programme 
of training for overseas qualified 
nurses who are currently working as 
health care assistants (HCAs). The 
programme supports up to 25 of 
them becoming registered nurses 
with the UK Nursing and Midwifery 
Council within 18 months.

For those joining the HCA 
workforce the trust is delivering 
the “Cavendish” Care Certificate, 
ensuring staff are sufficiently 
trained and competent to the 
recommended standards. The trust 
also held its first HCA conference on 
25 November 2014 with more than 
70 HCAs participating. 

Workforce development

In addition to training the future 
NHS and trust workforce, it is 
important our current staff continue 
their professional development. The 
trust provides a wide range of in-
house training (some of which is for 
accredited qualifications) as well as 
supporting many staff to undertake 
external training and education 
programmes with study leave 
and assistance with course fees. 
The trust’s “learner achievement 
awards” were held in October 
2014, celebrating the success 
of 137 staff members in gaining 
further qualifications.

Education and workforce 
development governance

The trust has established a 
committee, chaired by the director 
of workforce and organisational 
development, to co-ordinate activity 
in this area and oversee delivery of 
the trust’s strategy for education 
and workforce development. This 
is the first time that all of the 
trust’s wide-ranging activities in 
this area have come under one 
roof. It provides an opportunity to 
further develop multi-professional 
education and training and efficient 
use of the trust’s significant 
education and learning resources.

We provide a range 
of in-house training 
and support for 
staff continuing 
their professional 
development.
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Continuous improvements  
to quality

The trust continues 
to record some of the 
lowest mortality rates 
in the country.

Meeting our standards - 
Monitor 

The Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust acquired Barnet 
and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS 
Trust on 1 July 2014. From 1 April 
to 1 July the Royal Free London 
NHS Foundation Trust was not 
accountable for the performance of 
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust. 

The trust achieved a green rating 
throughout the year, although there 
were some issues, detailed below.

In self-assessing the trust’s 
anticipated performance against the 
Monitor risk assessment framework 
for quarters 2 to 4 2014/15 three 
service risks were identified:

1.  A&E performance against the 
95% standard

2.  Meeting the trust’s national 
trajectory in relation to the 
volume of C.difficile infections 

3.  Reporting and achieving 
compliance against the three  
18-week national standards.

Emergency care

The trust achieved the A&E 
standard in quarter 2, but failed 
it in quarters 3 and 4. We have 
been working with our partner 
agencies, including CCGs and 
local authorities, on a range of 
initiatives designed to modernise 
and extend our emergency services, 
offer alternatives to A&E nearer to 
people’s homes and ensure better 
use of hospital beds by providing 
more timely access to continuing 
care and nursing home placements. 
It is anticipated that as a result 
compliance will improve from early 
2015/16. 

Infection control

For C.difficile, we saw a 16% 
reduction in the number of cases 
compared to last year but we 
recorded more than the maximum 
volume of infections set out in the 
national trajectory in quarters 2, 3 
and 4 as well as exceeding the full 
year trajectory.

For the period April 2014 to March 
2015 the Royal Free Hospital site 
was compliant with the quarterly 
trajectory, but Barnet Hospital and 
Chase Farm Hospital exceeded it. 
We are identifying the root cause of 
each of these infections and at all 
our sites will work to ensure that all 
staff observe our infection control 
policies.
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Graph A shows all three hospitals 
with a threshold of 54 cases, but 
overall we had 58 cases. However 
compared to 69 last year there is 
significant improvement.
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Royal Free London 2014/15 C.difficile cases versus 
combined trajectory and 2013/14

Graph B shows the Royal Free 
Hospital had 25 cases and a 
threshold of 38.

Graph C shows that Barnet Hospital 
and Chase Farm Hospital had 33 
cases against a threshold of 16.

Royal Free Hospital C.difficile cases 2014-15 versus 
trajectory and 2013/14
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18-week waiting times

The Royal Free Hospital part of 
the trust met all three national 
18-week waiting time targets (for 
patients who had been admitted, 
who had been out-patients, and 
who were still waiting) in each 
month during 2014/15. However, 
the audit opinion has been qualified 
in respect of 18-week incomplete 
pathways – please see the annual 
governance statement and quality 
report. The waiting time position 
inherited from Barnet and Chase 
Farm Hospitals NHS Trust was not 
reported last year due to the data 
being wholly unreliable. In 2015/16 
our plan is to report for the first 
time on the 18-week performance 
for the whole combined trust, and 

to reduce long waiting times as the 
year progresses.  

Clinical evidence demonstrates 
that the sooner patients urgently 
referred with cancer symptoms are 
assessed diagnosed and treated the 
better the clinical outcomes.

National targets require 93% of 
patients urgently referred by their GP 
to be seen within two weeks, 96% of 
patients to be receiving first treatment 
within 31 days of the decision to treat 
and 85% of patients to be receiving 
the first definitive treatment within 62 
days of referral.

For the most recent period for 
which national data is available, 
July 2014 to December 2014, the 

Royal Free London performed better 
than the national targets in relation 
to the two-week wait and 31-day 
standards. 

However we underperformed 
against the 62-day standards. 
Following work to understand 
and pinpoint precisely where 
improvements are required, we 
anticipate returning to compliance 
in early 2015/16.   

Despite the issues described above 
and significant challenges following 
the acquisition of Barnet and Chase 
Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the 
Royal Free London has consistently 
achieved a green rating for each 
quarter of 2014/15, including the 
three quarters following acquisition.

Monitor scorecard   

Monitor indicators of Governance Concerns -  
October 2013 - March 2015

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Actual/
Forecast

Target Weighting

* A&E: 95% of patients admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours 95.9% 95.6% 94.3% 94.5% >=95% 1.0

* C difficile: number of cases against plan265 17 18 9 14 Q4<=13 1.0

**Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment in 
aggregate for admitted patients

91.9% 90.8% 90.6% Compliant >=90% 1.0

**Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment in 
aggregate for non-admitted patients

97.4% 97.3% 97.7% Compliant >=95% 1.0

**Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment in 
aggregate for patients on an incomplete pathways

92.2% 92.5% 92.3% Compliant >=92% 1.0

**All Cancer: 31-day second or subsequent treatment: 
surgery 
drug 
radiotherapy

 
97.9% 
100% 
100%

 
98.1% 
100% 
100%

 
100% 
100% 
100%

 
Compliant 
Compliant 
Compliant

 
>=94% 
>=98% 
>=94%

 
1.0

**All Cancers: 62-day wait for first treatment:  
from urgent GP referrals  
from a screening service

 
84.1% 
95.9%

 
85.2% 
94.9%

 
78.7% 
88.5%

 
Fail 

Compliant

 
>=85% 
>=90%

 
1.0

**All cancers: 31-day wait from diagnosis to first treatment 98.3% 98.5% 99.3% Compliant >=96% 1.0

**Cancer: two-week wait from referral to date first seen:  
All cancers  
Symptomatic breast patients

 
94.9% 
94.5%

 
94.9% 
94.3%

 
95.8% 
96.4%

 
Compliant 
Compliant

 
>=93% 
>=93%

 
1.0

Compliance with requirements regarding access to healthcare for people 
with learning disabilities

Compliant Compliant Compliant Compliant Meeting 
the 6 

criteria

1.0

Monitor overall governance thresholds: Trust rating:

Green: a service performance score of <4.0 and  
<3 consecutive quarters’ breaches of a single metric       Weighting:

Red: a service performance score of >=4.0 and  
>=3 consecutive quarters’ breaches of a single metric

Red 
 
 
2

Green1 
 
 
0

Green1 
 
 
1

Green1 
 
 
1

*Denotes actual data for March 2015 
** Cancer & 18-week data is not available for March 2015 
Note C difficile RAG rating applied on the basis of the cumulative quaterely expression of the trajectory

2014/15

1The overall trust rating has been modified following the application of the Monitor governance framework adjsutment



31

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Continous improvements to quality

Mortality rates 

The trust continues to perform 
well in relation to mortality rates, 
recording some of the lowest in the 
country. There are two accepted 
national indicators which describe 
mortality risk: the summary hospital 
level mortality indicator (SHMI) and 
the hospital standardised mortality 
ratio (HSMR). 

The most recent SHMI data available 
is for the year ending June 2014, 
the month prior to the acquisition 
of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust. For this period the trust’s 
SHMI ratio was 88.7 or 11.3% 
below (statistically significantly 
better than) expected. For this 
period the Royal Free London had 
the eighth lowest rate among 
English teaching trusts. 

The HSMR data show that for the 
same period the trust recorded the 
sixth lowest relative risk of mortality 
among our peers with a relative risk 
of mortality of 79.7, 20.3% below 
(statistically significantly better than) 
expected.

Emergency care 

In relation to delivering the A&E 
standard, 95% of patients to be 
treated within four hours, for the 
period July 2014 to March 2015 
the trust was the seventh best 
performing of 19 London trusts. 
However during this period the trust 
underperformed against the 95% 
standard. The autumn and winter 
of 2014/15 has been an extremely 
challenging period with the majority 
of trusts across England and London 
failing the standard. 

The trust is working with 
commissioners to understand the 
reasons for more attendances and 
offer community-based alternatives 
to hospital care. In addition the trust 
has invested heavily in modernising 
and extending its emergency 
service, including beginning a 
complete rebuild of the emergency 
department at the Royal Free 
Hospital. 

Meeting our Care Quality 
Commission standards 

The Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust is registered 
with and licensed by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC), the 
independent regulator of health and 
adult social care services in England. 

We are required to demonstrate 
compliance with the CQC’s 16 
essential standards across every 
service we provide.

We had an unannounced inspection 
of Barnet Hospital in September 
2014. The trust was found not to 
be meeting the following three 
specific essential standards and we 
have been issued with compliance 
actions: 

•	 	Regulation	9	HSCA	2008	
(Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2010. Care and Welfare

•	 	Regulation	12	HSCA	2008	
(Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2010. Cleanliness and Infection 
Control

•	 	Regulation	13	HSCA	2008	
(Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2010. Management of Medicines

An action plan was submitted 
to the Care Quality Commission 
on 16 January 2015 outlining 
how the trust will address these 
concerns. The action plan progress 
is monitored by the trust executive 
committee. 

For further information 

Quality governance, quality and our 
improvement priorities are discussed 
in more detail in the annual 
governance statement on page 86 
and within our quality report (page 
182 onwards).

Monitor indicators of Governance Concerns -  
October 2013 - March 2015

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Actual/
Forecast

Target Weighting

* A&E: 95% of patients admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours 95.9% 95.6% 94.3% 94.5% >=95% 1.0

* C difficile: number of cases against plan265 17 18 9 14 Q4<=13 1.0

**Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment in 
aggregate for admitted patients

91.9% 90.8% 90.6% Compliant >=90% 1.0

**Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment in 
aggregate for non-admitted patients

97.4% 97.3% 97.7% Compliant >=95% 1.0

**Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment in 
aggregate for patients on an incomplete pathways

92.2% 92.5% 92.3% Compliant >=92% 1.0

**All Cancer: 31-day second or subsequent treatment: 
surgery 
drug 
radiotherapy

 
97.9% 
100% 
100%

 
98.1% 
100% 
100%

 
100% 
100% 
100%

 
Compliant 
Compliant 
Compliant

 
>=94% 
>=98% 
>=94%

 
1.0

**All Cancers: 62-day wait for first treatment:  
from urgent GP referrals  
from a screening service

 
84.1% 
95.9%

 
85.2% 
94.9%

 
78.7% 
88.5%

 
Fail 

Compliant

 
>=85% 
>=90%

 
1.0

**All cancers: 31-day wait from diagnosis to first treatment 98.3% 98.5% 99.3% Compliant >=96% 1.0

**Cancer: two-week wait from referral to date first seen:  
All cancers  
Symptomatic breast patients

 
94.9% 
94.5%

 
94.9% 
94.3%

 
95.8% 
96.4%

 
Compliant 
Compliant

 
>=93% 
>=93%

 
1.0

Compliance with requirements regarding access to healthcare for people 
with learning disabilities

Compliant Compliant Compliant Compliant Meeting 
the 6 

criteria

1.0

Monitor overall governance thresholds: Trust rating:

Green: a service performance score of <4.0 and  
<3 consecutive quarters’ breaches of a single metric       Weighting:

Red: a service performance score of >=4.0 and  
>=3 consecutive quarters’ breaches of a single metric

Red 
 
 
2

Green1 
 
 
0

Green1 
 
 
1

Green1 
 
 
1

*Denotes actual data for March 2015 
** Cancer & 18-week data is not available for March 2015 
Note C difficile RAG rating applied on the basis of the cumulative quaterely expression of the trajectory
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Continuous improvements to quality 
Regulatory ratings report

2014/15 Annual Plan Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Under the risk assessment framework

Continuity of services rating 4 4 3 4 4

Governance risk rating 4 
Red

01 

Green
02 

Green
12 

Green
12 (forecast) 

Green
 
1Quarter 1 is reported solely for the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust prior to the acquisition of Barnet and 
Chase Farm NHS Hospitals Trust 

2Quarters 2 to 4 are reported for the combined Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust and Barnet and Chase 
Farm NHS Hospitals NHS Trust as the acquisition occurred on 1 July 2014. For these quarters the Governance rating 
is subject to an adjustment described below.  

Monitor governance adjustment:

A&E: The trust failed the indicator for quarter 3 and quarter 4. In relation to this standard a governance concern 
may be triggered after breaching the standard in two quarters over any four quarter period. However risk against 
this standard was identified prior to acquisition and is taken account of in the Monitor governance framework 
adjustment. The trust advised Monitor that it expected to return to compliance in quarter 2 2015/16.  

C.difficile: The trust has been in breach of the quarterly cumulative trajectory for three consecutive quarters and has 
breached the year-to-date target. A governance concern may be triggered following three consecutive quarters’ 
breaches or breaching the full year trajectory. The risk against this standard was also identified prior to acquisition 
and is also taken account of in the Monitor governance framework adjustment. The trust advised Monitor that it 
expected to return to compliance in quarter 4 2015/16.  

Cancer 62 days from GP referral: The trust failed the indicator in quarter 3 and is at high risk of failing quarter 4. 
This would be a “planned fail” designed to ensure backlog clearance with the objective of returning to compliance 
in quarter 1 2015/16. Assuming compliance is achieved in quarter 1 the trust will have recorded two consecutive 
quarters’ failures and will avoid a third. This indicator was not identified as a risk pre-acquisition and is not therefore 
subject to a Monitor governance framework adjustment. 

2013/14 Annual Plan Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Under the compliance framework

Financial risk rating 4 4 4

Governance risk rating 3 
Amber - red

0

Amber - 
green

1

Amber - 
green

Under the risk assessment framework

Continuity of services rating 4 4

Governance risk rating 1
Green

1
Green

The continuity of services risk rating states Monitor’s view of the risk facing a provider of key NHS services. There are 
four rating categories ranging from one, which represents the most serious risk, to four, representing the least risk. 
A low rating does not necessarily represent a breach of the trust’s licence. Rather, it reflects the degree of financial 
concern Monitor may have about a provider and consequently the frequency with which the regulator will monitor it.

The continuity of services risk rating was introduced part-way through 2013/14. It is not calculated and used in the 
same way as the financial risk rating (FRR) that was applied to NHS foundation trusts through Monitor’s compliance 
framework. Whereas the FRR was intended to identify breaches of trusts’ terms of authorisation on financial grounds, 
the continuity of services risk rating will identify the level of risk to the continuing availability of key services.

The continuity of service risk rating reflects the trust’s maintenance of a strong position against a backdrop of 
increasing patient demand, financial constraints and the acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust.
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Listening to and learning  
from our patients 

During the year the trust appointed a deputy director of patient experience 
and brought a number of teams together to improve our focus and 
consistency.

The friends and family test 

The friends and family test (FFT) provides prompt feedback from patients and 
their relatives about the care they have received. Every adult patient attending 
A&E and the wards is telephoned within 48 hours of discharge and asked 
“how likely are you to recommend the Royal Free London to friends and 
family if they needed similar care or treatment?”

Patients may respond: “extremely likely”, “likely”, “neither likely nor unlikely”, 
“unlikely” or “extremely unlikely”. 

During 2014/15, we received 63,232 responses from:

Patient experience 
is recognised as 
fundamental to the 
quality of healthcare 
and is a strategic 
priority for the trust. 
Our mission is to 
provide world class 
health treatment and 
we are committed to 
ensuring that patients 
feel welcomed, 
respected and 
reassured by well-
trained and caring 
staff.

44,618

A&E 
patients

responses

15,554

In-patients

responses

3,060

Maternity 
service users

responses
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Barnet 
Hospital

Chase Farm 
Hospital

Royal Free 
Hospital

Month % would recommend

Apr 14 87% 84% 90%

May 14 84% 96% 89%

Jun 14 86% 93% 87%

Jul 14 85% 93% 88%

Aug 14 91% 97% 89%

Sept 14 87% 93% 87%

Oct 14 86% 98% 88%

Nov 14 87% 95% 88%

Dec 14 86% 90% 85%

Jan 15 84% 95% 88%

Feb 15 82% 95% 88%

Mar 15 85% 92% 88%

Barnet Hospital Royal Free Hospital

Month % would recommend

Apr 14 83% 87%

May 14 81% 86%

Jun 14 78% 86%

Jul 14 82% 85%

Aug 14 88% 87%

Sept 14 84% 85%

Oct 14 88% 84%

Nov 14 86% 87%

Dec 14 83% 84%

Jan 15 84% 87%

Feb 15 86% 88%

Mar 15 84% 89%

Accident and emergency FFT 2014/15 – 44,618 respondents

Positive scores encourage staff that 
they are providing high-quality 
care, and negative feedback shows 
where improvements are needed. 
A significant number of in-patients 
complained about being disturbed 
by noise at night on the wards and 
this resulted in the purchase and 
distribution of ear plugs.

The FFT for in-patients was 
introduced in April 2012, for A&E 
patients in April 2013 and for 
maternity patients in October 2013.

The FFT in maternity asked the 
question at four points of a 
woman’s journey through the 
service: at or around the 36-week 
antenatal appointment, the birth, 
the postnatal ward and postnatal 
community care before handover to 
the health visitor. 

In-patients FFT 2014/15 – 15,546 respondents 
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Focus groups

Focus groups provide an opportunity 
for patients to tell us about their 
experiences and give us their ideas 
on how services could be improved.

This year, we held focus groups on a 
number of services, including:

•	 maternity

•	 renal	transplant

•	 urology	and	bladder

•	 pancreatic	cysts

•	 nurse-led	cirrhosis	clinic.

As well as asking patients for their 
views on specific services, the 
trust held a focus group exploring 
confidence and trust in nursing.

Maternity FFT 2014/15

Q1 – Antenatal care – 
738 respondents

Q2 – Labour and birth 
– 853 respondents

Q3 – Postnatal 
hospital care – 852 
respondents

Q 4 – Postnatal 
community services - 
759 respondents

Barnet 
Hospital

Royal Free 
Hospital

Barnet 
Hospital

Royal Free 
Hospital

Barnet 
Hospital

Royal Free 
Hospital

Barnet 
Hospital

Royal Free 
Hospital

Month % would recommend

Apr 14 41% 100% 90% 100% 90% 100% No data 100%

May 14 69% 100% 95% 95% 95% 86% No data 97%

Jun 14 63% 100% 83% 100% 83% 96% No data 89%

Jul 14 84% 100% 86% 98% 86% 89% No data 94%

Aug 14 86% 100% 69% 98% 69% 90% No data 91%

Sept 14 100% 100% 91% 92% 91% 94% No data 91%

Oct 14 91% 100% 84% 91% 94% 90% 99% 95%

Nov 14 64% 100% 94% 94% 94% 94% 100% 100%

Dec 14 46% 100% 100% 87% 100% 90% 100% 100%

Jan 15 79% 100% 100% 100% 100% 80% 100% 100%

Feb 15 100% 93% 86% 93% 86% 93% 99% 98%

Mar 15 50% 93% 60% 97% 60% 97% 100% 97%

National in-patient survey 

The latest available national in-patient 
results were published by the Care 
Quality Commission on 8 April 2014. 
They showed that when benchmarked 
against the worst and best performing 
trusts nationwide the trust had 
improved, with answers to 58 
questions in line with the performance 
of other trusts and only two questions 
performing less well. 

During 2014/15 the trust has 
undertaken a number of actions 
regarding patient experience:

•	 	Following	the	acquisition	of	
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust significant work was 
undertaken in listening to patients: 

 -  A number of focus groups on 
issues such as confidence and 
trust in nurses

 -  A review of capacity and 
capability around patient 
experience improvements. This 
resulted in the appointment 
of a deputy director of patient 
experience, an associate medical 
director for patient experience 
and a deputy director of nursing 
for patient experience

 -  A review and clearer focus on 
patient experience priorities

•	 	Strengthened	medical	input	
at the patient and staff 
experience committee

•	 	The	identification	by	individual	
services of the need for specific 
surveys which are now underway.

The results of the 2014 national in-
patient survey will not be published 
until end May 2015 when the 
impact of these and other actions 
will be known. However, qualitative 
comments from the friends and 
family test show a positive trend.
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The trust receives both positive and negative patient feedback and during 
the year received 101 positive comments and 60 negative comments via 
this site. We currently have a rating of three out of five stars.

The positive comments show how staff translate the trust’s world class 
care values into tangible actions. 

“As worried and anxious parents, 
I cannot fault any of the staff and 
professionals we came into contact 
with, who regularly reassured and 
relaxed us.”

“The staff pulled out all stops to 
get it [operation] done. All the 
staff from cleaners to doctors 
were very helpful. I can’t give this 
hospital enough praise. Last of 
all, the food was of a very high 
standard for mass catering.”

“I have a phobia of having my blood 
taken and dreaded hanging around in 
a hospital without a prior appointment. 
I was seen very quickly and behaved 
rather hysterically due to my fear 
of blood being taken from me. The 
phlebotomist/nurse who was taking 
blood from me was incredibly patient, 
kind, tolerant and really helped the 
situation to be less traumatic. I am 
really impressed with the Royal Free. 
Thank you.”

“Being HIV positive for 10 years . . .  
the moment I called the Royal Free 
Hospital, I was treated as a person, 
not just a number. Consultant listened 
to me, let me make my own choices, 
always gave me more than one option.”

In-patients at the Royal Free Hospital 
can leave feedback and complete the 
national in-patient survey via their 
bedside TVs. The following comments 
were received during the year:

“Thank you very much for 
everything you have done for me. I 
will never forget the great support 
the doctor and his whole team 
gave to me and also the treatment 
I am having in the hospital. You are 
making me feel like I’ve been born 
again. I wish you all the best.”

“Overall, a very pleasant experience 
to cope with a very unpleasant 
condition. A big thank you to all 
the nursing staff on ward, and a big 
thank you also to the recovery team 
following my operation.”

“Totally impressed by the expertise, 
commitment, attitude and humour 
of all nursing staff. Their smiling 
cheery demeanour was outstanding, 
under difficult conditions.”

NHS Choices

NHS Choices is a public website 
which allows patients and visitors to 
post comments about NHS services 
and give them a rating out of five 
stars. The trust monitors the site and 
responds to all comments posted, 
whether positive or negative. Where 
appropriate, comments are passed 
on to the relevant divisional leads 
and internal stakeholders such as 
our patient advice and liaison service 
or our compliments and complaints 
department for action or response.
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Twitter 

Our Twitter feed highlights our latest news, photos and events. It directs 
followers to the latest patient information leaflets, campaigns and seminars, 
or specific areas of the trust website. The trust has more than 8,000 
followers and has tweeted more than 4,000 times.  

Twitter is also an effective vehicle for direct and immediate feedback to 
the trust from the public, patients and stakeholders. We receive a large 
number of appreciative tweets from patients thanking staff for the care and 
treatment they provide and when things do not go well the swiftness of the 
channel means we can act quickly to start putting things right. 

Along with the many positive 
comments posted on NHS 
Choices, the trust also receives 
valuable feedback from patients 
when services do not meet their 
expectations. Subjects of concern 
raised by patients this year included 
communication and delays in the 
discharge process. The website 
allows immediate feedback, with 
some patients using mobile devices 
to post comments while they are 
waiting in A&E or out-patient 
departments.  

One of the most frequently 
discussed subjects on NHS 
Choices was the provision of 
on-site parking at the Royal Free 
Hospital. This followed changes 
to the way payment can be made 
and a requirement for disabled 
parking permits to be registered 
with reception staff. As a result, a 
learning exercise was undertaken 
and the implementation process 
was adjusted before on-site 
parking procedures were changed 
at Barnet Hospital and Chase 
Farm Hospital.

@RoyalFreeNHS what lovely helpful 
people you have in your pharmacy @ 
Chase Farm Enfield

@RoyalFreeNHS A big thank you 2 
the 2 lovely girls who did my mammo 
& radiologist & nurse in Breast Care 
unit. All v kind & professional.

Two visits to @RoyalFreeNHS in two 
weeks - wonderful friendly staff 
taking blood tests. Thank you from a 
nervous patient! :)

@RoyalFreeNHS RFH is definitely my 
fav hosp. Went A n E this morn was 
seen by doc had X-ray and saw doc 
again, all within half hour.
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The trust is proactive in offering 
meetings to complainants as part 
of the complaint resolution process, 
enabling them to meet staff to 
discuss their complaints. 

Findings and data from complaints 
are used to inform reports and 
shared with divisional teams for 
learning to improve the patient 
experience. Patients are asked to 
complete questionnaires to provide 
feedback on the way their case 
was handled to help the trust make 
further quality improvements. 

We received 1,089 complaints 
during 2014/15. There were 
1,071,599 in-patient and out-
patient episodes, which equates to 
a complaint ratio of 0.1%. 

Top five themes:

•	 	Clinical	diagnosis,	eg	delay	in	
receiving a diagnosis, lack of 
diagnosis or concern that an 
incorrect diagnosis has been 
made

•	 	Clinical	treatment,	eg	unhappy	
with outcome of treatment, a 
lack of treatment or concern that 
incorrect/inappropriate treatment 
has been received

•	 	Communication

•	 	Delay/cancellation	

•	 	Staff	attitude,	eg	rudeness,	lack	
of assistance, not listening to the 
patient’s needs

Of the 978 complaints closed in this 
last financial year, 143 were fully 
upheld, 581 were partially upheld 
and 254 were not upheld. 

We try to learn from complaints. 
These are some examples of 
changes we have made as a result: 

•	 	The	stock	of	two	products	
involved in a potential 
prescribing error are now 
stored in different areas of 
the dispensary to prevent the 
possibility of a similar error. 

•	 	Appointment	letters	now	advise	
patients that they should expect 
to spend approximately 90 
minutes in orthopaedic clinics. 
A high number of patients are 
referred to these clinics by GPs 
and the emergency department. 
Some may require x-rays or 
procedures such as the removal 
and replacement of plaster casts 
before they see a member of 
the orthopaedic team. The new 
letters make patients aware of 
the reasons why they may need 
to wait to be seen.

•	 	The	ophthalmology	team	
conducts a weekly forward 
review of clinic bookings to 
ensure they have sufficient 
capacity and reduce delays for 
patients. Additional IT resources 
now enable the remote viewing 
of eye images from all clinical 
rooms which will also reduce 
waiting times for patients.

An easy-to-read leaflet “Comments, 
concerns and complaints” explains 
how to raise issues or give feedback 
and is available throughout the 
trust. Information is also included in 
the patient bedside guide.

More information about PALS 
and how to make a complaint is 
available on our website: www.
royalfree.nhs.uk.

Our patient advice and liaison 
service (PALS)

Our PALS is the first point of contact 
to help patients and visitors with 
questions, concerns and suggestions 
about our services. Our dedicated 
PALS team offers help and support 
and tries to answer queries and 
resolve issues quickly and informally.  

PALS dealt with 12,367 queries 
during 2014/15. The top five 
themes were:

•	 	General	assistance/enquiries,	
eg checking on the status 
of a referral, confirming an 
appointment time or location, 
helping to cancel and rebook 
appointments or bring an 
appointment forward

•	 	Communication,	eg	unclear	
communication or difficulties 
contacting departments

•	 	Delay/cancellation	

•	 Clinical	treatment	

•	 	Staff	attitude,	eg	rudeness,	lack	
of assistance

PALS can be contacted by phone, 
email or face-to-face meeting 
at Barnet Hospital, Chase Farm 
Hospital and the Royal Free Hospital,  
(please note, face-to-face meetings 
at Chase Farm Hospital are by 
appointment only). 

Resolving complaints 

We aim to resolve most concerns 
through PALS, but if a patient or 
relative wishes to make a formal 
complaint, our complaints team 
ensures that the matters raised are 
investigated thoroughly and that 
complainants are responded to in 
line with trust procedures.

In accordance with legislation and 
good practice, the trust systematically 
reviews complaints and PALS 
cases, ensures that investigations 
are undertaken appropriately and 
escalates them as necessary. The 
executive lead for the complaints 
process is the director of nursing.



39

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15  / Improving our environment

Improving our environment 

We are committed 
to providing a 
clean and healthy 
environment for our 
patients, visitors and 
staff.

As a major provider of services and employment in the local community, 
the trust works to promote sustainability and ensure a safe and clean 
environment for patients, visitors and staff. 

Patient-led assessments of the care environment (PLACE) rely on the input 
and scrutiny of patients to measure the quality of the environment where 
NHS care is provided. Every year PLACE teams, including local people, assess 
patient privacy and dignity, food, cleanliness and building maintenance.

Mock PLACE audits are carried out throughout the year to maintain a 
constant focus on providing patients with a good quality environment and 
nutritious and appetising food.

During 2014/5 Barnet Hospital, Chase Farm Hospital and the Royal Free 
Hospital, submitted their respective PLACE audits while still two separate 
NHS trusts. 

Overall, the Royal Free London performed well compared to other similar 
trusts. Privacy, dignity and wellbeing at Barnet Hospital was the only score 
that did not meet the trust’s high standards. This relates to a change in the 
definition this year of what constitutes a full entertainment system and the 
trust is working to resolve the issue.



40

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Improving our environment

99.35% 95.87% 89.61% 81.63%
CLEANLINESSFOOD PRIVACY, DIGNITY

AND WELLBEING
CONDITION, APPEARANCE 

AND MAINTENANCE

Barnet Hospital

91.38% 90.30% 99.00% 91.67%
CLEANLINESSFOOD PRIVACY, DIGNITY

AND WELLBEING
CONDITION, APPEARANCE 

AND MAINTENANCE

Chase Farm Hospital 

92.43% 88.43% 97.92% 92.48%
CLEANLINESSFOOD PRIVACY, DIGNITY

AND WELLBEING
CONDITION, APPEARANCE 

AND MAINTENANCE

Royal Free Hospital 

National Average: Food - 88.79%  Condition, appearance and maintenance - 91.97%

   Cleanliness - 97.25% Privacy, dignity and wellbeing - 87.73%

Place audit results
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Smoke-free hospitals

The trust is committed to providing 
a clean and healthy environment for 
patients, visitors and staff.

A complete smoking ban has been 
in place on trust property since 
2005 and this year we worked hard 
to strengthen the effectiveness of 
the policy. First we launched a hard-
hitting poster campaign at the Royal 
Free Hospital, backed by patrols of 
security officers politely reminding 
people of our non-smoking policy. 

On 11 March, national No Smoking 
Day, we extended the campaign 
to Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm 
Hospital. Advice and information to 
support smokers in giving up the 
habit was available from promotion 
stands at all three hospitals. 

First class patient transport

The trust has made improvements 
to our non-emergency patient 
transport (NEPT) service to provide 
a smoother and more efficient 
experience for passengers. This 
work was supported by a sub-group 
of trust governors.

We appointed a team of transport 
liaison assistants, who meet and 
greet patients, assist them with 
the check-in process and escort 
them to clinics. This innovation has 
saved time for ambulance drivers 
and significantly reduced average 
transfer times from over an hour to 
12 minutes. 

And by ensuring that our patients 
receive advance reminders about 
journeys, and are ready to travel 
at the appointed time, we have 
reduced aborted journey rates from 
10% in 2012 to just under 2.5% in 
November 2014. 

ERS Medical has been appointed as 
the trust’s new NEPT provider and 
are committed to ensuring these 
initiatives are maintained, with 
service times continuing to improve 
and an improved experience for our 
patients.

Making the environment a 
priority

Our carbon reduction strategy 
reflects our corporate responsibility 
to lead by example on sustainability 
in the community we serve.

Since we launched the strategy in 
2008, we have reduced our total 
emissions each year. Last year we 
cut emissions of carbon dioxide 
by a further 500 tonnes to 26,800 
tonnes.

Our updated strategy will reduce 
our annual carbon dioxide emissions 
by a further 4,616 tonnes by 2020, 
equating to an annual financial 
saving of £436,000. The trust will 
continue to innovate and develop 
further reductions where viable. 

During 2014/15 at the Royal Free 
Hospital, we:

•	 	continued	collaboration	with	
energy management company 
MITIE and Camden Council on 
a district heating system. The 
scheme uses waste heat from 
the heat and power plant at 
the Royal Free Hospital to heat 
around 1,500 local homes and is 
expected to reduce emissions in 
the borough of Camden by about 
2,800 tonnes of carbon dioxide 
each year

•	 	successfully	completed	energy	
efficiency upgrades to core plant, 
including:

 -  recovering waste heat/cooling 
from the ventilation system

 -   improved controls over the 
hospital cooling system

 -   installation of energy efficient 
light emitting diode (LED) 
lighting and occupancy sensors 
throughout the hospital offices 
and laboratories

 -   improved energy efficiency of 
our steam distribution system

 -   reduced motor power 
requirements of central plant 
by the installation and use of 
variable speed drives.
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•	 	increased	secure	bicycle	parking,	
with the help of Transport for 
London (TFL), began discussions 
with TFL and Camden Council on 
the installation of a ‘Boris bike’ 
docking station and launched a 
bicycle loan scheme for staff

•		 	started	“out-of-hours”	energy	
auditing of departments 
to identify ways to reduce 
unnecessary consumption

•		 	set	up	the	first	phase	of	
automatic meter reading to 
increase transparency of energy 
consumptions within our estate, 
drive efficiencies and allow 
better validation of invoices

•		 	reconfigured	environmental	
controls in many areas to 
reduce energy when they are 
unoccupied

•		 	took	part	in	National	Climate	
Week and NHS Sustainability 
Day 2014 by communicating our 
commitments and those of our 
strategic partners

•		 	launched	a	second	“switch	off	
for Christmas” campaign, which 
demonstrated that a 3% saving 
in electricity could be achieved 
over the holiday.

And at Barnet Hospital/Chase 
Farm Hospital, we:

•	 	installed	over	50	square	metres	
of solar panels to power part of 
the maternity building at Barnet 
Hospital. The panels will reduce 
carbon dioxide emissions by 
13.3 tonnes each year and for 
the next 20 years the trust will 
receive a tariff from our utility 
supplier for every kilowatt of 
energy we generate

•	 	upgraded	three	of	our	largest	
chilled water plants, eliminating the 
need for R22 refrigerants which are 
harmful to the ozone layer. Each 
year, the new plants will reduce 
carbon dioxide emissions by 283 
tonnes, and reduce our electricity 
bill by £80,000. Work to eliminate 
R22 refrigerants at all sites will 
continue next year

•	 	continued	to	install	power	factor	
correction units at Chase Farm 
Hospital to reduce electricity 
consumption 

•	 	contributed	to	an	action	plan,	
working with Enfield Council 
and the National Fuel Poverty 
Association, to tackle fuel 
poverty in the local community. 

Emergency planning – 
resilience and response

The NHS has a key role in 
responding to large scale 
emergencies and major incidents 
and the trust has detailed plans to 
ensure that it is prepared. 

Our main focus during 2014/5 was 
on maintaining our ability to plan 
for and cope with major incidents 
during a period of significant 
organisational change. It was 
against this backdrop that the trust 
responded to the Ebola outbreak, as 
it had the only high level isolation 
unit in the UK.

Emergency planning staff from the 
Royal Free London and Barnet and 
Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust 
collaborated in the run-up to the 
acquisition to ensure a co-ordinated 
approach. This process continued 
following the acquisition and 
included a review of the command 
and control structure across the 
Royal Free London. 

Last year new e-learning emergency 
planning training was introduced in 
the trust, and has been completed 
by 5,000 members of staff.

Work was carried out, within the 
trust and with partners, to ensure 
that emergency departments, 
urgent care centres and out-patient 
areas were prepared should a 
patient with symptoms of Ebola 
attend. Preparations were made to 
support the operation of the high 
level isolation unit which treated 
three confirmed cases. 

Major incident exercises

During the year, the organisation 
participated in a number of multi-
agency major incident exercises, 
both live and table-top. Scenarios 
included:

•	 	passengers	arriving	to	Britain	
with Ebola symptoms via ports, 
St Pancras International and 
airports and being transferred 
to the Royal Free Hospital. Ebola 
exercises were conducted with 
other NHS trusts, Public Health 
England, NHS England and the 
RAF

•	 	a	major	fire	and	the	discovery	of	
bomb making material, working 
with the Metropolitan Police, 
London Fire Brigade, London 
Ambulance, British Transport 
Police and University College 
London Hospital

•	 	recovery	following	a	radiation	
incident, working with Barnet 
Council. This was based on a 
highly publicised incident in 
2006, when Barnet Hospital 
was attended by Alexander 
Litvinenko, a fugitive officer from 
the Russian secret service who 
suffered fatal poisoning by a 
radioactive substance

•	 	a	terrorist	attack	and	disruption	
to supplies of fuel and water, 
with borough and regional 
resilience forums.
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Plans into action

Elements of our emergency 
planning arrangements were put 
into action several times during 
the year, mainly in response to 
suspected Ebola patients attending 
A&E and confirmed cases admitted 
to our high level isolation unit. 
At Barnet Hospital, we received 
casualties after a bus overturned 
during rush hour.

We continually review and learn 
from our experiences to improve 
emergency plans for the future and 
are well placed to make a positive 
contribution to the safety of the 
wider London community.
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Meet Andrew
A patient praises the ‘brilliant’ treatment, care and 
communication from the Royal Free Hospital’s kidney 
cancer team.

Andrew Ellis, 48, was referred by UCLH to the Royal Free Hospital at the start of 
this year after he was diagnosed with a kidney tumour.

He came in to see the team at the Royal Free Hospital in February and discussed 
his treatment with a variety of staff members, including surgeon, Faiz Mumtaz, 
and clinical nurse specialist (CNS), David Cullen. 

Mr Ellis said he was delighted with his care from the start.

“The treatment here has been brilliant,” he said. “The staff really took the time 
to explain things to me and they let me ask questions. I never felt rushed, even 
though I know they are all very busy. There are also lots of leaflets about the 
surgery and what I could expect, so that was really helpful.

“The best thing is that there is a CNS who you feel is really looking after you. 
You can call or email them if you have any concerns. I emailed once and David 
called me back half an hour later. That just puts you at ease.”

Mr Ellis had surgery to remove his tumour in March and was able to go home 
four days after the operation.

Mr Mumtaz carried out the operation with the help of da Vinci, a surgical robot.

He explained that the robot enabled him to remove the tumour, and only a small 
part of the kidney so that the rest of Mr Ellis’s kidney could be retained. He also 
used the robot to reconstruct the kidney so that it can continue to function. 

Mr Mumtaz said: “The robot also allows me to see a magnified image of the 
kidney so I can more easily distinguish between healthy kidney tissue and the 
tumour. This means the surgery can take place more quickly.

“During surgery the blood flow to the kidney needs to be stopped so we 
clamp the renal artery. If this takes more than 25 minutes the kidney is likely 
to suffer damage. Because the surgical robot allows me to remove the tumour 
more quickly, this reduces the clamping time and the kidney is less likely to be 
damaged.” 
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“The best thing is 
that there is a CNS 
who you feel is 
really looking after 
you. You can call or 
email them if you 
have any concerns.”
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Playing our part in  
the local NHS

A changing landscape

Following the successful business 
case for the acquisition of Barnet 
Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital 
the transaction took place on 1 
July 2014.

The expanded trust is building on 
the best of both organisations to 
deliver even better care to local 
people in north London including 
Camden, Barnet, Enfield, and south 
Hertfordshire. 

Before and since the acquisition 
the clinical and senior management 
team have been actively engaging 
with GPs, clinical commissioning 
groups (CCGs), patient and other 
stakeholder groups and local 
authorities in the wider catchment 
area to develop joint solutions to 
problems wherever possible. We 
will continue to foster and develop 
these networks to help deliver high 
quality care in partnership with 
others, closer to where patients live. 

Trust leadership has a strong 
clinical focus, with clinicians from 
across the expanded organisation 
taking new roles, working closely 
with commissioners, local GPs 
and representatives from our local 
population. Best practice is being 
shared across the expanded trust 
and the development of new 
pathways of care continues.

Social and community 
matters 

Following the expansion of the 
organisation, we have continued to 
build productive relationships with 
local community health and social 
care teams to allow us to innovate 
and improve patient care. The 
recent development of primary care 

federations – the bringing together of 
practices to improve clinical efficiencies 
– will allow further possibilities for 
more integrated services.

Our post-acute care enablement 
(PACE) service has been expanded 
this year to support patients from 
Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm 
Hospital in the boroughs of Barnet 
and Enfield.

This integrated team brings together 
staff from seven organisations: the 
Royal Free London, Central London 
Community Healthcare NHS Trust, 
Enfield Community Services (part of 
Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental 
Health Trust), North West London 
NHS Foundation Trust and Barnet, 
Enfield and Camden councils. 

We are also working with 
Hertfordshire Community Trust and 
Hertfordshire social care to further 
expand PACE for our Hertfordshire 
patients, speeding up and improving 
their discharge from hospital. 

This collaboration ensures that 
patients, who in the past would 
have been either admitted to 
hospital or have to stay there longer, 
can be treated at home under the 
care of their hospital consultant. 

Staff in the PACE service view 
themselves as one team, working 
to deliver excellent care to patients 
along seamless pathways. 

Our partnership with Enfield 
community services and social care 
at Chase Farm Hospital provides 
an older people’s assessment unit. 
This enables patients, identified by 
GPs as at risk of admission, to be 
referred in and supported home. So 
far only 3% of the 1,343 patients 
attending have required an in-
patient stay.

Building on the skills 
and experience of 
staff throughout 
the enlarged 
organisation to 
deliver patients the 
best care.  



47

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Playing our part in the local NHS

Other examples of how we work 
together with community providers 
are included in “Our partners”, the 
next section of this report. 

We have taken an active part in 
the better care project to support 
community services in developing 
locality based multidisciplinary 
teams, to reduce the need for 
hospital admission. The impact of 
this work will be determined as the 
project develops.

This year we have again faced 
challenges regarding the availability 
of community in-patient beds, 
resulting in some patients remaining 
in hospital after their acute 
treatment has been completed. 

This was coupled with an increase 
in the number of patients admitted 
for social care reasons, when they 
are no longer able to cope at 
home. The hospital becomes the 
place of safety for these patients 
but is not necessarily the right 
place for them. However, we are 
confident that the work we are 
doing with partners and other 
providers, for example through a 
system resilience group chaired 
by Barnet Clinical Commissioning 
Group, will mean we can 
collectively plan system responses 
to demand and capacity issues.

To assist with best use of community 
beds, the Royal Free Hospital again 
opened an enablement ward 
towards the end of 2014/15 to 
help patients stay as fit as possible 
while they wait for rehabilitation 
beds. This model was successfully 
piloted last year and has been 
enhanced and developed this year. 
There are enablement beds at 
Chase Farm Hospital in addition to 
the rehabilitation ward and we are 
working closely with local providers 
to provide a more integrated 
approach to rehabilitation in Barnet 
and Enfield.

Specific improvements made 
include timely discharge planning 
and escalation pathways, and 
developments at Chase Farm Hospital 
will drive new models of care.

Our partners 

We continue to work with 
colleagues to ensure that our 
services are arranged around the 
patient, based on best practice, 
and deliver good value for 
taxpayers’ money.

We know we cannot do this without 
building strong relationships with 
our partner organisations in north 
London and south Hertfordshire, 
including GPs, CCGs and specialist 
commissioners, local authorities, 
other NHS and independent 
hospitals, mental health trusts, 
social care and voluntary sector 
organisations.

The trust prides itself on joint 
working and system leadership. 
In addition to the wide range of 
integrated pathways implemented 
across Camden, Barnet and Enfield 
and our work to develop more 
joint provider services and clinical 
pathways, we are now engaging 
with local providers to best meet 
CCG commissioning intentions. 
This may mean delivering services 
in joint ventures and with new 
partners, such as the newly-formed 
GP federations across north London 
and Hertfordshire. 

An example of this joint working 
is the Camden integrated care 
service (CICS), a partnership 
between Camden CCG and the 
main clinical and social care 
providers in the borough.

Key services that have continued to 
develop at pace throughout the year 
through CICS include:

•	 diabetes	

•	 	frailty	–	including	a	consultant-
led team approach to case 
management of patients (which 
has also been implemented in 
Barnet) as well as community 
consultant geriatrician clinics

•	 	chronic	obstructive	pulmonary	
disease

•	 heart	failure.

Evaluation of the impact of these 
services has been positive with 
reductions of unplanned care and 
multiple appointments for frail 
patients. We continue to work 
with Camden colleagues to expand 
services through this partnership.

Another area of focus throughout 
the year has been development 
of strong relationships with our 
new partners across Enfield and 
Hertfordshire, both providers 
and commissioners, for example 
on pathways for cardiology, 
dermatology and respiratory 
patients. 

Further integrated care 
pathways 

Through partnership working, we 
improve care for patients who have 
experienced a life-changing event 
that means they can no longer live 
in their own home and now require 
either residential or nursing home 
care. To ensure that families are 
fully supported we have engaged 
CHS Healthcare who are expert in 
supporting patients and families to 
understand the complex decisions 
they are required to make when 
looking for care homes.

CHS Healthcare is a clinically-led 
national organisation that achieves 
reductions in lengths of stay with 
high patient satisfaction through 
similar work in other hospitals. We 
are very pleased to be working with 
them to bring similar benefits to our 
patients and will look forward to a 
full evaluation of their work later in 
the year.

We have been working with primary 
care services, the voluntary sector 
and mental health and community 
teams to improve the model of 
care for patients with diabetes in 
Camden. This has led to a decrease 
in the number of undiagnosed 
patients in Camden and a broad 
education programme to empower 
patients to manage their condition 
more effectively.
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A scheme supporting the safe and 
timely discharge of patients with 
dementia, launched last year, has 
achieved significant positive results.

Work continued this year to develop 
the my discharge scheme, which 
provides a personalised service in 
partnership with the patient, their 
carer and health, social and voluntary 
organisations, enabling patients to 
be discharged in a safe and dignified 
way and prevent readmission. 

Evaluation of the service shows 
reductions in unplanned admissions 
and the amount of time patients 
spend in hospital. In addition, 
of 101 patients with dementia, 
30% more patients were able to 
be supported and discharged to 
their own homes rather than to 
institutional care.

Working with GPs 

The trust continues to forge strong 
and productive relationships with 
local GPs. We take seriously and 
act on their feedback and our chief 
executive and director of service 
transformation make regular visits 
to practices. 

Electronic discharge summaries 
and radiology results are now sent 
to most Barnet and Camden GP 
practices as well as many in Enfield, 
Haringey and Islington. 

We have a dedicated email account, 
website and phone number for 
GPs. These forms of communication 
are increasingly used to address 
queries immediately. We have set 
up, in partnership with local CCGs, 
clinical advice support via email 
and telephone. Once these services 
have been tested for accessibility 
and content we will make plans to 
offer local GPs email and telephone 
advice, to ensure that patients 
receive the best clinical advice and 
treatment close to home.

Our service improvement work 
is supported by Dr Mike Smith, 
director of clinical pathway 
redesign and local GP, and Andrew 
Harrington, director of whole 
system partnerships. 

Engagement with our 
communities 

Strong relationships with our 
partners and the local community 
are vital to providing high quality 
care for patients. 

This year we have seen a major 
engagement programme and more 
communication with our communities 
and stakeholders than ever before.

One focus of work has been the 
acquisition of Barnet Hospital and 
Chase Farm Hospital and senior 
clinicians and managers at both 
trusts have worked closely together 
to establish the benefits to patients 
of the expanded trust.

We have attended numerous 
meetings to share information 
about future developments, explain 
our plans and gather valuable 
feedback, including local overview 
and scrutiny committees, health 
and wellbeing boards and meetings 
of the independent consumer 
champion Healthwatch.

We have been engaging with 
different communities as part of our 
equality and diversity programme in 
two key ways:

1.  Engaging with community 
groups and organisations 
representing the nine protected 
characteristics defined in 
the Equality Act 2010 - age, 
disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex (gender) 
and sexual orientation.

2.  Responding to the views and 
needs of different organisations. 
For example:

	 •	 	At	the	Camden	Sensory	
Forum the trust’s response 
to working with deaf 
people was raised. We have 
responded by meeting the 
community to identify actions 
to be taken, which include 
improving access to British 
Sign Language interpretation 
and the purchase of portable 
induction loops.

	 •	 	Through	the	equal	access	
group and engagement with 
Camden Health Matters, 
the trust has been working 
with patients with a learning 
disability. Actions taken 
include a flagging system on 
the electronic patient record.

	 •	 	Opening	Doors	London,	a	
project that offers information 
and support services for older 
lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transgender people, is providing 
staff training at the trust. 

Local residents 

Listening to the views of local 
residents is key to the future of the 
Royal Free London.

We have described three major 
projects which got underway 
this year: the building of a new 
hospital at Chase Farm Hospital, 
the new building for the Institute 
of Immunity and Transplantation, 
called the Pears Building, and the 
redevelopment of the Royal Free 
Hospital’s emergency department.

In July 2014 we held the first in 
a series of stakeholder groups 
including local MPs, councillors, 
scrutiny leads and also regularly 
met residents to share our plans for 
Chase Farm Hospital. In addition 
our executive team have regularly 
met their opposite numbers at 
partner organisations to ensure 
we kept them up to date and had 
their support. We have created an 
information hub at the hospital 
where patients, visitors and staff can 
view the plans for a new hospital, 
three-form entry primary school and 
housing and ask questions.

In the run-up to our application 
to Camden Council for the Pears 
Building, which will house the 
institute, we met more than 
300 people at 60 meetings to 
understand the views of our 
different stakeholders. We have 
listened to their concerns, reducing 
the mass of the building by over 
30% from its original concept. We 
believe that this design represents a 
carefully considered response to the 
site’s setting. 
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We have focused on consulting 
widely for the opening of the new 
institute building at the Royal Free 
Hospital and will involve users in 
our detailed planning of the new 
emergency department. 

Before the emergency department 
work started letters were sent to 
local residents living on adjacent 
streets to inform them of our plans 
and allow them opportunity to 
contact us if they had any concerns. 
Clear signage has also been put 
up on the hoardings around the 
development and we have worked 
with our contractors to ensure 
advertised “quiet periods” are 
adhered to. Detailed information 
about all three schemes is available 
on our public website. 

Apart from engagement around 
particular projects, we seek the 
views of our patients through 
our patient user experience 
committee, regular workshops and 
special events, and information is 
regularly updated on our website, 
through leaflet campaigns and 
displayed on information screens 
around the hospital. 

As a foundation trust, we work in 
close partnership with our council 
of governors, elected by our 
members. We have a well-attended 
programme of events for our 
members, enabling them to stay up 
to date with clinical developments 
and give their views on our plans 
for services.  

Environment liaison group 

The bi-annual environment liaison 
group is a forum for local residents 
to discuss relations between 
the trust and the community in 
areas such as planning, energy 
conservation, transport and crime.

Our trust chairman meets with 
residents’ associations to confer 
on matters of local interest. 
During 2014/15, the discussions 
continued on the planning 
application for the new Institute of 
Immunity and Transplantation and 
the planned major refurbishment 
of A&E, both at the Royal Free 
Hospital. Other topics were local 
policing and application of our no 
smoking policy.

Living the values

Staff at Chase Farm Hospital’s 
post-operative ward say they are 
“proud” after achieving top marks 
in a patient survey for six months 
in a row.

Wellington ward has been 
consistently ranked highest of all the 
hospital’s wards and in February’s 
NHS friends and family test 95.5% 
of patients surveyed said they would 
recommend the service to their 
friends and family if they needed 
similar care or treatment.

Nefreteria Duncan, Wellington ward 
manager, said all staff working 
on the ward put the Royal Free 
London’s values – to be positively 
welcoming, actively respectful, 
clearly communicating and visibly 
reassuring – at the centre of 
everything they do.

“The nurses always smile, which 
makes the patient feel very 
comfortable. We always orientate 
them so they know where 
everything in the ward is. We 
show them the call bell and how 
to use it and how the bed works 
and where the toilets are. We just 
make them feel comfortable. We 
treat them with respect and we 
treat them as individuals.”

Nefreteria added that she always 
introduces herself to patients soon 
after they arrive. “When patients 
come in overnight I like to meet 
them and find out how they are 
finding their stay here. If there are 
any issues or complaints I make sure 
we deal with it before the night 
staff go home.”

Nefreteria said she was 
“delighted” to hear her ward 
had again been rated so highly 
in the friends and family survey. 
“It makes us proud,” she added. 
”This is down to our entire ward 
staff. We all work very hard.”

Anisa Mohammed, Wellington 
staff nurse, added: “The staff who 
work here like what they do and 
care about what they do and the 
patients pick that up.”

Alastair St George, a patient who 
recovered on Wellington ward 
following orthodontic surgery, said: 
“The staff here are very friendly. 
They introduced themselves, asked 
me what I wanted to eat. It’s been 
better than I ever expected.”

William Jackson, who underwent 
surgery to remove a tumour from 
his face and neck, added: “They 
introduce themselves every time 
they change shift. I feel very well 
taken care of. I can’t fault them.”
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My ward staff are 
very welcoming 
to our patients 
when they come 
in. We always 
give them that 
world class care 
that every patient 
should receive

“
“
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Wellington ward
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Supporting our dedicated staff

At the Royal Free London, our 
ambition is to offer our patients and 
staff world class care and expertise. 

Our world class care (WCC) values 
were devised by our patients 
and staff and should underpin 
everything we do with every patient 
and every colleague, every day. 
We ask our staff to be positively 
welcoming, actively respectful, 
clearly communicating and visibly 
reassuring to all patients and 
colleagues.

The values were developed in 2011 
by involving patients and members 
of staff in listening events called “in 
your shoes”. In early 2014 we ran 
similar events for staff and patients 
at Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm 
Hospital which confirmed that the 
WCC values were equally applicable 
to services there. 

The trust has since embarked on a 
programme to embed the values 
across the expanded organisation. 
This begins with the recruitment, 
selection, induction and probation 
of new staff and continues through 
to the appraisal and development of 
the entire workforce.

Our staff awards in December 2014 
were structured around our WCC 
values. Our quarterly WCC awards 
also acknowledge and celebrate the 
efforts of individuals and teams to 
deliver the values.

In April 2014 we celebrated the 
success of our WCC values three 
years after their launch. We used 
the occasion to unveil a new 
framework, setting out how each 
value is translated into tangible 
actions that will deliver WCC for 
every patient. The framework 

was developed through extensive 
engagement with staff on “values 
into behaviours”. Everyone was 
invited to participate and the results 
are being used to help staff and 
patients understand how our values 
make a difference.   

To support the development of the 
WCC culture in the expanded trust, 
we established a culture steering 
group. Its role is to co-ordinate 
activities and maintain an overview 
of the emerging culture within the 
organisation.

It seeks to answer two questions:

•	 	How	do	we	know	we	are	
integrating?

•	 	How	do	we	know	we	are	
improving the WCC culture?

The steering group reviews data 
and information on staff turnover, 
appraisals, national staff survey 
results, culture webs (qualitative 
information from staff groups about 
different aspects of culture) and 
staff feedback (eg staff friends and 
family). So far, results indicate that 
the trust is integrating successfully, 
but there are aspects of the culture 
in every part of the organisation 
that can be improved.

The trust now 
employs more 
than 10,000 staff, 
including 1,500 
doctors and 2,900 
nurses and midwives. 
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A number of initiatives are 
underway to support improvements:

•	 A	clear	management	structure

•	 	Clear	trust	objectives	and	board	
leadership

•	 	The	trust’s	leadership	
development programmes (for 
doctors, nurses and other clinical 
leaders)

•	 	Senior	leaders’	events	(bringing	
together the entire senior 
leadership team quarterly)

•	 Service	line	management

•	 	Individual	support	from	
organizational development 
consultants to services and 
departments (eg facilitating 
meetings or improving 
teamworking)

•	 Staff	awards

•	 Appraisal	processes

•	 Training	and	development

•	 	Staff	engagement	in	projects	
(eg Chase Farm Hospital 
redevelopment, “wave 1” 
specialties, patient safety 
programme)

•	 Communications	initiatives

•	 Values	into	behaviours	project

CELEBRATING 
THE ACHIEVEMENTS  

OF OUR STAFF

We celebrated the dedication and accomplishments of teams 
and individuals at our annual staff achievement awards.

Linked to our world class care values, staff were nominated for 
an award by their colleagues and a special event was held to 
celebrate and recognise their hard work and commitment.

•	 	A	team	of	consultants,	registrars,	nurses,	clinical	support	workers	
and engineers, along with facilities, pharmacy and communications 
staff, were awarded for their work to provide world class care to 
the first British national to contract Ebola. The clinical outcome 
could not have been better and was a true reflection of the world 
class care we provide at the Royal Free London. This was a truly 
multidisciplinary approach to caring for a patient and everyone 
involved went the extra mile.

•	 	A	clinical	nurse	specialist	who	supervises	the	colposcopy	service	at	
Barnet Hospital received an accolade for her hard work beyond the 
call of duty. She personally performs 76% of colposcopies, always 
puts patients and their needs first and does extra clinics to achieve 
targets.

•	 	One	of	our	volunteers,	who	dedicates	an	enormous	amount	of	time	
to improving patient experience, was recognised for her dedication 
and passion. She assists patients, relatives and carers in need at 
Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital, is unfailingly willing to 
travel between the two at short notice, covering many roles, always 
with a smile.

•	 	The	trust	is	renowned	for	its	excellent	teaching	and	a	consultant	
physician was awarded for his enthusiasm and commitment to 
sharing his knowledge with medical students during early morning 
ward rounds, on Tuesday evenings and on weekend courses. 

•	 	The	nurse	who	has	led	the	palliative	care	team	since	2004	received	
an award for her outstanding leadership. Under her guidance the 
team has developed and was described by the chair of the local 
clinical commission group as the “perfect model of integrated 
care”. She embodies the values held by the trust and many patients 
and their families have benefited from her kindness, wisdom and 
support.

•	 	Two	nurses	were	awarded	for	their	innovative	efforts	to	provide	
new and improved treatments for immunology patients. The pair 
engaged in research and development, fundraised to start a patient 
support group and developed a web camera virtual clinic system to 
save patients additional visits to hospital. 
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Engaging with our staff 

Staff engagement is essential if we 
are to ensure excellence in patient 
care. 

The 2014 national staff survey 
placed the Royal Free London 
above the average for acute trusts 
in England for staff engagement. 
While pleasing in a year in which 
staff faced major upheaval, there 
is room for improvement following 
expansion, as management and 
leadership changes are embedded 
and integration and transformation 
projects develop.

In 2013/14 the trust was in the top 
20% for staff engagement, and we 
aim to achieve this again next year 
by: 

•	 	encouraging	dialogue	between	
staff and managers on 
continuous improvement in the 
trust’s performance

•		 	engaging	staff	in	organisational,	
service and individual changes 
that may affect them

•		 	providing	effective	management	
support and personal 
development to support staff 
in delivering a high standard of 
performance

•		 	supporting	staff	so	they	remain	
healthy and safe.

We communicate with staff 
regularly through a variety of 
channels, including:

•	 	Freemail	–	a	weekly	bulletin	sent	
to all staff via email

•	 	Freepress	–	a	monthly	staff	
magazine distributed to all sites

•	 	Freenet	–	the	intranet	available	
to staff across all sites which is 
updated daily  

•	 	Chief	executive	briefings	–	a	
monthly face-to-face briefing, 
open to all staff, from the chief 
executive at each of our hospital 
sites. This is then communicated 
via video and written channels 
on the intranet

There are also regular forums where 
senior managers hear feedback and 
ideas from different groups of staff, 
including:

•	 junior	doctors	

•	 new	starters	

•	 clinical	directors	

•	 senior	leadership.	

Staff survey 

The annual national NHS staff 
survey was conducted between 
September and December 2014.

This was the first national survey 
for the newly expanded Royal Free 
London. Because of the major 
changes that have occurred in the 
trust we wanted all members of 
staff to have the opportunity to 
respond, so a census approach 
was adopted. As a result 3,858 
responses were received (up from 
918 in 2013 which was based on 
a smaller sample) giving a broad 
reflection of staff experience across 
each of the trust’s hospitals. 

The results show that the trust has 
managed the transition to a larger 
organisation without any significant 
decline in staff experience, although 
there are areas of success and those 
where improvement is required.

The following tables show the 
trust’s “top five” and “bottom five” 
scores compared with other NHS 
acute trusts in the 2014/15 survey. 
It is not possible to show previous 
year comparisons for the new Royal 
Free London, due to the fact that it 
was two separate trusts before July 
2014.

Our success in 
delivering world class 
patient care is down 
to these motivated 
and forward-thinking 
people who put 
patients at the centre 
of everything they do.
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Areas for improvement 

The trust has been taking action 
on bullying and harassment 
and equality and diversity. New 
pathways have been established 
for reporting and tackling concerns 
about bullying and harassment, 
and improved training has been 
introduced. This has supported a 
small but steady reduction in cases.

On equality and diversity we have 
joined in work with other London 
trusts to identify the issues involved 
and how to tackle them, including 
work on “unconscious bias” and 
its possible impact on black and 
minority ethnic (BME) staff. More 
detail on this initiative can be found 
in the trust’s annual equality report, 
available on our website.

The four routes under the bullying 
and harassment pathway are:

Route A – talking directly to the 
person concerned

Route B – facilitated conversation

Route C – mediation conversation

Route D – investigation in 
accordance with trust policy

The trust is seeking to further 
understand the reported position 
on staff witnessing and reporting 
errors, as the survey suggests that 
staff are more likely than in other 
acute trusts to feel confident 
about raising concerns about 
unsafe clinical practice. The trust 
has introduced a new reporting 
mechanism and is running a patient 
safety programme, both of which 
provide an opportunity to address 
any perception that staff are under-
reporting incidents. 

Promoting equality and 
diversity

Our priority is to develop a culture 
that values each person for the 
contribution they can make to our 
services for patients. Our equality 
and diversity policy, agreed by 
our board and unions, aims to 
ensure that “no present or future 
employee or job applicant receives 

Response rate Trust National 
average

44% 42%

2014/15

Top four ranking scores Trust National 
average

KF2 Percentage of staff agreeing that their 
role makes a difference to patients.

92% 91%

KF15 Percentage of staff agreeing that 
they would feel secure raising concerns 
about unsafe clinical practice.

73% 67%

KF1 Percentage of staff feeling satisfied 
with the quality of work and patient care 
they are able to deliver.

82% 77%

KF8 Percentage of staff having well 
structured appraisals in last 12 months.

42% 38%

2014/15

Bottom four ranking scores Trust National 
average

KF27 Percentage of staff believing the 
trust provides equal opportunities for 
career progression or promotion.

77% 87%

KF19 Percentage of staff experiencing 
harassment, bullying or abuse from staff 
in the last 12 months.

31% 23%

KF28 Percentage of staff experiencing 
discrimination at work in the last 12 
months. 

18% 11%

KF18 Percentage of staff experiencing 
harassment, bullying, or abuse from 
patients, relatives or the public in the last 
12 months.

32% 29%
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less favourable treatment (whether 
actual or perceived), or on the 
grounds of an association with 
someone who may fall under a 
protected characteristic”. The nine 
protected characteristics are age, 
disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex (gender) and 
sexual orientation.

During 2014/15 we have sought 
to develop an integrated approach 
to equality and diversity across the 
trust that encourages and promotes 
equality of opportunity throughout 
the organisation. In line with the 
NHS equality delivery system (EDS), 
we have agreed, in partnership with 
our unions, to focus on the following 
key objectives for 2013-2015:

•		To	provide	a	working	environment	
that is free from abuse, 
harassment, bullying or violence

•		To	ensure	that	staff	are	aware	of	
the appropriate mechanisms for 
raising concerns 

•		To	eliminate	discrimination	in	
all aspects of an employee’s 
working life

During the past year, the equal 
opportunities governance structure 
has been reviewed and our 
equality, diversity and inclusion 
staff group has been relaunched. 
The group reports to the equality 
steering group, chaired by the 
director of nursing, who reports to 
the trust board.

The trust has also worked with 
various stakeholders to assemble 
evidence, analyse its performance 
against the NHS EDS framework, 
agree grades, and prepare equality 
objectives that support the 
outcomes. We have also established 
networks for BME (December 2014), 
disabled (December 2014) and LGBT 
(March 2014) staff that encompass 
the expanded organisation. These 
networks are a valuable forum for 
debate, support and insight on 
equality issues.

Our annual equality diversity 
report is available on our website. 
It highlights our progress and 
illustrates the practices adopted to 
endorse the workforce equality and 
diversity agenda. It demonstrates 
how equality is embedded within 
all employment policies and 
procedures within the organisation 
to help to eliminate inequality of 
access and promote a rich and 
diverse workforce.

Equality and diversity training at 
the Royal Free London is mandatory 
at induction. Our compliance rate 
during 2014/15 was 74%.

Equal opportunities (sub 
head)

The trust takes equal opportunities 
very seriously in its recruitment and 
is clear in its policies and procedures 
that no job applicant should receive 
less favourable treatment. We give 
a guaranteed interview to disabled 
candidates under the positive 
about disabled people “two-ticks” 
scheme. We are also a Stonewall 
champion promoting lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and transgender diversity.

There are also policies and 
procedures in place to combat any 
discrimination in employment.

For members of staff who develop a 
disability during their employment, 
there are appropriate arrangements 
for support from our safe effective 
quality occupational health service 
(SEQOHS) accredited occupational 
health, including advice and 
assistance on any appropriate work 
readjustment.

Employee relations 

We have renewed our partnership 
arrangements with trade unions 
for the trust and renegotiated the 
majority of workforce policies and 
procedures to reflect the enlarged 
organisation, taking the opportunity 
to also reflect best practice. This 
has included key policies such as 
grievance, appeals, disciplinary, 
capability, organisational change 
and pay protection.

The trust joint negotiating and 
consultative committee is the forum 
for discussion with trade unions 
and is supported by a policy forum 
and other working groups. Positive 
relationships have been built and 
the trust has invested in time for 
trade union representatives to 
undertake their work. 

Leadership  

Strong leadership is crucial to the 
success of our organisation and 
responsibility is shared at all levels, 
from the board to the wards. 
Before and after expansion the trust 
consulted staff on revised leadership 
and management structures, much 
of which was in place from day 
one. Where interim structures 
were created it was clear where 
accountability lay.

The trust has also sought to build a 
“leadership community”, bringing 
together senior leaders within 
the organisation on a regular 
(quarterly) basis to discuss the 
organisation’s strategy, performance 
and development. A series of such 
events also took place in the run up 
to the acquisition. 

The leadership and development 
programmes available have been 
continued and to date a total of 
248 managers have attended 
the licence to lead and manage 
programme. This provides skills and 
knowledge that enable managers 
to lead, manage and coach their 
teams to support or deliver patient 
care. A wide range of subjects is 
covered, which staff can choose 
from depending on their own 
developmental needs or those 
identified with their manager.

The trust has also undertaken 
bespoke programmes for senior 
nursing staff, service line leads and 
clinical directors. 

The programmes are supplemented 
by an online leadership toolkit, 
developed to provide tools and 
techniques to help those responsible 
for leading others to carry out their 
role more effectively.
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The trust has recently launched 
a service line management 
development programme, led by an 
international expert. The leadership 
team (clinician, manager and nurse/
allied health professionals) are 
learning alongside their finance, 
human resources and other support 
service colleagues about how to 
develop and lead a service line 
successfully to deliver the best value 
for patients and taxpayers.

Other leadership development work 
includes:

•	 	foundation	year	two	doctors	
and managers from other 
staff groups participate in an 
introduction to leadership in the 
NHS programme, which includes 
a series of taught sessions and 
culminates with multidisciplinary 
groups presenting a service 
improvement project that 
they have delivered during the 
programme

•	 	continued	paired	learning	
leadership programmes in 
2014/15 which are made 
up of clinical staff, including 
foundation year one doctors 
and staff from other staff groups 
embarking on their leadership 
journey. It includes delivery of a 
service improvement project 

•	 	11	members	of	staff	are	
supported by the organisation 
in undertaking the NHS 
leadership academy Mary 
Seacole programme, leading 
care I. Six staff are undertaking 
the Elizabeth Garrett Anderson, 
leading care II programme. A 
further three staff members are 
undertaking the Nye Bevan, 
leading care III programme. All 
these programmes are highly 
competitive

•	 	quarterly	leadership	forum	
meetings for senior leaders to 
explore key, strategic topics. 
Speakers have include Chris 
Ham from the King’s Fund, Anita 
Charlesworth from the Health 

Foundation, James Mountford 
from University College London 
Partners and others

•	 	monthly	Schwartz	Centre	
Rounds® are offered to all 
staff, both clinical and non-
clinical. These were developed 
in the United States to improve 
relationships between clinical 
caregivers and their patients. 
They accomplish this by 
providing support to caregivers, 
developing their insight into 
nonclinical aspects of care and 
enhancing communication and 
teamwork among caregivers

•	 	coaching	support	available	as	a	
leadership development tool.

Staff wellbeing 

The trust has an accredited 
occupational health and wellbeing 
centre (OHWC) and is therefore 
required to demonstrate 
compliance with specific standards. 
Accreditation is reviewed on 
an annual basis and the trust 
has successfully completed its 
reassessment for the first time 
since the acquisition of BCF. The 
service is provided at all three of 
our hospitals and is being reviewed 
as part of integration work. The 
trust also provides occupational 
health services to other external 
organisations on a commercial basis.

Our employee assistance 
programme offers a single 
confidential point of contact for 
employees about health, wellbeing 
or other concerns they may have. 

The OHWC co-ordinated a flu 
vaccination programme for staff 
across the trust which resulted in 
35% of staff being vaccinated. 

An updated health and wellbeing 
strategy is being prepared in 
collaboration with the public health 
team, using the findings from an 
external review on our approach 
and how it might be improved. 

The trust’s staff day nurseries were 
required to undergo a reregistration 
process with OFSTED as part of the 
acquisition and had satisfactory 
inspections in 2014. The nurseries 
continue to offer good value 
support with child care with staff 
able to benefit from reduced fees 
through salary sacrifice.

The trust continues to review the 
benefits it can offer to staff such 
as season ticket loans, lease car 
purchase and on-site health and 
recreation facilities.
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Our workforce as at 31 March 2015

Gender Trust total % of trust total

Female 6,912 73.52%

Male 2,490 26.48%

Total 9,402 100%

Ethnic origin Trust total % of trust total

Asian 1,958 20.83%

Black 1,602 17.04%

Mixed 235 2.50%

Other 584 6.21%

White 5,023 53.42%

Total 9,402 100.00%

Disability Trust total % of trust total

No 6,142 65.33%

Not declared 376 4.00%

Undefined 2,780 29.57%

Yes 104 1.11%

Grand total 9,402 100.00%
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Sexual orientation Trust total % of trust total

Bisexual 50 0.53%

Gay 114 1.21%

Heterosexual 5,611 59.68%

Undefined 2,301 24.47%

Undisclosed 1,326 14.10%

Grand total 9,402 100.00%

Religion/belief Trust total % of trust total

Atheism 634 6.74%

Buddhism 77 0.82%

Christianity 3,291 35.00%

Hinduism 429 4.56%

Islam 458 4.87%

Jainism 31 0.33%

Judaism 153 1.63%

Other 383 4.07%

Sikhism 32 0.34%

Undefined 2,487 26.45%

Undisclosed 1,427 15.18%

Total 9,402 100.00%

Age group Trust total % of trust total

Under 20 21 0.22%

21-25 560 5.96%

26-30 1,338 14.23%

31-35 1,274 13.55%

36-40 1,323 14.07%

41-45 1,247 13.26%

46-50 1,202 12.78%

51-55 1,095 11.65%

56-60 794 8.45%

61-65 425 4.52%

66-70 104 1.11%

71+ 19 0.20%

Total 9,402 100.00%
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Maternity and 
adoption leave

Trust total % of trust total

Add prof scientific 
and technic

15 5.47%

Additional clinical 
services

24 8.76%

Administrative 
and clerical

48 17.52%

Allied health 
professionals

36 13.14%

Estates and 
ancillary

3 1.09%

Healthcare 
scientists

8 2.92%

Medical and 
dental

46 16.79%

Nursing and 
midwifery 
registered

94 34.31%

Grand total 274 100.00%

Length of Service Trust total % of trust total

< 1 year 1,808 19.23%

1 - 3 years 1,691 17.99%

3 to 5 years 1,043 11.09%

5 to 10 years 2,144 22.80%

> 10 years 2,716 28.89%

Grand total 9,402 100.00%

Status Trust total % of trust total

Civil partnership 104 1.11%

Divorced 341 3.63%

Legally separated 108 1.15%

Married 3,759 39.98%

Single 3,818 40.61%

Unknown 1,223 13.01%

Widowed 49 0.52%

Grand total 9,402 100.00%
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Band Trust total % of trust total

Band 1 72 0.77%

Band 2 1,125 11.97%

Band 3 1,009 10.73%

Band 4 629 6.69%

Band 5 1,665 17.71%

Band 6 1,540 16.38%

Band 7 1,111 11.82%

Band 8A+ 696 7.40%

Medical and 
dental

1,553 16.52%

Non-NHS standard 
grades*

2 0.02%

Grand total 9,402 100.00%

Staff group Trust total % of trust total

Allied health 
professionals

542 5.76%

Back office 
functions

857 9.12%

Clinical support 
staff

2,481 28.39%

Estates and 
ancillary 

312 3.32%

Healthcare 
Scientists

390 4.15%

Medical and 
dental 

1,553 16.52%

Nursing and 
midwifery 
registered

2,902 30.87%

Other clinical 333 3.54%

Students (nursing 
and midwifery)

32 0.34%

Grand total 9,402 100%

*These staff are not on standard NHS terms and conditions usually because they have 
transferred to our trust from other organisations and retain their existing contract.
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Meet the trust board and our 
council of governors

A broad coverage 
of knowledge and 
skills strengthens the 
effectiveness of the 
board.

The trust board 

The trust board comprises the 
chairman, five non-executive 
directors (NEDs) and five executive 
directors, including the chief 
executive. They are collectively 
responsible for the performance of 
the trust. The general duty of the 
trust board, and of each director 
individually, is to act with a view 
to promoting the success of the 
organisation so as to maximise the 
benefits for the members of the 
trust as a whole and for the public.

All but one non-executive director 
have been in post since the Royal 
Free London became a foundation 
trust, and all since it acquired 
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust. All were appointed in 
accordance with the constitution 
as part of the foundation trust 
assessment process. The council of 
governors is now responsible for 
the appointment of non-executive 
directors. During 2014/15, the 
council voted to extend the term 
of one non-executive director by a 
further three months, agreed the re-
appointment of two other NEDs for 
a period of three years and agreed 
the appointment of a new vice chair 
and senior independent director. 

Executive directors are full-time 
employees who manage the daily 
running of the trust, but the entire 
board takes collective responsibility 
for setting our strategic direction 
and for holding the executive to 
account for the trust’s performance. 
The board is also accountable 
for upholding high standards of 
governance and probity. The chair 

and non-executive directors in 
particular provide strategic and 
board level guidance and support. 
The council of governors holds the 
board to account. 

The members of the trust board 
possess a wide range of skills and 
bring experience gained from 
NHS organisations, other public 
bodies and the private sector. The 
skills portfolio of the directors, 
both executive and non-executive, 
is wide-ranging and includes 
international strategy, healthcare 
management, audit, accountancy 
and social care. This broad 
coverage of knowledge and skills 
strengthens the effectiveness of 
the board of directors, giving the 
trust confidence that the board is 
balanced, complete and appropriate 
to supporting the organisation in 
meeting its objectives.

The Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust has applied the 
principles of the NHS Foundation 
Trust Code of Governance on a 
“comply or explain” basis. The 
NHS Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance, most recently revised 
in July 2014, is based on the 
principles of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code issued in 2012.
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Our directors

Non-executive directors

Mr Stephen Ainger

Appointed as a non-
executive director in 
November 2011

Dominic Dodd was formerly an executive director of the Children’s 
Investment Fund Foundation, one of Europe’s largest charitable 
foundations. Prior to that he was a managing partner of Marakon 
Associates, an international strategy consulting firm. 

In his capacity as chairman he is a director of UCL Partners, 
Europe’s largest academic health science system, of which the 
Royal Free London is a founder member. 

He is currently a non-executive director of Permanent TSB plc.

Dominic is chair of the trust board, strategy and investment 
committee and remuneration committee and, until the latter part 
of 2014, was chair of the integration committee. 

Mr Dominic Dodd 
Chairman

Appointed as non-
executive director 
in 2006 and as the 
chair of the trust in 
July 2010 

Stephen Ainger has a background in energy and not-for-profit 
financial services and is currently chief executive officer of 
Partnerships for Renewables (PfR), a company which develops, 
constructs and operates renewable energy projects on public 
sector land.

He started his career with BP Exploration, where he worked for 24 
years in the UK and overseas, including postings in Brazil, Colombia, 
Spain, Kuwait and Venezuela. He left BP in 1999 to join the BG 
Group as a main board director of Transco and, latterly, group 
director of strategy and business development for the Lattice Group 
PLC (a FTSE 25 company formed when the company demerged from 
the BG Group). He left Lattice in 2002 to take up the role of chief 
executive officer of the Charities Aid Foundation (CAF), one of the 
principal providers of financial services to UK charities and donors in 
the UK and overseas. He was CEO of CAF until 2006 and joined PfR 
as CEO in 2007. 

Stephen chairs the trust’s patient safety committee.

Ms Jenny Owen CBE

Appointed as a non-
executive director 
in October 2010 
and appointed vice 
chair and senior 
independent director 
in July 2014

Jenny brings 36 years’ experience of social care in local authorities, 
central government and regulation. She was previously deputy chief 
executive and director of adult social care at Essex County Council. 
Jenny is an experienced non-executive director who is also on the 
board of the housing association Housing and Care 21, and the 
Alzheimer’s Society. She is a member of the Association of Directors 
of Adult Social Care and was its president in 2010. 

Jenny chairs the trust’s patient and staff experience committee. She 
is also vice chair of the trust and senior independent director.
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Ms Deborah Oakley

Appointed as a non-
executive director in 
April 2011

Deborah Oakley has been involved with the NHS since 2007 as a 
non-executive director of NHS Camden, where she chaired the audit 
committee for three years. She also served as a non-executive board 
member of the Health Protection Agency until March 2013. She was 
appointed to the board of the Medicines and Healthcare Products 
Regulatory Agency in September 2012 as a non-executive director 
and sits on its risk and audit committee. 

Deborah’s career has been in the financial services industry. She 
worked for 20 years at Newton Investment Management as a senior 
fund manager and company director. She now works at Veritas 
Investment Management looking after private client portfolios. She 
combines this with her public service positions.

Deborah has been involved in a voluntary capacity with a variety of 
community-based organisations in Camden. Most recently she has 
been chair of a school parent teacher association and also works as 
a helper in a homeless night shelter. 

Deborah chairs the trust’s audit committee. 

Professor Anthony 
Schapira

Appointed as a non-
executive director in 
December 2009

Anthony Schapira was appointed a consultant neurologist at the 
Royal Free Hospital and the National Hospital for Neurology and 
Neurosurgery in 1988, and was appointed to the University Chair 
of Clinical Neuroscience at the UCL Institute of Neurology in 1990. 
He is vice dean of University College London Medical School and 
director of the Royal Free Hospital campus.

His research interests focus on neurodegenerative disease, with 
special emphasis on Parkinson’s disease and other movement 
disorders. He is one of the principal investigators on the Medical 
Research Council (MRC) and Wellcome Trust programme for 
neurodegenerative diseases (£5.9 million) and is the principal 
investigator of a MRC centre of excellence in neurodegeneration 
(COEN) award. 

During his career he has won various awards for his research and 
was elected a fellow of the Academy of Medical Sciences in 1999. 
He was appointed to the board of the Ministry of Justice, Office of 
the Public Guardian, in 2012.

Anthony chairs the trust’s clinical performance committee.

Dean Finch

Appointed as a non-
executive director in 
April 2014

Dean Finch has been group chief executive of National Express 
Group since 2010. Prior to joining National Express, he was group 
chief executive of Tube Lines from June 2009. Before that he 
worked for over 10 years in senior roles within First Group plc.

He joined First Group in 1999 having qualified as a chartered 
accountant with KPMG, where he worked for 12 years specialising 
in corporate transaction support services, including working for 
the Office of Passenger Rail Franchising on the privatisation of train 
operating companies. At First Group, he was managing director of 
the rail division from 2000-2004 and then was appointed to the 
main board as group commercial director in 2004, before being 
made group finance director.

With the completion of the Laidlaw acquisition he became chief 
operating officer in North America before returning to the UK as 
group chief operating officer.

Dean chairs the trust’s finance and performance committee.
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Length of appointments

Name Date appointed Termination of appointment

Dominic Dodd Non-executive director 2006  
Chair July 2010 

Third term (as non-executive director) ends 
30 June 2017

Danny Bernstein Non-executive director May 2005 Vice chair 
2009

Second (extended) term ended 30 June 2014

Stephen Ainger Non-executive director November 2011 First term ends 31 October 2015

Deborah Oakley Non-executive director April 2011 Second term ends 31 March 2018

Jenny Owen Non-executive director October 2010  
Vice chair and senior independent director 
July 2014

Second term (as non-executive director) ends 
31 August 2017

Anthony Schapira Non-executive director December 2009 Second term ends 30 November 2016

Dean Finch Non-executive director April 2014 First term ends 30 September 2017

Danny Bernstein is a chartered accountant and a former chairman 
of Monarch Airlines, having served as managing director and 
chairman from 1991 to 2009. He is also a former chairman of the 
Airline Group Ltd and the immediate past chairman of the British Air 
Transport Association.

His areas of special interest include finance, administration and 
elderly patients’ welfare.

Mr Bernstein’s tenure as a non-executive director, including his role 
as chair of the finance and performance committee, ended on 30 
June 2014. He was appointed as special advisor to the board in July 
2014 for a period of one year. 

Mr Danny Bernstein

Vice chair and senior 
independent director 

Appointed as a 
non-executive 
director in May 2005 
and vice chair and 
senior independent 
advisor of the trust 
board in 2009 
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Executive directors 

Mr David Sloman

Chief executive

David Sloman was appointed as the chief executive of the Royal 
Free London NHS Foundation Trust in 2009. He was formerly chief 
executive of the Whittington Hospital NHS Trust and before that 
he was chief executive of NHS Haringey. He has spent his career in 
healthcare management, most of it in the NHS, although he worked 
for a number of years in the private healthcare sector. 

Ms Caroline Clarke 

Chief finance officer 
and deputy chief 
executive

Caroline Clarke was formerly director of strategy at NHS North Central 
London. Prior to that she was an associate partner in KPMG’s health 
strategy team. She has spent most of her career in NHS finance, 
having been director of finance at Homerton University Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust and City and Hackney Primary Care Trust. 

Caroline has been the trust’s chief finance officer since 2011. In 2012 
she was made the finance director of the year by the Healthcare 
Financial Management Association. She was appointed as the trust’s 
deputy chief executive in 2012. 

She is currently a member of the advisory board to the Learning Clinic, 
and sits on the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
health panel.  

Professor Stephen 
Powis

Medical director

Stephen Powis is professor of renal medicine at University College 
London. He joined the Royal Free Hospital in 1997 as a consultant, 
becoming the trust’s medical director in 2006. His main clinical 
interest is renal transplantation. 

He is the chairman of the Association of UK Universities medical 
directors group and a board member of Merton Clinical 
Commissioning Group. He is a past non-executive director of North 
Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust, including a period of eight 
months as acting chairman. He is a past chairman of the Joint Royal 
Colleges of Physicians Training Board specialty advisory committee 
for renal medicine and a former board member of Medical 
Education England. He was director of postgraduate medical and 
dental education for UCLPartners from 2010 to 2013. 

Ms Deborah Sanders

Director of nursing

Deborah Sanders has worked for the trust since 1994 having trained 
at the Royal Free Hospital. She was appointed as the trust’s director 
of nursing in 2010. Before that she worked at St Bartholomew’s 
Hospital and the London Chest Hospital. 

She is also a board member of the Royal Free Hospital Nurses’ Home 
of Rest Trust.
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Ms Kate Slemeck

Chief operating 
officer 

Kate Slemeck joined the trust as the director of operations in 2011 
before being appointed as chief operating officer in 2012.

Prior to taking up her position at the Royal Free London, Kate was 
the director of operations at the Whittington Hospital NHS Trust 
for five years and before this deputy director of operations. She has 
over 23 years’ NHS management experience, mainly in acute trusts 
(including Northwick Park Hospital and the Royal Hospital for Neuro-
disability). She originally trained as an occupational therapist.

Directors’ attendance at 
board meetings 

The trust board meets regularly 
throughout the year. The following 
table records the attendance of 
each board member at these 
meetings. In the reporting period, 
11 public board meetings were 
held. When confidential matters 
need to be discussed, the board also 
meets in closed session. There were 
12 meetings held in closed session.

*Mr Bernstein’s term of office ended on 30 June 2014

The trust is required to hold and maintain a register of details of company 
directorships and other significant interests held by directors which may 
conflict with their management responsibilities. This register is required 
to be made available to the public; it is available on our website at www.
royalfree.nhs.uk. The board considers that all its non-executive directors are 
independent in character and judgement, although it notes that Professor 
Anthony Schapira, as an appointee of University College London Medical 
School, brings its views to the trust board. All non-executive directors bring 
a breadth of expertise to the board and are independent of the executive 
and thus able to provide an objective and balanced opinion on matters 
relating to the trust’s business.

Attendance at meetings 
(actual/possible)

Non-executive directors

Dominic Dodd – chairman 12 out of 12

Danny Bernstein* 4 out of 4

Stephen Ainger 12 out of 12

Deborah Oakley 11 out of 12

Jenny Owen 10 out of 12

Anthony Schapira 10 out of 12

Dean Finch 5 out of 12

Executive directors 

David Sloman 11 out of 12

Caroline Clarke 11 out of 12

Stephen Powis 11 out of 12

Deborah Sanders 12 out of 12

Kate Slemeck 10 out of 12



68

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Meet the trust board and our council of governors

The board is satisfied that all 
directors are appropriately 
qualified to discharge their 
functions effectively, including 
setting strategy, monitoring and 
managing performance and 
ensuring management capacity and 
capability. The selection process 
and training programmes ensure 
that the non-executive directors 
have appropriate experience and 
skills. The board has the capability 
and experience necessary to deliver 
the trust’s business plan. The 
governance structure the board has 
in place is appropriate to deliver the 
trust’s business plan.

In accordance with the Fit and 
Proper Persons Requirements 
(Directors) NHS Bodies (FPPR) 
fundamental standard that applies 
to all NHS trusts, all board members, 
executive and non-executive, have 
self-certified that they are of good 
character and are not unfit to 
undertake the role to which they 
are appointed. The FPPR will be 
incorporated into future selection 
and appraisal processes.

The board development programme 
has been largely incorporated 
into the normal working of the 
board, to ensure that it is relevant 
and applicable to the board’s 
responsibilities. 

The objectives of the development 
programme are to ensure that the 
board: 

•	 is	fit	to	govern	a	foundation	trust

•	 	is	able	to	set	performance	
standards (informed by research 
into high performing boards) in 
all its areas of responsibility

•	 	has	an	annual	process	for	
reviewing performance against 
these standards that informs 
individual and collective 
development needs

•	 	operates	as	a	unitary	function	
and is aware of, and successfully 
manages, competing priorities 
and future challenges against the 
trust’s five governing objectives

•	 	advocates	a	culture	of	inquiry	
and improvement through 
reflective practice that is 
modelled from the top, including 
clarity about the values and 
expected behaviours of the 
board, and thus the whole 
organisation

•	 	can	assure	itself	on	all	aspects	of	
quality in clinical services.

A robust process for evaluating the 
performance of the chairman and 
non-executive directors has been 
developed by the nominations 
committee on behalf of the 
council of governors. Members 
of the board undertake personal 
development and collectively the 
board holds periodic development 
sessions during the year, which have 
included the trust’s acquisition of 
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust and the trust’s longer 
term strategy.

Removal of a non-executive 
director requires a resolution by a 
governor, which must be supported 
by no fewer than five governors 
and requires the resolution to be 
approved by three-quarters of 
the members of the council of 
governors. The performance of the 
executive directors is reviewed by 
the chief executive and considered 
by the remuneration committee. 
All executive and non-executive 
directors have an annual appraisal 
and a personal development plan.  

Board committees

The board has a total of nine 
committees which meet regularly. 
All of these are chaired by a non-
executive director except the trust 
executive committee and the 
integration committee. A number of 
board responsibilities are delegated 
either to these committees or 
individual directors.

All board committee meetings held 
in the reporting year were quorate, 
with the exception of the patient 
and staff experience committee held 
in July 2014. No decision relating 

to authority delegated from the 
trust board could be taken at that 
meeting. 

Attendance at meetings is recorded 
and is given on page 69. For new 
appointees, attendance may be 
affected by pre-existing diary 
commitments which cannot be 
altered. The attendance of other 
directors has been affected by 

operational demands.

Audit committee

Patient and staff  
experience committee

Clinical performance  
committee

Patient safety  
committee

Finance and performance  
committee

Strategy and investment  
committee

Integration  
committee

Remuneration  
committee

Trust executive  
committee

TRUST  
BOARD
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The board approves the terms of 
reference which detail the remit 
and delegated authority of each 
committee. Committees routinely 
report to the board showing how 
they are fulfilling their duties 
as required by the board. The 
audit committee, as the senior 
independent committee of the 
board, undertakes a yearly self-
assessment of effectiveness and 
provides an annual report on its 
performance to the board. The audit 
committee reports to the board 
following each meeting. 

Audit committee 

The audit committee is the senior 
independent non-executive 
committee of the trust board. It 
is responsible for monitoring the 
externally reported performance of 
the trust and providing independent 
and objective assurance on the 
effectiveness of the organisation’s 
governance, risk management and 
internal control; the integrity of 
the trust’s financial statements, in 
particular the trust’s annual report 
and accounts; and the work of 
internal and external audit and local 
counter fraud providers and any 
actions arising from that work.

The committee met five times 
during the year. It is chaired by 
Deborah Oakley and comprises the 
non-executive directors listed in the 
following table. The internal and 
external auditors and providers of 
local counter fraud services attend 
all meetings of the committee in 
addition to the director of finance, 
although they are not members of 
the committee. The chief executive 
and other members of the trust 
board and executive team attend 
meetings by invitation. The broad 
coverage of knowledge and skills of 
the members and attendees ensures 
that the committee is effective. The 
trust is satisfied that the committee 
is sufficiently independent. 

 

Membership and attendance 

Attendance at meetings 
(actual/possible)

Non-executive directors

Deborah Oakley - chair 5 out of 5

Stephen Ainger 5 out of 5

Danny Bernstein* 1 out of 1

Jenny Owen 5 out of 5

*Mr Bernstein’s term of office ended on 30 June 2014

During 2014/15, the committee 
has remained observant of the key 
financial, operational and strategic 
risks facing the trust through regular 
review of the board assurance 
framework and through internal 
sources of assurance and validation 
by way of triangulation with the 
patient safety committee and clinical 
performance committee. 

The committee has reviewed 
progress reports and evaluated 
the major findings of internal and 
external audit work, focusing on 
the implementation of agreed 
objectives and recommendations. 
The committee has sought greater 
assurance in a number of areas, 
including the trust’s incident 
management system, particularly 
in relation to the identification and 
monitoring of serious incidents and 
the current level of the trust’s data 
quality. 

As part of its responsibility for 
assuring other functions, the 
committee has received annual 
assurance that the clinical audit 
functions and the overall quality 
of care provided by the trust was 
satisfactory. It has supported 
in particular improved data 
assurance in relation to the 
eligibility of services at Barnet 
Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital 
for participation in the national 
clinical audit, and clinical quality 
metrics by service line including the 
development of a suite of IT metrics. 

The committee has received regular 
reports on counter-fraud activity 
at the trust, ensuring appropriate 
action in matters of potential 
fraudulent activity and financial 
irregularity. It sought assurance 
on learning from whistleblowing 
incidents and on the arrangements 
by which staff could, in confidence, 
raise concerns about patient care 
and safety. It has also fulfilled its 
oversight responsibilities with regard 
to monitoring the integrity of 
financial statements and the annual 
accounts, including the annual 
governance statement before 
submission to the board. 

The committee has considered 
the following significant issues in 
relation to the financial statements:

•	 	Management	override	of	
controls: The committee is aware 
of the main areas of judgement 
within the financial statements 
and the approach taken by 
management. The committee 
holds an annual workshop to 
scrutinise the accounts and 
receives an analysis of the key 
movements within the financial 
statements. The committee 
approves any changes to 
accounting policies.

•	 	Risk	of	fraud	in	revenue	and	
expenditure recognition: The 
finance and performance 
committee meets monthly and 
receives detailed reports about 
the trust’s financial position, 
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comparing out-turn against 
budget. Where there are 
variances against budgets the 
committee receives additional 
detail. It holds an annual 
workshop to scrutinise divisional 
budgets prior to the start of 
each financial year. The trust 
board receives a report on 
financial performance including 
an updated year-end forecast at 
each meeting. 

  The committee also relies on the 
work of the trust’s internal and 
external auditors to check that 
key controls are operating. Two 
internal audit reviews, of core 
financial systems and of financial 
management and budgetary 
control, resulted in ‘’significant 
assurance with minor potential 
for improvement.’’

  The committee receives reports 
of all single tender actions at 
each meeting and requests 
additional information where 
it is not satisfied with the 
explanation provided. A report 
on losses and special payments is 
also presented to each meeting.

   The committee approves an 
annual counter fraud work 
plan. The committee receives 
a report at each meeting 
detailing cases of possible fraud. 
Progress in respect of proactive 
work and themed reviews is 
also reported. The committee 
monitors the implementation of 
any recommendations made by 
the providers of local counter 
fraud services. It also receives 
an annual fraud report and 
benchmarking report as well as 
a self-assessment against NHS 
Protect standards.

•	 	Acquisition	of	Barnet	and	
Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust 
(BCF): The committee held two 
additional meetings to review 
and scrutinise the final three 
month accounts for BCF and 
requested additional assurance 
in respect of the valuation of the 
estate. The committee gained 
a thorough understanding 
of the accounting for the 

Barnet Hospital private finance 
initiative asset. The chair of the 
committee attended the final 
two meetings of the BCF audit 
committee. Internal audit reviews 
were commissioned to provide 
assurance around the operation 
of key financial systems and 
controls in the period immediately 
following the acquisition.

  In the period prior to the 
acquisition, a significant 
programme of due diligence 
was undertaken with the 
results reported to the trust 
board. The acquisition was 
subject to Monitor approval. 
The board identified the 
potential for management to 
become distracted from the 
day-to-day running of the trust 
as a result of the acquisition 
and subsequent merger of 
two organisations. Additional 
resource has been used to create 
a project management office 
to implement the integration. 
A board level integration 
committee has been established 
to provide oversight. 

•	 	Accounting	policies:	The	
committee considered and 
approved a number of policies 
which related to the acquisition 
in particular transaction 
accounting, the treatment of 
BCF charitable funds and the 
approach to BCF segmental 
reporting.

At the close of every audit 
committee meeting the members 
have the opportunity to meet in 
private the internal and/or external 
auditors and providers of local 
counter fraud services so that any 
issues of concern can be raised in 
confidence.

During the reporting period, 
the trust’s external audit 
services have been provided by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC). 
The committee has received and 
reviewed progress reports from PwC 
in delivering its responsibilities as 
the trust’s external auditor, together 
with other matters of interest.

Review of effectiveness of 
the trust’s external auditors

The audit committee reviews 
the effectiveness of the trust’s 
external auditors each year. 
This is particularly important in 
a foundation trust because the 
governors appoint the external 
auditor and the audit committee 
and finance staff conduct the 
evaluation on their behalf.

Committee members and senior 
finance managers were asked 
to rate 19 statements related to 
behaviours and processes in the 
following areas: quality control 
process, audit team, audit scope, 
audit fee, audit communications, 
quality account and audit 
governance. An additional rating 
was also sought from the trust’s 
medical director on the quality 
account statement.

Overall responses were good, with 
36% “strongly agreeing” and 26% 
“agreeing”; 37% of respondents 
“neither agreed nor disagreed”. 
There were no “disagree” or 
“strongly disagree” ratings.

Comments received were consistent 
with this: that the audit team 
had continued to be flexible in its 
approach to addressing the main 
financial reporting risks facing the 
trust, particularly adaptation around 
the audit plan in light of changing 
issues; a continued effective working 
relationship between the external 
audit team and the finance team, 
especially during a complex year end 
and the acquisition of Barnet and 
Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust; and 
the use of an independent partner 
for review, the technical accounting 
team for corroboration of matters 
and the use of internal validation 
experts all supported the quality 
control process.

The chair of the audit committee 
presented the results of the survey 
to the council of governors in 
March 2015.
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 Independence of external 
auditor 

As external auditors of the trust, 
PwC is required to be independent 
of the trust in accordance with the 
ethical standards established by the 
UK Auditing Practices Board. 

PwC has disclosed in its audit plan 
that it has performed additional 
work for the trust which is not 
related to the audit of the financial 
statements. However, there are 
safeguards/mitigations in place and 
its independence and objectivity is 
not compromised.

PwC has also communicated, in 
reference to relationships and 
investments, that it does not 
provide any services, eg personal 
tax services, directly to directors or 
senior management. 

Clinical performance committee

The committee is responsible for seeking and securing assurance that the 
trust’s clinical services, research efforts and education activities achieve the 
high levels of performance expected of them by the board. Our aim is to be 
in the top 10% of our relevant peers. The committee met four times during 
2014/15. Two governors attend this committee as observers. 

Attendance at meetings 
(actual/possible)

Non-executive directors

Anthony Schapira - chairman 4 out of 4

Deborah Oakley 3 out of 4

Executive directors

David Sloman 3 out of 4

Professor Stephen Powis 4 out of 4

Deborah Sanders 3 out of 4

Membership and attendance

Membership and attendance 

Attendance at meetings 
(actual/possible)

Non-executive directors

Danny Bernstein – chairman* 3 out of 3

Dean Finch** - member /
chairman 

11 out of 11

Stephen Ainger 11 out of 11

Executive directors

David Sloman*** 1 out of 1

Caroline Clarke 11 out of 11

Kate Slemeck 7 out of 11

*Mr Bernstein’s chairmanship ended on 30 June 2014 when his term of office expired.
**Mr Finch became the chair of the committee following Mr Bernstein’s departure. 

***Mr Sloman’s membership ended in May 2014.

Finance and performance 
committee 

The committee is responsible for 
seeking and securing assurance that 
the trust achieves the high levels of 
financial performance expected by 
the board. Our aim is to be in the 
top 10% of our relevant peers. The 
committee met 11 times during the 
reporting period. 

Patient safety committee

The patient safety committee is an 
assurance committee of the trust board 
and is responsible for reviewing systems 
of control and governance in relation 
to patient safety, specifically those 
incidents that can cause “harm”. The 
committee’s aims are in line with the 
trust’s governing objective ‘to be safe 
and compliant with our external duties’.

The committee has met nine times in 
the reporting period. Two governors 
attend this committee as observers. 

Membership and attendance 

Attendance at meetings 
(actual/possible)

Non-executive directors

Stephen Ainger 9 out of 9

Deborah Oakley 9 out of 9

Executive directors

Stephen Powis 9 out of 9

Deborah Sanders 8 out of 9

Kate Slemeck 4 out of 9
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Strategy and investment 
committee

The committee is responsible 
for ensuring that the trust’s 
strategy and investment decisions 
support the achievement of its 
governing objectives by directly 
taking investment decisions 
under £3 million and making 
recommendations to the board 
for those over £3 million. The 
committee met seven times during 
the reporting period. 

Membership and attendance 

Attendance at meetings 
(actual/possible)

Non-executive directors

Dominic Dodd - chairman 7 out of 7

Danny Bernstein* 1 out of 2 

Deborah Oakley 7 out of 7

Stephen Ainger 6 out of 7

Jenny Owen 4 out of 7

Anthony Schapira 5 out of 7

Dean Finch 3 out of 7

Executive directors

David Sloman 7 out of 7

Stephen Powis 5 out of 7

Caroline Clarke 7 out of 7

Kate Slemeck 4 out of 7

Deborah Sanders 5 out of 7

*Mr Bernstein’s term of office ended on 30 June 2014.

Integration committee

The integration committee provided 
oversight of the integration effort 
associated with the acquisition of 
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS 
Trust to ensure it was implemented 
effectively and in a timely manner, 
and was chaired by a non-executive 
director. Following the acquisition, the 
committee has changed its focus to 
ensure effective integration of Barnet 
Hospital, Chase Farm Hospital and the 
Royal Free Hospital. It is now chaired 
by the chief executive. The committee 
has met eight times in the reporting 
period.

Membership and attendance 

Attendance at meetings 
(actual/possible)

Non-executive directors

Dominic Dodd - chairman* 8 out of 8

Danny Bernstein** 2 out of 3

Dean Finch 4 out of 8

Executive directors

David Sloman*** 7 out of 8

Caroline Clarke 7 out of 8

*Mr Dodd’s chairmanship ended in September 2014 

**Mr Bernstein’s term of office ended on 30 June 2014

***Mr Sloman’s chairmanship started in September 2014.
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Patient and staff experience 
committee

The patient and staff experience 
committee is responsible for 
seeking and securing assurance 
on performance in relation to 
the experience of patients and 
staff (also one of our governing 
objectives), to monitor performance 
in relation to key outcomes set 
by the Care Quality Commission 
and to ensure that there is a clear 
performance and governance 
framework against these, which is 
linked to clear consequences for 
both good and poor performance.

The committee met four times 
during the reporting period. Two 
governors attend this committee as 
observers. 

Membership and attendance 

Attendance at meetings 
(actual/possible)

Non-executive directors

Jenny Owen - chair 4 out of 4

Danny Bernstein* 1 out of 1

Anthony Schapira** 2 out of 3

Executive directors

David Sloman 4 out of 4

Deborah Sanders 4 out of 4

Kate Slemeck 1 out of 4

*Mr Bernstein’s term of office ended on 30 June 2014

**Professor Schapira became a member in July 2014

Council of governors

The overriding role of the council 
of governors is to hold the non-
executive directors individually 
and collectively to account for 
the performance of the board 
of directors and to represent the 
interests of NHS foundation trust 
members and of the public. Other 
statutory roles include:

•	 	representing	the	interests	of	
members and the public

•	 amending	the	constitution

•	 	approving	the	appointment	of	
the chief executive

•	 	appointing	and	removing	the	
chair and other non-executive 
directors

•	 	appointing	and	removing	the	
NHS foundation trust’s external 
auditor

•	 	receiving	the	NHS	foundation	
trust’s annual accounts and 
annual report

•	 	preparing	the	forward	plan

•	 	commenting	on	the	quality	account	and	priorities

•	 	taking	decisions	on	significant	transactions	

•	 	taking	decisions	on	non-NHS	income.

The trust maintains a register of interests for its governors, which is available 
to the public on the trust website www.royalfree.nhs.uk.

During the second year as a foundation trust, the council of governors has:

•	 	received	updates	on	and	engaged	with	the	trust’s	consideration	of	the	
acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust

•	 	engaged	with	the	business	planning	process	and	the	trust’s	quality	
account

•	 	Received	updates	from	non-executive	directors	on	the	performance	of	
board committees

•	 	appointed	a	non-executive	director

•	 	extended	the	term	of	office	of	a	non-executive	director

•	 	extended	the	term	of	office	of	those	governors	with	a	two	year	tenure.

Trust executive committee

The committee supports and advises the chief executive on running the trust, 
meeting the requirements of the operating framework and the regulator 
Monitor’s compliance framework and strategic priorities and objectives. The 
committee meets weekly and is chaired by the chief executive.
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Date of election Constituencies Eligible voters Seats contested Contestants Election 
turnout

25 September 2014 Public 7,815 7 29 17%

25 September 2014 Public (rest of 
England)

139 1 4 29.5%

25 September 2014 Patient 4,042 5 26 12.5%

25 September 2014 Staff 10,958 6 16 10.7%

Date of election Constituencies Eligible voters Seats contested Contestants Election 
turnout

23 March 2015 4217 4,217 3 23 12.1%

Governor elections

There were two sets of elections in this reporting period. The first was held between 2 and 25 September 2014. The 
second took place between 2 and 23 March 2015.

Results for both elections are given below:

Changes to member constituencies

As part of the acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the trust changed the membership constituencies 
to ensure that they were representative of the expanded trust. The following principles were applied to this process:

•	 	The	council	of	governors	be	as	small	as	can	reasonably	be	achieved	given	the	requirement	for	a	balanced	
representation between constituencies

•	 	The	constituencies	reflect	both	the	geographic	population	to	be	served	by	the	extended	trust	and	the	range	of	
patients attending specialist services, particularly that in Enfield and Hertfordshire

•	 	The	public	constituency	allows	for	an	appropriate	pool	for	future	non-executive	director	recruitment

•	 	The	staff	constituency	reflects	an	appropriate	balance	of	the	trust	sites	and	staff	groupings

•	 	Co-ordination	of	clinical	commissioning	groups	is	encouraged

This resulted in the following constituencies and composition for the council of governors:

Constituency Proposed position

Patient constituency Patients of the expanded trust within six years of becoming a member

Eight patient governors

Public constituency Residents of Camden, Barnet, Enfield or Hertfordshire

Seven public governors

Resident of rest of England

One public governor

Staff constituency Including one member of staff from the three main trust sites, one nurse or 
midwife, one allied health professional and one doctor

Six staff governors

Appointed governors Four commissioner governors of which three will be appointed to represent CCGs 
or successors and one from NHS England

Four local authority governors (appointed by London Borough (LB) of Camden, LB 
Barnet, LB Enfield, Hertfordshire district and county councils

One university governor

Nine appointed governors
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Terms of office and attendance at council of governors’ meetings

Elected Constituency Term of office began Term of office ends Attendance 
(actual/possible)*

Peter Atkin (lead governor) Patient 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2017 6/6

Gerry Bacon Patient 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 3/3

Frances Blunden Patient 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 3/3

Valerie Bynner Patient 1 April 2012 31 March 2015 6/6

Montgomery Cole Patient 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 1/3

Judy Dewinter Patient 1 April 2012 31 March 2015 6/6

Vanessa Gearson Patient 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 1/3

David Myers Patient 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2017 6/6

Sara Shaw Patient 1 April 2012 31 March 2015 5/6

Peter Woodford Patient 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 2/3

Barbara Alden Public 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 3/3

Arthur Brill Public 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 3/3

David Brown Public 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 1/3

Stephen Cameron Public 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 3/3

Sue Cullinan Public 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 2/3

Linda Davies Public 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 2/3

Derek French Public 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 3/3

Anthony Isaacs Public 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2017 6/6

Richard Lindley Public 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2017 6/6

Richard Stock Public 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 3/3

Morvarid Woollacott Public 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 2/3

Jude Bayly Staff 1 Sep 2013 30 Sep 2017 5/6

Alex Clarke Staff 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 3/3

Michael Jacobs Staff 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 1/3

Becky Lawson Staff 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 3/3

Patrick McGowan Staff 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 2/3

Sheldon Stone Staff 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 2/3

Dave Thomas Staff 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 2/3

Gary Watts Staff 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 3/3

Frances White Staff 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 2/3

Tony Wolff Staff 1 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2017 2/3

Appointed

Peter Christian Haringey CCG 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2017 6/6

Helena Hart London Borough of Barnet 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2017 6/6

Will Huxter NHS England 11 Nov 2014 30 Sep 2017 2/3

Richard Mendall Commissioner Governor 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2014 3/3

Ayfer Orhan Enfield Council 19 Nov 2014 30 Sep 2017 2/2

Richard Olszewski Camden Council 22Jan 2015 30 Sep 2017 1/1

David Riddle Barnet CCG 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2017 5/6

Hans Stauss University College London 1 April 2012 30 Sep 2017 5/6

Lesley Watts NHS East and North 
Hertfordshire CCG

11 Nov 2014 30 Sep 2017 1/3

Don Williams London Borough of Camden 1 April 2012 21 Jan 2015 2/3

William Wyatt-Lowe Hertfordshire County Council 22 Dec 2014 30 Sep 2017 1/1
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Governors also attended a number of joint meetings with board members 
and briefing meetings relating to the proposed acquisition of Barnet and 
Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust. We also have a continuing development 
seminar programme covering areas of specific interest to governors. 

Non-executive directors regularly meet with governors, for example through 
attendance at council of governors meetings, at both board and council 
committees and “go see” visits to clinical areas.

Nominations committee

The nominations committee is responsible for determining and 
administering the selection process for the appointment and remuneration 
of the chair and non-executive directors of the trust, recommending the 
preferred candidate to the council of governors for appointment and 
monitoring their performance. 

The members of the committee are detailed in the table below and the 
committee met four times in the reporting period. 

During the year, the committee agreed to the extension of the term of 
appointment of a non-executive director and of the chairman for a further 
three years. This was approved by the council. The committee and council 
agreed that it was not necessary to use an external search consultancy 
or open advertising for these posts, because the re-appointments would 
maintain continuity during a time of significant change and enable the trust 
to continue to have the benefit of the in-depth understanding of the trust 
possessed by both individuals. The committee also agreed and oversaw the 
appraisal and objective setting process for the chairman and non-executive 
directors. The committee has discussed the appointment of an additional 
non-executive director to the trust board in view of the greater size and 
complexity of the trust. This was informed by a non-executive directors’ self-
assessment of their skills and experience. The committee decided to keep 
the issue of an additional appointment under review for the time being.

Membership and attendance

Attendance at board committees 

Governors have also been invited to sit on three board committees (the 
patient and staff experience committee, the patient safety committee 
and the clinical performance committee) and provide regular feedback to 
the council of governors. Details of these committees are included in the 
previous section.

Members Attendance at meetings 
(actual/possible)

Dominic Dodd Chairman 4/4

Peter Atkin Elected patient governor 4/4

Sara Shaw Elected patient governor 4/4

Don Williams Appointed governor 3/3

Hans Stauss Appointed governor 4/4

Council sub-groups

The council of governors set up sub-
groups in 2012 to concentrate on 
specific priorities for improvement. 
The council took into account 
feedback from its constituents when 
deciding on its areas of focus. The 
sub-groups reported back to the 
council of governors who were 
asked to ratify any decisions made. 
Each sub-group consisted of four 
governors, an executive lead in the 
relevant area and a non-executive 
director. 

Patient experience sub-group: 
has focused on non-emergency 
transport and hospital discharge 
processes. The governors on the 
sub-group and the non-executive 
director who chaired the group 
presented the key milestones 
and achievements to the council. 
The work of this sub-group has 
been very influential in designing 
the contract for the new non-
emergency transport contract, 
which is designed to ensure patients 
receive the best possible service. 
The new contract contains a new 
set of key performance indicators 
(KPIs) and will strive for further 
improvements in patient experience 
by reducing transport times, time 
spent in clinics and the number of 
wasted journeys.

Staff experience sub-group: has 
focused on both improvements 
to staff facilities and reduction 
in reporting of bullying and 
harassment. As a result the trust 
has invested in staff changing and 
other facilities. The staff survey 
results for 2014/15 demonstrate a 
small improvement for bullying and 
harassment but this work will need 
to continue.

Clinical outcomes sub-group: 
has focused on the fractured neck 
of femur pathway of care for 
patients. The sub-group agreed a 
number of KPIs and saw a general 
improvement, although at the 
group’s final meeting in September 
it was noted that the trust was 
not yet meeting all the targets. 
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However there had been a great 
improvement in the overall patient 
experience. 

Membership engagement 
sub-group: continues to develop 
strategies to canvass the views of 
the public, patients and staff to 
recruit new members and to inform 
members and the public about the 
vision and performance of the trust. 
It led on the annual governors’ 
report and has developed a revised 
membership strategy.

Annual members’ meeting

The trust held a members’ meeting 
in July 2014. The chairman, chief 
executive and director of finance 
gave an overview of the annual 
accounts for 2013/14 and the trust’s 
achievements at the end of its 
second year as a foundation trust. 
The governors provided an update 
on their work within the trust as 
well as giving a personal account of 
what it is like to be a governor. 

The trust gave a presentation about 
the acquisition of Barnet and Chase 
Farm Hospitals NHS Trust and what 
this would mean for patients. 

Members were provided with the 
opportunity to ask questions and 
encouraged to give their views 
on the plans for the new A&E 
department and the trust’s new 
website.

Our membership

The trust’s membership is essential 
to help guide our work, decision 
making and adherence to the NHS 
values. It provides one of the ways 
in which the trust communicates 
with patients, the public and staff. 
Membership is free and open to 
anyone in the following categories: 

Public - anyone who is 16 years old 
or over and lives within the London 
boroughs of Barnet, Camden and 
Enfield and the county council of 
Hertfordshire.

Public (rest of England) – anyone 
who lives in England but outside 
the London boroughs of Barnet, 
Camden and Enfield and the county 
council of Hertfordshire

Patient - anyone who is 16 years 
old or over and has been a patient 
of the Royal Free London in the past 
five years, or has been the carer of 
a patient under 16 of the Royal Free 
London in the past five years. 

Staff - all staff of the trust who 
have contracts of at least 12 months 
are automatically members unless 
they choose to opt out. 

The total number of public and 
patient members at year end was 
13,462. This total includes 9,200 
from the public constituency and 
4,262 from the patient constituency. 

The trust continues to work hard 
to ensure that its membership 
is representative of the local 
community and takes steps 
to ensure that membership is 
accessible to all who are eligible, 
irrespective of age, gender, race or 
social background. 

Membership recruitment

Following the acquisition of Barnet 
Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital 
the trust launched a recruitment 
drive. We wrote to more than 
10,000 recent patients of Barnet 
Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital 
inviting them to become members 
of the trust. We were successful in 
recruiting nearly 3,000 public and 
staff members during the year. As 
a result of staff at Barnet Hospital 
and Chase Farm Hospital becoming 
part of the trust we welcomed more 
than 5,000 new staff members.

We have an active programme for 
members including:

•	 	a	monthly	members’	
e-newsletter which keeps 
members informed about key 
developments and trust news

•	 	regular	medicine	for	members	
talks, the most recent on 
dementia care, attracting more 
than 100 attendees

•	 	a	members’	area	on	the	
trust’s website which includes 
information on what it means 
to be a member, a governor and 
the council of governors as a 
whole.

Recruitment methods have included: 

•	 	mail-outs	to	recent	patients	
encouraging them to become 
members

•	 	promoting	membership	at	
regular focus groups and medical 
lectures as well as at the annual 
members’ meeting

•	 	an	information	and	membership	
recruitment stand at the Enfield 
Town show in September 2014

•	 	making	membership	boxes	
available in key areas of the trust

•	 	a	pop-up	on	the	website	
encouraging visitors to the 
website to sign up as members.

Information about how to 
contact the council of governors 
is available on the trust website 
and via the membership office at 
rf.membership@nhs.net.
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Remuneration report

Annual statement on remuneration 

Directors’ remuneration was reviewed this year in the light of the trust’s acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm 
Hospitals NHS Trust. This led to an increase in directors’ pay from 1 July 2014 to reflect the new scale and scope 
of their responsibilities for the expanded trust. The detail of board level salaries is provided at page 81 and there is 
more about how the directors’ salaries are determined below. Overall the acquisition has delivered savings on the 
board and director level costs of both predecessor organisations following the dissolution of the board that ran 
Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital and associated director level posts. 

Executive directors’ remuneration

The pay of executive directors is reviewed and determined by the trust’s remuneration committee which is made up 
of non-executive directors. The annual review is based on:

•	 	an	analysis	of	comparable	salaries	and	remuneration	in	other	organisations

•	 	overall	executive	team	performance

•	 	the	general	context	of	NHS	pay	awards	to	other	staff	groups.

No performance-related pay or bonuses or other incentive payments are currently made in addition to or 
separate from the annual salary. The remuneration committee aims to pay competitively but not excessively for 
high quality directors, typically within the upper quartile of expected salaries across comparable organisations. 
It does not, at present, believe that incentive schemes or bonus payments would offer any advantage or 
increase directors’ performance.

Remuneration 
components – directors 

Review process How supports objectives

Basic salary Reviewed annually by the 
remuneration committee based on 
comparable salaries and executive 
director performance in the context 
of wider NHS pay.

Attracts high calibre executives through pay 
that is competitive with other trusts. Rewards 
performance at a fair and not excessive rate 
in line with trust progress and NHS salaries 
generally. 

Taxable benefits No allowances or payments made 
in addition to basic salary.

Treats executive directors the same as other staff.

Annual performance 
related bonuses or 
incentive payments

None made. Short-term incentive payments are not made 
as it is not thought these would improve 
performance and may in fact detract from long 
term objectives. Treats executive directors the 
same as other staff.

Long-term performance 
related bonuses or 
incentive payments 

None made. Long-term incentive payments are not made 
as it is not felt these are currently required to 
motivate executive directors. Treats executive 
directors as other staff.
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Executive directors’ notice 
periods and payments for loss 
of office

Directors are appointed subject to 
a notice period of three months 
and benefit from NHS terms and 
conditions relating to any severance 
payment for reasons of redundancy 
(as outlined in Schedule 16 of 
the agenda for change terms and 
conditions of service). There is 
no contractual entitlement to a 
severance payment in any other 
circumstances. 

Other staff employed by the trust 
are paid under national terms and 
conditions of service for the relevant 
NHS staff (agenda for change or 
the national medical terms and 
conditions of service). Rates of pay 
are determined by the government 
on the advice of the NHS pay review 
bodies or in negotiation with NHS 
trade unions.

Non-executive directors’ 
remuneration 

Pay and allowances for the 
chairman and non-executive 
directors are determined by the 
trust’s nominations committee 
and approved by the council of 
governors.  Payments to the chair 
and non-executive directors are 
disclosed in the table below. The 
payments are comparable to those 
made by other foundation trusts. 
The non-executive directors and 
chairman are office holders and the 
terms of their appointments are 
such that they receive no severance 
or other payments at the end of 
their term of office. Details of their 
remuneration and expenses are set 
out below.  

Remuneration committee

The trust’s remuneration committee membership and meeting attendance in 2014/15 was as follows:

Membership 30 July 2014 23 October 2014 25 March 2015

Dominic Dodd (chairman) Present Present Present

Jenny Owen Apologies Present Present

Deborah Oakley Present Present Present

Stephen Ainger Present Present Present 

Anthony Schapira Present Present Present

Dean Finch Apologies Present Present

In attendance (as required)

David Sloman (chief executive) Present Present Present

David Grantham (director of workforce and 
organisational development)

Present Present Apologies

The committee sets improvement objectives and target levels of performance before the start of the financial year 
and reviews executive director pay and the previous year’s performance once benchmarking and other information 
become available from other organisations to help inform decisions on pay. The committee reviews the 
assessments of performance by directors made by the chief executive and of the chief executive by the chairman. 

As described above the remuneration committee made increases to directors’ salaries in 2014/15. Details of 
directors’ remuneration are set out on page 81.



80

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Remuneration report

Expenses of the governors and directors

 2014/15 2013/14

 Total in office Total receiving 
expenses

Aggregate 
sum of 
expenses paid

Total in office Total receiving 
expenses

Aggregate 
sum of 
expenses paid

 Number Number £00 Number Number £00

Governors 31 3 10 25 1 29

Directors 12 3 75 11 5 71

 
Policy on the use of off-payroll engagement

The trust uses off-payroll engagements (contractors) for some tasks and roles. Sometimes interim cover is required for 
an established role or there is work to be undertaken for which specialist skills are required or which is of short duration. 
Such use of contracts is subject to approval by senior managers and regularly reviewed by the trust’s senior pay group. 

High paid off-payroll engagements

Table 1: For all  
off-payroll engagements 
as of 31 March 2015, 
for more than £220 per 
day and that last for 
longer than six months

Existing engagements as of 31 March 2015 17

No. that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting 13

No. that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting 2

No. that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting 1

No. that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting 1

No. that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting -

All existing off-payroll engagements outlined above have, at some point, been subject to a risk-based assessment 
as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that 
assurance has been sought.

No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015

11

No. of the above which include contractual clauses giving the trust the right to 
request assurance in relation to income tax and national insurance payments 
obligations

11

No. for whom assurance has been requested 11

No. for whom assurance has been received 10

No. for whom assurance has not been received 1

No. that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received -

Table 2: For all new  
off-payroll engagements, 
or those that reached 
six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2014 
and 31 March 2015, for 
more than £220 per day 
and that last for longer 
than six months

The one individual for whom assurance has not been received left the trust before providing their evidence.

Table 3: For any  
off-payroll engagements 
of board members, and/
or, senior officials with 
significant financial 
responsibility, between 
1 April 2014 and 31 
March 2015

No. of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

-

No. of individuals that have been deemed “board members and/or senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This 
figure should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

12
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Pay multiples

The mid-point of the banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the Royal Free London NHS Foundation 
Trust in the financial year 2014/15 was £242,500 (2013/14: £217,500). This was 7.0 times (2013/14: 7.8 times) 
the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £34,478 (2013/14: £27,901). In 2014/15, three employees 
(2013/14: no employees) received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director. Annualised remuneration 
ranged from £392 to £253,017 (2013/14: £2,000 to £220,000). 

Pension benefits of executive directors 

Name Title Real increase/ 
(decrease) 
in pension 
at age 60 
(bands of 
£2,500)

Real 
increase/ 
(decrease) in 
lump sum 
at age 60 
(bands of 
£2,500)

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
age 60 at 31 
March 2015 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 31 
March 2015 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer value 
at 31 March 
2014 (rounded 
to the nearest 
£000)

Real increase/ 
(decrease) 
in cash 
equivalent 
transfer value 
(rounded to 
the nearest 
£000)

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 31 
March 2015 
(rounded to 
the nearest 
£000)

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

David 
Sloman

Chief 
executive

7.5-10.0 30.0-32.5 95-100 285-290 1,587 254 1,883

Caroline 
Clarke

Director of 
finance and 
deputy chief 
executive

2.5-5.0 7.5-10.0 40-45 125-130 605 66 687

Stephen 
Powis

Medical 
director 

- - 70-75 220-225 1,421 37 1,496

Deborah 
Sanders

Director of 
nursing 

2.5-5.0 10.0-12.5 40-45 120-125 626 88 731

Kate 
Slemeck

Executive 
director of 
operations

2.5-5.0 10.0-12.5 25-30 85-90 431 75 517

As non-executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions 
for non-executive members.

A “cash equivalent transfer value” (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits 
accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and 
any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or 
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in a former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not 
just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details 
include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred 
to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of 
their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the 
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

The real increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the 
increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start 
and end of the period. It must be noted that the figures taken at 31 March 2012 have been revised as per the 
December 2011 government actuarial data. Therefore they do not use the common valuation factors, as described 
above, for the beginning and end of the period.

Further information on the employee benefits costs to the trust can be found in note 5 of the annual accounts.

David Sloman, Chief executive  

28 May 2015
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Statement of the chief  
executive’s responsibilities as the 
accounting officer of the Royal 
Free London NHS Foundation Trust 

The NHS Act 2006 states that the 
chief executive is the accounting 
officer of the NHS foundation trust. 
The relevant responsibilities of the 
accounting officer, including their 
responsibility for the propriety and 
regularity of public finances for 
which they are answerable, and for 
the keeping of proper accounts, are 
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum 
issued by Monitor. 

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor 
has directed the Royal Free London 
NHS Foundation Trust to prepare 
for each financial year a statement 
of accounts in the form and on 
the basis set out in the accounts 
direction. The accounts are prepared 
on an accruals basis and must give 
a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust and of its income 
and expenditure, total recognised 
gains and losses and cash flows for 
the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the 
accounting officer is required to 
comply with the requirements of 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual and in particular to:

•	 	observe	the	accounts	direction	
issued by Monitor, including 
the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and 
apply suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis

•	 	make	judgements	and	estimates	
on a reasonable basis

•	 	state	whether	applicable	

accounting standards as set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual have 
been followed and disclose and 
explain any material departures 
in the financial statements

•	 	ensure	that	the	use	of	public	
funds complies with the relevant 
legislation, delegated authorities 
and guidance

•	 	prepare	the	financial	statements	
on a going concern basis.

The accounting officer is responsible 
for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the NHS 
foundation trust and to enable him/
her to ensure that the accounts 
comply with requirements outlined 
in the above mentioned act. The 
accounting officer is also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the 
NHS foundation trust and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and 
belief, I have properly discharged 
the responsibilities set out in 
Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

 

David Sloman 
Chief executive 

28 May 2015

The NHS Act 2006 
states that the chief 
executive is the 
accounting officer of 
the NHS foundation 
trust.
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Meet Michelle
One-stop-shop makes complex vascular surgery a 
smooth journey.

After suffering an abdominal aortic aneurysm, Michelle Tucknott underwent an 
operation at a hospital on the south coast to repair the damage. However, due 
to complications the operation was halted after two-and-a-half hours leaving 
her in significant discomfort and no closer to recovery.

The retired care worker was transferred to the Royal Free Hospital, which 
specialises in repairing complex aneurysms, and placed in the care of the aortic 
team and world-renowned vascular surgeon Tara Mastracci.

“Tara recommended I have a fenestrated endovascular graft that would be 
inserted inside my aorta using keyhole surgery. She was lovely. She took me 
through all my options and asked me what I wanted to do. After I opted for the 
graft she took me all the way through what was going to happen next.

“The graft was designed especially for me by the Royal Free Hospital’s aortic 
team before being hand made by a company in Australia.

“When I was referred to the Royal Free Hospital I was slightly nervous about all 
the travelling I would have to do from my home in Worthing. Before I went in 
for my first operation at the other hospital I was given loads of different dates 
for each different procedure. It was a pain, especially when I couldn’t drive and I 
had to get the train up. It was quite tiring.”

“But the aortic team at the Royal Free Hospital explained they were trialling 
a ‘one-stop-shop’ system, which means I go to as many of my pre-op 
appointments as possible in a single day. In one day I had my bloods taken, 
my swabs and scans done, and I met with the surgeons to talk through the 
procedure. It’s a much better system, especially for people like me who have to 
come from far away.”

Michelle had her operation in November 2014 and was discharged a week later. 
She is now under the care of the vascular team as an out-patient.
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“I was so happy with 
the level of care I 
received at the Royal 
Free Hospital. Tara 
is my hero; she has 
saved my life.”
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Annual governance 
statement

Scope of responsibility 

As accounting officer, I have 
responsibility for maintaining a 
sound system of internal control 
that supports the achievement 
of the NHS foundation trust’s 
policies, aims and objectives, 
while safeguarding the public 
funds and departmental assets 
for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with 
the responsibilities assigned to me. 
I am also responsible for ensuring 
that the NHS foundation trust 
is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources 
are applied efficiently and 
effectively. I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum. 

The purpose of the system of 
internal control 

The system of internal control 
is designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of 
internal control is based on a 
continuous process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to 
the achievement of the policies, 
aims and objectives of the Royal 
Free London NHS Foundation Trust, 
to evaluate the likelihood of those 
risks being realised and the impact 
should they be realised and to 
manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. The system of 

internal control has been in place 
in the Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust for the year ended 
31 March 2015 and up to the date 
of approval of the annual report and 
accounts. 

Capacity to handle risk 

The board brings together the 
corporate, financial, workforce, 
clinical, information and research 
governance risk agendas. The board 
assurance framework ensures that 
there is clarity about the risks that 
may impact on the trust’s ability 
to deliver its strategic objectives 
together with any gaps in control or 
assurance.

The trust has reviewed Monitor’s 
NHS foundation trust condition four 
(FT governance) and considered the 
risks associated with compliance and 
how these have been addressed. 
The governance arrangements 
were reviewed externally in 
2012 as part of the foundation 
trust authorisation process and 
found to be robust. Strengthened 
board committee arrangements 
were introduced in early 2014 in 
response to the Francis Report 
and Care Quality Commission 
changes. The integration committee 
was established to oversee 
organisational integration during 
the preparation for the acquisition 
and has continued since then. Also, 
as part of the acquisition, a Monitor 
risk assessment and external 
accountants’ review took place 
which provided further assurance.

The board committee structure 
is detailed on page 71-73 of the 
annual report and summarised on 
page 68. 

The trust has 
launched a patient 
safety programme 
to address specific 
safety themes. 
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Each committee has terms of 
reference and each of these was 
reviewed in August 2014 for scope, 
responsibilities and membership. 
Groups and committees reporting 
to each board committee are also 
detailed in the terms of reference. 
There is a comprehensive scheme 
of delegation which details items 
reserved by the board, those 
delegated to committees and those 
delegated to individuals. This covers 
a wide range of responsibilities 
and includes the Care Quality 
Commission standards and Monitor 
licence conditions. 

The trust performance report is 
reviewed by both the finance and 
performance committee and trust 
board at each meeting. Where there 
is sustained adverse performance 
in any indicator, this is reviewed 
in detail at the appropriate board 
committee. Further indicators 
relating to the quality of patient 
care are reviewed at the “quality 
committees”– patient and staff 
experience, patient safety and 
clinical performance. 

The operational responsibility for 
the trust’s risk management agenda 
is overseen by the patient safety 
committee which enables patient, 
staff and corporate risk issues to 
be brought together and reported 
as a whole. Cross reporting takes 
place between the patient safety 
committee, audit committee, 
finance and performance committee 
and clinical performance committee 
to enable the full risk profile to be 
considered. 

The process of identification, 
assessment, analysis and 
management of risks (including 
incidents) is the responsibility of all 
staff across the trust and particularly 
of all managers. The process for 
the identification, assessment, 
reporting, action planning, review and 
monitoring of risks is detailed in the 
trust risk management strategy and 
has been central to the improvements 
made in this important area of our 
work during the year.

Board members receive training in 
risk management and an overview 
of the risk systems. Staff receive 
training in identification, analysis, 
evaluation and reporting of risk. 
Training at induction covers the 
wider aspects of governance. 
The emphasis of our approach 
is increasingly on the proactive 
management of risk and ensuring 
that risk management plans are in 
place for all key risks.

We have a well-established board 
development programme and 
performance appraisal system. This 
has been largely incorporated into 
the normal working of the board 
to ensure that the development 
is relevant and applicable to the 
board’s responsibilities. 

The objectives of the development 
programme are to ensure that the 
board:

•	 is	fit	to	govern	a	foundation	trust

•	 	is	able	to	set	performance	
standards (informed by research 
into high performing boards) in 
all its areas of responsibility

•	 	has	an	annual	process	for	
reviewing performance against 
these standards that informs 
individual and collective 
development needs

•	 	operates	as	a	unitary	function	
and is aware of, and successfully 
manages, competing priorities 
and future challenges against 
the five long-term governing 
objectives

•	 	advocates	a	culture	of	inquiry	
and improvement through 
reflective practice that is 
modelled from the top, including 
clarity about the values and 
expected behaviours of the 
board and thus the whole 
organisation

•	 	can	assure	itself	on	all	aspects	of	
quality in clinical services.

The trust board is responsible 
for the periodic review of the 
overall governance arrangements, 
both clinical and non-clinical, to 
ensure that they remain effective. 
Governance arrangements were 
comprehensively reviewed in 2012 
as part of the FT authorisation 
process and found to be robust. 
Strengthened board committee 
arrangements were introduced 
in early 2014 in response to the 
Francis Report and Care Quality 
Commission changes. The board 
considered board governance at 
its January meeting and agreed 
that these remained robust and 
appropriate and would be reviewed 
later in the year.

The risk and control 
framework 

Our risk assessment and 
management policy describes our 
approach to risk management and 
outlines the formal structures in 
place to support this approach. 
The strategy was reviewed to 
ensure that it was appropriate for 
the enlarged trust and updated in 
February 2015.

This policy sets out the key 
responsibilities and accountabilities 
to ensure that risk is identified, 
evaluated and controlled. The board 
has overall responsibility but it 
delegates the work to the patient 
safety committee, which is chaired 
by a non-executive director.

At the Royal Free London risk is 
considered from the perspective of 
clinical risk, organisational risk and 
financial risk. The management 
of these risks is approached 
systematically to identify, analyse, 
evaluate and ensure economic 
control of existing and potential 
risks posing a threat to our patients, 
visitors, staff, and reputation of the 
organisation. We recognise it is not 
possible to eliminate all elements 
of risk. The use of risk registers is 
fundamental to the control process. 
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Each division maintains a risk 
register containing clinical and 
non-clinical risks. All unresolved 
divisional risks are placed on 
divisional risk registers. Divisional 
risk registers are monitored on a 
quarterly basis via the divisional 
quality safety boards (DQS). At the 
DQS boards, staff review and agree 
risk scoring and where extreme risks 
(scoring 15 or above) are confirmed, 
these will also be reviewed for 
potential inclusion on the trust risk 
register. 

The trust risk register contains risks 
which might prevent the trust from 
achieving the corporate objectives. It 
includes trust-wide risks, corporate 
risks, divisional risks and project risks 
where the risk score is confirmed 
as 15 or above following review by 
the patient safety and risk team in 
conjunction with the risk owner. 
Any risk scoring 15 or above or any 
strategic risk will be reflected in the 
board assurance framework.

Risks are identified through third 
party inspections, recommendations, 
comments and guidelines from 
external stakeholders and internally 
through incident forms, complaints, 
risk assessments, audits (both 
clinical and internal), information 
from the patient advice and 
liaison service, benchmarking and 
claims and national survey results. 
External stakeholders include 
the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC), Monitor, the Health and 
Safety Executive (HSE), the NHS 
Litigation Authority (NHSLA), the 
Medicines and Healthcare Products 
Regulatory Agency, the Information 
Commissioner’s Office and Dr 
Foster. 

The divisional boards ensure that 
operational staff identify and 
mitigate risk. Corporate committees 
provide internal assurance to the 
trust board that the mitigations 
are effective and the risks are 
adequately controlled. Risk is 

monitored and communicated 
via these committees reporting 
to the patient safety committee 
and ultimately the board. Our 
clinical audits, internal audit 
programme and external reviews 
of the organisation (clinical 
pathology accreditation review, 
NHSLA assessment, HSE and CQC 
inspection) are the sources used 
to provide assurance that these 
processes are effective and risk 
monitoring is fully embedded.

The audit committee oversees 
and monitors the performance 
of the risk management system, 
internal audit (KPMG) and external 
audit (PwC) work closely with 
this committee. KPMG undertake 
reviews and provide assurances on 
the systems of control operating 
within the trust. 

The trust has in place a board 
assurance framework which is 
reviewed in a number of forums 
and quarterly by the trust board. 
Risks are graded as low, moderate, 
high and extreme. The trust’s risk 
appetite is such that any high or 
extreme risks require action to be 
taken and to be reported within 24 
hours of identification of the risk.

The results of internal audit reviews 
are reported to the audit committee 
which takes a close interest in 
ensuring system weaknesses are 
addressed. Procedures are in place 
to monitor the implementation 
of control improvements and 
to undertake follow-up reviews 
if systems are deemed less 
than adequate. Internal audit 
recommendations are robustly 
tracked via reports to the audit 
committee. The counter fraud 
programme is also monitored by the 
audit committee.

As part of the governance 
arrangements, the board is satisfied 
that plans are in place and sufficient 
to ensure compliance with the CQC 
registration requirements. The trust 

has adopted a robust framework 
of measurement and assurance for 
each standard by judging whether 
compliance is being achieved, 
reporting quarterly compliance to 
both trust executive and the patient 
safety committee. 

Sources of assurance include:

•	 	quarterly	review	of	CQC	
standards including action plans

•	 	papers	and	minutes	to	the	trust	
executive committee 

•	 	papers	and	minutes	to	the	
patient safety committee

•		 	internal	audit	review	of	
arrangements to ensure CQC 
compliance found adequate 
assurance for our arrangements 
as reported in January 2014.

The trust has developed a quality 
guide which articulates how the 
trust ensures the provision of high 
quality services for its patients. 
It describes what quality means 
for the trust and how the trust 
sets a culture of quality and 
high standards throughout the 
organisation. It complements both 
the trust’s annual quality report, 
which reports on the quality of our 
services over a specific 12-month 
period, and the annual complaints, 
litigation, incident, PALS and safety 
report which demonstrates themes 
in these processes and the learning 
undertaken during the year to 
prevent further risks. The quality 
guide is revised annually.

The trust had its quality governance 
arrangements comprehensively 
reviewed by Monitor as part of 
the authorisation process and has 
further developed our corporate 
and divisional processes following 
the acquisition. This process will 
continue to ensure we strengthen 
and robustly embed our quality 
governance structures and processes 
across the enlarged organisation.
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The trust’s control and assurance 
processes for information 
governance include:

•	 	the	information	governance	
group that reported in 2014/15 
to the board’s risk, governance 
and regulation committee 
and later to the patient safety 
committee

•		 	the	key	structures	in	place,	
principally the senior information 
asset owners covering all patient 
and staff personal data areas

•		 	a	trained	Caldicott	Guardian,	a	
trained senior information risk 
owner (SIRO) and a trained data 
protection officer

•		 	a	risk	management	and	incident	
reporting process

•		 staff	training	

•		 	information	governance	risk	
register

•		 	an	information	governance	
toolkit scored 70% (green 
satisfactory rating)

•	 	internal	audit	review	of	the	
information governance toolkit.

The SIRO’s annual report for 2014/15 will be submitted to the patient safety 
committee in June 2015. Public bodies publish details of personal data related 
incidents in their annual reports. In the NHS these details must be published in 
a specified form. That form has been changed with effect from this year and 
so the numbers in this year’s report are not comparable with those published 
in last year’s. In 2014/15 there was one serious incident (summarised below), 
and several other incidents (see the following table). Incidents classified at a 
low severity rating are excluded from public bodies’ reports.

Summary of serious incidents requiring investigations involving personal 
data as reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office in 2014/15.

Date of 
incident

Nature of 
incident

Nature of data 
involved

Number 
of data 
subjects 
potentially 
affected

Notification 
steps

Dec 2014 Email sent to 
the correct 
recipient but 
to a non-
secure email 
account.

Name; 
telephone 
number; 
address; 
date of birth; 
minimal 
clinical 
information

1,163 Information 
Commissioner’s 
Office notified 
via the 
information 
governance 
toolkit incident 
reporting tool.

Summary of other personal data related incidents in 2014/15

Category Breach type Total

A Corruption or inability to recover electronic data  0

B Disclosed in error  6

C Lost in transit  2

D Lost or stolen hardware  1

E Lost or stolen paperwork  0

F Non secure disposal – hardware  0

G Non secure disposal – paperwork  0

H Uploaded to website in error  0

I Technical security failing (including hacking)  0

J Unauthorised access/disclosure  1

K other  0

The corporate information governance risk register had no red risk ratings 
after actions and controls were taken into account.

The board assurance framework highlights six red-rated strategic risks. 
Four of these are primarily financial, including both income and cost-based 
risks, which the finance and performance committee has monitored closely 
throughout the year and on which it has reported to the board. 

Another red risk is that high profile targets are not met, leading to quality 
and reputational problems and a worse governance risk rating. The trust 
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has been part of the local system 
resilience group, working across 
organisational boundaries to 
address the factors that impact on 
A&E performance. 

The final risk is that the timetable 
for the new Chase Farm Hospital is 
delayed. This has been a challenging 
timetable but the outline business 
case has been approved and 
detailed planning work is well in 
hand.

The clinical performance committee 
is responsible for seeking and 
securing assurance that the trust’s 
clinical services, research efforts 
and education activities achieve the 
high levels of performance expected 
of them by the board, namely 
“outcomes consistently in the top 
10% in the UK versus relevant 
peers”. Its scope includes:

•	 	clinical	outcomes,	including	three	
trust clinical priorities - (C.difficile 
rates, MRSA rates and HSMR) - 
and clinical performance metrics 
for each clinical business unit

•	 	research	productivity	and	
educational effectiveness

•	 quality	accounts	

•	 	outcomes	achieved	and	
management approach 
taken (including, but not 
limited to, accountabilities, 
processes, clinical governance 
arrangements, audit, 
information, training and 
development, consequences). 

The clinical performance committee 
recommends to the board outcome 
measures that should be tracked 
and monitors these same outcomes 
at both trust and service line level. 
Part of the role of the committee 
is to seek assurance that the 
management approach to achieving 
consistent high performance is 
robust and therefore likely to justify 
confidence in future performance. It 
seeks to understand lessons learned 
through comparison between 
service lines that perform well and 
those that perform less well. It also 
organises and prepares evidence 
for the signing of Monitor self-

certifications on “board statements 
– clinical quality”.

The clinical performance committee 
can commission detailed reviews 
of specialties where there may be a 
concern regarding clinical quality. 

Each clinical division has a quality 
and safety board that regularly 
reviews key performance metrics 
in its area to identify and take 
action on local risk. Risk registers 
are maintained within each 
clinical division and, along with 
other sources of information 
such as incident forms, audit and 
benchmarking, are used to populate 
the corporate risk register. 

The trust’s quality, innovation, 
productivity and prevention (QIPP) 
programme is integral to the 
quality improvement process and 
all QIPP projects are assessed for 
their potential impact on quality 
before and after implementation, 
including a detailed quality impact 
assessment. The board monitors 
a set of specific trust-wide quality 
metrics that may be adversely 
affected by cost improvement 
projects. 

The trust’s patient safety 
programme was launched in 
October 2014, to address specific 
patient safety themes formulated 
both from external guidance (eg 
surgical safety) and internal trends 
(eg medicines safety) by using 
continuous quality improvement 
methodology. The programme is led 
by the chief finance officer and each 
workstream has a clinical champion 
and workstream lead, as well as 
leads from the individual teams 
involved in day-to-day care. 

There is a programme of “go see” 
visits, in which board directors are 
paired with clinical areas that they 
visit on a regular basis. All staff 
are encouraged and reminded to 
complete incident report forms 
across a number of formal training 
programmes and also through 
regular local reinforcement via team 
managers and multi-disciplinary 
team meetings. Core training for 
junior medical staff is now informed 

by the learning from serious 
incidents. 

The trust participates in national in-
patient and out-patient surveys and 
“patient experience trackers” are 
used throughout the organisation to 
collect contemporaneous feedback 
from service users. 

Stakeholders have many opportunities 
to become involved in the work of 
the trust and to raise issues relating 
to risks which impact upon them. 
Forums which they use include:

PATIENTS AND THE PUBLIC

•	 	The	patient	advice	and	liaison	
service and specific patient 
representative groups

•	 	The	work	of	the	local	
overview and scrutiny 
committees

•	 	Annual	public	meeting	of	the	
board

•	 	The	national	patient	survey	
programme

•	 Local	healthwatch

•	 	Patient	experience	sub-group	
of council of governors

•	 	Membership	engagement	 
sub-group

STAFF

•	 The	annual	staff	survey

•	 Staff	experience	sub-group

•	 Joint	staff	committee

•	 Consultant	staff	committee

•	 	Monthly	chief	executive	
briefings
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The Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust is registered 
with and licensed by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC), the 
independent regulator of health and 
adult social care services in England. 

We are required to demonstrate 
compliance with the CQC’s 16 
essential standards across every 
service we provide.

This year we had a responsive 
inspection in September 2014 at 
our Barnet Hospital site. 

The trust was found not to be 
meeting the following three specific 
essential standards for which we 
have been issued compliance 
actions in relation to:

•	 	Regulation	9	HSCA	2008	
(Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2010. Care and  Welfare

•	 	Regulation	12	HSCA	2008	
(Regulated Activities) 
Regulations 2010. Cleanliness 
and Infection Control

•	 	Regulation	13	HSCA	2008	
(Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2010. Management of Medicines

An action plan was submitted 
to the Care Quality Commission 
on 16 January 2015 outlining 
how the trust will address these 
concerns. The action plan progress 
is monitored by the trust executive 
committee. 

As an employer with staff entitled 
to membership of the NHS pension 
scheme, control measures are in place 
to ensure all employer obligations 
contained within the scheme 
regulations are complied with. This 
includes ensuring that deductions 
from salary, employer’s contributions 
and payments into the scheme are 
in accordance with the scheme rules 
and that members’ pension scheme 
records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales 
detailed in the regulations. 

Control measures are in place to 
ensure that all the organisation’s 
obligations under equality, diversity 
and human rights legislation are 
complied with. 

The foundation trust has undertaken 
risk assessments and carbon 
reduction delivery plans are in place 
in accordance with emergency 
preparedness and civil contingency 
requirements, as based on UKCIP 
2009 weather projects, to ensure 
that this organisation’s obligations 
under the Climate Change Act 
and the adaptation reporting 
requirements are complied with. 

Review of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness 
of the use of resources 

Monthly finance and performance 
reports are presented to the finance 
and performance committee, 
trust executive committee and 
to the board. The trust has not 
met the target for earnings 
before depreciation, interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) and generation of surplus 
(excluding impairments) but yet 
has continued to operate more 
efficiently, as reflected in the further 
reduction of its reference costs. 
More information about this is in the 
financial review section of this report.

Internal audit reports include 
consideration of value for 
money and PwC are required 
as part of their annual audit to 
satisfy themselves the trust has 
made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources 
and report by exception if in their 
opinion the trust has not.

Annual quality report 

The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service (quality accounts) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
to prepare quality accounts for 
each financial year. Monitor has 
issued guidance to NHS foundation 
trust boards on the form and 
content of annual quality reports 
which incorporate the above legal 
requirements in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 

The quality report and quality 
accounts are critical to providing 
information to the public as well 
as stakeholders on the quality of 
care provided. An important aspect 
of developing our quality accounts 
is that its contents are developed 
by talking to groups of interested 
parties, and for their views to be 
reflected in our final report. The 
trust has produced five successive 
quality accounts since 2010 and we 
aim to develop our 2014/15 quality 
report and quality accounts through 
leadership of the three governing 
priorities for quality:

•	 Patient	safety

•	 Clinical	effectiveness

•	 Patient	experience

In order to set our high level quality 
objectives for 2015/16, the trust 
undertook a series of engagement 
exercises with stakeholders. For 
example, our members council 
participated in an online survey 
during February 2015 to provide 
feedback considerations for our 
2015/16 priorities.

In January 2015 the clinical 
performance committee discussed 

HEALTH PARTNERS

•	 	Work	as	a	founding	member	
of UCLPartners

•	 	Regular	discussion	of	key	
issues and performance 
management arrangements 
with primary care trusts, 
clinical commissioning groups 
and GPs

•	 	Stakeholder	membership	of	
trust working groups, for 
example from the voluntary 
sector

•	 	Joint	strategic	planning	
meetings with healthcare 
partners
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possible clinical effectiveness 
priorities for 2015/16 and agreed 
the pathway to determine which 
priority to set. The user and staff 
experience committee the same 
month discussed the possible 
patient experience priorities 
for 2015/16 and there were 
similar discussions by our patient 
safety committee. We hosted an 
engagement event with external 
stakeholders during February 2015. 
Following this work, our executive 
committee proposed our 2015/16 
quality improvement priorities 
to the board in March 2015 and 
approved the data for reporting in 
our draft quality accounts to assure 
consistency and accuracy with 
performance data received during 
2014/15.

As noted in the quality report, the 
external auditor has qualified their 
opinion in respect of the indicator 
measuring 18-week incomplete 
pathways. This is because: 

i.  the database system used by 
the trust does not adequately 
process the data for all 
pathways, and;

ii.  the scripts used to perform the 
analysis do not always reflect 
the latest Department of Health 
guidance.

The impact of the above issues 
means that the date at which the 
pathway begins is not consistently 
and reliably extracted. 

The trust is implementing and 
testing a new database system 
which will address these issues; this 
system will be used across all trust 
sites from summer 2015, including 
Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm 
Hospital where national reporting 
ceased in September 2013.

Review of effectiveness 

As accounting officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of 
the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control is informed by 
the work of the internal auditors, 
clinical audit and the executive 
managers and clinical leads within 
the NHS foundation trust, who have 
responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal 
control framework. I have drawn 
on the content of the quality report 
attached to this annual report and 
other performance information 
available to me. My review is also 
informed by comments made 
by the external auditors in their 
management letter and other 
reports. I have been advised on 
the implications of the result of 
my review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control by 
the board, the audit committee, 
clinical performance committee and 
patient safety committee and a plan 
to address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the 
system is in place. 

My review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control 
is informed by executives and 
managers within the organisation, 
who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of 
the system of internal control and 
the assurance framework.

The responsibility for compliance 
with the Care Quality Commission 
essential standards is allocated to 
lead executive directors who are 
responsible for maintaining evidence 
of compliance. The assessment 
of compliance and the work of 
internal audit through the year, 
including advice and support on 
the development of the board 
assurance framework, have been 
of great assistance. The results of 
external audit’s work on the trust’s 
annual accounts are a key assurance 
together with patient and staff 
surveys.

The board reviews risks to the 
delivery of the trust’s performance 
objectives through monthly 
monitoring and discussion of the 
performance in the key areas of 
finance, activity, national targets, 
patient safety and quality and 
workforce. This enables the 
executive board and the board to 
focus on key issues as they arise and 
address them.

The audit committee has overseen 
the effectiveness of the trust’s risk 
management arrangements and 
taken part in a review of its role and 
responsibilities. The audit committee 
is supported in this oversight role by 
the work of the clinical performance 
committee.

Assurance for a sound system of 
internal control places reliance on 
the work of internal audit. The head 
of internal audit opinion is provided 
annually and comments based 
on the audit programme for the 
year. During 2014/15 the opinion 
provided a substantial assurance 
rating.

This year we achieved a financial 
risk rating of four and a governance 
risk rating of green in relation 
to Monitor’s risk assessment 
framework. 

Conclusion 

Other than those mentioned above, 
no significant internal control issues 
have been identified in the year. 

David Sloman 
Chief executive

28 May 2015
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Annual accounts 2014/15

The accounts for the year ended 31 March 2015 are prepared in accordance with paragraphs 24 & 25 of Schedule 7 
within the National Health Service Act 2006.

David Sloman 
Chief executive

Date: 28 May 2015
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Independent auditors’ report to the  
Board of Governors of Royal Free London  
NHS Foundation Trust

Report on the financial 
statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the Royal Free 
London NHS Foundation Trust’s 
(“the trust’s”) financial statements 
(the “financial statements”):

•	 	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	
state of the trust’s affairs as at 31 
March 2015 and of its income 
and expenditure and cash flows 
for the year then ended 31 
March 2015; and

•	 	have	been	properly	prepared	
in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2014/15. 

What we have audited

The trust’s financial statements 
comprise:

•	 	the	Statement	of	Financial	
Position as at 31 March 2015;

•	 	the	Statement	of	Comprehensive	
Income for the year then ended;

•	 	the	Statement	of	Cash	Flows	for	
the year then ended;

•	 	the	Statement	of	Changes	in	
Taxpayer’s Equity for the year 
then ended;

Materiality

Audit scope

Areas of 
focus

•	 	the	notes	to	the	financial	
statements, which include 
a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in the 
preparation of the financial 
statements is the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2014/15 issued by the 
Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).

Our audit approach

OVERVIEW

  Overall materiality: £9,077,340 which represents 1 % of total revenue. 

  We performed our audit of the financial information for the 
Trust at the Royal Free Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital, which 
is where the Trust’s two finance functions are based. This is on 
account of the acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust on 1 July 2014 by the Trust resulting in two main sites.

  The trust includes the trust and its interests in two joint 
arrangements, UCL Partners Limited and Health Services 
Laboratories LLP. In addition, the trust acquired Barnet and Chase 
Farm Hospitals NHS Trust on 1 July 2014.

  The acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm (‘BCF’) Hospitals NHS 
trust; and 

  Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition, management 
override of control and complex supplier arrangements.

The scope of our audit and our areas of focus

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust provides services to over 1.6 million people within the London boroughs of 
Barnet, Enfield and Camden and the surrounding area. The trust is based at Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital and 
the Royal Free Hospital. 
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The trust provides a full range of hospital services to the local community including emergency and intensive care, medical 
and surgical care, elderly care, paediatric and maternity care as well as diagnostic and clinical support. The trust also provides 
a network of services in other hospitals and centres across north London and Hertfordshire. The trust is a regional centre for 
kidney and liver diseases, including transplants, as well as having a high level isolation unit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”).

We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant 
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in 
all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there 
was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including the allocation of our resources and 
effort, are identified as “areas of focus” in the table below. We have also set out how we tailored our audit to address these 
specific areas in order to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, and any comments we make on the 
results of our procedures should be read in this context. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

Area of focus 

The acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm 
Hospitals NHS Trust (‘BCF’)

See note 31 to the financial statements detailing the 
acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust on  
1 July 2014.

For 2014/15, this acquisition has led to significant changes 
in how the financial statements of the trust are presented 
and significant changes to the trust’s financial position and 
its underlying activities.

We focussed on this area because there is a heightened  
risk of error in the financial statements due to:

•	 	the	significance	of	the	transaction	outside	the	normal	 
course of business for the trust resulting in the transfer 
of total assets employed of £186,645k and therefore 
the need for adequate disclosure in the trust’s financial 
statements;

•	 	the	existence	of	a	private	finance	initiative	(‘PFI’)	within	
the total assets employed by BCF which was absorbed  
by the trust;

•	 	the	trust	being	given	£41.2m	of	transition	funding	by	the	
Department of Health for the acquisition of BCF to assist 
during the takeover period. It is a significant transaction 
during the year which needs to be recognised appropriately 
in the financial statements in accordance with the nature 
of the acquisition and transaction agreement;

•	 	several	different	processes	and	controls	being	in	place	 
at the trust since the acquisition on 1 July 2014; and

•	 	the	pressure	that	the	rapid	growth	of	the	trust	has	
placed on its management and financial resources. 

How our audit addressed the area of focus 

We assessed the disclosures relating to the 
acquisition of BCF to assess whether they are 
presented in line with the requirements of 
the NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting 
Manual 2014/15.

We ensured that the balances transferred to the 
trust from BCF are complete and accurate; by 
assessing BCF’s external auditor’s working papers 
for the audited financial statements for the 
period 1 April 2014 to 30 June 2014.

We tested that the transactions undertaken at 
BCF after 1 July 2014 are recorded and accurately 
translated into the trust’s financial statements.

We evaluated the nature of the arrangement in 
place for the underlying PFI model by obtaining 
the project agreement, and testing that the trust 
has correctly accounted for and disclosed the PFI 
in its financial statements. 

We confirmed the transitional funding has been 
recognised in the trust’s financial statements 
by agreeing the funding to the terms of the 
transaction agreement. We noted that the 
transaction has been appropriately recognised 
in the financial statements as “exceptional 
operating income” as detailed within note 31.

We understood and evaluated the new control 
environment and processes at the trust following 
the acquisition of BCF to check that there are 
no issues with regards to the trust’s budget 
monitoring process and how the trust has 
managed its 2014/15 savings programme. We 
noted no significant issues.
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How our audit addressed the area 
of focus

Recognition of revenue and 
expenditure 

We evaluated and tested the 
accounting policy for revenue and 
expenditure recognition to ensure that 
it is consistent with the requirements 
of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2014/15 and we 
noted no issues in this respect.

Where revenue or expenditure was 
recorded through journal entries 
outside of the trust’s normal process, 
we traced the journal to patient 
records or invoices on a sample basis to 
establish whether a service had been 
provided or a sale occurred. We did 
not identify any transactions that were 
indicative of fraud in the recognition of 
revenue or expenditure.

We tested patient activity revenue by 
agreeing the amounts recognised in the 
revenue statements to contracts and 
to the trust’s patient activity systems to 
ensure that amounts were contractually 
due, reflected actual activity and to 
confirm when the activity occurred.

We tested a sample of other revenue 
by tracing the transaction to invoices 
or other correspondence, and using 
our knowledge and experience in the 
industry, to determine whether the 
revenue was recognised in the correct 
period. Items of other revenue included 
private patient revenue, overseas 
patient revenue, education and training 
and research and development.

Area of focus 

Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure 
recognition, management override of control and 
complex supplier arrangements

See note 1 to the financial statements for the directors’ 
disclosures of the related accounting policies, judgements 
and estimates relating to the recognition of revenue and 
expenditure and notes 2 to 5 for further information.

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a (rebuttable) presumption that 
there are risks of fraud in revenue recognition. We extend this 
presumption to the recognition of expenditure in the NHS in 
general. In addition, there is an inherent risk that management 
are in a position where they can manipulate and override 
controls in order to misreport the financial statements.

The main source of revenue for the trust is contracts with 
commissioning bodies in respect to healthcare services, under 
which revenue is recognised when, and to the extent that, 
healthcare services are provided to patients. This is contracted 
through a service level agreement (‘SLA’).

We focussed on this area because there is a heightened risk due to:

•	 	The	trust	being	under	increasing	financial	pressure.	Whilst	
the trust is looking at ways to maximise revenue and reduce 
expenditure, there is an incentive for management to 
recognise as much revenue as possible in 2014/15 and defer 
expenditure to 2015/16. 

•	 	Equally,	given	the	increasing	pressure	in	future	years,	revenue	
may be deferred to 2015/16 and expenditure recognised in 
2014/15 to improve the future financial position of the trust.

•	 	Since	commissioning	bodies	are	often	under	pressure	to	
spend the resources available to them in any financial year, 
a risk was identified that the trust may take advantage of 
this pressure and, in order to reduce the deficit for the year, 
potentially fraudulently bill amounts to the commissioning 
bodies (and recognise this as revenue) in respect of activity 
that either does not exist, is not accurate or has been 
delivered after the date of transfer.

•	 	Given	the	operating	position	of	the	trust,	there	is	a	further	
risk that the directors may defer recognition of expenditure 
(by under-accruing for expenses that have been incurred 
during the period but which were not paid until after the 
date of transfer) or not record expenses accurately in order 
to improve the financial results.

•	 We	consider	the	key	areas	of	focus	are:

 o Recognition of revenue and expenditure;

 o Manipulation of journal postings to the general ledgers;

 o Recognition and measurement of estimates; 

 o  Any significant transactions outside the normal course of 
business for the trust; and

 o Complex supplier arrangements. 



97

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Annual accounts

Similarly, for expenditure, we 
selected a number of payments 
made by agreeing them to the 
supplier invoices received to ensure 
they were recognised in the correct 
period and at the correct value. We 
furthermore tested invoices received 
after the year end and used the 
invoice to determine whether the 
expenditure was recognised in the 
correct period.

Lastly, we evaluated the extent and 
results of the trust’s engagement 
with the NHS agreement of 
balances exercise at the year end. 
Where we noted differences for 
the trust in the NHS agreement 
of balances, we corroborated 
the reason for the difference 
by considering correspondence 
between the trust and the other 
NHS body. We noted no significant 
issues.

Manipulation of journal postings 
to the general ledgers

Our journals work was carried out 
using a risk based approach across 
the two general ledgers used by 
the trust. We used data analysis 
techniques to identify the journals 
that had higher risk characteristics, 
for example, being posted and 
authorised by the same individual 
or being posted outside “normal” 
office hours.

We tested all round sum journals 
weekend inputs as part of our 
unpredictable procedures. 

We found the journals posted to be 
supported by that documentation, 
consistent with it and recognised in 
the correct accounting period.

Recognition and measurement 
of estimates

We evaluated and tested 
management’s accounting estimates 
focussing on:

•	 	the	valuation	of	the	trust’s	
property, plant and equipment;

•	 	the	useful	economic	lives	of	
the trust’s property, plant and 
equipment;

•	 	the	provisions	and	accruals	
recognised at year end;

•	 	the	provision	for	impaired	
receivables;

•	 	deferred	revenue	at	year	end;	
and

•	 	the	assumptions	underpinning	
the trust’s private finance 
initiative.

We challenged the assumptions 
made by management in 
recognising these estimates against 
the supporting documentation 
made available by management, 
including contracts, surveyor 
reports, restructuring plans and 
correspondence where applicable 
and noted no issues.

In particular we considered the 
current year activity for each 
estimate to assess whether the 
estimates recognised in the prior 
year balance sheet had been 
optimistic. From the testing 
performed we did not identify any 
indication of management bias 
and the accounting estimates are 
considered to be appropriate.

Any significant transactions 
outside the normal course of 
business for the trust

We considered the acquisition of 
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust. Full details are explained 
above.

Complex supplier 
arrangements 

The term “complex supplier 
arrangement” is one considered 
to be an agreement that has 
in place certain attributes such 
as but not limited to fees, 
contributions, discounts, multiple 
offers and volume rebates.

We considered how the term 
applies to the trust and we 
consider it applies to:

•	 	the	trust’s	SLAs	in	place	with	
its commissioning bodies; and

•	 	the	trust’s	private	finance	
initiative.

This is because the amounts 
involved are significant, with 
judgements to be made when 
estimating period end amounts 
receivable or payable.

For the trust’s SLAs, we agreed 
the total value to a signed 
agreement and authorised 
variations where applicable. 
These variations are those 
agreed and authorised between 
the trust and its commissioners 
to reflect any areas of over 
or under performance. We 
examined that the final March 
2015 payment was correctly 
accounted for, we tested by 
reference to performance reports 
whether the service agreement/ 
contract volume has been met; 
and evaluated the SLAs for any 
monies for specific purposes or 
potential deferred income items 
and tested that these have been 
accounted for appropriately.

For the trust’s PFI, we evaluated 
the nature of the arrangement 
in place and the PFI model, and 
ensured that the trust correctly 
accounts for and discloses the PFI 
in their financial statements. No 
material issues were identified.
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How we tailored the audit 
scope

We tailored the scope of our audit 
to ensure that we performed 
enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial statements 
as a whole, taking into account 
the structure of the trust, the 
accounting processes and controls, 
and the environment in which the 
trust operates. In establishing our 
overall approach we assessed the 
risks of material misstatement, 
taking into account the nature, 
likelihood and potential magnitude 
of any misstatement. Following this 
assessment, we applied professional 
judgement to determine the extent 
of testing required over each 
balance in the financial statements.

Following the acquisition of Barnet 
and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust 
on 1 July 2014 by the trust, we took 
into consideration the existence of 
two general ledgers and how the 
trust’s finance functions are based 
across two sites at the Royal Free 
Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital. 
The audit fieldwork was performed 
by the same audit team across both 
sites.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was 
influenced by our application 
of materiality. We set certain 
quantitative thresholds for 
materiality. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped 
us to determine the scope of our 
audit and the nature, timing and 
extent of our audit procedures 
and to evaluate the effect of 
misstatements, both individually 
and on the financial statements as 
a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, consistent with last year, we 
determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall 
materiality

£9,077,340 (2014: £11,874,820)

How we 
determined it

1% of revenue

Rationale for 
benchmark 
applied

We have applied this benchmark, which is a generally 
accepted measure when auditing not for profit 
organisations, because the trust’s income/expenditure is a 
key measure of its financial performance and of interest to 
the council of governors and other users of the financial 
statements, having taken into account the acquisition of 
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust.

We agreed with the audit committee that we would report to them 
misstatements identified during our audit above £425,000 (2014: 
£577,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, 
warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUDIT 
CODE FOR NHS FOUNDATION TRUSTS

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the audit code for 
NHS foundation Trusts

In our opinion: 

•	 	the	information	given	in	the	strategic	report	and	the	directors’	report	
for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; and

•	 	the	part	of	the	directors’	remuneration	report	to	be	audited	has	been	
properly prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2014/15.



99

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Annual accounts

Consistency of other information

Under the audit code for NHS foundation trusts we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

information in the annual report and accounts (the “annual report”) is:

− materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or

−  apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our 
knowledge of the trust acquired in the course of performing our audit; or

− otherwise misleading.

We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this 
responsibility.

 the statement given by the directors on page 20, in accordance with provision 
C.1.1 of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, that they consider 
the annual report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary for members to assess the trust’s 
performance, business model and strategy is materially inconsistent with our 
knowledge of the trust acquired in the course of performing our audit.

We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this 
responsibility.

 the section of the annual report on page 69, as required by provision C.3.9 of 
the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, describing the work of the Audit 
Committee does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the 
audit committee.

We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this 
responsibility.

the annual governance statement does not meet the disclosure requirements 
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15 or is 
misleading or inconsistent with information of which we are aware from our 
audit. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether the 
annual governance statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are 
satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.

We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this 
responsibility.

 
Economy, efficiency and effectiveness of resources and quality report

Under the audit code for NHS Foundation Trusts we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.

We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this 
responsibility.

we have qualified, on any aspect, our opinion on the quality report We have exceptions to 
note as set out below. 
We have expressed a 
disclaimer of opinion 
on the quality report 
in relation to the 
performance indicator 
‘percentage of incomplete 
pathways within 18 weeks 
for patients on incomplete 
pathways’. As a result our 
certificate in this report is 
qualified in this respect. 
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Responsibilities for the 
financial statements and the 
audit

Our responsibilities and those 
of the directors

As explained more fully in the 
directors’ responsibilities statement, 
the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair 
view in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2014/15.

Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with the 
National Health Service Act 2006, 
the Audit Code for NHS Foundation 
Trusts issued by Monitor and ISAs 
(UK & Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, 
has been prepared for and only 
for the council of governors of the 
Royal Free London NHS Foundation 
Trust as a body in accordance with 
paragraph 24 of Schedule 7 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 
and for no other purpose. We 
do not, in giving these opinions, 
accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any 
other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may 
come save where expressly agreed 
by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial 
statements involves

An audit involves obtaining evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: 

•	 	whether	the	accounting	
policies are appropriate to the 
trust’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; 

•	 	the	reasonableness	of	significant	
accounting estimates made by 
the directors; and 

•	 	the	overall	presentation	of	the	
financial statements. 

We primarily focus our work 
in these areas by assessing the 
directors’ judgements against 
available evidence, forming our 
own judgements, and evaluating 
the disclosures in the financial 
statements.

We test and examine information, 
using sampling and other auditing 
techniques, to the extent we 
consider necessary to provide 
a reasonable basis for us to 
draw conclusions. We obtain 
audit evidence through testing 
the effectiveness of controls, 
substantive procedures or a 
combination of both. 

In addition, we read all the financial 
and non-financial information 
in the annual report to identify 
material inconsistencies with the 
audited financial statements and 
to identify any information that 
is apparently materially incorrect 
based on, or materially inconsistent 
with, the knowledge acquired by 
us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

QUALIFIED CERTIFICATE

We have expressed a disclaimer 
of opinion on the quality report 
in relation to the performance 
indicator “percentage of incomplete 
pathways within 18 weeks for 
patients on incomplete pathways”. 
Our limited assurance report on the 
quality report is unqualified in all 
other respects.

We certify that we have completed 
the audit of the financial statements 
in accordance with the requirements 
of Chapter 5 of Part 2 to the 
National Health Service Act 23006 
and the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.

Lynn Pamment (Senior Statutory 
Auditor) for and on behalf of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and 
Statutory Auditors London

28 May 2015

(a)  The maintenance and integrity 
of the Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust website is the 
responsibility of the directors; 
the work carried out by the 
auditors does not involve 
consideration of these matters 
and, accordingly, the auditors 
accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred 
to the financial statements since 
they were initially presented on 
the website.

(b)  Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.
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Statement of comprehensive income for year ended 
31 March 2015

 NOTE  2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000

Operating income from patient care activities 2.1   764,186   506,439 
Other operating income 2.3   102,338   87,302 
Exceptional operating income 31   41,210   - 
Total operating income    907,734   593,741 
Operating expenses 3   (908,971)  (607,852)
Operating surplus/(deficit)    (1,237)  (14,111) 

Investment income 7   290   212  
Finance costs 8   (4,394)  (1,095) 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9   11,051   -  
Public dividend capital dividends payable    (11,533)  (6,979) 
Net finance costs    (4,586)  (7,862) 

Gains arising from transfers by absorption 32   186,835   - 

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year    181,012   (21,973)

Other comprehensive income/(expense)     
Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:     
Impairments and reversals charged to the revaluation reserve 11   (6,602)  (24,981)
Revaluation credited to the revaluation reserve 11   11,956   1,396 

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year    186,366   (45,558)

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.
The notes on pages 105 to 143 form part of these accounts.

Note to the statement of comprehensive income

The board of directors primarily review the trust performance on the basis of the earnings before interest, taxation, 
depreciation and amortisation and the reporting surplus. 

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation    31,158   32,635 

Income from donated assets 2   -   408 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 3   (23,290)  (15,453)
Amortisation on intangible assets 3   (2,139)  (1,642)
Investment income 7   290   212 
Finance costs 8   (4,394)  (1,095)
Public dividend capital dividends payable    (11,533)  (6,979)

Reporting surplus/(deficit)    (9,908)  8,086 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9   11,051   - 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3   (737)  - 
Loss on disposal of intangible assets 3   (1,581)  - 
Impairments of property, plant and equipment 3   (4,648)  (30,059)

Surplus/(deficit) before gains arising from transfers by absorption    (5,823)  (21,973)

Gains arising from transfers by absorption 32   186,835   - 

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year    181,012   (21,973)
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 NOTE  31 March 31 March
   2015 2014
   £000 £000
Non-current assets:     
Intangible assets 10   7,218   4,675 
Property, plant and equipment 11   487,878   249,788 
Investments in joint arrangements 14   2,252   - 
Trade and other receivables 16.1   6,704   - 
Total non-current assets    504,052   254,463 

Current assets:     
Inventories 15   9,622   5,674 
Trade and other receivables 16.1   94,898   61,897 
Non-current assets held for sale 17   16,592   3,500 
Cash and cash equivalents 18   94,573   61,686 
Total current assets    215,685   132,757 

Total assets    719,737   387,220 

Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 19   130,471   93,512 
Other liabilities 20   6,990   7,878 
Borrowings 21   2,727   1 
Provisions 24   9,513   9,742 
Total current liabilities    149,701   111,133 

Net current assets/(liabilities)    65,984   21,624 

Non-current assets plus net current assets/(liabilities)    570,036   276,087 

Non-current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 19   400   400 
Other liabilities 20   4,106   4,274 
Borrowings 21   72,991   27,496 
Provisions 24   6,424   1,219 
Total non-current liabilities    83,921   33,389 

Total assets employed:    486,115   242,698 

FINANCED BY:     
Taxpayers’ equity     
Public dividend capital    397,226   193,538 
Retained earnings    (74,119)  (6,767)
Revaluation reserve    163,008   55,927 
Total taxpayers’ equity    486,115   242,698 

The notes on pages 105 to 143 form part of these accounts. The financial statements on pages 93 to 143 were 
approved by the Board on 28 May 2015 and signed on its behalf by: 

David Sloman, chief executive     
28 May 2015 
 

Statement of financial position as at  
31 March 2015
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  Public   
 Total  dividend  Retained Revaluation
 equity capital earnings reserve  
 £000 £000 £000 £000
      
 
Balance at 1 April 2014  242,698  193,538   (6,767)   55,927 
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year  181,012   -   181,012   - 
Revaluations (note 11)  11,956   -   -   11,956 
Impairments (note 11)  (6,602)  -   -   (6,602)
New public dividend capital received  57,051   57,051   -   - 
Transfers between reserves  -   -   1,981   (1,981)
Transfers by absorption: transfers between reserves  -   146,637   (250,345)  103,708 
Balance at 31 March 2015  486,115   397,226   (74,119)  163,008 
      
 
      
 
      
Balance at 1 April 2013  285,686  190,968  15,206   79,512 
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year  (21,973)  -   (21,973)  - 
Revaluations (note 11)  1,396   -   -   1,396 
Impairments (note 11)  (24,981)  -   -   (24,981)
New public dividend capital received  2,570   2,570   -   - 
Balance at 31 March 2014  242,698   193,538   (6,767)  55,927 

Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity  
for the year ended 31 March 2015
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 NOTE  2013/14 2012/13
    £000 £000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Operating surplus/(deficit)    (1,237)  (14,111)
Depreciation and amortisation 3   25,429   17,095 
Impairments 3   4,648   30,059 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    737   - 
Loss on disposal of intangible assets    1,581   - 
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables    13,194   (22,096)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories    (522)  467 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables    (16,536)  (9,813)
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities    (1,056)  (782)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions    (208)  (3,558)
Other movements in operating cash flows    72   (29)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities    26,102   (2,768)
     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Interest received    290   220 
Acquisition of investment in joint arrangements    (2,252)  - 
Purchases of intangible assets    -   (1,713)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment    (40,939)  (30,951)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities    (42,901)  (32,444)
     
NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) BEFORE FINANCING    (16,799)  (35,212)
     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Public dividend capital received    57,051   2,570 
Loans received from the Independent Trust Financing Facility    10,000   20,000 
Capital element of finance lease rental payments     (225)  (1)
Capital element of PFI payments    (881)  - 
Interest paid    (821)  (15)
Interest element of finance lease    (1,130)  (1,058)
Interest element of PFI payments    (2,363)  - 
Public dividend capital dividend paid    (12,754)  (7,253)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities    48,877   14,243 
       
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    32,078   (20,969)
     
Cash and cash equivalents (and bank overdraft) at beginning of the year 18   61,686   82,655 
Cash and cash equivalents transferred under absorption accounting 31   809   - 
     
Cash and cash equivalents (and bank overdraft) at year end 18   94,573   61,686 

Statement of cash flows for the year ended  
31 March 2015
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Notes to the accounts

1 Accounting policies and 
other information

   

Monitor has directed that the 
financial statements of NHS 
foundation trusts shall meet the 
accounting requirements of the 
NHS foundation trust annual 
reporting manual (FT ARM) which 
shall be agreed with HM Treasury. 
Consequently, the following 
accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the FT ARM 
2014/15 issued by Monitor. The 
accounting policies contained in 
that manual follow the international 
financial reporting standards and 
HM Treasury’s financial reporting 
manual (FReM) to the extent 
that they are meaningful and 
appropriate to NHS foundation 
trusts. The accounting policies have 
been applied consistently in dealing 
with items considered material in 
relation to the accounts.

After making enquiries, the directors 
have a reasonable expectation 
that the NHS foundation trust has 
adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, 
they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the 
accounts.  

1.1 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention 
modified to account for the 
revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment.   

1.2 Consolidation

Associates

Associate entities are those over 
which the trust has the power to 
exercise a significant influence. 
Associate entities are recognised in 
the trust’s accounts using the equity 
method. The investment is initially 
recognised at cost. It is increased or 
decreased subsequently to reflect 
the trust’s share of the entity’s profit 
or loss or other gains and losses 
(eg revaluation gains on the entity’s 
property, plant and equipment) 
following acquisition. It is also 
reduced when any distribution, eg 
share dividends, are received by the 
trust from the associate.

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are arrangements 
in which the trust has joint control 
with one or more other parties, and 
where it has the rights to the net 
assets of the arrangement.

Joint ventures are accounted for 
using the equity method.  

1.3 Income

Income in respect of services 
provided is recognised when, and to 
the extent that, performance occurs 
and is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration receivable. The 
main source of income for the trust 
is contracts with commissioners in 
respect of healthcare services.

Where income is received for a 
specific activity which is to be 
delivered in the following financial 
year, that income is deferred. 

Income from the sale of non-current 
assets is recognised only when all 
material conditions of sale have 
been met and is measured as the 
sums due under the sale contract. 

1.4 Expenditure on employee 
benefits 

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-
related payments are recognised in 
the period in which the service is 
received from employees. The cost 
of annual leave entitlement earned 
but not taken by employees at the 
end of the period is recognised in 
the accounts to the extent that 
employees are permitted to carry 
forward leave into the following 
period.

Pension costs

Past and present employees are 
covered by the provisions of the 
NHS pension scheme. The scheme 
is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, 
general practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of 
secretary of state in England and 
Wales. It is not possible for the NHS 
foundation trust to identify its share 
of the underlying scheme liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted 
for as a defined contribution 
scheme. 

Employers’ pension cost 
contributions are charged to 
operating expenses as and when 
they become due. 

Additional pension liabilities arising 
from early retirements are not 
funded by the scheme except where 
the retirement is due to ill health. 
The full amount of the liability for 
the additional costs is charged 
to the operating expenses at the 
time the trust commits itself to 
the retirement, regardless of the 
method of payment.   
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1.5 Expenditure on other 
goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is 
recognised when, and to the extent 
that they have been received, and is 
measured at the fair value of those 
goods and services. Expenditure is 
recognised in operating expenses 
except where it results in the 
creation of a non-current asset such 
as property, plant and equipment.  
  

1.6 Property, plant and 
equipment

Recognition   

Property, plant and equipment is 
capitalised where:

•	 	it	is	held	for	use	in	delivering	
services or for administrative 
purposes;

•	 	it	is	probable	that	future	
economic benefits will flow to, 
or service potential be provided 
to, the trust;

•	 	it	is	expected	to	be	used	for	
more than one financial year;

•	 	the	cost	of	the	item	can	be	
measured reliably;

•	 	the	item	has	a	cost	of	at	least	
£5,000 or collectively a number 
of items have a cost of at least 
£5,000 and individually have a 
cost of more than £250, where 
the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had 
broadly simultaneous purchase 
dates, are anticipated to have 
simultaneous disposal dates 
and are under single managerial 
control; and

•	 	items	form	part	of	the	initial	
equipping and setting-up cost 
of a new building, ward or unit, 
irrespective of their individual or 
collective cost.  

Where a large asset, for example 
a building, includes a number of 
components with significantly 
different asset lives eg plant and 

equipment, then these components 
are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful 
economic lives. 

Measurement

Valuation 

All property, plant and equipment 
assets are measured initially 
at cost, representing the costs 
directly attributable to acquiring or 
constructing the asset and bringing 
it to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended 
by management.

All assets are measured 
subsequently at fair value. Land and 
buildings used for the trust’s services 
or for administrative purposes are 
stated in the statement of financial 
position at their revalued amounts, 
being the fair value at the date of 
revaluation less any impairment, 
subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 
Revaluations are performed with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that 
carrying amounts are not materially 
different from those that would 
be determined at the end of the 
reporting period. Fair values are 
determined as follows: 

•	 	Land	and	non-specialised	
buildings – market value for 
existing use

•	 	Specialised	buildings	–	
depreciated replacement cost

•	 	All	other	assets	–	depreciated	
replacement cost

Until 31 March 2008, the 
depreciated replacement cost of 
specialised buildings has been 
estimated for an exact replacement 
of the asset in its present location. 
HM Treasury has adopted a 
standard approach to depreciated 
replacement cost valuations based 
on modern equivalent assets and, 
where it would meet the location 
requirements of the service being 
provided, an alternative site can be 
valued. 

Properties in the course of 
construction for service or 
administration purposes are carried 
at cost less any impairment loss. 
Cost includes professional fees but 
not borrowing costs, which are 
recognised as expenses immediately, 
as allowed by international 
accounting standard (IAS) 23 for 
assets held at fair value. Assets 
are revalued and depreciation 
commences when they are brought 
into use. 

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating 
to an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an 
increase in the carrying amount 
of the asset when it is probable 
that additional future economic 
benefits or service potential deriving 
from the cost incurred to replace 
a component of such item will 
flow to the enterprise and the cost 
of the item can be determined 
reliably. Where a component of an 
asset is replaced, the cost of the 
replacement is capitalised if it meets 
the criteria for recognition above. 
The carrying amount of the part 
replaced is de-recognised. Other 
expenditure that does not generate 
additional future economic benefits 
or service potential, such as repairs 
and maintenance, is charged to 
the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period in which it is 
incurred.  

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated over 
their remaining useful economic 
lives in a manner consistent with 
the consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits. Freehold 
land is considered to have an infinite 
life and is not depreciated. Assets 
in the course of construction are 
not depreciated until the asset is 
brought into use. 

Revaluation gains and losses

Revaluation gains are recognised 
in the revaluation reserve, except 
where, and to the extent that, they 
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reverse a revaluation decrease that 
has previously been recognised in 
operating expenses, in which case 
they are recognised in operating 
income. 

Revaluation losses are charged to 
the revaluation reserve to the extent 
that there is an available balance for 
the asset concerned and thereafter 
are charged to operating expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the 
revaluation reserve are reported in 
the statement of comprehensive 
income as an item of other 
comprehensive income. 

Impairments

In accordance with the FT ARM, 
impairments that arise from a clear 
consumption of economic benefits 
or service potential in the asset are 
charged to operating expenses. 
A compensating transfer is made 
from the revaluation reserve to the 
income and expenditure reserve 
of an amount equal to the lower 
of (i) the impairment charged to 
operating expenses; and (ii) the 
balance in the revaluation reserve 
attributable to that asset before the 
impairment. 

An impairment arising from a clear 
consumption of economic benefit 
or service potential is reversed 
when, and to the extent that, the 
circumstances that gave rise to 
the loss are reversed. Reversals are 
recognised in operating income 
to the extent that the asset is 
restored to the carrying amount it 
would have had if the impairment 
had never been recognised. Any 
remaining reversal is recognised in 
the revaluation reserve. Where, at 
the time of the original impairment, 
a transfer was made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income 
and expenditure reserve, an amount 
is transferred back to the revaluation 
reserve when the impairment 
reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as 
revaluation losses. Reversals of 
other impairments are treated as 
revaluation gains.  

De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are 
reclassified as “held for sale” once 
all of the following criteria are met:

•	 	the	asset	is	available	for	
immediate sale in its present 
condition subject only to terms 
which are usual and customary 
for such sales;

•	 	the	sale	must	be	highly	
probable ie:

 -  management are committed 
to a plan to sell the asset;

 -  an active programme has 
begun to find a buyer and 
complete the sale;

 -   the asset is being actively 
marketed at a reasonable 
price;

 -  the sale is expected to be 
completed within 12 months 
of the date of classification as 
“held for sale” and

 -  the actions needed to 
complete the plan indicate it 
is unlikely that the plan will 
be dropped or significant 
changes made to it.

Following reclassification, the 
assets are measured at the lower of 
their existing carrying amount and 
their “fair value less costs to sell”. 
Depreciation ceases to be charged. 
Assets are de-recognised when all 
material sale contract conditions 
have been met. 

Property, plant and equipment which 
is to be scrapped or demolished does 
not qualify for recognition as “held 
for sale” and instead is retained as 
an operational asset and the asset’s 
economic life is adjusted. The asset 
is de-recognised when scrapping or 
demolition occurs. 

Donated, government grant 
and other grant-funded assets

Donated and grant-funded 
property, plant and equipment 
assets are capitalised at their fair 
value on receipt. The donation/

grant is credited to income at the 
same time, unless the donor has 
imposed a condition that the future 
economic benefits embodied in 
the grant are to be consumed in 
a manner specified by the donor, 
in which case, the donation/
grant is deferred within liabilities 
and is carried forward to future 
financial years to the extent that the 
condition has not yet been met.

The donated and grant-funded assets 
are subsequently accounted for in 
the same manner as other items of 
property, plant and equipment. 

Private finance initiative (PFI) 
transactions

PFI transactions which meet the 
IFRIC 12 definition of a service 
concession, as interpreted in HM 
Treasury’s FReM, are accounted 
for as on-statement of financial 
position by the trust. In accordance 
with IAS 17, the underlying assets 
are recognised as property, plant 
and equipment at their fair value, 
together with an equivalent finance 
lease liability. Subsequently, the 
assets are accounted for as property, 
plant and equipment and/or 
intangible assets as appropriate.

The annual contract payments 
are apportioned between the 
repayment of the liability, a finance 
cost and the charges for services.

The service charge is recognised in 
operating expenses and the finance 
cost is charged to finance costs in 
the statement of comprehensive 
income.

The annual unitary payment is 
separated into the following 
component parts, using appropriate 
estimation techniques where 
necessary:

•	 		Payment	for	the	fair	value	of	
services received;

•	 	Payment	for	the	PFI	asset,	
including finance costs; and

•	 		Payment	for	the	replacement	
of components of the asset 
during the contract ‘lifecycle 
replacement’.
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Lifecycle replacement

Components of the asset replaced 
by the operator during the 
contract (“lifecycle replacement”) 
are capitalised where they meet 
the trust’s criteria for capital 
expenditure. They are capitalised at 
the time they are provided by the 
operator and are measured initially 
at their fair value.

The element of the annual unitary 
payment allocated to lifecycle 
replacement is pre-determined for 
each year of the contract from the 
operator’s planned programme of 
lifecycle replacement. Where the 
lifecycle component is provided 
earlier or later than expected, a 
short-term finance lease liability 
or prepayment is recognised 
respectively. 

Where the fair value of the lifecycle 
component is less than the amount 
determined in the contract, the 
difference is recognised as an 
expense when the replacement is 
provided. If the fair value is greater 
than the amount determined in the 
contract, the difference is treated 
as a “free” asset and a deferred 
income balance is recognised. The 
deferred income is released to the 
operating income over the shorter 
of the remaining contract period 
or the useful economic life of the 
replacement component.

Assets contributed by the Trust to 
the operator for use in the scheme

Assets contributed for use in the 
scheme continue to be recognised 
as items of property, plant and 
equipment in the trust’s statement 
of financial position. 

1.7 Intangible assets

Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary 
assets without physical substance 
which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the 
trust’s business or which arise from 
contractual or other legal rights. 
They are recognised only where it 
is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to, or service 

potential be provided to, the trust 
and where the cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible 
assets

Internally generated goodwill, 
brands, mastheads, publishing titles, 
customer lists and similar items are 
not capitalised as intangible assets.

Expenditure on research is not 
capitalised.

Expenditure on development is 
capitalised only where all of the 
following can be demonstrated:

•	 	the	project	is	technically	feasible	
to the point of completion and 
will result in an intangible asset 
for sale or use;

•	 	the	trust	intends	to	complete	the	
asset and sell or use it;

•	 		the	trust	has	the	ability	to	sell	or	
use the asset;

•	 		how	the	intangible	asset	will	
generate probable future 
economic or service delivery 
benefits eg the presence of a 
market for it or its output, or 
where it is to be used for internal 
use, the usefulness of the asset;

•	 	adequate	financial,	technical	
and other resources are available 
to the trust to complete the 
development and sell or use the 
asset; and

•	 		the	trust	can	measure	reliably	
the expenses attributable to the 
asset during development.

Software

Software which is integral to the 
operation of hardware eg an 
operating system, is capitalised 
as part of the relevant item of 
property, plant and equipment. 
Software which is not integral 
to the operation of hardware eg 
application software, is capitalised 
as an intangible asset.

Services received

The fair value of services received 
in the year is recorded under the 
relevant expenditure headings 
within “operating expenses”.

PFI asset

The PFI assets are recognised as 
property, plant and equipment, 
when they come into use. The 
assets are measured initially at 
fair value in accordance with the 
principles of IAS 17. Subsequently, 
the assets are measured at fair 
value, which is kept up to date 
in accordance with the Trust’s 
approach for each relevant class 
of asset in accordance with the 
principles of IAS 16.

PFI liability

A PFI liability is recognised at the 
same time as the PFI assets are 
recognised. It is measured initially at 
the same amount as the fair value 
of the PFI assets and is subsequently 
measured as a finance lease liability 
in accordance with IAS 17. 

An annual finance cost is calculated 
by applying the implicit interest 
rate in the lease to the opening 
lease liability for the period, and 
is charged to finance costs within 
the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

The element of the annual unitary 
payment that is allocated as a 
finance lease rental is applied to 
meet the annual finance cost and 
to repay the lease liability over the 
contract term. 

An element of the annual unitary 
payment increase due to cumulative 
indexation is allocated to the 
finance lease. In accordance with 
IAS 17, this amount is not included 
in the minimum lease payments, 
but is instead treated as contingent 
rent and is expensed as incurred. 
In substance, this amount is a 
finance cost in respect of the liability 
and the expense is presented 
as a contingent finance cost in 
the statement of comprehensive 
income.
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Measurement

Intangible assets are recognised 
initially at cost, comprising all 
directly attributable costs needed 
to create, produce and prepare the 
asset to the point that it is capable 
of operating in the manner intended 
by management.

Subsequently intangible assets are 
measured at fair value. Revaluation 
gains and losses and impairments 
are treated in the same manner as 
for property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount or “fair value less 
costs to sell”.

Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised over 
their expected useful economic lives 
in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service 
delivery benefits.

1.8 Revenue government and 
other grants

Government grants are grants from 
government bodies other than 
income from clinical commissioning 
groups or NHS trusts for the 
provision of services. Where a grant 
is used to fund revenue expenditure 
it is taken to the statement of 
comprehensive income to match 
that expenditure. 

1.9 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. 
The cost of inventories is measured 
using the “first in, first out” (FIFO) 
method. 

1.10 Financial instruments 
and financial liabilities

Recognition

Financial assets and financial 
liabilities which arise from contracts 
for the purchase or sale of non-
financial items (such as goods or 
services), which are entered into 
in accordance with the trust’s 
normal purchase, sale or usage 

requirements, are recognised 
when, and to the extent which, 
performance occurs ie when receipt 
or delivery of the goods or services 
is made.

Financial assets or financial liabilities 
in respect of assets acquired or 
disposed of through finance leases 
are recognised and measured in 
accordance with the accounting 
policy for leases described below.

All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are recognised 
when the trust becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

De-recognition

All financial assets are de-recognised 
when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the assets have expired 
or the trust has transferred 
substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised 
when the obligation is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.

Classification and 
measurement

Financial assets are categorised as 
“fair value through income and 
expenditure”, loans and receivables 
or “available-for-sale financial 
assets”.

Financial liabilities are classified as 
“fair value through income and 
expenditure” or as “other financial 
liabilities”.

Financial assets and 
financial liabilities at “fair 
value through income and 
expenditure”

Financial assets and financial 
liabilities at “fair value through 
income and expenditure” are 
financial assets or financial liabilities 
held for trading. A financial asset 
or financial liability is classified in 
this category if acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the 
short-term. Derivatives are also 
categorised as held for trading 
unless they are designated as 

hedges. Derivatives which are 
embedded in other contracts but 
which are not “closely-related” to 
those contracts are separated-out 
from those contracts and measured 
in this category.

Assets and liabilities in this category 
are classified as current assets and 
current liabilities.

These financial assets and financial 
liabilities are recognised initially 
at fair value, with transaction 
costs expensed in the income and 
expenditure account. Subsequent 
movements in the fair value are 
recognised as gains or losses in 
the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments with are 
not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets.

The trust’s loans and receivables 
comprise: cash and cash 
equivalents, NHS receivables, 
accrued income and “other 
receivables”.

Loans and receivables are 
recognised initially at fair value, 
net of transactions costs, and are 
measured subsequently at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts exactly 
estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the 
financial asset or, when appropriate, 
a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset.

Interest on loans and receivables 
is calculated using the effective 
interest method and credited to 
the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Available-for-sale financial 
assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 
are non-derivative financial assets 
which are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any 
of the other categories. They are 



110

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Annual accounts

included in long-term assets unless 
the trust intends to dispose of them 
within 12 months of the statement 
of financial position date. 

Available-for-sale financial assets 
are recognised initially at fair value 
including transaction costs and 
measured subsequently at fair value, 
with gains or losses recognised 
in reserves and reported in the 
statement of comprehensive income 
as an item of other comprehensive 
income. When items classified 
as available for sale are sold or 
impaired, the accumulated fair 
value adjustments recognised 
are transferred from reserves and 
recognised in finance costs in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Other financial liabilities

All other financial liabilities are 
recognised initially at fair value, net 
of transaction costs incurred, and 
measured subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts exactly 
estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the 
financial liability or, when appropriate, 
a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial liability. 

They are included in current 
liabilities except for amounts 
payable more than 12 months after 
the statement of financial position 
date, which are classified as long-
term liabilities. 

Interest on financial liabilities carried 
at amortised cost is calculated using 
the effective interest method and 
charged to finance costs. Interest 
on financial liabilities taken out 
to finance property, plant and 
equipment or intangible assets is 
not capitalised as part of the cost of 
those assets. 

Impairment of financial assets

At the statement of financial 
position date, the trust assesses 
whether any financial assets, 
other than those held at fair value 

through income and expenditure 
are impaired. Financial assets are 
impaired and impairment losses are 
recognised if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events 
which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which 
has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the asset. 

For financial assets carried at 
amortised cost, the amount of the 
impairment loss is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present 
value of the revised future cash 
flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The 
loss is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income and the 
carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced directly.  

1.11 Leases

Finance leases

Where substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership of a 
leased asset are borne by the 
NHS foundation trust, the asset 
is recorded as property, plant and 
equipment and a corresponding 
liability is recorded. The value 
at which both are recognised 
is the lower of the fair value of 
the asset or the present value of 
the minimum lease payments, 
discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. 

The asset and liability are recognised 
at the commencement of the lease. 
Thereafter the asset is accounted 
for as an item of property plant and 
equipment. 

The annual rental is split between 
the repayment of the liability and 
a finance cost so as to achieve a 
constant rate of finance over the 
life of the lease. The annual finance 
cost is charged to finance costs in 
the statement of comprehensive 
income. The lease liability is de-
recognised when the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 

Operating leases

Other leases are regarded as 
operating leases and the rentals are 
charged to operating expenses on a 
straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Operating lease incentives 
received are added to the lease 
rentals and charged to operating 
expenses over the life of the lease. 

Leases of land and buildings

Where a lease is for land and 
buildings, the land component 
is separated from the building 
component and the classification for 
each is assessed separately. 

1.12 Provisions

The NHS foundation trust recognises 
a provision where it has a present 
legal or constructive obligation of 
uncertain timing or amount; for 
which it is probable that there will 
be a future outflow of cash or other 
resources; and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount. The 
amount recognised in the statement 
of financial position is the best 
estimate of the resources required 
to settle the obligation. Where the 
effect of the time value of money 
is significant, the estimated risk-
adjusted cash flows are discounted 
using the discount rates published 
and mandated by HM Treasury. 

Clinical negligence costs

The NHS Litigation Authority 
(NHSLA) operates a risk pooling 
scheme under which the NHS 
foundation trust pays an annual 
contribution to the NHSLA, 
which, in return, settles all clinical 
negligence claims. Although 
the NHSLA is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence 
cases, the legal liability remains 
with the NHS foundation trust. The 
total value of clinical negligence 
provisions carried by the NHSLA on 
behalf of the NHS foundation trust 
is disclosed at note 24 but is not 
recognised in the NHS foundation 
trust’s accounts. 
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Non-clinical risk pooling

The NHS foundation trust 
participates in the property expenses 
scheme and the liabilities to third 
parties scheme. Both are risk 
pooling schemes under which the 
trust pays an annual contribution 
to the NHS Litigation Authority and 
in return receives assistance with 
the costs of claims arising. The 
annual membership contributions 
and any excesses payable in respect 
of particular claims are charged 
to operating expenses when the 
liability arises.  

1.13 Contingencies

Contingent assets (that is, assets 
arising from past events whose 
existence will only be confirmed 
by one or more future events not 
wholly within the entity’s control) 
are not recognised as assets, but are 
disclosed in note 25 where an inflow 
of economic benefits is probable. 

Contingent liabilities are not 
recognised, but are disclosed in 
note 25, unless the probability of 
a transfer of economic benefits is 
remote. Contingent liabilities are 
defined as: 

•	 	possible	obligations	arising	from	
past events whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly 
within the entity’s control; or

•	 	present	obligations	arising	from	
past events but for which it is 
not probable that a transfer of 
economic benefits will arise or 
for which the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured 
with sufficient reliability.

1.14 Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is 
a type of public sector equity 
finance based on the excess of 
assets over liabilities at the time of 
establishment of the predecessor 

NHS trust. HM Treasury has 
determined that PDC is not a 
financial instrument within the 
meaning of IAS 32. 

A charge reflecting the cost 
of capital utilised by the NHS 
foundation trust is payable as 
public dividend capital dividend. 
The charge is calculated at the 
rate set by HM Treasury (currently 
3.5%) on the average relevant net 
assets of the NHS foundation trust 
during the financial year. Relevant 
net assets are calculated as the 
value of all assets less the value of 
all liabilities, except for (i) donated 
assets (including lottery-funded 
assets), (ii) average daily cash 
balances held with the Government 
Banking Services (GBS) and National 
Loan Fund (NLF) deposits, excluding 
cash balances held in GBS accounts 
that relate to a short-term working 
capital facility, and (iii) for 2013/14 
only, net assets and liabilities 
transferred from bodies which 
ceased to exist on 1 April 2013, 
and (iv) any PDC dividend balance 
receivable or payable. In accordance 
with the requirements laid down 
by the Department of Health (as 
the issuer of PDC), the dividend for 
the year is calculated on the actual 
average relevant net assets as set 
out in the pre-audit version of the 
annual accounts. The dividend thus 
calculated is not revised should any 
adjustment to net assets occur as 
a result of the audit of the annual 
accounts.  

1.15 Value added tax

Most of the activities of the NHS 
foundation trust are outside the 
scope of VAT and, in general, 
output tax does not apply and input 
tax on purchases is not recoverable. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the 
relevant expenditure category or 
included in the capitalised purchase 
cost of fixed assets. Where output 
tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated 
net of VAT. 

1.16 Corporation tax

NHS foundation trusts can be 
subject to corporation tax in respect 
of certain commercial non-core 
healthcare activities they undertake 
in relation to the Finance Act 2004 
amended S519A Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988. The 
trust does not undertake any non-
core healthcare activities which are 
subject to corporation tax, therefore 
does not have a corporation tax 
liability.  

1.17 Foreign exchange

The functional and presentational 
currencies of the trust are sterling.

A transaction which is denominated 
in a foreign currency is translated 
into the functional currency at the 
spot exchange rate on the date of 
the transaction.

Where the trust has assets or 
liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency at the statement of 
financial position date:

•	 	monetary	items	(other	than	
financial instruments measured 
at ‘fair value through income 
and expenditure’) are translated 
at the spot exchange rate on 31 
March;

•	 	non-monetary	assets	and	
liabilities measured at historical 
cost are translated using the spot 
exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction; and

•	 	non-monetary	assets	and	
liabilities measured at fair value 
are translated using the spot 
exchange rate at the date the 
fair value was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on 
monetary items (arising on 
settlement of the transaction or 
on re-translation at the statement 
of financial position date) are 
recognised in income or expense in 
the period in which they arise. 
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Exchange gains or losses on non-
monetary assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the same manner 
as other gains and losses on these 
items.  

1.18 Third party assets

Assets belonging to third parties 
(such as money held on behalf of 
patients) are not recognised in the 
accounts since the NHS foundation 
trust has no beneficial interest in 
them. However, they are disclosed 
in a separate note to the accounts 
in accordance with the requirements 
of HM Treasury’s FReM.  

1.19 Losses and special 
payments

Losses and special payments are 
items that parliament would not 
have contemplated when it agreed 
funds for the health service or 
passed legislation. By their nature 
they are items that ideally should 
not arise. They are therefore subject 
to special control procedures 
compared with the generality 
of payments. They are divided 
into different categories, which 
govern the way that individual 
cases are handled. Losses and 
special payments are charged to 
the relevant functional headings in 
expenditure on an accruals basis, 
including losses which would 
have been made good through 
insurance cover had NHS trusts 
not been bearing their own risks 
(with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue 
expenditure). 

However the losses and special 
payments note is compiled directly 
from the losses and compensations 
register which reports on an 
accrual basis with the exception of 
provisions for future losses. 

1.20 Transfers of functions to/
from other NHS bodies and/
or local government bodies

For functions that have been 
transferred to the trust from another 
NHS and/or local government body, 
the assets and liabilities transferred 
are recognised in the accounts as 
at the date of transfer. The assets 
and liabilities are not adjusted to fair 
value prior to recognition. The net 
gain or loss corresponding to the 
net assets and liabilities transferred 
is recognised within income or 
expenses, but not within operating 
activities. 

For property plant and equipment 
assets and intangible assets, the 
cost and accumulated depreciation/
amortisation balances from the 
transferring entity’s accounts are 
preserved on recognition in the 
receiving entity’s accounts. Where 
the transferring body recognised 
revaluation reserve balances 
attributable to the assets, the 
receiving entity makes a transfer 
from its income and expenditure 
reserve to its revaluation reserve to 
maintain transparency within public 
sector accounts.

For functions that the trust has 
transferred to another NHS or 
local government body, the assets 
and liabilities transferred are de-
recognised from the accounts as 
at the date of transfer. The net loss 
or gain corresponding to the net 
assets and liabilities transferred 
is recognised within expenses or 
income, but not within operating 
activities. Any revaluation reserve 
balances attributable to assets de-
recognised are transferred to the 
income and expenditure reserve.  

1.21 Cash and cash 
equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits 
with any financial institution 
repayable without penalty on notice 
of not more than 24 hours. Cash 
equivalents are investments that 
mature in three months or less from 
the date of acquisition and that 
are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value. 

1.22 Research and 
development

Research and development 
expenditure is charged against 
income in the year in which it 
is incurred, except insofar as 
development expenditure relates 
to a clearly defined project and the 
benefits of it can reasonably be 
regarded as assured. Expenditure 
so deferred is limited to the value 
of future benefits expected and is 
amortised through the statement 
of comprehensive income on a 
systematic basis over the period 
expected to benefit from the 
project. It should be revalued 
on the basis of current cost. The 
amortisation is calculated on the 
same basis as depreciation on a 
quarterly basis. 

1.23 Critical judgements and 
key sources of uncertainty

The following are the critical 
judgements and key assumptions 
or estimates that management has 
made in the process of applying 
the trust’s accounting policies and 
that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the 
accounts. 
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Valuation of land and 
buildings

The trust’s land and building assets 
are valued on the basis explained 
in note 1.6 and note 10 to the 
accounts. Montagu Evans provided 
the trust with a valuation of land 
and building assets (estimated fair 
value and remaining useful life). 
The valuation, based on estimates 
provided by a suitably qualified 
professional in accordance with 
HM Treasury guidance, leads 
to revaluation adjustments as 
described in notes 11 and 12 to the 
accounts. Future revaluations of the 
trust’s property may result in further 
changes to the carrying values of 
non-current assets. 

Provisions

Provisions have been made for legal 
and constructive obligations of 
uncertain timing or amount as at 
the reporting date. These are based 
on estimates using relevant and 
reliable information as is available at 
the time the accounts are prepared. 
These provisions are estimates of 
the actual costs of future cash 
flows and are dependent on future 
events. Any difference between 
expectations and the actual future 
liability will be accounted for in the 
period when such determination is 
made. The carrying amounts and 
basis of the trust’s provisions are 
detailed in note 24 to the accounts. 

1.23 Critical judgements and 
key sources of uncertainty

Impairment of receivables

The trust impairs different categories 
of receivables at rates determined 
by the age of the debt. Additionally 
specific receivables are impaired 
where the trust deems it will not 
be able to collect the amounts due. 
Amounts impaired are disclosed in 
note 16 to the accounts. 

Consolidation of charitable 
funds

The trust has assessed its 
relationship to the charitable fund 
and determined that it is not a 
subsidiary. This is because the 
trust has no power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of 
the charitable fund so as to obtain 
the benefits from its activities for 
itself, its patients or its staff. 

1.24 Operating segments

The chief operating decision maker 
of the organisation has been 
determined as the trust board, 
which receives financial information 
for the organisation as a whole 
entity. Accordingly, no segmental 
information is provided in these 
accounts.  

1.25 Accounting standards 
that have been issued but 
have not yet been adopted

The HM Treasury FReM does not 
require the following standards 
and interpretations to be applied 
in 2014/15. The application of the 
standards as revised would not have 
a material impact on the accounts 
for 2014/15, were they applied in 
that year.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts 
with customers

IAS 36 (amendment) – recoverable 
amount disclosures

Annual improvements 2012

Annual improvements 2013

IAS 19 (amendment) – employer 
contributions to defined benefit 
pension schemes

IFRIC 21 Levies
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   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
2.1 Income from activities (by type)     
NHS foundation trusts    105   - 
NHS trusts    81   - 
CCGs and NHS England    727,715   476,556 
Local authorities    4,581   3,424 
Department of Health other    92   - 
NHS other    5,532   4,888 
Non-NHS: private patients     22,867   20,362 
Non-NHS: overseas patients (non-reciprocal)     1,063   488 
NHS injury scheme     1,512   602 
Non-NHS: other    638   119 
    764,186   506,439 
     
2.2 Income from activities (by classification)     
    Restated
   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
     
Elective income    93,992   58,404 
Non-elective income    126,074   69,531 
Outpatient income    108,557   63,576 
A&E income    24,010   11,320 
Other NHS clinical income    385,473   282,037 
Non-NHS: private patient income    22,867   20,362 
Non-NHS: other clinical income    3,213   1,209 
    764,186   506,439 
     
   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
2.3 Other operating income     
Research and development     7,535   7,421 
Education and training     42,110   32,969 
Received from NHS charities: other charitable and other contributions to expenditure 554   762 
Received from other bodies: receipt of donations for capital acquisitions     -   408 
Non-patient care services to other bodies     7,221   4,839 
Rental revenue from operating leases: minimum lease receipts    1,558   1,616 
Other    43,360   39,287 
Total other operating revenue    102,338   87,302 

Other income of £43,360k (2013/14: £39,287k) includes the sale of goods, monies received in respect of transitional 
relief, income disputes resolved in the year, distinction awards, UCL Medical School service level agreement, testing 
support income, car parking income and other balances.

2. Operating income
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2.4 Income from activities arising from commissioner requested services and all other services

    
 
Under the terms of its provider licence, the trust is required to analyse the level of income from activities that has 
arisen from commissioner requested and non-commissioner requested services. Commissioner requested services are 
defined in the provider licence and are services that commissioners believe would need to be protected in the event 
of provider failure.  
    
 
   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
    
 
Income from commissioner requested services    706,836  467,804 
Income from services not designated as commissioner requested services    57,350   38,635 
    764,186   506,439 
    
 
The trust has not disposed of land and buildings assets used in the provision of commissioner requested services 
during the year ending 31 March 2015 nor the year ending 31 March 2014.
    
 
2.5 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the NHS foundation trust)

   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
    
 
Income recognised this year    1,063   488 
Cash payments received in-year    465   385 
Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables    590   113 
Amounts written off in-year    272   251 
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   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
   
Services from NHS foundation trusts     5,298   3,673 
Services from NHS trusts     8,967   6,801 
Services from CCGs and NHS England    84   89 
Services from other NHS bodies     3,140   225 
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies    14,927   12,141 
Employee benefits: executive directors    1,187   1,071 
Employee benefits: non-executive directors    155   137 
Employee benefits: staff    451,282   277,977 
Supplies and services: clinical (excluding drug costs)    73,224   45,559 
Supplies and services: general     14,441   7,742 
Establishment     6,639   3,431 
Research and development (not included in employee benefits note)    1,092   1,561 
Research and development (included in employee benefits note)    5,914   4,558 
Transport     8,437   7,157 
Premises     29,458   14,806 
Increase/(decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables    25,416   4,800 
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions    470   688 
Change in provisions discount rates    299   - 
Inventories written down     49   45 
Drugs costs    186,549   149,491 
Rentals under operating leases: minimum lease payments    1,682   1,868 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment    23,290   15,453 
Amortisation on intangible assets   2,139   1,642 
Impairments of property, plant and equipment    4,648   30,059 
Audit fees payable to the external auditor: statutory audit    176   123 
Audit fees payable to the external auditor: corporate finance transaction services    -   118 
Clinical negligence    11,408   5,725 
Loss on disposal of intangible fixed assets     1,581   - 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    737   - 
Legal fees    1,345   798 
Consultancy costs    5,311   5,998 
Training, courses and conferences    2,665   1,550 
Patient travel    270   368 
Car parking and security    426   72 
Redundancy (included in employee expenses)    650   208 
Early retirements (not included in employee expenses)    1,144   69 
Hospitality     149   104 
Insurance    761   538 
Other    13,561   1,207 
    908,971   607,852 

Limitation on auditor’s liability   
The engagement letter signed on 30 January 2015 states that the liability of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, its 
members, partners and staff (whether in contract, negligence or otherwise) shall in no circumstances exceed 
£1,000k (2013/14: £1,000k), in the aggregate in respect of all services.

3. Operating expenses
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4.1 As lessee     

The operating lease payments recognised in expenses principally include the energy centre and imaging equipment 
contracts. The energy centre contract is for 15 years with no option to extend and no option to purchase the 
machinery. The equipment remains the property of the contractors for the period and also on contract expiry. 
The imaging equipment contract is for seven years; there is currently no plan to extend the lease or purchase the 
equipment at the end of the lease period.

   2014/15
  Total Buildings Other
  £000 £000 £000
Payments recognised as an expense      
Minimum lease payments   1,682   72   1,610 
Total   1,682   72   1,610 
      
Payable:      
No later than one year   1,630   42   1,588 
Between one and five years   4,237   -   4,237 
After five years   4,035   -   4,035 
Total   9,902   42   9,860 
     
   2013/14
  Total Buildings Other
  £000 £000 £000
Payments recognised as an expense      
Minimum lease payments   1,868   72   1,796 
Total   1,868   72   1,796 
      
Payable:      
No later than one year   1,673   72   1,601 
Between one and five years   4,912   42   4,870 
After five years   4,795   -   4,795 
Total   11,380   114   11,266 
 

4.2 As lessor
 Operating lease income of £1,558k (2013/14: £1,616k) arises principally to leasing parts of the trust’s buildings.
  
    2014/15 2013/14
    £000 £000
Future minimum lease receipts due      
No later than one year    1,547  1,317 
Between one and five years    4,734  3,621 
After five years    901  198 
Total    7,182  5,136 

4. Operating leases 
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   2014/15
   Permanently  
  Total employed  Other
  £000 £000  £000
Employee benefits: gross expenditure     
Salaries and wages  356,794  323,076   33,718 
Social security costs  29,810  27,808   2,002 
Employer contributions to NHS pensions scheme  40,694   39,375   1,319 
Agency/contract staff  37,168   -   37,168 
Total gross employee benefits  464,466   390,259   74,207 
      
Costs capitalised as part of assets  (5,433) (1,959)   (3,474)
Total employee benefits excluding capitalised costs  459,033  388,300   70,733 

   2013/14
   Permanently
  Total employed Other
  £000 £000 £000
Employee benefits: gross expenditure     
Salaries and wages  228,514   207,157   21,357 
Social security costs  19,249   17,960   1,289 
Employer contributions to NHS pensions scheme  26,718   25,598   1,120 
Agency/contract staff  11,964   -   11,964 
Total gross employee benefits  286,445  250,715   35,730 
      
Costs capitalised as part of assets  (2,562)  (2,546)  (16)
Total employee benefits excluding capitalised costs  283,883  248,169   35,714 

5.2 Directors emoluments    2014/15
    Employers 
    pension Employers NI
 Total Remuneration  contributions contributions
 £000 £000  £000 £000
Executive directors 1,187   935   131  121 
Non-executive directors  155  130    -   25 
TOTAL  1,342  1,065    131   146 
       
    2013/14 
    Employers
 Total Remuneration   pension  Employers NI
    contributions contributions  
 £000 £000  £000 £000
Executive directors 1,071   857   111   103 
Non-executive directors  137  127    -   10 
TOTAL  1,208   984   111   113 

5. Employee benefits and staff numbers

5.1 Employee benefits
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5.3 Staff numbers

   2014/15
   Permanently 
  Total employed Other
  Number Number Number
Average staff numbers     
Medical and dental  1,478   621   857 
Administration and estates   1,915  1,833   82 
Healthcare assistants and other support staff  1,383   1,326   57 
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff  2,751   2,695   56 
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners   29   10   19 
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff  1,183   1,118   65 
Bank and agency staff  1,410   -   1,410 
TOTAL  10,149   7,603   2,546 
      
Of the above: staff engaged on capital projects  75   31   44 
     
   2013/14
   Permanently 
  Total employed Other
  Number Number Number
Average staff numbers     
Medical and dental  824   305   519 
Administration and estates  1,142   1,030   112 
Healthcare assistants and other support staff  786   760   26 
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff  1,487   1,452   35 
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners  4   -   4 
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff  770   732   38 
Bank and agency staff  718   -   718 
TOTAL  5,731   4,279   1,452 
      
Of the above: staff engaged on capital projects   31   14   17 

5.4 Staff sickness absence
   2014/15 2013/14
   Number Number
   
Total days lost   67,192   39,414 
Total staff years (full time equivalent)   8,615  5,013 
Average working days lost   7.8  7.9 

5.5 Ill-health retirements
 2014-15 2013-14
 £000 Number £000 Number
Early retirements due to ill health     121  2  69  3 

This note discloses the number and additional pension costs for individuals who retired early on ill-health grounds 
during the year. This information has been supplied by NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.
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5.6.2 Non-compulsory departure payments 
 2014/15 2013/14
  Total value of   Total value of  
 Agreements agreements Agreements agreements
 Number £000 Number £000
 
Contractual payments in lieu of notice 9  47  10   79 
Total 9  47  10   79 
Of which: non-contractual payments made  
to individuals where the payment value was  
more than 12 months of their annual salary     -      -      - - 

5.6 Exit packages    
   
The disclosures reports the number and value of exit packages taken by staff leaving in the year. The expense 
associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous period.  
   
5.6.1 Staff exit packages       
   

2014/15 2014/13

Exit package cost 
band (including any 
special payment 
element)

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number 
of other 

departures

Total 
number 

of exit 
packages by 

cost band

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number 
of other 

departures

Total 
number 

of exit 
packages by 

cost band

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Less than £10,000 5 6 11 5 7 12 

£10,001-£25,000 2 3 5 2 3 5 

£25,001-£50,000 7 - 7 4 - 4 

£50,001-£100,000 1 - 1 - - -

£100,001-£150,000 2 - 2 - - -

Total number of exit 
packages by type 
(total cost)

17 9 26 11 10 21 

Total resource cost 
(£000)

650 47 697 209 79 288 

 
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS scheme. Exit 
costs in this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the trust has agreed early retirements, the 
additional costs are met by the trust and not by the NHS pensions scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the 
NHS pensions scheme and are not included in the table.    
    
   
This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages taken by staff leaving in the year. Note: the expense 

associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous period.  
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5.7 Pension costs

Past and present employees are 
covered by the provisions of the 
NHS pensions scheme. Details of 
the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS 
pensions website at www.nhsbsa.
nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme 
that covers NHS employers, GP 
practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary 
of State, in England and Wales. The 
scheme is not designed to be run 
in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of 
the underlying scheme assets and 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to 
the NHS body of participating in 
the scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to the scheme 
for the accounting period.

The trust expects its employer 
contributions in 2015/16 to be 
approximately £45,100k.

In order that the defined benefit 
obligations recognised in the 
accounts do not differ materially 
from those that would be 
determined at the reporting date 
by a formal actuarial valuation, the 
FReM requires that “the period 
between formal valuations shall 
be four years, with approximate 
assessments in intervening years”. 
An outline of these follows:

a) Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability 
is carried out annually by the 
scheme actuary as at the end of 
the reporting period. This utilises an 
actuarial assessment for the previous 
accounting period in conjunction 
with updated membership and 
financial data for the current 
reporting period, and are accepted 
as providing suitably robust figures 
for financial reporting purposes. 
The valuation of the scheme liability 
as at 31 March 2015, is based on 

valuation data as 31 March 2014, 
updated to 31 March 2015 with 
summary global member and 
accounting data. In undertaking 
this actuarial assessment, the 
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, 
relevant FReM interpretations, and 
the discount rate prescribed by HM 
Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the 
liabilities of the scheme is contained 
in the scheme actuary report, 
which forms part of the annual 
NHS pension scheme (England and 
Wales) pension accounts, published 
annually. These accounts can 
be viewed on the NHS pensions 
website. Copies can also be 
obtained from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) 
valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to 
assess the level of liability in respect 
of the benefits due under the scheme 
(taking into account its recent 
demographic experience), and to 
recommend the contribution rates. 

The last published actuarial 
valuation undertaken for the NHS 
pension scheme was completed for 
the year ending 31 March 2012.

The scheme regulations allow 
contribution rates to be set by 
the Secretary of State for Health, 
with the consent of HM Treasury, 
and consideration of the advice 
of the scheme actuary and 
appropriate employee and employer 
representatives as deemed appropriate.

c) Scheme provisions 

The NHS pension scheme provided 
defined benefits, which are 
summarised below. This list is an 
illustrative guide only, and is not 
intended to detail all the benefits 
provided by the scheme or the specific 
conditions that must be met before 
these benefits can be obtained:

The scheme is a “final salary” 
scheme. Annual pensions are 
normally based on 1/80th for the 
1995 section and of the best of the 
last three years pensionable pay for 
each year of service, and 1/60th for 
the 2008 section of reckonable pay 
per year of membership. Members 
who are practitioners as defined 
by the scheme regulations have 
their annual pensions based upon 
total pensionable earnings over the 
relevant pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 
members can choose to give up 
some of their annual pension for an 
additional tax free lump sum, up to a 
maximum amount permitted under 
HMRC rules. This new provision is 
known as “pension commutation”.

Annual increases are applied to 
pension payments at rates defined by 
the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and 
are based on changes in retail prices 
in the twelve months ending 30 
September in the previous calendar 
year. From 2011/12 the Consumer 
Price Index (CPI) has been used and 
replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with 
enhancement, is available to 
members of the scheme who are 
permanently incapable of fulfilling 
their duties effectively through 
illness or infirmity. A death gratuity 
of twice final year’s pensionable pay 
for death in service, and five times 
their annual pension for death after 
retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than 
those due to ill health the additional 
pension liabilities are not funded by 
the scheme. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is 
charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional 
service in the NHS scheme and 
contribute to money purchase 
AVC’s run by the scheme’s approved 
providers or by other free standing 
additional voluntary contributions 
(FSAVC) providers.
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6. Better payment practice code

Measure of compliance    2014/15   2013/14
 Number £000  Number £000
Non-NHS payables 
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 174,005  448,253  79,765   292,103 
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target  149,969  353,819   55,553   221,837 
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 86.19% 78.93% 69.65% 75.94%

 
NHS payables      
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year  5,125  52,236   2,264   35,814 
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target  3,205  37,843  1,571   31,911 
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 62.54% 72.45% 69.39% 89.10%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days 
of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 

   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
    
Bank interest   290  212 
Total investment income   290  212 

7. Investment income

   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
Interest expense    
Loans from the Independent Trust Financing Facility    821   11 
Finance leases    1,066   1,058 
Finance costs on PFI scheme obligations   2,427   -  
Other   -    4 
Sub-total   4,314  1,073 
Provisions: unwinding of discount   80  22 
Total    4,394  1,095

8. Finance costs

9. Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

During the year the trust board declared the land and buildings at its Elmbank site as surplus to requirements. This is 
because the site has been vacant for a number of years whilst part of the former Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust.   

The sale of the site completed on 31 March 2015 and gave rise to a profit on disposal of £11,051k. As no services 
were provided from this site and due to its material nature, the trust has reported this directly on the face of the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
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  Total  Software Development
   purchased expenditure  
  £000  £000 £000
Cost or valuation     
At 1 April 2014   7,004  584   6,420 
Transfers by absorption (note 32)   583   583   -  
Reclassifications    6,073   1,251   4,822 
Disposals    (5,215)  -    (5,215)
At 31 March 2015   8,445   2,418   6,027 
     
Amortisation     
At 1 April 2014   2,329   151   2,178 
Transfers by absorption (note 32)   393   393   -  
Provided during the year    2,139   171   1,968 
Disposals    (3,634)  -    (3,634)
At 31 March 2015   1,227   715   512 
     
Net book value at 31 March 2015   7,218   1,703   5,515 
     
Net book value at 31 March 2015 comprises:     
Purchased   7,218   1,703   5,515 
Total at 31 March 2015   7,218   1,703   5,515 

 
  Total   Software Development
   purchased expenditure
  £000  £000 £000
Cost or valuation     
At 1 April 2013   5,341   273   5,068 
Reclassifications    1,713   311   1,402 
Disposals    (50)  -    (50)
At 31 March 2014   7,004   584   6,420 
     
Amortisation     
At 1 April 2013   737   37   700 
Provided during the year    1,642   114   1,528 
Disposals    (50)  -    (50)
At 31 March 2014   2,329   151   2,178 
     
Net book value at 31 March 2014   4,675   433   4,242 
     
Net book value at 31 March 2014 comprises:     
Purchased   4,675   433   4,242 
Total at 31 March 2014   4,675   433   4,242 
 
All intangible assets have finite lives and as such are amortised on a straight line basis over their useful economic life. The 
useful life is reviewed at each annual reporting date. The trust’s intangible assets have not been revalued at 31 March 2015 
or 31 March 2014 as they are considered unique. As such there is no revaluation reserve relating to intangible assets. 

Intangible assets are amortised over the following periods: 
  Min. life years  Max. life Years
Software purchased  3   10 
Development expenditure  3   5  

10. Intangible non-current assets
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued)   

   

During the year no assets were donated to the trust (2013/14: £21k).

A valuation exercise was carried out on the trust’s land and buildings by Montagu Evans. The purpose of this exercise 
was to determine a fair value for those assets as at 31 March 2015 (2013/14: full valuation by Montagu Evans).

The valuation was undertaken having regard to International Financial Reporting Standards as applied to the United 
Kingdom public sector and in accordance with HM Treasury guidance, International Valuation Standards and the 
requirements of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Standards 8th Edition.  

Fair value is defined as “the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.”  Fair values are determined as follows:

•	 For	non-specialised	operational	assets,	this	equates	in	practice	to	existing	use	value	(EUV),	as	defined	below.

•	 	For	specialised	operational	assets,	if	there	is	no	market-based	evidence	of	fair	value	because	of	the	specialised	
nature of the property and the item is rarely sold, except as part of a continuing business, fair value is estimated 
using a depreciated replacement cost approach subject to the assumption of continuing use.  

The basis used for the valuation of non-specialised operational owner-occupied property for financial accounting 
purposes under IAS 16 is fair value, which is the market value subject to the assumption that the property is sold 
as part of the continuing enterprise in occupation. This can be equated with EUV, which is defined in the RICS 
Standards at UKVS 1.3 as:

“The estimated amount for which an asset should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a 
willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing and where the parties had acted knowledgeably, 
prudently and without compulsion – assuming that the buyer is granted vacant possession of all parts of the asset 
required by the business, and disregarding potential alternative uses and any other characteristics of the asset that 
would cause its market value to differ from that needed to replace the remaining service potential at least cost.”

Where a non-specialised operational property is valued to fair value reflecting the market value assuming 
continuance of existing use, the total value has been apportioned between the residual amount (the land) and the 
depreciable amount (the building).

Depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is the valuation approach adopted for reporting the value of specialised 
operational property for financial accounting purposes. RICS GN 6, entitled “depreciated replacement cost method 
of valuation for financial reporting”, at para 2.3 defines DRC as:

“The current cost of replacing an asset with its modern equivalent asset less deductions for physical deterioration 
and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.”

Those buildings which qualify as specialised operational assets, and therefore fall to be assessed using the 
depreciated replacement cost approach, have been valued on a modern equivalent asset basis.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over the following periods:   

          Min. life Max. life 
          Years  Years

Buildings excluding dwellings         4    95 

Dwellings           4    95 

Assets under construction and payments on account     3    20 

Plant & machinery         5    20 

Transport equipment         7    7 

Information technology         3    5 

Furniture & fittings         7    7 
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  2014/15 2013/14
  Property, plant  Property, plant
  and equipment and equipment
  £000 £000
   
Abandonment of assets under construction  -  516 
Changes in market price  4,648  29,543
Impairments charged to operating surplus  4,648  30,059

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve  6,602  24,981
Total impairments  11,250  55,040
   
Impairments charged to operating surplus, of which:   
Department expenditure limits  -  516 
Annually managed expenditure  4,648 29,543
  4,648  30,059

The impairments recognised above arise as a result of the revaluation exercise undertaken in the year, as 
described in note 11.

12. Analysis of impairments and reversals

Capital commitments     

Contracted capital commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements:    
 
   31 March 31 March
   2015 2014
   £000 £000
   
Property, plant and equipment   14,385  8,551 
Total   14,385  8,551 

13. Commitments
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 Total Drugs Consumables Energy
 £000 £000 £000 £000
      
Balance at 1 April 2014  5,674   3,890   1,608   176 
Transfers by absorption (note 32)  3,426   1,391   1,942   93 
Additions  174,857   174,722   104   31 
Inventories recognised as an expense  (174,286)  (174,091)  (169)  (26)
Write-down of inventories (including losses)  (49)  (49)  -    -  
Balance at 31 March 2015  9,622   5,863   3,485   274 
      
 
 Total Drugs Consumables Energy
 £000 £000 £000 £000
      
Balance at 1 April 2013  6,141   4,292   1,656   193 
Additions  134,034   134,034   -    -  
Inventories recognised as an expense  (134,456)  (134,391)  (48)  (17)
Write-down of inventories (including losses)  (45)  (45)  -    -  
Balance at 31 March 2014  5,674   3,890   1,608   176 
 

15. Inventories

14. Investments in joint arrangements       

       

Details of the trust’s investments in joint arrangements are as follows.      
    

UCLPartners Limited           

The trust holds a 20% interest in UCLPartners Limited (“UCLP”), a company limited by guarantee in the UK, 
acquired by a guarantee of £1.        

The company’s costs are funded by its partners who contribute to its running costs on an annual basis. The 
contributions paid by the trust are included within operating expenditure.     

The most recent available signed financial statements for UCLP have been prepared for the year ending 31 March 
2014; the reported assets, liabilities, revenues and profit/loss are not material to the trust.

Health Services Laboratories LLP (“HSL”)         
The trust holds a 24.5% equity stake in HSL LLP and is accounted for as a joint venture. The main purpose of the 
entity is to provide pathology services.       

The movements in investment values for these joint arrangements for the group and trust are as follows.  
   
 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

 £000 £000

Carrying value brought forward  -    -  
Acquisitions in year 2,252   -  
Carrying value carried forward 2,252   -  

On 1 April 2015 the trust made a further investment in HSL of £2,855k. This is to support the organisational startup 
and working capital requirements. All equity parties contributed additional funds for the same purpose as at this date.
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16. Trade and other receivables

  Current
   31 March  31 March
   2015 2014
   £000 £000
    
NHS receivables: revenue    78,310   40,477 
Receivables due from NHS charities: revenue    1,009   1,051 
Other receivables with related parties: revenue    196   102 
Provision for impaired receivables    (50,228)  (19,746)
Prepayments     7,097   3,540 
Accrued income     14,454   8,163 
Interest receivable    4   4 
PDC dividend receivable    215   814 
VAT receivable    2,474   1,763 
Other receivables: revenue    25,367  25,707 
Other receivables: capital    16,000   22 
Total    94,898   61,897 
 

    
 Non-current
   31 March  31 March 
   2015 2014
   £000 £000
      
Prepayments (excluding PFI)    873   -  
PFI prepayments    5,831   -  
Total    6,704   -  
      
 
The majority of trade is with clinical commissioning groups and NHS England, as commissioners for NHS patient  
care services. As these organisations are funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring  
of them is considered necessary.

16.2 Provision for impairment of receivables    

   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
      
 
Balance at 1 April    19,746   15,690 
Transfers by absorption (note 32)    7,418   -  
Increase in provision    25,416   4,800 
Amounts utilised    (2,352)  (744)
Balance at 31 March    50,228   19,746 
      
 The trust impairs receivables based on age and any specific details known.
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16.3 Analysis of impaired receivables   2014/15 2013/14
   £000 £000
Ageing of impaired receivables    
0-30 days    16,119   2,641 
30-60 days    2,819   1,797 
60-90 days    3,522   537 
90-180 days    6,495   651 
Over 180 days    21,273   14,120 
Total    50,228   19,746 

Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date     
0-30 days    6,775   10,765 
30-60 days    9,420   3,480 
60-90 days    8,582   2,096 
90-180 days    14,789   2,937 
Over 180 days    13,435   1,578 
Total    53,001   20,856 
 

   Land Total
   £000 £000
  
NBV of non-current assets for sale at 1 April 2014    3,500   3,500 
Plus assets classified as available for sale in the year    13,092   13,092 
NBV of non-current assets for sale at 31 March 2015    16,592   16,592 

NBV of non-current assets for sale at 1 April 2013     -    -  
Plus assets classified as available for sale in the year    3,500   3,500 
NBV of non-current assets for sale at 31 March 2014    3,500   3,500 

 Coppetts Wood Hospital was reclassified as held for sale as at 31 March 2014 as it was vacant and surplus to trust 
requirements. Despite significant interest, the trust has not yet reached agreement with third parties over the sale of the site. 
Due to ongoing negotiations it is expected to be sold in summer 2015.
     
Following the acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the trust has committed to the redevelopment of the 
Chase Farm Hospital site. As part of this vision the trust intends to dispose of segments of land on the site; these are set out 
in the outline business case for the redevelopment. During the year the trust board has therefore declared these land areas as 
surplus to requirements and they have consequently been reclassified as held for sale.

17. Non-current assets held for sale

   31 March 31 March
   2015 2014
   £000 £000
Opening balance    61,686   82,655 
Transfers by absorption (note 32)    809   -  
Net change in year    32,078   (20,969)
Closing balance    94,573   61,686 
     
Made up of:     
Cash with Government Banking Service    94,328   60,925 
Commercial banks    245   761 
Closing balance    94,573   61,686 

Patients’ money held by the trust, not included above    4   11 

18. Cash and cash equivalents
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    Current
   31 March 31 March
   2015 2014
   £000 £000
Receipts in advance    324   805 
NHS payables: revenue    13,730   10,252 
Amounts due to other related parties: revenue    99   -  
Other trade payables: capital    11,546   8,700 
Other trade payables: revenue    17,391   18,032 
Social security costs    4,997   2,952 
Other taxes payable     5,399   3,171 
Other payables    9,874   7,598 
Accruals    67,111   42,002 
Total    130,471   93,512 
    
    
    Non-current
   31 March 31 March 
   2015 2014
   £000 £000
   
Amounts due to other related parties: revenue    400  400 
Total        400  400  

19. Trade and other payables

    Current
   31 March 31 March
   2015 2014
   £000 £000
Deferred income    6,822   7,710 
Lease incentives    168   168 
Total    6,990   7,878 
     
              
                       Non-current   
   31 March 31 March
   2015 2014
   £000 £000
     
Lease incentives    4,106   4,274 
Total    4,106   4,274 

    
    
 

20. Other liabilities
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   Current
   31 March 2015 31 March 2014
   £000 £000

Loans from Independent Trust Financing Facility   1,578   -  
Obligations under finance leases    161   1 
Obligations under PFI contracts (excl. lifecycle)    988   -  
Total    2,727   1 
 
   Non-current
   31 March 2015 31 March 2014
   £000 £000

Loans from Independent Trust Financing Facility   28,422   20,000 
Obligations under finance leases    7,979   7,496 
Obligations under PFI contracts (excl. lifecycle)    36,590   -  
Total    72,991   27,496 
      
The trust has an unsecured loan of £30,000k (2013/14: £20,000k). The loan was taken out in two instalments, the 
first for £20,000k on 24 March 2014 and the second for £10,000k on 6 October 2014. The loan in its totality is for 
a 20-year term, from the date of the first tranche, at an interest rate of 2.96%. Repayments will commence on 18 
September 2015. 

19. Borrowings
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The trust has entered into two contracts to lease accommodation under finance leases, whereby the assets were 
made available for use and rental payments commenced on 1 April 2000 and 1 June 2005.
      
 
 31 March 2015 31 March 2014
 Minimum  Present value Minimum Present value
 lease of minimum  lease of minimum 
 payments lease payments payments lease payments

 £000 £000 £000 £000
Amounts payable under finance  
eases (buildings)     
 
Within one year  1,027   1  1,016   1 
Between one and five years  4,229   5  4,181   5 
After five years  27,037   7,541  28,113  7,491 
  32,293   7,547 33,310   7,497 
Less: future finance charges  (24,746)  -   (25,813)  -  
Present value of lease obligations  7,547   7,547  7,497   7,497 
       
The trust also holds finance leases for various miscellaneous equipment.

 31 March 2015 31 March 2014
 Minimum  Present value Minimum Present value
 lease of minimum  lease of minimum 
 payments lease payments payments lease payments

 £000 £000 £000 £000
Amounts payable under finance  
leases (other)     
  
Within one year  223  160  -   -  
Between one and five years  534  433  -   -  
After five years  -   -   -   -  
  757  593  -   -  
Less: future finance charges  (164) -   -   -  
Present value of lease obligations  593  593  -   -  

22. Finance lease obligations as lessee
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23. PFI arrangements

Barnet Hospital operates under a PFI arrangement with Metier Healthcare which began in February 1999 under 
a 33-year contract for the provision of a fully managed hospital. This is recognised in the statement of financial 
position and is included as part of the trust estate for the purposes of revaluation.

The land at Barnet Hospital remains the property of the trust during the contract period. The building transfers to 
the trust at the end of the contract period subject to payment of consideration.

The PFI contract is also responsible for the provision of managed technology services, non-clinical hotel services and 
equipment and building maintenance services at Barnet Hospital. These costs are recorded in operating expenses 
within the relevant expenditure headings.

23.1 PFI obligations (finance lease element)      

 

   31 March 2015 31 March 2014

 Minimum lease Present value of Minimum lease Present value of  
 payments minimum lease payments minimum lease

 £000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts payable under PFI obligations     
Within one year  5,333   988   -    -  
Between one and five years  21,332   5,386   -    -  
After five years  38,398   31,204   -    -  
  65,063   37,578   -    -  
Less: future finance charges  (27,485)  -    -    -  
Present value of lease obligations  37,578   37,578   -    -  

23.2 PFI commitments     

 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

 £000 £000

   
Charge in respect of the service element of the PFI arrangement for the year 12,919   -  

Commitments in respect of the service element of the PFI arrangement  
Within one year  16,116   -  
Between one and five years  64,464   -  
After five years  193,392   -  
  273,972   -  
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24. Provisions

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

Total Current Non-current Total Current Non-current

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Pensions relating to other 
staff

6,460 543 5,917 1,264 183 1,081

Legal claims 254 254 - 94 94 - 

Redundancy 3,194 3,194 - 4,239 4,239 - 

Other 6,029 5,522 507 5,364 5,226 138 

Total 15,937 9,513 6,424 10,961 9,742 1,219

 

Total Pensions 
relating to 
other staff

Legal  
claims

Redundancy Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 10,961 1,264 94 4,239 5,364

Transfers by absorption(note 32) 5,104 4,154 98 457 395

Change in the discount rate 299 279 - - 20

Arising during the year 2,506 1,143 110 564 689 

Utilised during the year: accruals (182)  (137) - -  (45)

Utilised during the year: cash (512)  (322) -  (190)  -

Reversed unused (2,319)  - (48)  (1,876)  (395)

Unwinding of discount 80 79 - - 1

Balance at 31 March 2015 15,937 6,460 254 3,194 6,029 

Expected timing of cashflows:

Within one year 9,513 543 254 3,194 5,522 

Between one and five years 2,356 2,172 - - 184 

After five years 4,068 3,745 - - 323 

15,937 6,460 254 3,194 6,029 

Balance at 1 April 2013 14,497 1,231 77 1,634 11,555

Arising during the year 3,543 197 17 2,741 588

Utilised during the year: accruals (57) (46) - - (11)

Utilised during the year: cash (4,401) (138) - (51) (4,212)

Reversed unused (2,643) (2) - (85) (2,556)

Unwinding of discount 22 22 - - -

Balance at 31 March 2014 10,961 1,264 94 4,239 5,364

Expected timing of cashflows:

Within one year 9,742 183 94 4,239 5,226

Between one and five years 870 732 - - 138

After five years 349 349 - - -

10,961 1,264 94 4,239 5,364
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Staff pensions are calculated using a formula supplied by the NHS Business Services Authority – Pensions Division. 
These pensions are the costs of early retirement of staff resulting from reorganisation.

Legal claims relate to an action against the trust which is not covered by the NHS Litigation Authority. IAS 37 allows 
for the non-disclosure of further information which may prejudice the outcome of litigation.  

Other provisions include sums held in respect of additional charges arising from provision of services, settlements of 
legal claims, dilapidations associated with leases and other contractual challenges. No further information has been 
disclosed as IAS 37 allows the withholding of information which may seriously prejudice the trust.  

Amount Included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority in respect of clinical negligence liabilities as at 31 
March 2015 are £119,657k (31 March 2014: £58,156k).

25. Contingencies
   31 March 2015  31 March 2014  
   £000 £000
Contingent liabilities  
Other (legal)    143   64 
Gross value of contingent liabilities    143   64 
Amounts recoverable against contingent liabilities    -    -  
Net value of contingent liabilities    143   64 

26. Financial instruments

26.1 Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the 
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the service provider 
relationship that the trust has with clinical commissioning groups and the way those organisations are financed, the 
NHS trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. In addition, financial instruments 
play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which 
the financial reporting standards mainly apply. Financial assets and liabilities are typically generated by day-to-day 
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the trust in undertaking its activities. The trust 
does not undertake speculative treasury transactions.

The trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors. Trust treasury 
activity is subject to review by the trust’s internal auditors.

Currency risk
The trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK 
and sterling based. The trust has no overseas operations. The trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

Interest rate risk
The trust borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability. The borrowings are for up to 25 
years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for 
the life of the loan. The trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Credit risk
Because the majority of the trust’s income comes from binding contracts with other public sector bodies, the trust 
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014 are in receivables 
from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

Liquidity risk
The trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with primary care trusts, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential 
borrowing limit. The trust is therefore not exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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26.2 Financial assets by category 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

 Loans and receivables Loans and receivables

 £000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets  84,950   55,780 
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand  94,573   61,686 

Total  179,523   117,466 

   
   
26.3 Financial liabilities by category 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

 Other  Other 

 £000 £000

Borrowings excluding finance lease and PFI liabilities  30,000   20,000 
Obligations under finance leases and PFI 45,718   7,497 
Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets  119,989   87,789 
Provisions under contract  3,746   4,457 

Total  199,453   119,743 

   
   
26.4 Maturity of financial liabilities 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

 £000 £000

In one year or less 130,407   91,730 
In more than one year but not more than two years  7,486   1,570 
In more than two years but not more than five years  24,152   4,212 
In more than five years 37,408   22,231 

Total 199,453  119,743 

   
   
26.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities  
 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is equal to their book value.

   
  

       

27. Related party transactions       

       

During the year none of the Department of Health ministers, trust board members or members of the key 
management staff, trust governors or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with 
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust.       

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year ending 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014 
the trust has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for 
which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. In addition, the trust has had a number of material 
transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies.  

Transactions with government bodies greater than 0.5% of trust income, together with all transactions for other 
related parties, are as follows:
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27. Related party transactions (continued)      
 

 Receipts from Payments to Amounts due Amounts owed 
 related party related party from related from related  
   party party

 £000 £000 £000 £000

2014/15    
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  4,637  3,612   1,871   3,706 
Barts Health NHS Trust  2,562   9,032   264   2,217 
NHS Barnet CCG  163,951   138   10,333   1,360 
NHS Brent CCG  17,194   -    3,176   329 
NHS Camden CCG  63,470   -    4,291   391 
NHS East And North Hertfordshire CCG  18,886   -    1,319   263 
NHS Enfield CCG  62,054   -    10,378   436 
NHS Haringey CCG  16,832   -    4,660   68 
NHS Harrow CCG  8,450   -    1,552   120 
NHS Herts Valleys CCG  37,536   -    5,258   251 
NHS Islington CCG  10,689   -    2,075   31 
NHS England   311,248   35   25,282   218 
Health Education England  39,516   1   246   -  
NHS Litigation Authority  -    12,041   -    24 
NHS Property Services  -    2,820   -    3,545 
Department of Health (excl. PDC dividends)  30,256   380   248   193 
HM Revenue & Customs  -    29,810   2,474    10,396 
NHS Pension Scheme   -    40,245   -    6,684 
UCL Partners Limited  323   199   84   99 
Royal Free Charity  646   1,031   1,009   -  
BMI Healthcare (Kings Oak)  768   -    112   -   
 

2013/14    
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  2,946   2,370   3,071   3,215 
Barnet And Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust  3,921   2,833   4,665   5,458 
Barts Health NHS Trust  1,977   10,880   111   1,574 
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust  10   3,246   42   448 
NHS Barnet CCG  69,966   27   1,643   405 
NHS Brent CCG  12,422   -    -    377 
NHS Camden CCG  62,853   -    5,345   321 
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG  3,480   -    1,108   -  
NHS East And North Hertfordshire CCG  4,437   -    139   -  
NHS Enfield CCG  10,833   -    409   -  
NHS Haringey CCG  13,056   -    488   -  
NHS Harrow CCG  3,998   -    390   -  
NHS Herts Valleys CCG  8,904   -    7   247 
NHS Islington CCG  9,628   -    817   -  
NHS England  253,566   62   13,934   603 
Health Education England  32,959   -    285   208 
NHS Litigation Authority  -    6,064   -    1 
NHS Trust Development Authority  3,753   -    3,755   -  
HM Revenue & Customs   -    -    1,763   3,171 
National Insurance Fund   -    19,249   -    2,952 
NHS Pension Scheme   -    26,718   -    3,843 
NHS Blood & Transplant  1,742   3,033   73   -  
UCL Partners Limited  268   100   102   -  
Royal Free Charity  762   1,145   1,051   -  
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28. Prudential borrowing limit       

       

The prudential borrowing code requirements in section 41 of the NHS Act 2006 have been repealed with effect 
from 1 April 2013 by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The annual accounts disclosures that were provided 
previously are no longer required.

       

       

29. Events after the end of the reporting period       

       

On 1 April 2015 the trust made a further investment in HSL of £2,855k. 

       

With the exception of the above, there have been no adjusting or non-adjusting events since the balance sheet date 
to the date of signing these accounts.

       

       

30. Losses and special payments       

       

     Total cases 2014/15  Total cases 2013/14

 Number £000 Number £000

     
Losses:     
Cash losses, incl. overpayment of salaries  11   11   13   10 

Fruitless payments and constructive losses  -    -    -    -  
Bad debts and claims abandoned   520   691   149   734 
Damage to buildings and property  6   51   2   48 
  537   753   164   792 

Special payments:    
Extra-contractual payments  -    -    -    -  
Extra-statutory and extra-regulatory payments  -    -    -    -  
Compensation payments  1   2   1   2 
Special severance payments  -    -    -    -  
Ex gratia payments  113   55   13   13 
  114   57   14   15 

     
Total losses and special payments  651   810   178   807 

     
 The amounts are reported on an accruals basis excluding provisions for future losses.   
 

There were no cases individually over £300k in the year (2013/14 greater than £250k: none).  
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31. Acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust 

 

On 1 July 2014 the trust acquired Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust. The vision is that the trust will be better 
placed to implement an integrated care strategy and managed care network with commissioners in the local area.

Further details of the acquisition and transaction agreement can be found on the NHS Trust Development Authority 
website: www.ntda.nhs.uk. 

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired as at the transaction date are as 
set out below. These are considered to be their fair value.

£000

Non-current assets: 
Property, plant and equipment  241,597 
Trade and other receivables  7,630 
Total non-current assets  249,227 

Current assets: 
Inventories  3,426 
Trade and other receivables  29,890 
Cash and cash equivalents  809 
Total current assets  34,125 

Total assets  283,352 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables  52,326 
Borrowings  6,392 
Provisions  1,310 
Total current liabilities  60,028 

Net current assets/(liabilities)  (25,903)

Non-current assets plus net current assets/(liabilities)  223,324 

Non-current liabilities 
Borrowings  32,885 
Provisions  3,794 
Total non-current liabilities  36,679 

Total assets employed:  186,645 

The trust paid no consideration for the assets and liabilities above. Absorption accounting has been applied for 
this transaction; this means that £186,645k has been recognised as a non-operating income in the statement of 
comprehensive income. The revaluation reserve and public dividend capital of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS 
Trust has been preserved by way of a transfer from the retained earnings in the statement of changes in taxpayers’ 
equity.

The trust received £41.2m in revenue funding during 2014/15. This funding was provided to the trust to meet those 
costs of integrating the two organisations, to support the development of transforming its clinical services and to 
cover the historic debt position of the acquiree.
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31. Acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust (continued)  

   

The following reports the income and expenditure recognisable by the trust: a) in respect of Barnet and Chase Farm 
Hospitals NHS Trust for the period since acquisition, and; b) for the combined trust for the year ended 31 March 
2015 assuming the acquisition had been as at 1 April 2014.

 Since 1 July 2014 As if combined  
  as at 1 April 2014

 £000 £000

Operating income from patient care activities  226,719   831,532 
Other operating income  16,803   108,550 
Exceptional operating income  -    41,210 
Total operating income  243,522   981,292 
Operating expenses  (266,133)  (1,001,937)
Operating surplus/(deficit)  (22,611)  (20,645) 
 

Investment income  6   297 
Finance costs  (2,483)  (5,222)
Gain on disposal of disposal of property, plant and equipment  11,051   11,051 
Public dividend capital dividends payable  (4,661)  (13,273)
Net finance costs  3,913   (7,147)

Gains arising from transfers by absorption  -    212,266 

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year  (18,698)  184,474 

Other comprehensive income/(expense)  

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:  
Impairments and reversals charged to the revaluation reserve  (6,602)  (14,133)
Revaluation credited to the revaluation reserve  990   11,956 
   
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year  (24,310)  182,297 

  
 

   

32. Transfers by absorption   

   

During the year the trust undertook two transactions where transfer by absorption has been applied.

  
£000

Acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust (note 31) 186,645 
Transfer of IT licences 190 
 186,835 

The transfer of IT licences is in respect of software licences to operate patient adminstration systems. These were 
transferred by the Department of Health with effect from 13 June 2014. The values transferred are disclosed in note 10.
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Meet Derek
Joined-up hip fracture service puts patients quickly back on 
their feet.

In February 2015 82-year-old Derek Martin tripped over his front doorstep and 
fractured his right hip. He was taken to the A&E at Barnet Hospital and within 
22 hours was undergoing elective surgery for a full hip replacement.

Derek was fast-tracked through the system as part of a joint effort by the Royal 
Free London’s fractured neck of femur service, which aims to get older patients 
suffering hip fractures back on their feet as soon as possible.

The initiative is a collaboration between orthopaedic surgeons, the orthogeriatric 
team, physiotherapists and occupational therapists, as well as doctors and 
nurses, from, from A&E, theatres and anaesthetics. The team aims to get 
elderly patients who arrive at the A&E at Barnet Hospital with a fractured femur 
admitted to a ward within four hours and into surgery within 36 hours of 
admission.

Derek said: “I was taken to Barnet Hospital A&E and in what felt like no time at 
all I was up on Beech ward. A surgeon came down that day to explain that the 
best course of action was to have a total hip replacement on my right side and 
told me that I could have the operation the next day. 

“I was in shock at first. I felt angry at myself for letting this happen. The last 
time I had been in hospital was 1937 when I had my tonsils out, so I was also a 
bit apprehensive. But the doctors and nurses were very reassuring.

“After the operation I worked with a physiotherapist every day. When I was 
discharged the physiotherapist gave me a recovery plan and the occupational 
therapist made sure I had everything necessary to adapt the house to my needs.

“When I broke my hip I was afraid that I would suddenly turn into an old man 
and not be able to do the things I used to do like walk the dog and play golf. 
But thanks to Barnet Hospital I was able to start cooking for myself after about a 
month and have even started taking the dog for a walk. Hopefully I will be able 
to start playing golf again soon.”
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“Thanks to Barnet 
Hospital I was able to 
start cooking for myself 
after about a month 
and have even started 
taking the dog for a walk. 
Hopefully I will be able to 
start playing golf again 
soon.”
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QUALITY REPORT 
PART ONE

STATEMENT ON QUALITY 
FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE              

This report is designed to assure our 
local population, our patients and 
our commissioners that we provide 
high-quality clinical care to our 
patients. It also shows where we 
could perform better and what we 
are doing to improve. 

The last year has been a particularly 
important year in the history of the 
Royal Free London. On July 1 we 
acquired Barnet and Chase Farm 
Hospitals NHS Trust to become one 
of the largest NHS acute trusts in 
England. We now employ nearly 
10,000 staff and own three major 
hospital sites. I am pleased to report 
that the integration of the two 
organisations has gone very well 
and we have maintained our focus 
on high-quality care throughout  
the year.

During the coming year we will 
maintain our focus on integration 
and on improving the quality of the 
facilities we provide for our patients. 
A priority will be the rebuilding of 
Chase Farm Hospital. Our staff there 
are dedicated to high-quality patient 
care, but they work in buildings 
that are no longer fit for purpose. 
Following the conditional approval 
of Enfield Council’s planning 
committee we are now developing 
detailed plans and plan to open in 
early 2018.

At the Royal Free Hospital in 
Hampstead we have also been busy 
making plans for the future. We 
opened the first phase of the new 
UCL Institute for Immunity and 
Transplantation two years ago and 
we have already seen the results of 
this exciting new research facility, 
with important new findings into 
diabetes already being made by 

researchers based in the institute. 
We will shortly start work on the 
second phase - the new multi-
million pound Pears Building. I have 
no doubt that this will enable us 
to attract the very best researchers 
from around the world and that this 
will ultimately lead to great benefit 
for our patients.

This quality report includes our 
high-level quality priorities for the 
next year. We strongly believe that 
quality improvement takes more 
than a single year and we have 
therefore chosen to continue our 
improvement projects from last year. 
One of these is our patient safety 
programme which we successfully 
launched in the autumn of last 
year with a week of high profile 
events, including invited speakers 
with national and international 
reputations in patient safety. 

Our governing objective is to 
provide world class care to all our 
patients. A clear illustration of this 
was our treatment of three Ebola 
patients in what for most of the 
year has been the UK’s only high 
level isolation unit. 

I believe the evidence provided in 
this quality report demonstrates 
our commitment to providing the 
highest quality clinical care.

I confirm to the best of my 
knowledge the information provided 
in this document is accurate.

David Sloman 
Chief executive

The Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust

28 May 2015

We will continue to 
focus on patient 
safety, while 
integrating services 
within the enlarged 
trust and investing 
in improving our 
facilities.

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Quality report
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QUALITY REPORT  
PART TWO 

Priorities for improvement and statement of assurance from 
the board

In this part of the quality report we review our performance against our 
key quality priorities for 2014/15 and provide examples of how individual 
services and specialities are focused on quality improvement. We also 
provide key data relating to our performance and outline our priorities for 
improvement in 2015/16.

Performance against our key quality objectives

We place great importance on constantly improving our services and the 
quality of our patient care. Last year we committed to three key quality 
improvement objectives. These were:

Priority one: World class patient information to reflect our world 
class care 

Priority two: In-patient diabetes care 

Priority three: Further develop our patient safety programme 

Over the following pages, we set out how we have performed against  
these objectives.

Priority one:  
World class patient 
information to reflect 
our world class care 

Priority two:  
In-patient diabetes 
care 

Priority three:  
Further develop 
our patient safety 
programme 
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Priority 1: World class patient 
information to reflect our 
world class care

Central to our mission to provide 
world-class expertise and local 
care is our governing objective to 
ensure excellent experience for 
patients and staff. Last year, a key 
quality objective was to improve 
the consistency of the information 
available to patients and carers.  
The provision of high-quality 
accessible information is key to 
embedding our world class care 
values and allowing greater choice 
and preparation for forthcoming 
procedures and/or appointments.

In the past year the trust, with 
support from the Royal Free Charity, 
has created the post of patient 
information manager, who will 
develop and implement our patient 
information strategy with key 
internal and external stakeholders in 
line with NHS guidance. 

We have had three recruitment 
campaigns but have not 
been successful in making an 
appointment. As a result the patient 
information strategy will be carried 
forward to 2015/16 as a priority. 

In embedding the world class care 
value of “positively welcoming”, 
the trust is pleased to support 
the “Hello, my name is ….” 
campaign, to encourage and 
remind all healthcare staff about 
the importance of introducing 
themselves to every patient and 
each other. 

An important communication 
channel with patients is the social 
media platform Twitter which we 
use for general information and to 
provide swift, local resolution of 
issues. We currently have more than 
8,000 followers. 

We welcome the involvement of 
users in the development of disease 
information and are pleased that 
patients using the liver transplant 
service are designing pages on our 
website to ensure that information 
is relevant to them. 

We have also invested this year in 
mobile induction loops to be used 
for patients with hearing aids which 
are available throughout the trust.

One objective for this year was 
to ensure consistency in how 
information is presented and to this 
end we have introduced a house 
style for letters and communication 
which is being extended to 
telephone etiquette. 

An area of success has been in 
the emergency department where 
we scored above average for 
“information given on condition 
or treatment” in the national A&E 
survey. In addition to national 
surveys we have invested in 
real time feedback through the 
friends and families test (FFT). 
This is designed to be a simple, 
comparable test which, when 
combined with follow-up questions, 
can identify areas of good practice 
and potential areas of concern. 
The results then encourage staff to 
make improvements where services 
do not live up to the expectations of 
our patients.

Performance against our  
key quality objectives

Every adult patient attending the 
emergency department or who 
has been an in-patient is contacted 
within 48 hours of attending or 
discharge and asked “How likely are 
you to recommend the Royal Free 
London to friends and family if they 
needed similar care or treatment?” 
In October 2014 we extended the 
question to maternity services. 
During 2014/5, the trust received 
63,232 responses, which was over 
40% of all eligible patients.

During 2015/16 the trust will 
change its target to an overall from 
a response rate to a target of an 
overall response rate of 90%. It is 
proposed to include and use the FFT 
results and resulting actions in the 
2015/16 QA.

We welcome patients’ feedback 
but also believe that effective 
complaints handling is essential to 
ensuring the provision of quality 
care and services. Findings and 
data from complaints are used to 
inform reports which are shared 
with individual staff members, 
clinical teams and divisional teams 
to improve the patient experience 
and clinical practice. Patients are 
asked to complete questionnaires 
to provide feedback on the way 
their complaint was handled to 
help the trust make further quality 
improvements. 

During 2014/15 we sought to 
improve the number of complaint 
investigations completed within 
the timeframe agreed with the 
complainant and this resulted in over 
80% of complaints being completed 
on time. We will continue to 
concentrate on this area, however, 
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for 2015/16, we will focus on 
ensuring that lessons learned from 
complaints are implemented and 
that the themes from complaints 
are tested through other feedback 
sources to ensure a representative 
view is heard by the trust.

During the process of acquiring 
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust we asked the Patients 
Association to review the complaints 
policies and practice. It concluded 
that the trust was well placed to 
make decisions about the future 
shape and scope of the complaints 
service and to include aspects of 
both organisations’ policies. 

We know that patient and staff 
experience are closely linked 
and that improvements in staff 
experience will improve patient 
experience. 

During 2014/15 we continued to 
build on our earlier work defining 
our world class care values by 
developing a supportive culture 
in which staff feel valued and 
supported. This involved more 
than 1,000 staff contributing to 
the development of a behavioural 
framework which clarifies the kinds 
of behaviours we expect to see. 
This framework was launched in 
April 2015 and during 2015/16 we 
will more closely align our staff and 
patient experience reporting with 
these desired behaviours. 

We have also been developing our 
response to staff surveys which 
reported high levels of bullying 
and harassment. Our bullying and 
harassment policy is currently being 
reviewed and updated and will draw 
on the behavioural framework to 
make desired behaviours explicit 

and clearly define a process for 
those who feel they have been 
bullied or harassed. The policy will 
be relaunched through a range of 
communications at all our hospital 
sites. 

In addition we will train additional 
staff in mediation to strengthen 
resources available to support 
staff dealing with discrimination, 
bullying and harassment. Managers 
play a crucial role in tackling these 
issues. We will hold workshops 
for staff and managers using the 
framework to develop a supportive 
culture across the trust. In addition 
managers and clinical leads will 
be encouraged to attend training 
and development to enhance 
leadership skills. Our organisational 
development staff will lead a 
number of initiatives aimed at 
preventing problems.
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Priority 2: In-patient  
diabetes care

We selected diabetes care as our 
improvement priority for clinical 
effectiveness for 2014/15. Our aims 
were to: 

•	 	improve	meals	and	mealtimes	
for our in-patients with diabetes

•	 	improve	the	management	
of insulin and other diabetic 
medications on our wards

•	 	improve	foot	assessments	for	
patients with diabetes.

Chase Farm Hospital and the Royal 
Free Hospital participated in a 
national diabetes in-patient audit 
which reported its findings in 2014. 
Barnet Hospital did not take part in 
this audit and we will be extending 
the information system used at 
the Royal Free Hospital to Barnet 
Hospital. 

Meals and mealtimes

The most recently published results of the audit shows patients reporting an 
improvement in meals and mealtimes: 78% patients with diabetes reported 
that they were always, or almost always, able to choose a suitable meal at 
Chase Farm Hospital and 64% so reported at the Royal Free Hospital. When 
looking at whether meals were provided at a suitable time, 80% of Chase 
Farm Hospital patients agreed as did 62% at the Royal Free Hospital. 

This is an improvement on patients’ previous reports for both measures:

National diabetes in-patient  
audit report:

2013 2014 Increase/ 
improvement

Choice of meals was 
always, or almost  
always, suitable

RFH: 53.6% 64.2% 20%

CFH: 66.8% 78.2% 17%

Timing of meals was 
always, or almost always, 
suitable

RFH: 57.6% 62.1% 8%

CFH: 60.4% 80.2% 33%
 

RFH= Royal Free Hospital; CFH = Chase Farm Hospital; Barnet Hospital: no data.

Foot assessments

Across England, 37.6% of patients with diabetes referred for a documented 
foot risk assessment received it within 24 hours of admission. Patients 
identified at high risk can be offered preventative strategies to avoid  
foot ulcers.

At Chase Farm Hospital, we improved this figure from 25.6% to 41.9% 
(a 64% increase) between the two audit periods. Unfortunately, our 
performance at the Royal Free Hospital fell from 24.2% to 6.5% (a 73% 
decrease). We have made improvement in the use of foot risk assessment a 
priority for next year. We give more details of these in our 2015/16 priorities. 

A total of 5.3% of all in-patients at Chase Farm Hospital and 10.6% at the 
Royal Free Hospital were admitted with active foot disease. All at Chase Farm 
Hospital were assessed by our specialist multidisciplinary team within 24 hours 
- an improvement on the previous year’s 30% and at the Royal Free Hospital, 
50% were assessed within 24 hours - up from 30% the previous year. 

Medication management

Adjustments to diabetic medication are often required when patients 
are admitted to hospital, especially if they have infections or come in for 
surgery, when the blood sugar may become more difficult to control. Errors 
in these adjustments are referred to as “medication management errors”. 

We have improved our medication management at both Chase Farm Hospital 
and the Royal Free Hospital but we want to do more. Across England, trusts 
reported an average of 22.3% errors in diabetes medication management. 

National diabetes in-patient 
audit report:

2013 2014 Decrease/ 
improvement

Errors of medication 
management

RFH: 31% 27.5% 11%

CFH: 51.4% 17.9% 65%

At a diabetes improvement workshop, supported by University College 
London Partners (UCLP) our academic health science partnership, we 
identified ways in which we can make further improvements in the coming 
year. We give more details of these in our 2015/16 priorities.
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Priority 3: Patient safety 
programme

The development of a patient safety 
programme was one of our key 
quality objectives for 2013/2014. 
This programme will identify ways 
to improve our patient safety culture 
and to measure and monitor the 
safety of our care. Our key 2014/15 
objectives to develop patient safety 
culture and capability were to:

•		 	strengthen	our	incident	
investigation and processes 
for addressing safety issues 
throughout the organisation

•		 	improve	trust-wide	
communication on safety issues 
to ensure that we improve 
dissemination of learning from 
incidents

•	 	improve	education	and	
mandatory training in patient 
safety.

We have redesigned the processes 
around incident reporting, 
investigation and learning and 
improving as part of the integration 
work of the expanded trust. This 
has included reviewing incident 
reporting at all sites and identifying 
the areas that work best. 

We have extended the web-based 
Datix reporting system across the 
trust and have merged the practices 
for reviewing and investigating 
serious incidents. 

We have reviewed the staffing 
and structures that support our 
patient safety and risk processes 
and have updated them to provide 
the right number of staff with the 
appropriate skills and ensure robust 
review at relevant committees. 

We have invested in safety 
simulation, root cause analysis and 
after action review training for 
clinical and non-clinical staff, as well 
as further leadership development 
and quality improvement training. 

We held a patient safety week in 
October with national speakers 
to launch our patient safety 
programme and have joined 
the national “sign up to safety” 
campaign. 

We continue to work closely with 
UCLPartners collaborating on 
improvements for measuring and 
monitoring safety and in particular 
acute kidney injury.

Priority clinical areas for 
improvement 

Surgical safety

Our aim was to be more than 
95% compliant with all aspects of 
the “five steps to safer surgery” 
guidance (step one: briefing, step 
two: sign in, step three: time 
out, step four: sign out, step five: 
debriefing). 

We have not completely met this 
aim, but we have made progress, 
with over 95% compliance with 
steps two, three and four. The 
most challenging steps are at the 
start and end of the process. These 
require all staff to be present, but 
this does not fit easily with the way 
that theatres are run as surgeons 
have to move between patients 
more quickly than other staff. As 
the process is most robust at Barnet 
Hospital we are learning how we 
can adapt so that all sites can 
attain 95% compliance. This will be 
another priority for 2015/16. 

Medicines safety 

Our aim was to reduce missed doses 
of insulin. We have appointed a 
medicines safety officer and created 
a patient safety committee for all 
three hospitals. We have initiated 
pilot work on missed doses in four 
ward areas, via the use of safety 
crosses, and this has resulted in a 
reduction in errors. 

We are now looking at how we 
can expand this across the trust. 
Alongside this, the patient at risk 
and resuscitation team (PARRT) has 
attended those patients who have 
been identified as at risk to ensure 
prompt review of their insulin needs.

Procedural safety 

Following the occurrence of 
two never events, we started a 
programme of work in 2013/14 to 
reduce complications from central 
line and dialysis line insertions. 

Following a review of issues relating 
to never events involving guide wire 
retention we have introduced a 
procedural checklist and given extra 
training. There have been no never 
events associated with line wire 
retentions since January 2012.

Action on abnormal  
diagnostic images

With the enlarged organisation 
we have started a programme 
of work to ensure all abnormal 
x-rays, radiological images and 
histopathology results are  
actioned promptly.

However, there are challenges with 
the information systems in use and 
we will be working over the next 
year to streamline the process across 
the sites so that staff are using the 
same systems. 

Falls and pressure ulcer reduction

Our falls improvement programme 
across all sites has shown a trust 
wide reduction in falls causing harm 
from 1,230 episodes in 2013/13 
to 947 in 2014/15, a reduction of 
23%. The falls steering group now 
has oversight of the whole trust and 
we have increased education and 
learning with study days, e-learning 
and by working directly with wards 
after an incident to learn the lessons 
and share good practice.

Pressure ulcers incidents at all three 
hospitals have been reviewed and 
a new robust tool introduced to 
identify contributing factors such 
as malnourishment and dementia. 
We have seen a reduction of 14% 
from 392 episodes in 2013/14 to 
336 episodeslast year. Further work, 
on harmonising documentation and 
training, is designed to reduce the 
incidence further. 
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Priorities for improvement 2015/16 

One focuses on patient experience, 
one on clinical effectiveness and 
one on patient safety. Before 
setting these we seek the views 
of our patients, staff and the local 
community. 

We invited representatives from our 
stakeholders to give their opinion 
on what our priorities should be. 
These included staff, commissioners 
and our governors.

The trust board considered the 
responses and agreed the following 
three priorities for 2015/16.

To help us provide 
the best possible 
care to our patients, 
each year we 
set three quality 
improvement  
priorities for the year 
ahead which are 
monitored by the 
trust board. 

Priority one: 

Delivering world class 
experience

Our ambition to provide excellent 
experience is intrinsically linked with 
our culture, the way we engage our 
patients, carers and staff and the 
improvements we prioritise. 

The trust’s definition of patient 
experience is:

“The sum of all interactions, shaped by 
the culture of the Royal Free London, 
that influence patient and carer 
perceptions across their pathway.”

Historically, the trust has defined 
and measured patient experience in 
relation to patient satisfaction. Key 
performance measures comprise 
the patient friends and family test 
(FFT) feedback and annual national 
patient survey feedback. FFT 
performance is fed back to matrons 
and reported quarterly to the patient 
and staff experience committee. 

During 2015/16 we will publish a 
four-year patent experience strategy 
that will see the trust focus on 
three strategic aims derived from 
public health profiles, legislative 
changes, national experience survey 
results and local intelligence: all 
underpinned by local experience 
data. They are:

1.  Improving the experience 
of those with a diagnosis of 
dementia

2.  Identifying and improving the 
experience of carers

3.  Enhancing the experience of 
people diagnosed with cancer

Key to the success of this four-
year programme will be the ability 
to respond flexibly to feedback 
from patients and carers and not 
be afraid of changing direction 
if a particular approach is shown 
through feedback to be wrong.

In quarter 1 2015/16 we will:

•		 	undertake	an	eligibility	and	
readiness assessment for 
the information standard 
certification and set a timeframe 
for achieving certification.

In quarter 2 2015/16 we will:

•		 	in	conjunction	with	patients	
and staff identify improvement 
targets for in-patients and day 
case patients based on feedback 
from patients, carers and staff 

•		 	in	conjunction	with	patients	and	
carers, develop and publish a 
list of patient experience “never 
events”. 

In quarter 3 2015/16 we will:

•		 	improve	clinical	leadership	
by appointing four patient 
experience champions from 
among the trust’s consultant 
surgeons and physicians 

•		 	install	a	carers’	information	
display at each hospital 

•		 	develop	a	learning	package	for	
carers covering topics such as 
safeguarding, deprivation of 
liberty and mental capacity to 
ensure they have the information 
to help them take care of the 
patient 

•		 	increase	the	number	of	dementia	
trainers so that each division and 
each hospital site has at least 
two trainers.

In quarter 4 2015/16 we will:

•		 	ensure	that	all	in-patient	and	
day case wards respond to their 
patient experience data in public 

•		 	train	46	staff	in	advanced	
facilitation and feedback 
interpretation 

•		 	develop,	trial	and	implement	a	
survey for carers of people with 
dementia in partnership with the 
Picker Institute by mid 2016
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•		 	extend	the	Macmillan	Quality	
Environment Mark ® to all sites 
to ensure consistent experience

•		 	establish	a	patient	reference	
group that includes patients 
from all cancer groups to ensure 
service improvements proposed 
and delivered are important to 
them and informed by their input 

•		 	ensure	20%	of	in-patient	wards	
will have undertaken the Royal 
College of Nursing’s Triangle of 
Care self-assessment.

We will monitor progress through 
the patient and staff experience 
performance committee.

Priority two: 

In-patient diabetes

While we have made progress in 
improving care for patients with 
diabetes, we want to do better. 
In 2015/16 we will expand our 
diabetes improvement programme 
to all three hospitals and add further 
elements of care. 

Most patients with diabetes in our 
hospitals are admitted for reasons 
other than their diabetes. However, 
we want every patient with diabetes 

to have a good experience of safe, 
effective diabetes care.

We will monitor our progress and 
work towards:

•	 	a	20%	reduction	in	prescription	
errors

•	 	a	20%	reduction	in	severe	
hypoglycaemia episodes

•	 	achieving	30%	foot	assessments	
within 24 hours of admission

•	 	a	10%	reduction	in	hospital-
acquired foot ulcers

•	 	a	10%	improvement	in	patient	
satisfaction score.

We intend to participate in this 
year’s national diabetes in-patient 
audit on all three of our sites. We 
will monitor progress through the 
clinical performance committee.

 
Priority three: 

Our focus for safety 

Our aim is to become a zero 
avoidable harm organisation by 
2020, initially by reducing the level 
of avoidable harm, as measured by 
incidents relating to NHSLA claims, 

by 50% by 31 March 2018. 

Our targets are focused on our 
three-year plan. The measures for 
the next year, as below, will be 
reviewed in next year’s accounts and 
against the plan and will include 
relevant milestones.

For 2015/16 we will focus on the 
following: 

Safer surgery

Our goal is to improve compliance 
with all aspects of the “five national 
steps to safer surgery” guidance to 
95% by 31 March 2016. We will: 

•	 	identify	process	issues	to	enable	
surgeons to attend steps 1 
briefing and 5 debriefing

•	 	identify	clinical	leaders	at	all	
hospitals 

•	 	review	obstacles	to	best	enable	
staff flow 

•	 	consolidate	WHO	policy	across	
all sites

•	 	hold	a	workshop	to	review	
successes and failures to 
identify how to move to 95% 
compliance in all five steps.
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Falls

Our goal is to reduce falls by 25%, 
as measured by incidents reported 
on Datix, by 31 March 2018. Our 
key objectives are to:

•	 	embed	the	existing	improvement	
programmes for falls prevention 
in all wards

•	 	assess	new	methods	and	
technology (eg electronic patient 
sensors) to reduce falls risk.

We will: 

•	 	set	up	a	trustwide	falls	working	
group to carry out root cause 
analyses of incidents, identify 
risk factors and areas for 
improvement 

•	 	identify	falls	champions	in	each	
clinical service line at each hospital 

•	 	introduce	a	falls	screening	tool	
(based on the National Patient 
Safety Agency’s strategy) and falls 
prevention plan at all hospitals 

•	 	continue	staff	education	and	
development on falls prevention 

•	 	create	a	process	to	enable	
colleagues to learn from falls 
incidents, especially serious ones

•	 	consolidate	updated	falls-related	
policies and protocols at all our 
hospitals 

•	 	set	up	falls	awareness	events	
and training with a trustwide 
multidisciplinary falls study day

•	 	initiate	a	falls	podiatry	
assessment pathway.

Acute kidney injury (AKI) 

Our goal is to increase the number 
of patients who recover from AKI 
within 72 hours of admission by 
25% by 31 March 2018. We are 
also aiming to: 

•	 reduce	AKI	mortality	by	25%

•	 reduce	lengths	of	stay	by	25%	

•	 	reduce	the	incidence	of	stage	1	
AKI progressing to AKI stage 2 or 
3 by 25%

We will achieve this by:

•	 	educating	staff	via	a	smartphone	
app, website and e-learning

•	 	identifying	access	to	baseline	
informatics in pilot areas

•	 	identifying	AKI	clinical	leaders	in	
pilot areas

•	 	process	mapping	in	pilot	areas	
to understand patient flow and 
challenges

•	 	introducing	the	“STOP”	AKI	
diagnostic and care bundle in 
pilot areas

•	 	Introducing	an	outreach	system	
for moderate AKI using the 
PARRT as well as telemedicine 
senior renal support in pilot areas

•	 	Monitoring	AKI	data,	reviewing	
progress and deploying continual 
plan, do, study, act (PDSA) cycles 
for improvement

•	 	holding	a	workshop	to	use	
successes and failures to identify 
how to move to 95% compliance.

Patient deterioration

Our goal is to reduce the number of 
cardiac arrests to less than one per 
1,000 admissions by 31 March 2018. 

Our tactics are to: 

•	 	initiate	case	note	review	of	
selected 2222 calls and deaths and 
feedback lessons learnt to staff

•	 	identify	baseline	data	required	at	
ward level and create process to 
feedback to staff promptly 

•	 	provide	staff	training	on	our	
unified handover tool, situation 
background assessment 
recommendation ( SBAR), and our 
early warning scores (EWS) system 

•	 	identify	pilot	areas	and	ward-
based champions

•	 	educate	staff	to	undertake	ward-
based case note review

•	 	review	education	programmes	
for clinical staff to further 
identify current courses that can 
include SBAR and EWS training

•	 	monitor	implementation	of	
SBAR and EWS and use process 
mapping to consider where 
interventions are best placed for 
improvement. 

Unborn baby deterioration

Our goal is to reduce the number of 
incidents of deterioration relating to 
the unborn baby, between 1 April 
2015 and 31 March 2018.

We will achieve this by: 

•	 	identifying	baseline	data	required	
at ward level and create process 
to feedback to staff promptly 

•	 	determining	staff	skills	in	fetal	
heartbeat (cardiotocography or 
CTG) scans by staff survey

•	 identifying	champions	

•	 	trialling	CTG	testing	and	
simulation training on a pilot 
group of staff

•	 	surveying	staff	on	pilot	CTG	
training to understand its impact 
on practice and confidence.

Sepsis

Our goal is to reduce severe sepsis-
related serious incidents by 50% at 
all hospitals by 31 March 2018. 

Our tactics will include: 

•	 	staff	training	in	sepsis	
recognition in maternity and 
Barnet Hospital’s emergency 
department

•	 	testing	of	improvement	tools:	
sepsis trolley, sepsis safety cross, 
sepsis grab bag, sepsis checklist 
sticker

•	 	introducing	sepsis	improvement	
tools: severe sepsis six protocol

•	 	monitoring	of	data	and	PDSA	
cycle improvements

•	 	review	of	improvement	to	attain	
95% compliance.

We will monitor progress through 
the patient safety committee.
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Statements of assurance from the board 

This section contains eight statutory statements concerning the quality 
of services provided by the Royal Free NHS Foundation Trust. These are 
common to all trust quality accounts and therefore provide a basis for 
comparison between organisations.

Where appropriate, we have provided additional information that provides a 
local context to the information provided in the statutory statement.

Information on review of services

1  During 2014/15 the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust provided 
and/or sub-contracted 34 relevant health services.

 1.1  The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the 
data available to the trust on the quality of care in 34 of these 
relevant health services.

 1.2  The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 
2014/15 represents 97% of the total income generated from the 
provision of relevant health services by the Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust for 2014/15.

Additional information 

In this context we define each service as a distinct clinical directorate that is 
used to plan, monitor and report clinical activity and financial information. 
This is commonly known as service line reporting. Each individual service line 
can incorporate one or more clinical services.

Information on participation in clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries 

2.    During 2014/15 35 national clinical audits and three national confidential 
enquiries covered relevant health services that the Royal Free London 
NHS Foundation Trust provides.

 2.1  During that period the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust 
participated in 100% of national clinical audits and 100% of 
confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.

 2.2  The national clinical audits and national confidential enquires 
that the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to 
participate in during 2014/15 are as follows: 

 2.3  The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that 
the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust participated in during 
2014/15 are as follows:

 2.4  The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that 
the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and 
for which data collection was completed during 2014/15, are listed 
below alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit or 
enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required 
by the terms of that audit or enquiry. 

During 2014/15 the 
trust participated 
in 100% of the 
national clinical 
audits it was eligible 
to take part in.
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National clinical audits for inclusion in quality 
report 2014/15

Data collection 
completed in 
2014/15

Eligibility to 
participate

Participation 
2014/15

Rate of case 
ascertainment 
(%)

Prostate cancer √ √ √ BH 100%

√ √ CFH 100%

√ √ RFH 100%

Adult community acquired pneumonia x √ √ BH n/a

x x CFH x

√ √ RFH n/a

Pleural procedures √ √ √ BH 100%

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 100%

National diabetes audit 2013/14 √ √ √ BH 390 (100%)

√ √ CFH 817 (100%)

√ √ RFH 1647 (100%)

National foot care in diabetes audit x √ X BH x

√ X CFH x

√ √ RFH n/a

National elective surgery patient reported outcome 
measures (PROMs): Four operations

√ √ √ BH 166 (100%)

√ √ CFH 431 (100%)

√ √ RFH 100%

National pregnancy in diabetes audit √ √ √ BH 8 (100%)

x x CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 17 (100%)

Adult cardiac interventions: NICOR coronary 
angioplasty

√ x x BH Not eligible

x x CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 889 (100%)

MINAP: Acute myocardial infarction and other ACS 
(2013/14)

√ √ √ BH 100%

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH  241(100%)

National heart failure audit √ √ √ BH 266 (100%)

√ x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ √ RFH 279 (100%)

TARN: Severe trauma √ √ √ BH 99 (100%)

x X CFH Not eligible 

√ √ RFH 120 (100%)

RCPCH national paediatric diabetes audit √ √ √ BH 260 (100%)

√ √ CFH 230 (100%)

√ √ RFH 179 (100%)

National heart failure audit √ √ √ BH 266 (100%)

√ x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ √ RFH 279 (100%)

TARN: Severe trauma √ √ √ BH 99 (100%)

x X CFH Not eligible 

√ √ RFH 120 (100%)
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National clinical audits for inclusion in quality 
report 2014/15

Data collection 
completed in 
2014/15

Eligibility to 
participate

Participation 
2014/15

Rate of case 
ascertainment 
(%)

RCPCH national paediatric diabetes audit √ √ √ BH 260 (100%)

√ √ CFH 230 (100%)

√ √ RFH 179 (100%)

National Joint Registry √ √ √ BH 79 (100%)

√ √ CFH 424 (100%)

√ √ RFH 508 (100%)

Cardiac rhythm management 
(2013/14)

√ √ √ BH 292 (100%)

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 280 (100%)

National Vascular Registry √ x √ BH 100%

x x CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH AORTIC 
ANEURYSM: 78%

CAROTID 
INTERVENTION: 
80%

National cardiac arrest audit √ √ x BH x

√ x CFH x

√ √ RFH 237 (100%)

ICNARC  
case mix programme: Adult critical care 
2013/14

√ √ √ BH 794 (100%)

x x CFH Not eligible

√  RFH We did not submit 
data from this site

Sentinel stroke national audit programme √ √ √ BH 80-89%

IN-PATIENT 
REHABILITATION

√

√ CFH <60%

√ √ RFH 90+%

Initial management of fitting child (CEM) √ √ √ BH 51  
(100%)

x x CFH Not eligible

√ x RFH x

Mental health (care in emergency departments) √ √ √ BH 50  
(100%)

x x CFH Not eligible

√ x RFH x

Older people (care in emergency departments) √ √ √ BH 101 (100%)

x x CFH Not eligible

√ X RFH x

National lung cancer audit √ √ √ BH 212 (100%)

x x CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 104 (100%)

National bowel cancer audit √ √ √ BH 214 (100%)

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 109%
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National clinical audits for inclusion in quality 
report 2014/15

Data collection 
completed in 
2014/15

Eligibility to 
participate

Participation 
2014/15

Rate of case 
ascertainment 
(%)

National oesophago-gastric cancer audit 
[diagnostic data only]

√ √ √ BH 61 (100%)

x x CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 30 (100%)

IBD biological therapy audit (adult) √ √ √ BH 48 (100%)

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 17 (100%)

IBD biological therapy audit (paediatric) √ x x BH Not eligible

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 15 (100%)

National pulmonary hypertension audit √ x x BH Not eligible

x x CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 317 
(100%)

National childhood epilepsy audit (epilepsy 12) √ √ √ BH 20 (100%)   
31 Patient-
reported 
experience metrics 
(PREMs)

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 100% reported 
under Camden 
Unit (Five hospitals 
enter data under 
the Camden unit 
heading of which 
the RFH is one)

National emergency laparotomy audit √ √ √ BH 79 (46%)

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 91 (99%)

National chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
audit programme 

√ √ √ BH 32 (100%)

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 39 (100%)

Rheumatoid and early inflammatory arthritis x √ √ BH n/a

√ √ CFH n/a

√ √ RFH n/a

National comparative audit of blood transfusion: 
Audit of transfusion in children and adults with 
sickle cell disease

√ x X BH Not eligible

X CFH Not eligible

X RFH Not eligible

Falls and fragility fractures: National hip fracture 
database

√ √ √ BH 387 (100%)

√ CFH

√ RFH 129 (100%)

Neonatal intensive care √ √ BH 988: 945= (104%)

X X CFH Not eligible

√ RFH 281: 242 = 
(116%)

Head and neck cancer audit (DAHNO) √ √ √ BH 78 (100%)

x X CFH Not eligible

x X RFH Not eligible
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In addition, the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust participated in the following national audits by 
submitting data in 2014/15

Health Protection Agency: Surgical site infection

British Association of Urological Surgeons: Nephrectomy audit

British Association of Urological Surgeons: Surveillance and treatment of renal masses

Baseline survey of HIV perinatal, paediatric and young person’s pathways

UK neonatal collaboration necrotising enterocolitis audit

National audit of cardiac rehabilitation

British Association of Endocrine and Thyroid Surgeons: Thyroid and parathyroid surgery

College of Emergency Medicine: Paracetamol overdose

College of Emergency Medicine: Asthma in children

College of Emergency Medicine: Severe sepsis and septic shock 

NHS Blood & Transplant: Liver transplantation

NHS Blood and Transplant: Kidney transplantation

UK Renal Registry

Royal College of Radiologists: National audit of accuracy of interpretation of emergency abdominal CT in adults who present 
with non-traumatic abdominal pain

Radiotherapy dataset

National clinical audits for inclusion in quality 
report 2014/15

Data collection 
completed in 
2014/15

Eligibility to 
participate

Participation 
2014/15

Rate of case 
ascertainment 
(%)

Prescribing observatory for mental health √ x x n/a

Paediatric intensive care √ x x Not eligible

Congenital heart disease (Paediatrics) √ x x Not eligible

Adult cardiac surgery √ x x Not eligible

Clinical outcome review programme (previously national confidential enquiries, and centre for maternal and child death enquiries)

National confidential enquiry: Gastrointestinal 
bleeding

√ √ √ BH 1/2 CASES [50%]

√ √ CFH 2/2 CASES 
[100%]

√ √ RFH 3/3 CASES 
[100%]

National confidential enquiry: sepsis √ √ √ BH 4/4 CASES 
[100%]

x X CFH N/A

√ √ RFH 3/3 CASES 
[100%]

Maternal, newborn and infant mortality √ √ √ BH 0/0

x X CFH Not eligible

√ √ RFH 1/1
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The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust reviewed the results of the following national audits and 
confidential enquiries which published reports but did not collect data in 2014/15

National potential donor audit

Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health: Epilepsy 12 (round 2)

National audit of seizures in hospital

Royal College of Physicians: National care of the dying audit for hospitals 

UK Parkinson’s audit

NHS Blood and Transplant: Liver transplantation

NHS Blood & Transplant: Kidney transplantation

British Thoracic Society: Paediatric asthma

College of Emergency Medicine: Sepsis and septic shock

National Review of Asthma Deaths

National Confidential Enquiry: On the right trach (2014)

National Confidential Enquiry: Working together (2014)

Additional comments:

We did not participate in the national cardiac arrest audit at Barnet Hospital or Chase Farm Hospital but do intend to 
participate in 2015/16.

We did not participate in the College of Emergency Medicine audits at the Royal Free Hospital as local quality improvement 
initiatives were in progress during the audit period. Any results would not therefore reflect these changes.

Issues around the quality of our data submissions to the Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre continued and 
the trust was excluded from national reporting. Data is now being accepted and we look forward to receiving reports on both 
Barnet Hospital and the Royal Free Hospital in 2014/15.

n/a = not applicable

2.5  The reports of 34 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2014/15 and the Royal Free London 
NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:

National clinical audit Actions to improve quality

Feverish children in the emergency 
department (2012/13 report)

We have improved our recording of all observations on children, although there is still 
room for improvement in recording blood pressures and we are not yet consistently taking 
vital sign observations within 20 minutes. 
We plan to set up a temporary triage area to facilitate this before the new paediatric 
emergency department is complete in November.
We will be participating later this year in the College of Emergency Medicine’s national 
audit of vital signs in children which will be re-auditing these parameters.

Asthma in children in the 
emergency department (2013/14 
report)

We are achieving many of the parameters but, as with children presenting with fever (see 
above), we are not managing to take observations within 20 minutes. (See above for our 
intended actions).

Ureteric colic in the emergency 
department (2012/13 report)

We are not recording a pain score and re-evaluating pain as often as we would like. Only 
65% of patients are given pain relief within an hour. 
We are developing an ambulatory pathway to reduce the need for hospital admission. 
This will include a focus on pain relief soon after the patient arrives.

Heart failure The new guideline from the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) for in-
patient management of heart failure (October 2014) recommends that all patients should 
have specialist cardiology input, ideally on a cardiology ward, and be seen within two 
weeks of discharge by a specialist heart failure team. 
Currently not all patients newly-diagnosed with heart failure are looked after by 
cardiologists and there is no facility for early out-patient review by the heart failure team.
A cross-site heart failure pathway is being developed to ensure patients are identified for 
early and appropriate specialist care.

Pacemakers We will review our choice of pacemakers for patients with sick sinus syndrome to ensure 
physiological pacing is used when indicated, in accordance with NICE guidance.
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National clinical audit Actions to improve quality

Stroke care The acute stroke units based at Barnet Hospital and the Royal Free Hospital both 
contribute to the national sentinel stroke national audit programme (SSNAP), hosted 
by the Royal College of Physicians. This started in 2013 and our performance at the 
Royal Free Hospital has steadily improved in the past year. We plan to improve access 
to speech and language therapy for patients who have suffered a stroke. We will also 
support the development of six-monthly reviews of patients in the community. Results at 
Barnet Hospital were also showing improvement but in the last quarter have slipped. In 
accordance with the pan-London acute stroke pathway, patients presenting with acute 
stroke are referred to the nearest hyper acute stroke unit, rather than being admitted to a 
local acute stroke unit such as ours. 
The acute stroke unit at Barnet Hospital has admitted an unexpectedly high number of 
patients and we are exploring reasons why some of these patients were not referred to 
the relevant hyper acute service. We will work with external partners to ensure patients 
are referred to the appropriate unit in the first instance.
As a result of these additional patients, the SSNAP audit has applied many of the 
standards applicable to hyper acute stroke units to our acute stroke unit at Barnet 
Hospital. We believe the deterioration in our performance reflects these inappropriate 
standards and incorrect referral patterns for these patients.

Ulcerative colitis (in adults) The published audit findings of the national inflammatory bowel disease audit run by 
the Royal College of Physicians show that we are in line with national results on stool 
sampling, prescribing second-line therapies and thrombosis prevention. 
However, only 27% of patients admitted with ulcerative colitis were seen by our clinical 
nurse specialist. We are recruiting a second clinical nurse specialist to improve the support 
for our patients.

Asthma in children Our performance in the British Thoracic Society paediatric asthma national audit 2013 
has been particularly good, with 100% adherence to best practice for checking inhaler 
technique and issuing a written asthma plan, which is well above the national average.

Asthma in adults Following the publication of the national review of asthma deaths, “wheeze plans” 
are being made more accessible in high-priority areas and plans are in place to increase 
education about asthma across the trust. 
We have changed our documentation for patients who present with asthma at the 
emergency department at the Royal Free Hospital to ensure that important information 
on checking inhaler technique, accessing smoking cessation services and follow-up 
arrangements are readily available to staff at the point of care.

Diabetes in children The national paediatric diabetes audit aims to improve the care, outcomes and 
experiences of children with diabetes and their families. 
HbA1c is a blood test that is thought to represent how well the blood sugar levels have 
been controlled over the previous 12 weeks. The services at Barnet Hospital and Chase 
Farm Hospital are below the national average for the percentage of children and young 
people (>12 yrs. of age) achieving HbA1c levels below 58 mmol/l, (Barnet Hospital 46%, 
Chase Farm Hospital 43.9%, Royal Free Hospital 76.8%).
We intend to provide more intensive input from paediatric diabetes specialist nurses 
for patients with poor blood sugar control. We are integrating the services at all three 
hospitals to utilise our existing resources more efficiently and are exploring additional 
resources from adult diabetes specialists, diabetes specialist nurses and paediatricians. 
We intend to increase dietetic and mental health provision within the service and explore 
better use of technology, eg glucose meter uploads, continuous glucose monitoring 
systems and insulin pumps.

Epilepsy in children Epilepsy12 is a national clinical audit, established in 2009, with the aim of helping epilepsy 
services and those who commission health services to measure and improve the quality of 
care for children and young people with seizures and epilepsies. 
Following review of reports from previous years’ audits we have restructured our clinics so 
that patients are seen more promptly. The recent appointment of a new consultant with 
an interest in epilepsy should enable us to improve the frequency of routine review for 
these children.

Chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease

Our overall score was in the top quartile and we were in the top 12% of acute trusts for 
patients who were reviewed on admission by a senior clinician. We were also notable for 
care that was integrated with that of our primary care colleagues. Access to specialist 
respiratory care is however limited in the evening and at weekends.
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National clinical audit Actions to improve quality

Pleural drains At the Royal Free Hospital, patients are more than twice as likely to have a pleural drain 
inserted by a consultant compared to the national average (49% vs 22%) and are much 
more likely to be supported by a member of nursing staff (85% vs 34%) and to undergo 
the procedure in a dedicated room (79% vs 42%). We have implemented new pleural drain 
documentation on our respiratory ward which has substantially improved the quality of 
record keeping; we plan to extend this to other wards which may host other patients who 
require pleural drainage. We are in discussion with oncology teams to increase the number 
of patients with pleural effusions who are managed by a respiratory physician.

Lung cancer At the Royal Free Hospital we have the third highest surgical resection rate in England and 
Wales at 31% (vs E&W 15%). Resection offers patients the best chance of a complete cure. 
The high surgical rates also explain our relatively low radiotherapy rates (21% vs 29%) as 
fewer of our patients require radical radiotherapy. 
At Barnet Hospital, the national audit revealed that our patients were unable to have CT 
scans before diagnostic bronchoscopy. We have therefore introduced designated CT spaces 
on the same day as the specialist clinic and bronchoscopy is arranged the following week.

End-of-life care The national audit of care of the dying in hospitals is co-ordinated by the Royal College of 
Physicians. Our results showed that, while we achieved well on organisational performance 
indicators such as providing clinical guidelines for staff and information for patients, we 
performed less well in our documented clinical care. 
Publication of the audit results coincided with the publication by an alliance of organisations 
of “one chance to get it right” following the withdrawal of the Liverpool Care Pathway 
nationally. The recommendations of the national audit reflected our view that we needed a 
complete overhaul of clinical guidelines on care of dying patients within our hospitals and a 
new education programme for staff to support this.
New guidelines are currently being piloted with frontline staff and should be in place, 
accompanied by an education programme, in time for the repeat national audit starting in 
July 2015.

Tracheostomy Following the publication of the national confidential enquiry into tracheostomy care we 
have identified a number of ways to improve our staff training. We will also ensure that 
all changes of tracheostomy tubes are carried out in operating theatres. We already have 
facilities for capnography in several clinical areas and will provide portable capnography 
for our ward-based critical care outreach teams. We will be extending the use of the WHO 
checklist to the insertion of percutaneous tracheostomies on our intensive care units. 
We already use endoscopy to confirm correct tube placement where trachesotomies are 
inserted percutaneously but will ensure this practice is extended to surgical insertions. We 
will measure and document cuff pressure routinely and introduce screening for swallowing 
difficulty at Barnet Hospital. 

Maternal deaths (MBRRACE: 
national report from the clinical 
outcomes review programme)

Key recommendations from this three-yearly national report, into maternal deaths include 
better management of sepsis and improved uptake of flu vaccination. 
These already have a high profile in the maternity department by virtue of the “sepsis six” 
programme (see below for more detail) and existing efforts to encourage uptake of flu 
vaccination among women.
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2.6  The reports of 100 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2014/15 and the Royal Free London 
NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided.

National clinical audit Actions to improve quality

Aortic aneurysm Our newly-restructured aortic team has begun a two-year programme to create a new 
model of care at the Royal Free Hospital. We want to create a patient-centred, world class 
service for the identification, investigation and treatment of diseases of the aorta which is 
built on a foundation of evidence and expertise. 
Our goal is to create a pathway of personalised aortic care of no more than eight weeks 
from diagnosis to treatment. 
Our next challenge will be to extend our bespoke approach to the post-operative period in a 
bid to find new and more efficient ways to treat our patients safely and effectively through 
the post-operative phase. 
We aim to lead the field in low dose radiation by using advances in technology and refined 
surgical techniques.
In keeping with our goal to lead the field in investigation and education, we will be joined 
by our first aortic fellow in July 2015. This junior surgeon will work both clinically and 
academically with the team and will be the first in what we hope to be a long line of doctors 
who will carry our model of care to other centres

Magnesium sulphate for fetal 
neuroprotection in premature 
infants

The number of preterm births is increasing and while the survival rate of such infants has 
improved, the prevalence of cerebral palsy has risen. Recently published evidence suggests 
that magnesium sulphate given to mothers shortly before delivery can reduce the risk of 
cerebral palsy and protect motor function in infants. The effect may be greatest at early 
gestations and is not associated with adverse long-term fetal or maternal outcome, if given 
from 24 to 30 weeks gestation. 
Local guidance on use of this therapy for fetal neuroprotection was developed and 
introduced in 2013 at both Barnet Hospital and the Royal Free Hospital. Most women with 
threatened preterm labour, or those requiring delivery before 30 weeks’ gestation, are cared 
for at the Royal Free Hospital. 
A recent audit has demonstrated good compliance with important precautions for the safe 
use of this medicine (eg exclusion of renal and cardiac disease, frequent monitoring of vital 
signs). We intend to improve the timely identification of all women whose babies might 
benefit from this therapy. We also intend to better monitor the levels of this medicine that 
reach the babies’ blood.

Severe maternal sepsis The 2007 national confidential enquiry into maternal deaths identified maternal sepsis as 
a significant contributory factor. Clinical features suggestive of severe sepsis may be less 
distinctive in pregnant women compared to non-pregnant women. 
In response, the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists released national 
guidance in 2012 to highlight the need for early recognition and management of this 
condition. 
The recommendations include use of a resuscitation “bundle” developed as part of the 
“surviving sepsis” campaign.
We developed a sepsis six care bundle which has been modified for maternity patients (see box).
This was successfully implemented at the Royal Free Hospital in 2013 but a recent audit 
has shown that the improvement has not been sustained, in particular in serum lactate 
measurement and optimal administration of resuscitation fluid. 
We are currently also introducing the sepsis six care bundle at Barnet Hospital. 
We will consider initiatives that have helped us improve reliability of sepsis management in 
other areas of the trust, including:
•	 an	obstetric	sepsis	six	case	note	sticker
•	 a	maternal	sepsis	toolkit	on	both	our	labour	wards
•	 further	education	and	team	training	to	promote	necessary	timely	interventions.
We intend also to regularly review the care of women who develop severe sepsis to identify 
opportunities for improvement and to facilitate shared learning across the directorate. And 
we will continue multidisciplinary staff training and education relating to maternal sepsis 
and our sepsis six care bundle.

Maternity sepsis six bundle
Timely commencement of six 
interventions:
•	 High	flow	oxygen
•	 	Optimal	fluid	resuscitation	

(adjusted for pregnancy)
•	 	“Septic	screen”	sampling	

including blood culture prior 
to antibiotic administration

•	 	Commencement	of	broad-
spectrum intravenous 
antibiotics

•	 	Measurement	of	serum	
lactate levels (a measure of 
inadequate circulation)

•	 	Close	monitoring	of	 
fluid balance.
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National clinical audit Actions to improve quality

Sepsis in children The paediatric sepsis six pathways were introduced in October 2014 to raise awareness and 
enable early identification and appropriate management of feverish children. Interim data 
suggests that the pathway is working well. 
We plan to extend this pathway to more children at risk by modifying the entry criteria.

Urinary re-catherisation in the 
emergency department

A recent audit of 75 attendances where patients required urinary re-catherisation showed 
that this occurs on average once a day, most often during working hours. Significant resource 
is required to transport the patients to hospital, treat them and return them home. 
The audit showed that most patients did not require admission nor any specialist input. 
In conjunction with the triage rapid elderly assessment (TREAT) team, we will develop a 
protocol and community training to reduce the number of patients brought to hospital. 
The audit also established that these 75 attendances involved only 45 patients. We intend 
to review the availability of appropriate catheters for patients at risk of re-attending, in 
conjunction with our urology colleagues, and to ensure staff are trained to select the most 
appropriate catheter.

Heart attacks 
(non-ST elevation myocardial 
infarction)

Revised NICE guidance (Sept 2014) suggests that patients should have angiography within 
72 hours of their first hospital admission following this type of heart attack.
We are implementing a new acute coronary syndrome pathway at both Barnet Hospital and 
the Royal Free Hospital to ensure we are able to provide this treatment to all patients who 
need it. We expect implementation to be complete by January 2016.

Situational awareness for 
everyone (the SAFE programme) 
on our children’s wards

This is a two-year collaborative programme, involving 12 hospitals including the Royal Free 
Hospital, led by the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health.
It was launched in October 2014 and aims to reduce the number of preventable deaths in 
children. 
Brief “huddles” are used to enhance situational awareness and thereby improve the early 
identification of signs of deterioration and prevent missed diagnoses. In these regular 
five-minute briefings, all the professionals looking after a child come together and share 
information about the child’s clinical status and care.
Audit shows that safety huddles occur reliably each morning but slightly less consistently in 
the evenings. Feedback from staff has been positive and more patients have been referred 
for intensive care support. We intend to re-audit our use of paediatric early warning scores 
(PEWS) and our unified handover tool (SBAR) and redesign the patient whiteboard to better 
highlight patients at risk. We will also review clinical notes of patients who received intensive 
or high dependency care to identify potential improvements to safety. We intend to extend 
the project to Barnet Hospital’s children’s ward.

Delivery of individualised care in 
our neonatal service

Evidence suggests that babies have better long-term outcomes if they have “individualised 
care” rather than traditional neonatal care. We are pioneering the delivery of this new 
style of neonatal care which emphasises the importance of the baby’s environment and the 
various stimulations to which babies are exposed.
We have started to promote this in the neonatal unit, especially in our dedicated 
individualised care rooms, and have demonstrated that parents welcome the programme. 
We intend to embed a culture of individualised care and to review staff and parent 
satisfaction with the environment we provide for babies.

Asthma education in schools We have been working with local schools to improve asthma symptom awareness. This is a 
joint project between ourselves, UCL and the charity Asthma UK. 
We have been awarded a grant from a government innovation fund that will allow us to 
progress this work in the community.

Bone marrow aspiration Many patients with haematological malignancy require repeated bone marrow 
investigations.The procedure has historically been performed under local anaesthetic 
by doctors in training and the experiences of the patient were sub-optimal with some 
experiencing discomfort. After reviewing the service we have introduced a nurse-led bone 
marrow service and reviewed the audit findings of the clinic over the past year. Our audit 
findings show shorter waiting times and a better patient experience with greater comfort 
and consistency. 
The service also provides a valuable training resource for junior doctors who have not 
previously been trained in this procedure. We plan to continue to introduce the use of 
Entonox (“gas and air” similar to that used by expectant mothers in labour) for pain relief 
instead of sedation, to make further improvements to waiting times and to audit the quality 
of the bone marrow samples taken.
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National clinical audit Actions to improve quality

WHO surgical safety checklist Use of the WHO surgical safety checklist was audited in our operating theatres at our three 
hospitals. We have improved our use of the three patient-focused steps (sign In, time out 
and sign out). We intend to improve the use of the briefing and de-briefing stages of the 
WHO checklist to encourage a safety culture, improve teamwork and efficiency in all our 
operating theatres. 

Perioperative blood transfusion Blood transfusion can be a vital and life-saving intervention, but it is not without risk. We have 
a strong record of minimising the requirement for blood transfusion during and after surgery. 
We know that correction of anaemia before surgery reduces the need for transfusions. 
We already offer a course of iron tablets before elective surgery for those who might benefit 
but this option is not available for patients admitted to hospital in an emergency. We will 
explore alternative suitable options for these patients, for example the use of intravenous iron.

Inflammatory arthritis Since February 2014 the trust has been contributing to the national clinical audit for 
rheumatoid and early inflammatory arthritis run by the British Society for Rheumatology. 
This combines an organisational audit looking at staffing and other resources with an audit 
of clinical care, clinical outcomes and patient experience in the important first three months 
after patients first experience symptoms of inflammatory arthritis. 
The first annual report will be published in the summer of 2015, but we are already finding 
the discipline of data collection useful. 
We intend to establish a co-ordinated patient education programme for patients, something 
which has been highlighted by the audit.

Bone mineral density in patients 
with cirrhosis

We have looked at bone thinning in our patients with cirrhosis and will be making changes 
to the bone protection treatment we offer our patients.

Epilepsy in adults Working with colleagues in Camden, we plan to establish community clinics with 
multidisciplinary team input to improve patient satisfaction, epilepsy severity scores and 
reduce emergency department attendances.
We also intend to establish “patient passports” for frequent emergency department 
attenders who have “blackouts” (episodes of transient loss of consciousness). This will 
provide fast-track services when warning signs are identified. We plan to offer a telephone 
or clinic appointment as an alternative and to agree clear individualised action plans for 
emergency treatment.

Physiotherapy joint replacement 
clinic – Barnet Hospital and 
Chase Farm Hospital

The physiotherapy clinic for patients who have undergone hip or knee replacements has 
demonstrated improvements in pain levels and function over an average of four sessions. 
Some difficulties with the referral process were identified and the action plan has included 
establishing an electronic referral process to reduce delays and improve the standard of 
information communicated to the clinicians.

Intravenous fluid for adult in-
patients – Royal Free Hospital

An audit against NICE guidance for intravenous fluid therapy in adults in hospital was 
undertaken during 2014/15. To assist with supporting improvements in intravenous fluid 
prescribing and documentation, the design of the fluid prescribing chart will be changed. 
Implementation of the updated chart and NICE guidance will be supported by a teaching 
programme for medical students and junior doctors. 
The impact of these actions will be measured by a re-audit during 2015/16.

Safe use of syringe pumps in 
palliative care

Separate similar audits were carried out on all our sites. At the Royal Free Hospital we found 
that consent and other discussions with patients were not documented consistently. We also 
identified that records of staff competency were not well kept on some wards. 
At Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital prescribing was accurate but there was room to 
improve the monitoring of patients treated with this continuous medicine-delivery system. 
We intend to make changes to our syringe driver monitoring chart at the Royal Free Hospital 
to facilitate better patient monitoring, and to update and harmonise our clinical guidelines 
on the use of syringe drivers for palliative care medicines at the three hospitals. 

Discharge summaries Following a patient safety alert in August 2014 regarding the quality and timeliness of 
communication with patients’ GPs when discharged from hospital, a local audit identified 
that 30% of discharge summaries contained some incorrect information regarding the 
patient’s medication list. On most occasions, any errors that are identified are corrected 
before a patient is discharged. 
However, these corrections, which are first made to the paper prescription, are sometimes 
not made on the electronic system, which is sent directly to GPs. 
There is therefore a potential risk of the incorrect information being sent. An improvement 
plan is being put in place that will reduce the likelihood of the electronic system being 
different from the paper version, reducing the risk of incorrect information being shared 
with the patient’s GP.
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Information on use  
of CQUIN payment framework

A proportion of the Royal Free London NHS Foundation 
Trust income in 2014/15 was conditional on achieving 
quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between 
the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust and any 
person or body they entered into a contract, agreement 
or arrangement with for the provision of relevant health 
services, through the commissioning for quality and 
innovation (CQUIN) payment framework.

Further details of the agreed goals for 2014/15 and for 
the following 12-month period are available electronically 
at https://www.royalfree.nhs.uk/about-us/corporate-
information-and-accountability/cquin-scheme-priorities.

Additional information

In 2013/14 a total of £8,833,805 of the trust’s income 
was conditional upon achieving quality improvement 
and innovation goals, and for 2014/15 this figure was 
£14,552,000. The final figures for 2014/15 are still in 
negotiation with our commissioners. 

Our CQUIN payment framework for 2014/15 was agreed 
with NHS North East London Commissioning Support Unit 
and NHS England as follows:

Information on participation in  
clinical research

The number of patients receiving relevant 
health services provided or sub-contracted by 
the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust 
in 2014/15 that were recruited during that 
period to participate in research approved by a 
research ethics committee was 5,313. 

Additional information

The above figure includes 2,952 patients 
recruited into studies on the National Institute 
for Health Research (NIHR) portfolio and 2,361 
patients recruited into studies that are not on 
the NIHR portfolio. This figure is higher than 
that reported last year.

The trust is supporting a large research 
portfolio of nearly 800 studies, including both 
commercial and academic research. In 2014/15, 
187 new studies were approved. Research 
taking place within the trust includes clinical 
and medical device trials, research involving 
human tissue and quantitative and qualitative 
research and observational research. 
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CQUIN scheme priorities 
2014/2015

Objective rationale

Friends and family test This national initiative provides timely, detailed feedback from patients about their experience 
in order to improve services for the user. There is significant room for improving the level of 
feedback received from patients across England.

Dementia A quarter of beds in the NHS are occupied by people with dementia. Their length of stay is 
longer than people without dementia and they often receive suboptimal care. Half of those 
admitted have never been diagnosed before admission and referral to appropriate specialist 
community services is often poor. Improvement in assessment and referral will give significant 
improvements in the quality of care and substantial savings.

NHS safety thermometer Participation in data collection is an important step in reducing harm in four areas of concern 
highlighted nationally. A particular focus is on reducing incidents of pressure ulcers in 
hospital and the local community.

Prevention – smoking 
cessation, alcohol screening 
and domestic violence

Helping patients to stop smoking is among the most effective and cost-effective of all 
interventions the NHS can offer. Simple advice from a clinician, during routine patient 
contact, can have a small but significant effect on smoking cessation.
Alcohol-related problems represent a significant share of potentially preventable attendances 
at accident and emergency departments and urgent care centres, as well as emergency 
admissions. Screening for alcohol risk has been shown to reduce subsequent attendances 
and alcohol consumption. 
We plan to introduce and develop existing measures that will help identify, assess and advise 
patients where there is evidence of domestic violence.

Integrated care There are a significant number of frail older people admitted to hospital. Identifying and 
assessing these patients, sharing information with GPs and participating in multidisciplinary 
meetings help to improve care and reduce costs. 

Value-based commissioning The hospital acknowledges that a radical long-term change in managing patient care is 
required to ensure that there will be sufficient resources to meet future demands locally 
for healthcare. This CQUIN is based upon the service transformation programme regarding 
development of the redesigned patient pathways.

Admission avoidance for frail 
elderly

To reduce the number of unnecessary emergency admissions to ensure only patients who 
actually require admission are admitted and to provide ambulatory or same-day care as an 
alternative to admission for elderly patients. 

Making every contact 
count – quality of discharge 
information to primary care

The hospital will ensure that discharge documentation sent to primary care following a patient’s 
admission effectively details all relevant data and clinical information obtained and recorded 
during the patient’s stay in hospital with a specific focus on patients with chronic conditions.

Making every contact count 
– increasing the stop smoking 
offer for patients in contact 
with health services

Introducing an implementation plan at Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital to improve 
the recording of smoking status and increase the access to effective support and treatment 
to stop smoking.

Workforce We will ensure that our workforce has the capacity and capability to deliver compassionate 
and safe care. Moves to achieve this will be informed by the NHS England publication “How 
to ensure the right people, with the right skills, are in the right place at the right time.”

National quality dashboard Implement clinical dashboards for specialised services. The dashboards provide information 
on outcomes for specialised services and assurance on the quality of care.

Highly specialised services For amyloidosis, lysosomal storage disorders, liver and islet transplantation services, hold an 
annual workshop to encourage learning and the spread of best practice.

Haemodialysis To encourage patient involvement in elements of their care at our hospitals and satellite units. 

Endocrinology Identify specialised endocrinology activity in our out-patient departments. 

HIV telemedicine Introduce telemedicine care for clinically appropriate patients diagnosed with HIV.

Patient and public engagement Improve patient and public engagement. Areas targeted in 2014/15 include renal and liver 
transplantation, pulmonary hypertension and cancer services. 

Vascular service transformation Improve patient experience by developing strategies for reducing unnecessary admissions.

AAA screening Increase the uptake rates for abdominal aortic aneurysm screening.

NICU To increase the rate of screening premature babies for retinopathy while an in-patient.

Breast screening Increase the uptake of breast screening. The trust provides a breast screening services from 
our Edgware Community Hospital site.

Dental Complete the dental dashboard which provides information on outcomes for dental services 
and assurance on the quality of care.
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Information on the Care Quality Commission (CQC)  
statement of assurance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust is required to register 
with the Care Quality Commission and its current registration status is 
registered with the Care Quality Commission 

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against 
the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust during 2014/15.

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust has not been subject to 
periodic reviews by the Care Quality Commission. 

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in any 
special reviews or investigations by the CQC during the reporting period.

Additional information

This year we had an unannounced responsive inspection on 5 and 6 
September 2014 at Barnet Hospital. 

The trust was found not to be meeting the following three specific 
essential standards and we have been issued with compliance actions: 

•		 Regulation 9 HSCA 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2010.

Care and Welfare

•   Regulation 12 HSCA 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2010. Cleanliness and Infection Control

•   Regulation 13 HSCA 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2010. Management of Medicines

An action plan was submitted to the CQC on 16 January 2015 outlining 
how we planned to address these concerns. 

The main components of our action plan identify the actions in relation 
to the following areas: 

Safe: work to improve infection control standards, the environment of 
care, our medicines storage and dementia care.

Effective: improvements made to our handover communication, how we 
discharge patients, our staff development and patient consent.

Caring: further work to improve care and compassion, privacy and 
dignity, end-of-life care, our do not attempt resuscitation (DNAR), our 
documentation and record keeping and how we support patient and 
family involvement in care.

Responsive: work to improve our dementia care and communication 
with patients and carers.

Well-led: work to improve how we involve staff in changes and support 
team working.

The progress of the action plan is monitored by the trust executive 
committee. The CQC published report is on both the trust and the 
regulators’ website.

Information on  
data quality

The Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust submitted 
records during 2014/15 to the 
Secondary Uses Service (SUS) for 
inclusion in the hospital episode 
statistics, which are included in 
the latest published data.

The percentage of records in the 
published data which included 
the patient’s valid NHS number 
was:

•	 	98.8%	admitted-patient	care;

•	 	99.2%	for	out-patient	care;	
and

•	 	92.6%	for	accident	and	
emergency care.

The percentage which included 
the patient’s valid general medical 
practice code was:

•	 	99.8%	for	admitted	patient	
care;

•	 	99.9%	for	out-patient	care;	
and

•	 	99.9%	for	accident	and	
emergency care.

Additional information

The figures above are aggregates 
of the Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust and Barnet 
and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS 
Trust entries taken directly from 
the SUS data quality dashboard 
provider view, which is based 
on the provisional April 2013 to 
January 2014 SUS data at the 
month 10 inclusion date.
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Payment by results clinical 
coding audit

The Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust was not subject 
to the payment by results clinical 
coding audit during 2014/15 by 
the Audit Commission.

Additional information

Clinical coding is the process 
by which medical terminology 
written by clinicians to describe a 
patient’s diagnosis, treatment and 
management is translated into 
standard, recognised codes in a 
computer system. 

Information governance 
toolkit attainment levels

The Royal London NHS 
Foundation Trust Information 
Governance Assessment Report 
overall score for 2014/15 was 
70% and was graded green. 

Additional information

Information governance ensures 
we have necessary safeguards for 
the use of patient and personal 
information, as directed by 
the Department of Health and 
national standards. 

Our score on the information 
governance toolkit was a slight 
improvement on last year due 
in part to improved information 
governance training compliance. 
During the 2014/15 financial 
year information governance 
at our three hospitals were 
merged to reflect the expanded 
organisation.

Actions to improve  
data quality

The Royal London NHS 
Foundation Trust will be taking 
the following actions to improve 
data quality:

•	 	Review	and	revision	of	data	
quality strategies from the two 
former trusts to form a new 
strategy for the organisation

•	 	Continue	and	build	on	the	
operational data quality 
improvement initiatives started 
in 2014/15

•	 	Further	enhance	and	develop	
on line support tools for 
operational staff

•	 	Enhance	and	refine	data	
quality reporting and 
performance management
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Meet Gillian
After a ladder fell on Gillian Mayer’s leg she was left 
with a wound she feared would never heal on its own. 
But a revolutionary skin grafting technique being 
trialled at the Royal Free Hospital spared her from 
undergoing invasive skin graft surgery and cut her 
recovery time dramatically.

The Royal Free London’s plastic surgery team is the first in the country to trial 
the new CelluTome procedure, which allows patients to be treated for unhealed 
wounds as out-patients, without the need for surgery or anaesthetic. 

Gillian said: “When the ladder fell on my leg I had no idea how deep it was. It 
was painful, but there wasn’t much blood so I just cleaned it up and put on a 
dressing. 

“But nearly three weeks later it still wasn’t healing. While I was at an 
appointment at the plastic surgery clinic at Mount Vernon Hospital, where I was 
being treated for skin cancer, a doctor referred me to the Royal Free Hospital to 
undergo the CelluTome treatment.”

A traditional skin graft involves surgically removing healthy skin from a donor 
site elsewhere on the body before applying it to the affected area, usually while 
the patient is under general anaesthesia.

CelluTome, however, uses a combination of suction and warmth to cause the 
skin’s surface to blister until it can be removed and captured on silicone gauze, 
which is then cut into strips and applied to the wound site.

“It was all done in an out-patient clinic in about an hour,” said Gillian. “I 
could only feel a slight pin pricking. The heat from the machine was not 
uncomfortable at all and I was able to go home the same day.

“The wound healed very quickly and there was no scarring at all on the donor 
site. I feel privileged to take part in this trial. It’s amazing how the treatment 
works. I was lucky to be in the clinic at the right time.”
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“Pioneering wound 
treatment by the 
plastic surgery 
team is ‘amazing’”
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Our quality performance indicators

Actions to be taken to improve performance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons; 
the data has been sourced from the Health & Social Care Information Centre.

SHMI (summary hospital mortality indicator) is a clinical performance measure which calculates the actual 
number of deaths following admission to hospital against those expected. 

The latest data available covers the 12 months to June 2014. During this period the Royal Free London had a 
mortality risk score of 88.69, which represents a risk of mortality 11.31% lower than expected for our case 
mix. This represents a mortality risk statistically significantly below (better than) expected with the Royal Free 
London ranked 15 out of 137 non-specialist acute trusts. 

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve the mortality risk 
score and so the quality of its services:

A monthly SHMI report is presented to the trust board and a quarterly report to the clinical performance 
committee. Any statistically significant variations in the mortality risk rate are investigated, appropriate  
action taken and a feedback report provided to the trust board and the clinical performance committee at  
their next meetings. 

Indicator Royal Free 
London  
Jul 12 - Jun 13

Royal Free 
London  
Jul 13 - Jun 14

National  
average 
performance  
Jul 13 - Jun 14

Highest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance   
Jul 13 - Jun 14

Lowest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance   
Jul 13 - Jun 14

The value and 
banding of the 
summary hospital-
level mortality 
indicator for the trust.

80.66 (8) 88.69 (15) 101.13 (69) 54.07 (1) 119.82 (137)

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust acquired Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust on 1 July 2014. 
Prior to this date the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust was not accountable for the performance of the 
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust. The data and commentary in the table below presents the most recent 
data available from the nationally prescribed data source (Health and Social Care Information Centre unless stated 
otherwise). It excludes data which crosses the period prior to and the period post acquisition. For example where the 
national data set presents a metric constructed for the period April 14 to March 15 an earlier data set ending prior 
to July 2014 is used. This approach ensures the data reflects only those periods prior to or post acquisition. Metrics 
affected by this approach include:

1) Patient reported outcome measures 

2) The percentage of patients readmitted to the trust within 28 days of discharge 

3) The number and rate of patient safety incidents

Quality account prescribed Indicators 2014/15
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Actions to be taken to improve performance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons; 
the data has been sourced from the Health & Social Care Information Centre. 

The percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded at either diagnosis or specialty level is included as a 
contextual indicator to the SHMI indicator. This is on the basis that other methods of calculating the relative risk 
of mortality make allowances for palliative care whereas the SHMI does not take palliative care into account. 

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the mortality risk 
score and so the quality of its services:

Presenting a monthly report to the trust board and a quarterly report to the clinical performance committee 
detailing the percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coding. Any statistically significantly variations 
in percentage of palliative care coded deaths will be investigated with a feedback report provided to the trust 
board and the clinical performance committee at their next meetings.

Indicator Royal Free 
London  
Jul 12 - Jun 13

Royal Free 
London  
Jul 13 - Jun 14

National  
average 
performance  
Jul 13 - Jun 14

Highest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance   
Jul 13 - Jun 14

Lowest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance   
Jul 13 - Jun 14

The percentage of 
patient deaths with 
palliative care coded 
at either diagnosis or 
specialty level for the 
trust for the reporting 
period.

24.8% 28.4% 24.6% 49.0% 0.0%
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Actions to be taken to improve performance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following  
reasons; the data has been sourced from the Health & Social Care Information Centre and compared to 
internal trust data. 

The NHS asks patients about their health and quality of life before they have an operation, and about their 
health and the effectiveness of the operation afterwards. This helps hospitals measure and improve the quality 
of care provided. 

A negative score indicates that health and quality of life has not improved whereas a positive score suggests 
there has been improvement. For two of the indicators, groin hernia and varicose vein surgery, national data 
has not been made available. This is on the basis that the sample size is so small there is a potential risk that 
individual patients could be identified; the “low numbers rule” exclusion therefore applies.  

While the trust is not receiving a negative score against any of the outcome measures, hip replacement surgery 
has been identified as an outlier by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) based on the 2013/14 data. The CQC 
produces a quarterly intelligent monitoring report for all NHS trusts. The CQC has developed the system to 
monitor a range of key indicators for NHS acute and specialist hospitals. The most recent report (December 
2014) has identified patient feedback following hip replacement surgery as a risk.   

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the patient 
reported outcome measure scores and so the quality of its services:

Reviewing the initial consultation process to ensure that expected outcomes are clear and patient expectations 
are realistic, improving patient information to ensure that risks and benefits are outlined clearly and reviewing 
information provided at discharge to help patients achieve good outcomes post operatively.

Indicator Royal Free 
London  
2012/2013

Royal Free 
London  
2013/2014

National  
average 
performance  
2013/2014

Highest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance   
2013/2014

Lowest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance    
2013/2014

Patient reported 
outcome measures 
scores for:

(i) groin hernia surgery 0.07
Low number rule 

applies
0.09 0.14 0.01

(ii) varicose vein 
surgery

0.08
Low number rule 

applies
0.09 0.17 0.02

(iii) hip replacement 
surgery

0.38 0.38 0.44 0.55 0.34

(iv) knee replacement 
surgery

0.26 0.30 0.31 0.42 0.22
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Indicator Royal Free 
London  
2012/2013

Royal Free 
London  
2013/2014

National  
average 
performance   
2013/2014

Highest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance    
2013/2014

Lowest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance    
2013/2014

The percentage of 
patients readmitted 
to the trust within 28 
days of discharge for 
patients aged:

(i) 0 to 15 4.31 4.03 7.49 4.03 14.77

(ii) 16 or over 8.21 7.52 7.76 2.52 13.67

Note: Trusts with zero 
readmissions have 
been excluded from 
the data.

Actions to be taken to improve performance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons; 
the data has been sourced from Dr Foster, a leading provider of healthcare variation analysis and clinical 
benchmarking, and compared to internal trust data. The Dr Foster data-set used in this table presents Royal 
Free London NHS Foundation Trust performance against the Dr Foster University Hospitals peer group. 

The Royal Free London carefully monitors the rate of emergency readmissions as a measure for quality of care 
and the appropriateness of discharge. A low, or reducing, rate of readmission is seen as evidence of good 
quality care.

The rate of readmissions at the Royal Free London for children is the lowest (best) in the peer group. In relation 
to adults the re-admission rate is lower (better) than the peer group average. 

The Royal Free London NHS Trust has undertaken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services:  A detailed enquiry into patients classified as readmissions with our public health doctors, 
working with GPs, identifying the underlying causes of readmissions. This is supporting the introduction of new 
clinical strategies designed to improve the quality of care provided and reduce the incidence of readmissions. 
In addition the trust has identified a number of data quality issues affecting the readmission rate, including 
the incorrect recording of planned admissions. The trust is working with its staff to improve data quality in this 
area. 
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Actions to be taken to improve performance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons; 
the data has been sourced from the Health & Social Care Information Centre and compared to published 
survey results.

The NHS has prioritised, through its commissioning strategy, an improvement in hospitals’ responsiveness to 
the personal needs of its patients. Information is gathered through patient surveys. A higher score suggests 
better performance. Trust performance is below (worse than) the national average.   

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and 
so the quality of its services: 

The trust has a comprehensive patient experience improvement plan overseen by the patient and staff 
experience committee, a sub-committee of the trust board. During February 2014 the trust received an 
unannounced inspection by the Care Quality Commission. The inspection was designed to assess the trust’s 
performance against the following standards: 

1) Consent to care and treatment 

2) Care and welfare of people who use services

3) Meeting nutritional needs

4) Cleanliness and infection control

5) Staffing

6) Supporting workers

7) Complaints

The inspection report found that all standards had been met. While the trust is considered to be meeting Care 
Quality Commission standards, the patient and staff experience committee will oversee targeted action to 
improve its responsiveness to the personal needs of patients.

Indicator Royal Free 
London  
2012/2013

Royal Free 
London  
2013/2014

National  
average 
performance   
2013/2014

Highest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance    
2013/2014

Lowest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance    
2013/2014

The trust’s 
commissioning for 
quality and innovation 
indicator score 
with regard to its 
responsiveness to the 
personal needs of its 
patients during the 
reporting period.

65.6 67.4 68.7 84.2 54.4
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Actions to be taken to improve performance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons; 
the data has been sourced from the Health & Social Care Information Centre and compared to published 
survey results. 

Each year the NHS surveys its staff and one of the questions looks at whether or not staff would recommend 
their hospital as a care provider to family or friends. The trust performs significantly better than the national 
average on this measure.   

The Royal Free London NHS Trust has taken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services: 

Introducing activities to enhance engagement of staff which have resulted in an increase in the percentage of 
staff who would recommend their hospital as a care provider to family or friends.

The trust has implemented a world class care programme embodying the core values of being welcoming, 
respectful, communicating and reassuring. These are the four words which describe how we interact with each 
other and our patients. For the year ahead the continuation of our world class care programme anticipates 
even greater clinical and staff engagement.

Indicator Royal Free 
London  
2013

Royal Free 
London  
2014

National  
average 
performance   
Jul 2014

Highest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance    
2014

Lowest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance    
2014

The percentage of 
staff employed by, 
or under contract to, 
the trust during the 
reporting period who 
would recommend 
the trust as a provider 
of care to their family 
or friends.

72.6% 71% 67% 93% 33%
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Actions to be taken to improve performance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons; 
the data has been sourced from the Health & Social Care Information Centre and compared to internal trust 
data. 

The venous thromboembolism (VTE) data presented in this report is for the period July to September 2014 and 
October to December 2014. On 1 July 2014 the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust acquired Barnet and 
Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust. Therefore the period reported includes VTE data for all trust sites including the 
Barnet Hospital, Chase Farm Hospital and the Royal Free Hospital. 

Many potentially preventable deaths occur in hospitals  each year as a result of VTE. The government has set 
hospitals a target requiring 90% of patients to be assessed in relation to risk of VTE.   

The Royal Free London performed better than the 95% national target and performed better than the national 
average.   

The Royal Free London NHS Trust has undertaken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services: 

Reporting our rate of hospital acquired thromboembolism (HAT) to the monthly meeting of the trust board 
and the quarterly meeting of the clinical performance committee. Any significant variations in the incidence of 
HAT are subject to investigation with a feedback report provided to the trust board and clinical performance 
committee at their next meetings. In addition the thrombosis unit conducts a detailed clinical audit into each 
reported case of HAT with findings shared with the wider clinical community. 

Indicator Royal Free 
London 
Jul 14 - Sep 14

Royal Free 
London  
Oct 14 - Dec 14

National  
average 
performance  
Oct 14 - Dec 14

Highest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance  
Oct 14 - Dec 14

Lowest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance  
Oct 14 - Dec 14

The percentage of 
patients who were 
admitted to hospital 
and who were risk 
assessed for venous 
thromboembolism 
during the reporting 
period.

97.0% 96.1% 95.1% 100.0% 81.2%
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Actions to be taken to improve performance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons; 
the data has been sourced from the Health and Social Care Information Centre, compared to internal trust 
data, and data hosted by the Health Protection Agency. 

Clostridium difficile (C.diff) can cause severe diarrhoea and vomiting. The infection can spread  within hospitals 
particularly during the winter months. Reducing the rate of C.diff infections is a key government target.

Royal Free London performance was significantly worse than the national average during 2012/13. While the 
rate has reduced significantly it remains above the national average during 2013/14. More recent internal 
trust data for the period 2014/15 demonstrates that for the period April 2014 to February 15 the Royal Free 
Hospital site had recorded 25 infections against a plan of 35 and was therefore compliant with its national 
trajectory. However it should be noted that during this period the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust 
acquired Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, and with those sites included the trust had recorded 
more infections that its annual plan.    

The Royal Free London NHS Trust has undertaken the following actions to improve this rate, and so the quality 
of its services:  

The implementation of robust governance arrangements. To ensure performance improvement during 2013/14 
the trust asked for independent scrutiny, by a national expert, of our infection control processes. The trust also 
invited two other national experts to review adherence to infection control policy. The action plan arising from 
the reviews has been considered and fully implemented. In addition the trust is ensuring that all staff adhere to 
the trust’s infection control policies, including hand hygiene and dress code.  

Indicator Royal Free 
London  
2012/2013

Royal Free 
London  
2013/2014

National  
average 
performance 
2013/2014

Highest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance 
2013/2014

Lowest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance 
2013/2014

The rate per 100,000 
bed days of cases of 
C.difficile infection 
that have occurred 
within the trust 
amongst patients 
aged two or over.

30.5 22.2 13.9 0 37.1
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Actions to be taken to improve performance

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons; 
the data has been sourced from the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS).

The National Patient Safety Agency regards the identification and reporting of incidents as a sign of good 
governance with organisations reporting more incidents potentially having a better and more effective safety 
culture. The trust reported significantly fewer incidents than the national average during October 2013 to 
March 2014.    

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve its reporting rate and 
so the quality of its services:  

1) Simplifying the process for staff to report incidents and export data to the NRLS with a web-based reporting 
tool. Experience from other trusts has indicated that the introduction of a web-based tool significantly increases 
the volume of forms submitted by staff. The web-based system went live during February 2013. 

2) In addition the trust has developed a patient safety campaign with the aim of focusing on improving the 
patient safety culture, including encouraging staff to report incidents and providing timely feedback to staff on 
the outcomes and learning resulting from incident investigations.  

We have robust processes in place to capture incidents. However there are risks at every trust relating to the 
completeness of data collected for all incidents (regardless of their severity) as it relies on every incident being 
reported. We have provided training to staff and there are various policies in place relating to incident reporting 
but this does not provide full assurance that all incidents are reported. We believe this is in line with all other 
trusts. 

There is also clinical judgement in the classification of an incident as “severe harm” as it requires moderation 
and judgement against subjective criteria and processes. This can be evidenced as classifications can change 
once they are reviewed. Therefore, it could be expected that the number of severe incidents could change from 
that shown here due to this review process.

Indicator Royal Free 
London   
Apr 13 - Sept 13

Royal Free 
London  
Oct 13 - Mar 14

National  
average 
performance  
Oct 13 - Mar 14

Highest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance  
Oct 13 - Mar 14

Lowest 
performing 
NHS trust 
performance  
Oct 13 - Mar 14

The number and 
rate of patient 
safety incidents that 
occurred within the 
trust during the 
reporting period.

2,422 (6.92) 2,422 (6.92) 6,184 (8.72) 8,841 (14.91) 4,758 (4.63)

The number and 
percentage of 
such patient safety 
incidents that resulted 
in severe harm or 
death.

13 (0.5%) 22 (0.91%) 22.7 (0.37%) 1 (0.03%) 36 (0.3%)
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Our quality performance indicators

Our external auditors 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
(PwC) are required under Monitor’s 
“2014/15 Detailed Guidance for 
External Assurance on Quality 
Reports” to perform testing on 
two national indicators. A detailed 
definition and explanation of the 
criteria applied for the measurement 
of the indicators tested by PwC is 
included below.

Data quality definitions

The following information includes 
the definitions of the quality 
indicators which were subject to the 
external assurance process.

Percentage of incomplete 
pathways within 18 weeks 
for patients on incomplete 
pathways

Descriptor: The percentage of 
incomplete pathways within 18 
weeks for patients on incomplete 
pathways at the end of the period.

Numerator: The number of 
patients on an incomplete pathway 
at the end of the reporting period 
who have been waiting no more 
than 18 weeks.

Denominator: The total number of 
patients on an incomplete pathway 
at the end of the reporting period.

Starting incomplete pathways: 
The clock start date is defined as 
the date that the referral is received 
by the trust, meeting the criteria set 
out by the Department of Health 
guidance. 

Indicator format: The indicator 
is calculated as the arithmetic 
average for the monthly reported 
performance for April 2014 to 
March 2015 and is reported as a 
percentage.

The performance by Barnet Hospital 
and Chase Farm Hospital has not 
been reported due to issues with 
the data which have resulted in 
national reporting of their data 
ceasing in September 2013. This 
was agreed with Monitor and PwC 
has assured only Royal Free Hospital 
performance against this indicator.

The percentage of incomplete 
pathways within 18 weeks for 
patients on incomplete pathways at 
the end of the period for 2014/15 
was 92.2% A  .

Maximum waiting time of 62 
days from urgent GP referral 
to first treatment for all 
cancers

Descriptor: Percentage of patients 
receiving first definitive treatment 
for cancer within 62 days following 
an urgent GP referral for suspected 
cancer within a given period for all 
cancers. 

Data definition: All cancers two 
month urgent referral to treatment 
wait. 

Denominator: Total number of 
patients receiving first definitive 
treatment for cancer following an 
urgent GP referral for suspected 
cancer, with a given period for  
all cancers. 

Numerator: Number of patients 
receiving first definitive treatment 
for cancer within 62 days following 
an urgent GP referral for suspected 
cancer, within a given period for all 
cancers.

Starting the 62-day pathway: The 
starting point for this period is the 
receipt of the referral. The original 
referral can be received either: 

•		direct	from	the	general	medical	
practitioner or general dental 
practitioner 

•	via	the	Choose	and	Book	system.

Receipt of referral is day 0 for the 
62-day period

Ending the 62-day pathway: 
The period end is the first definitive 
treatment. This start date may differ 
slightly for different treatments. 

The percentage of patients treated 
within 62 days for 2014/15 was 
79.5%   .

As a foundation trust 
we are required to 
report against the 
following core set of 
indicators. 

A
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PART 3 
OTHER INFORMATION

Quality performance indicators

This section of the Royal Free Hospital’s quality report contains an overview of the quality of care offered by the 
trust based on the performance against indicators selected by the board in consultation with our stakeholders. The 
indicators cover three dimensions of quality:

•	 Patient	safety

•	 Clinical	effectiveness

•	 Patient	experience

The Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust acquired Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust on 1 July 2014. 
The data in the graphs and commentary below aggregates performance to present a view of combined trust 
performance for quarters 2 to 4, excluding quarter 1, the period prior to acquisition. During quarter 1 the Royal 
Free London NHS Foundation Trust was not accountable for the performance of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust. 

The data used to report our performance are the most up to date nationally available Health and Social Care 
Information Centre (HSCIC) statistics. We have used historical data where this is available to triangulate and report 
our performance throughout this section of the report.

In some instances, for example cancer indicators, national performance data for quarter 4 was not available at the 
time this report was prepared.

We have made the following changes to indicators reported in this section. We have:

•	 	included	the	C.difficile	indicator	to	demonstrate	a	full	picture	of	our	performance	in	relation	to	infection	
control and prevention    

•	 	removed	the	following	indicators	previously	reported	in	our	2013/14	quality	accounts

•	 	not	included	the	patient	reported	outcome	measures	(PROMs)	indicator	as	we	report	this	as	part	of	our	
mandatory performance indicators within these accounts

•	 	removed	the	ward	cleanliness	indicator	as	there	is	no	national	benchmark	against	which	we	can	meaningfully	
measure this. 
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Patient safety indicators

SHMI (summary hospital mortality indicator) is a clinical performance measure which calculates the actual 
number of deaths following admission to hospital against those expected. 

The observed volume of deaths is shown alongside the expected number (casemix adjusted) and this calculates 
the ratio of actual to expected deaths to create an index of 100. A relative risk of 100 would indicate 
performance exactly as expected. A relative risk of 95 would indicate a rate 5% below (better than) expected 
with a figure of 105 indicating a performance 5% higher (worse than) expected.

SHMI data is presented for the year to June 2014, the month before the acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm 
Hospitals NHS Trust. For this period the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust SHMI ratio was 88.7 or 11.3% 
better than expected. For this period the Royal Free London had the eighth lowest rate of any English teaching trust. 

(Data source: Health and Social Care Information Centre)   

The HSMR (hospital standardised mortality ratio) data shows that for the year to the end of June 2014, the 
month before the acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust recorded the sixth lowest relative risk of mortality of any English teaching trust with a relative 
risk of mortality of 79.7, which is 20.3% below (statistically significantly better than) expected. 

(Data source: Dr Foster Intelligence Ltd)
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MRSA is an antibiotic resistant infection associated with admissions to hospital. The infection can cause an acute 
illness particularly when a patient’s immune system may be compromised by an underlying illness.  

Reducing the rate of MRSA infections is key to ensuring patient safety and is indicative of the degree to which 
hospitals prevent the risk of infection by ensuring cleanliness of their facilities and good infection control 
compliance by their staff.  

In the nine months to the end of March 2015 the Royal Free London reported five MRSA bacteraemias, four 
at Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital. The case recorded at the Royal Free Hospital was the first for 27 
consecutive months. 

Against the 25 teaching trusts, the trust is ranked 15th with a rate of 2.01 bacteraemias per 100,000 bed days.

In relation to C.difficile the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust is ranked seventh out of 25 English 
teaching trusts for the period July 2014 to March 2015 with a reported rank of 16.5 per 100,000 bed days.

Internal trust data demonstrates that for the period April 2014 to March 2015, the Royal Free Hospital recorded 25 cases 
against a trajectory of 38; Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital reported 33 infections against a trajectory of 16. 

The trust is working to identify the root cause of each MRSA bacteraemia and C.difficile infection and will apply 
the same rigour at the Royal Free Hospital. The trust will be prioritising a significant reduction in the rate and 
volume of these infections during 2015/16. This will be achieved by doing a root cause analysis of every case 
and ensuring all staff consistently apply the trust’s infection control policies. 

(Data source: Public Health England)
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There are many potentially preventable hospital deaths each year from hospital acquired thromboembolism 
(HAT). The government has set hospitals a target requiring 95% of patients to be assessed in relation to  
risk of VTE. 

For the period July 14 to March 15, the most recent data available following the acquisition of Barnet and Chase 
Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the trust recorded 46 HAT cases; the trend is described in the chart opposite. 

The trust reports its rate of hospital acquired thromboembolism to the monthly meeting of the trust board 
and the quarterly meeting of the clinical performance committee. Any significant variations in the incidence of 
HAT are subject to investigation with a feedback report provided to the trust board and clinical performance 
committee at their next meetings. 

(Data source: Internal trust data)
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Clinical effectiveness indicators 

Note: Data is indicative of RFH site performance only.

Note: Data is indicative of RFH site performance only. 
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A maximum waiting of 18 weeks from referral to treatment is a key government access target with the NHS 
Constitution guaranteeing every citizen the right to treatment within 18 weeks.

Recognising that not all patients can be treated within 18 weeks (eg due to clinical need, highly specialised 
surgery or patient unavailability) the government has set thresholds for admitted and non-admitted patients 
stipulating that 90% and 95% of patients respectively must start definitive treatment in 18 weeks

The Royal Free Hospital part of the trust met all three national 18-week waiting time targets (for patients who 
had been admitted, who had been out-patients and who were still waiting) in each month during 2014/15. 

The waiting time position inherited from Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust was not reported last 
year due to the data being wholly unreliable. In 2015/16 our plan is to report for the first time on the 18-week 
performance for the whole combined trust and to reduce long waiting times as the year progresses.  

The external auditors have qualified their opinion in respect of the indicator measuring 18-week incomplete 
pathways. This is because: 

i. the database system used by the trust does not adequately process the data for all pathways, and;

ii. the scripts used to perform the analysis do not always reflect the latest Department of Health guidance.

The impact of the above issues means that the date at which the pathway begins is not consistently and reliably 
extracted. 

The trust is implementing and testing a new database system which will address these issues; this system will be 
used across all trust sites from summer 2015, including Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital where national 
reporting ceased in September 2013.

 (Data source: National Health Service England)

Note: Data is indicative of RFH site performance only. 
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The accident and emergency (A&E) department is often the patient’s point of arrival, especially in an 
emergency when patients are in need of urgent treatment.

Historically, patients often had to wait a long time from arrival in A&E to be assessed and treated.

The graph summarises the the Royal Free London’s performance in relation to meeting the four-hour maximum 
wait time standard compared to performance across London. 

A higher percentage reflects shorter waiting-times. During the period July 2014 to March 2015, following the 
acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the Royal Free London was the fifth best performing 
out of a total of 19 London trusts.

However during this period the trust underperformed against the required 95% standard, achieving a rate of 
94.78%. 

The late summer, autumn and winter of 2014/15 was an extremely challenging period with most trusts across 
England and London failing the standard. 

Pressure on A&Es has been increasing with more people than ever before choosing accident and emergency as 
their preferred means of accessing urgent healthcare. 

We are working with our commissioners to understand these patient flows and offer community-based 
alternatives to hospital care. 

In addition the trust has invested heavily in modernising and extending its emergency service, including starting 
work on a complete rebuild of the Royal Free Hospital’s A&E department. 

(Data source: National Health Service England)   
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Day cases are planned procedures organised so that the patient receives treatment and returns home the same 
day. A high day case rate is seen as good practice both from a patient’s perspective and in terms of efficient use 
of resources. 

During the period July to December 14, the most recent data available following the acquisition of Barnet and 
Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the Royal Free London was the best performing trust against this peer group. 

Length of stay is also an important efficiency indicator with, in most cases, a shorter length of stay being 
indicative of well organised and effective care. Between July and December 14 the Royal Free London was the 
ninth best performing trust against the peer group of 13 large teaching providers referenced above. 

(Data source: Dr Foster Intelligence Ltd)
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Clinical evidence shows that the sooner patients with cancer symptoms are assessed diagnosed and treated the 
better the clinical outcomes and survival rates.

National targets require 93% of patients urgently referred by their GP to be seen within two weeks, 96% of 
patients to receive their first treatment within 31 days of the decision to treat and 85% of patients to receive 
their first definitive treatment within 62 days of referral.

National data is provided for the period July 14 to December 14, the most recent data available following the 
acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust. Over this period the Royal Free London performed 
better than the national targets in relation to the two-week wait and 31-day standards. 

However the Royal Free London underperformed against the 62-day standard. This is primarily due to long waits 
for urology tests as well as long waits for prostate cancer treatments at other trusts.  

In response the trust has set out a detailed recovery plan requiring a return to national target compliance by June 
2015. The plan is supported by a series of improvements across out-patients, diagnostics as well as reducing 
waiting times for treatment.   

The graphs present the trust’s performance relative to English teaching trust performance and the relevant 
national target. 

(Data source: National Health Service England) 
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The Royal Free London carefully monitors the rate of emergency readmissions as a marker of the quality of 
care and the appropriateness of discharge. A low, or reducing, rate of readmission is seen as evidence of good 
quality care. The hospital is working with commissioners, GPs and local authorities to provide patients with 
support once they leave our hospitals to reduce the rate of readmissions. 

The chart shows the three hospitals’ performance relative to the teaching trusts which Dr Foster regards as the 
trust’s peer group.

For the period July 14 to December 14, the most recent data available following the acquisition of Barnet and 
Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the Royal Free Hospital reported a relative risk 7.2% below expected. This 
equates to a significantly lower than expected risk of readmission and is the fifth lowest compared to the 25 
English teaching hospitals.

The services provided at Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital are shown on the same chart for comparative 
purposes. 

The readmission rate at Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital is 6.7% below (better than) expected, but this 
is within the limits expected by random variation.

(Data source: Dr Foster Ltd)
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Patient experience indicators

Cancelling operations at the last minute is extremely upsetting for patients and results in longer waiting times 
for treatment.

During November 2013 the Royal Free London prioritised the reduction of cancellations in order to improve 
patient experience. The impact was immediate and sustained, resulting in an improvement in the rate of elective 
activity cancelled at the last minute for non-clinical reasons.

During the six-month period from July to December 2014, the most recent data available following the 
acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the Royal Free NHS Foundation Trust cancelled 0.3% 
of elective activity at the last minute for non-clinical reasons resulting in it being the seventh best performing of 
the 25 teaching trusts. 

(Data source: National Health Service England)  
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Delayed transfers occur when patients no longer need the specialist care provided in hospital but instead 
require rehabilitation or longer-term care in the community. A delayed transfer occurs when a patient is 
occupying a hospital bed due to the lack of appropriate facilities in the community or because the hospital has 
not properly organised the patient’s transfer. 

This means inappropriate care for patients and wasted resources so the aim is to reduce the rate of delayed 
transfers. 

Through more effective working with our community partners and better internal organisation the rate of 
delayed transfers of care had reduced significantly since 2009. However, for the period July 14 to March 15, 
the most recent data available following the acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust, the 
chart above described a recent increase. This is associated with a challenging winter period when the pressure 
on services is at its greatest. The trust is working with its partners and commissioning agencies to improve the 
position for 2015/16. 

(Data source: National Health Service England)
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The friends and family test (FFT) was introduced in April 2013. Its purpose is to improve patient experience of 
care and identify the best performing hospitals in England. 

The test aims to provide a simple, headline metric which, when combined with follow-up questions, can be 
used to drive cultural change and continuous improvements in the quality of care received by NHS patients. 
Across England the survey covers 4,500 NHS wards and 144 A&E services.

Trust performance is provided in in the chart above for the period July 14 to march 15, the most recent data 
available following the acquisition of Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust. The data relates to test 
responses relating to A&E and in-patient wards. 
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Monitoring of local audit quality improvement 
actions from 2013/14 quality accounts

Clinical audits 
are essential 
to monitoring 
performance and 
improving as a trust.  

Over the next few pages we will 
provide examples of how we have 
continually improved the quality  
of service we provided over the  
past year. 

For several years we have embraced 
national audits as a means of 
benchmarking ourselves against 
others in the UK. There are now 
over 50 national audits in which we 
regularly participate. In several we 
are able to show improvements over 
successive audit cycles. We have 
benefited from the insights they 
give us into how we can improve 
care for our patients. 

These audits involve our evaluating 
our performance with more than 
200 indicators, for example whether 
surgery is performed within 36 
hours of a hip fracture and the 
ideal sugar control in children with 
diabetes. 

From 2011 to 2014 we have seen 
an improvement of 25% compared 
to 10% in 2011. As a result we 
can say that care at the Royal Free 

Hospital is now among the best in 
the UK as a result of improvements 
we have made to patient safety, 
clinical effectiveness and patient 
experience.

Following the acquisition, we have 
taken a similar systematic approach 
to evaluating the findings relating to 
care at Barnet Hospital and Chase 
Farm Hospital and have found a 
similar distribution of performance 
to that of the Royal Free Hospital. 
Areas of relative strength and 
weakness differ, however, and 
provide a useful opportunity for us 
to learn from each other within the 
new enlarged organisation.

The next section describes some of 
the improvements we have made 
in 2014/15 as a result of our clinical 
audit activities and includes updates 
on plans we announced in our 
quality report last year, including our 
governors’ priority that focuses on 
improving patient experience and 
clinical outcomes for those admitted 
with a fractured hip.  
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Local audit priorities reported in our 
2013/14 quality accounts to improve 
the clinical effectiveness of our services

Actions we have undertaken to date

* Governors’ priority 
Pain relief in our emergency departments 
after fractured hip

At Barnet Hospital, a local audit showed that 80% of patients who had 
suffered a fractured hip were still in pain after receiving painkillers, including 
morphine, demonstrating the need to improve pain relief for these patients. 
By raising awareness of guidelines from the National Institute for Health and 
Care Excellence (NICE), improving assessment of pain and providing training to 
our doctors through a workshop, we promoted the use of “nerve blocks” and 
significantly improved the quality of pain relief.
We have greatly improved pain relief for patients who are admitted through the 
Royal Free Hospital’s A&E  with fractured hips, and our performance now lies in 
the top 25% nationally.  All eligible patients were treated with an advanced pain 
technique, known as a “nerve block”, for pain relief.

Target: not more than four hours from A&E 
to ward
Target: not more than 36 hours from 
admission with a hip fracture to theatre

Between Sept 2013 and Aug 2014 at the Royal Free Hospital this was achieved 
for 51% of our patients. From Sept 2014 to March 2015 we achieved this for 
52% of patients.
Sept 2013 – Aug 2014:  76% of our patients.
Sept 2014 – March 2015: 70% (115 patients).
The later period includes the winter months when bed availability was under 
greater pressure, as it was nationally.

Royal Free  
London’s emergency 
department

Epilepsy in adults Results from the national audit of seizure management indicate that we now 
perform in the top quartile nationally for assessing neurological observations.  
We have also become more consistent in measuring patients’ temperatures  
after seizures.

Pain relief for 
children

Following the College of Emergency Medicine’s national audit last year, we 
have designed patient and parent leaflets with information on pain relief and 
pain scoring in children. We will soon be distributing these to all parents who 
accompany children with pain. We expect to see an improvement in pain scoring 
and timely use of analgesics at home, as suggested by the results of an earlier 
pilot study.

Severe sepsis 
management

We continue to perform in the top quartile nationally for seven of the 
eight metrics evaluated in this audit, including the six steps of our sepsis six 
programme.

Feverish children We are doing much better at recording all observations on children. Our 
performance lies between the average and top 25% nationally.

Patients with  
alcohol disorders

When assessing and managing alcohol withdrawal at the Royal Free Hospital we 
use the clinical institute withdrawal assessment (CIWA) scale, but we know it is 
applied inconsistently. We plan to improve training on this. 

CT scan after  
head injury

In our most recent audit, 60% of CT scans for suspected head injuries were 
performed within an hour of the request

Heart attacks (non-ST elevation myocardial 
infarction)

At Barnet Hospital and the Royal Free Hospital we have developed a pathway for 
managing patients with acute coronary syndrome which will help us achieve the 
best possible care, in accordance with revised NICE guidance, at both our acute 
hospitals.

Elective cardioversion for atrial fibrillation Prior to elective cardioversion for atrial fibrillation, patients need to be 
established on blood thinning therapy to reduce the risk of a stroke. When 
warfarin is used it takes at least four weeks to establish a stable dose. We 
have changed our blood thinning therapy for Barnet Hospital patients to one 
of the newer anticoagulants. This has allowed earlier scheduling of elective 
cardioversion. We will be extending this revised pathway to the Royal Free 
Hospital.

Continence plans after stroke Most recent data indicates we have improved our continence planning and 
currently assess 95% of patients who have suffered a stroke for their continence 
needs.

Intra-operative assessment of tumour spread 
(one-step nucleic acid molecular assay of 
sentinel lymph nodes)

We now offer this as standard for all suitable patients having sentinel lymph 
node biopsy. Introduction of this technology has led to a reduction in the need 
for patients to undergo complete clearance of the axillary lymph nodes.
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Local audit priorities reported in our 
2013/14 quality accounts to improve 
the clinical effectiveness of our services

Actions we have undertaken to date

Aortic disease In a bid to design a more patient-focused service, we have restructured our aortic 
team at the Royal Free Hospital, appointing two substantive consultants and 
a clinical lead. Early work has focused on improving the patient experience for 
our patients with aortic disease, for example by introducing a “one-stop-shop” 
approach to assessment. Patients now make one visit to hospital before surgery, 
meet the surgical team and have all necessary investigations and pre-operative 
assessment on the same day. The introduction of an “aortic hotline” and a new 
referral service has improved the team’s responsiveness to patients and referring 
physicians. We have developed evidence-based protocols for pre-operative 
assessment and preparation to ensure we take in account patients’ individual 
clinical needs. 
In a bid to reduce radiation dose, we have introduced fusion imaging in our vascular 
hybrid theatre, allowing the team to use virtual images superimposed on fluoroscopic 
images to guide the placement of stent grafts.

Platelet transfusion Platelet transfusion can be a life-saving intervention when a patient has severe 
bleeding or profound platelet deficiency due to chemotherapy or bone marrow 
transplantation. However, it is expensive and carries the risk of side effects. 
We audited the use of platelet transfusion and introduced a new role,  platelet 
co-ordinator, to guide optimal use of platelet transfusion through better use of 
testing at the point of care, improved platelet increment testing to guide the 
use of platelet transfusion and appropriate use of double dosing. This new role 
has so far proved effective in safely reducing our use of platelet transfusions to 
patients with cancer. We intend to extend this improvement to other clinical 
areas where platelet transfusions are often required.

Referrals to palliative care At the Royal Free Hospital, an audit of in-patient referrals to the palliative 
care team showed that most referrals were made by clinicians caring for older 
people. To avoid any delay in referral, the Monday morning ward round by these 
clinicians is now attended twice a month by a palliative medicine registrar who 
can give specialist advice and identify patients needing referral. 

Opioid prescribing in palliative care We have updated our guidelines on the use of this therapy and have developed 
information for patients.

Organ donation We have established an organ donation committee for our three hospitals. 

Pain relief for in-patients We have made improvements to our pain management training programme for 
staff, with a particular focus on pain assessment and documentation. We will 
be launching credit-card-sized “pain prompter” for ward staff to facilitate easy 
reference to pain assessment tools and safety checks.

Nutritional screening tool for elderly 
patients

A new nutritional screening tool for elderly patients has been in use for much 
of the last year, encouraging  prescription of nutritional supplements to patients 
who may benefit from them.

Early mobilisation after Caesarean section Early mobilisation is included in our enhanced recovery programme at the  
maternity unit at Barnet Hospital. 

Breastfeeding facilities on our  
neonatal unit

A national audit run by the charity Bliss looks at all areas of neonatal care. As a 
result of the audit in 2013, we have improved our facilities for breast feeding.

Missed medication doses We have introduced a “safety cross” programme on one of our wards to 
help alert staff when a medication dose has been missed. Recent data shows 
a reduction in missed doses as a result and we are extending the scheme to 
another ward.  

Patient experience for women with breast 
cancer

Having reviewed the patient experience survey responses from women who use 
our breast cancer service, we have appointed a new clinical nurse specialist to 
support patients with breast cancer. We have updated and improved our patient 
information leaflets and improved our processes for ensuring patients receive the 
information most relevant to their condition.



199

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 / Quality report

Annex 1: 

Statements from commissioners, local Healthwatch organisations and overview  
and scrutiny committees.

The views of our patients, local community, governors and staff are essential in helping us maintain and develop 
high-quality clinical services. We carried out a series of exercises to ensure we engaged our various stakeholders and 
partners as much as possible in developing this quality report.

We sent this year’s draft quality report to the following organisations for comment on 14 April 2015:

•		 Healthwatch	Barnet

•		 Healthwatch	Camden

•	 Healthwatch	Enfield

•	 Healthwatch	Hertfordshire	

•		 Barnet	health	overview	and	scrutiny	committee

•		 Camden	health	and	adult	social	care	scrutiny	committee

•		 Barnet	Clinical	Commissioning	Group

•		 Camden	Clinical	Commissioning	Group

•	 Enfield	Clinical	Commissioning	Group

•	 Herts	Valley	Clinical	Commissioning	Group

•		 North	and	East	London	Commissioning	Support	Unit

•		 Council	of	governors

Our external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, also reviewed our quality report and we have incorporated its 
preliminary comments into the final version.

The following statements have been received from our stakeholders:
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Healthwatch Barnet

Quality account (QA) 
engagement event

With Healthwatch Enfield and 
Camden, our quarterly meetings 
with the director of nursing and 
director for integrated care have 
proved an effective means to convey 
issues of concern or good practice 
from local patients.

We were pleased to see that the 
Royal Free London (RFL) held an 
engagement event for the quality 
account, but were disappointed 
that we only received notification 
of the event a day before it was 
due to take place which meant that 
we were not able to attend and 
contribute to the development of 
year three priorities. 

To aid local people’s understanding, 
it would be helpful if the QA 
included details of how the priorities 
were developed with patient 
representatives.

Performance against key quality 
objectives/priorities 2015/16

For all three priorities, the general 
public would better understand 
what has been achieved if the 
existing and proposed targets 
were provided in numbers as well 
as percentages and were also 
compared with national or London 
performance by other providers, 
where this information is available. 

Priority one: World class patient 
information

We recognize that due to the 
difficulties in recruiting to the post 
of patient information manager the 
work in this area has not been fully 
developed. The use of equipment 
such as induction loops is welcome 
and we anticipate that the work 
in the coming year would include 
a review of the overall accessibility 
of the trust’s information and 
communications, particularly in view 
of the emerging NHS standards on 
accessible information. This is an 
area about which we have liaised 
with RFL directors in the past year. 

Priority two: In-Patient  
Diabetes Care

It’s good to see the improved 
patient responses to mealtimes. We 
are aware that a different catering 
system is used at Chase Farm 
Hospital (CFH) than the Royal Free 
Hospital (RFH) and suggest that the 
approach used at CFH is replicated 
at RFH and also that, since food is 
so important to patient recovery, 
that further work is carried out to 
see how patient satisfaction can be 
improved in this area. 

We welcome the much improved 
foot assessments at CFH but the 
low rate at RFH is a great concern. 
We support further work in this area 
for year three.

Priorities for improvement for 
2015/16

We welcome the patient experience 
strategy and the four focus areas 
(dementia; carers; cancer; poor 
experience) which will clearly meet 
the priorities for our local population. 
In particular carers have provided 
comments to Healthwatch about 
their lack of involvement in their 
relative’s discharge from hospital, 
and again, this is an issue we have 
shared with RFL in the past year. 

We welcome the focus on  
patient safety and improved 
systems, aligned with staff  
reviews and training. 

Care Quality Commission 

In the interests of transparency, we 
would like the QA to include further 
details of the issues raised by the 
CQC in the visits to Barnet Hospital 
and the action taken by the trust to 
make improvements. 

Quality performance indicators

We recognise that the data is 
incomplete at the time of our 
response but note the following:

•		 	The	trust’s	positive	proposed	
steps to improve responsiveness 
to the personal needs of patients

•		 	The	efforts	to	reduce	C.difficile	
and MRSA infections across 
all sites by applying the good 
practice developed in each 
individual site

•			 	The	proposed	efforts	to	 
increase reporting of patient 
safety incidents

•		 	We	welcome	the	recovery	
plan for achieving national 
compliance on 62-week cancer 
waits by June 2015, which is a 
concern

•		 	The	much-improved	rigour	that	
the trust applied to rectifying  
the problems with “referral 
to treatment (RTT)” at Barnet 
Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital 

Separately, we would welcome 
public information from the trust 
on their performance against RTT 
targets once national reporting is 
again in place.

Healthwatch Enfield

Healthwatch Enfield is disappointed 
that we were not given an 
opportunity to contribute to the 
review of the trust’s performance 
against the priorities set in the 
2014/15 quality accounts, nor an 
opportunity to discuss the proposed 
priorities before they were agreed 
for the coming year.

Performance review 2014/15

Priority one: World class patient 
information. 

Although not directly related to 
patient information we would 
like to take this opportunity to 
acknowledge the huge improvement 
in complaints handling for patients 
using Barnet Hospital and Chase 
Farm Hospital since the acquisition 
in July 2014. We have also been 
impressed by a number of initiatives 
the trust has undertaken in 
relation to ensuring equal access to 
treatment. 

It is of course essential to obtain 
the views of patients themselves 
about the usefulness of the 
information provided in order to 
judge whether or not it is “world 
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class”. We would therefore like 
to see the trust regularly seeking 
patient and friends/family feedback 
in sufficient numbers to be 
representative, and then acting on 
such feedback. We also hope that 
the trust will undertake a full review 
of the overall accessibility of its 
information and communications 
and ensure that these comply with 
the emerging NHS standards on 
accessible information. 

We note that performance for 
”priority two: in-patient diabetes 
care” was significantly better at 
Chase Farm Hospital than at the 
Hampstead site. This held true for 
patient meals (choice and timing), 
foot assessments and medication 
errors. It would therefore have been 
useful to see some assessment of 
the reasons for the variation and 
any learning resulting from the 
better performance achieved at 
Chase Farm Hospital. We agree 
that in-patient diabetes care should 
remain a priority for the coming 
year. 

We would have found it helpful 
if the section on ”priority three: 
patient safety programme” had 
included more actual measurements 
of improvement in performance 
and been more explicitly patient-
focused. While it is useful to know 
the changes in process and staff 
training that have taken place, for 
patients the key is whether these 
have resulted in better outcomes. 
For example, in relation to the 
reported 20% reduction in harm 
from falls it would be useful to 
know the base-line figure, some 
national comparators and evidence 
from patients themselves (PROMS 
for example). Similarly, it would 
be useful to spell out how the 
challenges with the information 
systems around abnormal diagnostic 
images actually impact on patients. 

Priorities for improvement  
2015/16 

Priority one: Delivering world 
class experience

We welcome the development of 
the new patient experience strategy 
and the associated four aims, 

but would like to see a specific 
inclusion of the need to address the 
experience of out-patients. Failings 
in out-patient administration and 
information are easily the most 
common reason for patients to 
contact Healthwatch with concerns 
about their experience. These 
include appointment letters arriving 
after the event, late cancellations, 
poor information and unclear 
instructions. These create stress for 
the patient and can lead to missed 
or wasted appointments. We are 
aware that, in line with the priority 
set last year, the trust has done a 
lot of work to try to improve this 
situation, but our experience is that 
there is still some way to go and  
it is not clear that the improvements 
can be sustained. We would like to 
see this remain part of the priority 
for patient experience for the 
coming year.

We understand that the trust has 
plans to call up all discharged in-
patients to ask them about their 
experience. We would like to see a 
commitment to monitoring this and 
including the data collected in next 
year’s quality account.

We would also like to see some 
specific targets for FFT response 
rates – or other survey rates – for a 
range of different areas, including 
out-patients. This would allow the 
trust to find out what people’s 
experiences are and measure if/how 
much they improve.

Priority two: In-patient diabetes

As indicated earlier we support this 
remaining a priority for the trust 
but would like to see a clearer set 
of targets. It would be useful to 
have current performance set out as 
the base-line so it is clear, for each 
site, where performance is now, 
against the national picture, so that 
improvement is clear to see. 

Priority three: Our focus for 
safety

As Healthwatch Enfield our most 
pressing priority is the resolution of 
the legacy of outstanding RTTs from 
Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals 
NHS Trust. We expected this to 

feature in the trust’s priorities for 
the coming year and are concerned 
that there is merely a short entry in 
a column towards the back of the 
accounts.

Healthwatch Hertfordshire

Healthwatch Hertfordshire is 
pleased to submit a response to 
RFL’s quality account as this now 
incorporates Barnet Hospital and 
Chase Farm Hospital which are used 
by many Hertfordshire residents. 

The priorities from 2014/15 have 
been carried forward as they are 
part of a longer strategy and have 
been agreed taking into account 
stakeholder feedback. These 
are clear and well laid out with 
a selection of key milestones to 
achieve during the year. However 
there are a number of acronyms 
and abbreviations that are used 
throughout the document that are 
not always explained. A description 
of these would be helpful. 

We are pleased to see that 
improving the experience of 
dementia patients and carers feature 
clearly in “priority one: delivering 
world class experience”.

Many initiatives and service 
improvements are proposed 
especially in “part three” which 
is consistent with the priorities. 
However the quality account seems 
to lack detailed information on 
the experience of patients. Travel 
to hospital and car parking is 
omitted from the report and this is 
something that patients do worry 
about. We hope that this is being 
considered with the redevelopment 
of the sites. However it is evident 
that different patient groups are 
being used in a variety of ways to 
improve communication as well as 
being involved in research. 

Looking at the progress of last year’s 
priorities, it is disappointing that 
the patient information manager 
post is still not filled despite three 
recruitment campaigns. This is 
key to making progress on the 
information strategy.
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It is encouraging to see the 
improvements being made on  
in-patient diabetes care particularly 
at Chase Farm Hospital and we 
look forward to seeing further 
improvements in this area.

The quality account gives a good 
overview of areas the trust has met 
or exceeded targets, which it should 
be congratulated on, but also 
where it has performed less well. 
We note for example the result of 
the Care Quality Commission visit in 
September 2014 to Barnet Hospital 
and the action plan submitted to 
address concerns.

Healthwatch Hertfordshire 
welcomes the increased 
engagement with the trust – in 
particular with regard to the 
patient led assessment of the care 
environment (PLACE) audits in 2015 
– and looks forward to working 
with RFL in the future and being 
kept involved in the development of 
the Chase Farm Hospital site. 

Joint statement of Camden 
Healthwatch and the Camden 
health and adult social care 
scrutiny committee

Camden Healthwatch and the 
Camden health and adult social 
care scrutiny committee welcome 
the opportunity to comment on the 
Royal Free London NHS Foundation 
Trust’s quality account for 2014/15 
and their priorities for quality 
improvements in 2015/16.

This report comes following the 
acquisition of Barnet Hospital and 
Chase Farm Hospital to the trust 
which has obviously generated a 
great deal of additional work. One 
of the primary concerns of patients 
in Camden heard by us was over 
whether the acquisition of Barnet 
and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust 
would impact on the quality and 
sustainability of services offered 
in Camden. We have received no 
evidence of a decline in quality since 
the acquisition and for this the trust 
is to be thanked. It is our hope that 
the trust will continue to maintain 
the quality of services offered to the 
people of Camden. 

The increase in reported MRSA 
infections from none last year to 
five this year is a concern, although 
it must be borne in mind that the 
trust now comprises two other 
hospitals and four of the infections 
were recorded at Barnet Hospital 
and Chase Farm Hospital. We hope 
the trust will work hard to improve 
the number of MRSA infections at 
all its sites in the future.

The trust is to be congratulated on 
its performance against its priorities 
for 2014/15. In future reports, we 
would like to see the trust use a 
consistent set of metrics and time 
periods in its graphs and do more 
to make the quality report clear and 
appealing to a public readership. 

Finally, we know that people in 
Camden have concerns over the 
trust’s complaints management 
process and so we were 
disappointed that this was not given 
more prominence in the report 
or highlighted as a priority for 
improvement. Given the importance 
of the complaints process in 
determining customer perceptions 
and satisfaction with the trust, we 
would encourage a stronger focus 
on this by the trust in the coming 
year. We are pleased to note the 
importance the trust is now putting 
into end of life care and that it now 
recognises that there is need for a 
complete overhaul.

Overall, this is a very encouraging 
report, representing a huge amount 
of work and effort by the staff. As 
always there is a lot left to do but 
the tone of this report promises 
more. The people of Camden 
who use this hospital should feel 
reassured.

Barnet health overview and 
scrutiny committee

The committee scrutinised the Royal 
Free London NHS Foundation Trust 
quality account 2014/15 and wish 
to put on record the following 
comments:

•		 	The	committee	noted	that	it	
had been an exceptionally busy 
year for the trust, and wished to 

congratulate the trust in taking 
a successful lead role in the UK 
management and treatment of 
the Ebola virus.

•		 	The	committee	congratulated	
the trust on successfully 
combining three hospitals and 
10,000 staff as a result of the 
acquisition of Barnet and Chase 
Farm Hospitals NHS Trust and 
highlighted the role that staff 
played in achieving this success.

•		 	The	committee	welcomed	the	
news that Enfield Council had 
given planning permission for 
the redevelopment of Chase 
Farm Hospital.

•		 	The	committee	welcomed	the	
work done in relation to falls 
and, in particular, to setting the 
following milestones:

 1.  Identifying a falls champion in 
each clinical service line across 
all sites

 2.  Introducing a falls screening 
tool and falls prevention plan 
by division across all sites

 3.   Continuing staff education 
and development on falls 
prevention

•		 	The	committee	welcomed	the	
fact that falls had been reduced 
by 25% but requested that the 
actual figure for the number of 
falls be included in the final draft 
of the quality account. 

However:

•		 	Whilst	the	committee	welcomed	
the fact that a patient 
information manager post had 
been created, the committee 
expressed concern that, despite 
three recruitment campaigns, the 
trust had not been successful in 
making an appointment. 

•		 	The	committee	expressed	
concern that the most recently 
published report from the 
national in-patient diabetes 
audit demonstrated that whilst 
78% of patients were always, or 
almost always, able to choose a 
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suitable meal at the Chase Farm 
Hospital, only 64% of patients 
had reported that they were 
able to do so at the Royal Free 
Hospital. The committee was 
also concerned that just 62% 
of patients reported that meals 
were always, or almost always, 
provided at a suitable time at 
Royal Free Hospital, compared to 
80% at Chase Farm Hospital. 

•		 	The	committee	expressed	
concern in relation to 
performance for patients with 
diabetes receiving a documented 
foot risk assessment within 
24 hours to assess the risk 
of developing foot disease. 
The committee noted that 
whilst Chase Farm Hospital 
had improved the number of 
patients undertaking a foot 
risk assessment from 25.6% 
to 41.9% (a 63% increase) 
between the two audit 
periods, the performance at 
the Royal Free Hospital site had 
deteriorated from 24.2% to 
6.5% (a 73% decrease). The 
committee also noted that the 
trust has made the improvement 
in the use of foot risk assessment 
a priority for next year. 

•		 	The	committee	welcomed	
improvements in medication 
management for diabetes at 
both the Royal Free Hospital 
and Chase Farm Hospital but 
again expressed concern that 
the national diabetes in-patient 
audit report reported that, in 
2014, the Royal Free Hospital 
reported errors in medication 
management of 27.5%, 
whereas across England, trusts 
reported an average of 22.3% 
errors in diabetes medication 
management.

•		 	The	committee	noted	that	
whilst ward movement can 
be more complex at the Royal 
Free Hospital, the number 
of specialist units within the 
hospital meant that a high 
proportion of patients with 
diabetes were treated on a 
variety of wards. On this basis, 

the committee felt that further 
attention should be given to 
diabetes and the management 
of foot assessments, meal 
appropriateness and timeliness 
and medicine management. 

•		 	The	committee	expressed	
concern that in 2014 a local audit 
identified that 30% of discharge 
summaries contained some 
incorrect information regarding 
the patient’s medication list. The 
committee noted that the trust 
was undertaking work to address 
the issue.

•		 	The	committee	expressed	
concern about the figures for 
MRSA being five cases in total, 
one at the Royal Free Hospital 
and four at Barnet Hospital and 
Chase Farm Hospital.

•		 	The	committee	noted	that	the	
Royal Free had a very significant 
reduction in C.difficile. compared 
with the previous year, whilst 
the number of cases at Barnet 
Hospital and Chase Farm 
Hospital had increased. 

•		 	The	committee	welcomed	the	
fact that the trust has asked for 
an independent review to take 
place by a national expert on 
infection control processes.

•		 	The	committee	commented	that	
the key quality objectives for 
2015/16 were inconsistent in 
the way that they were written 
and suggested that it would 
be helpful to set more specific 
targets within each objective in 
next year’s quality account. 

•		 	The	committee	suggested	that	
the phrase “deterioration of 
the unborn baby to 2, between 
01/01/15 and 31/03/18” be 
changed.

•		 	The	committee	expressed	
concern that staff working in 
hospitals at the trust were not 
screened for MRSA. 

•		 	The	committee	expressed	
concern that the quality account 
highlighted that the acute 

stroke unit at Barnet Hospital 
had admitted an unexpectedly 
high number of patients. The 
committee welcomed the fact 
that the trust was investigating 
why some of these patients had 
not been referred to the relevant 
hyper acute stroke unit and 
would be working with external 
partners to ensure patients 
were referred to the appropriate 
unit in the first instance. The 
committee also noted that the 
sentinel stroke national audit had 
applied many of the standards 
applicable to hyper acute stroke 
units to the acute stroke unit 
at Barnet hospital and that the 
trust believes the deterioration in 
their performance reflects these 
inappropriate standards and 
incorrect referral patterns for 
these patients.

•		 	The	committee	expressed	
disappointment that they had 
raised a number of issues when 
they had considered the 2013/14 
quality accounts which had 
not been specifically referred 
to when the 2014/15 quality 
accounts had been drawn up 
(including the issues of staff 
feeling bullied, stressed or 
discriminated against).

•		 	The	committee	expressed	
concern that there was a lack of 
information about complaints 
and no analysis of complaints, 
which they would have liked to 
have seen within the report. 

•		 	The	committee	noted	the	
position of the trust in 
comparison to other teaching 
hospitals in England regarding 
the percentage of last minute 
cancellations. The committee 
commented that last minute 
cancellations contributed 
adversely to the patient 
experience. Members requested 
that the actual number of 
cancellations was shown, rather 
than just the percentage. 

•		 	The	committee	noted	that	the	
performance against the friends 
and family test was slightly 
down from last year and that 
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they would hope to see an 
improvement next year. 

•		 	The	committee	commented	that	
car parking was an extremely 
important part of the patient 
experience. The committee 
noted that the chairman had 
written to the chief executive 
of the trust in november 2014 
expressing the committee’s 
concerns about the new 
automated parking system at 
Barnet Hospital. The concerns 
included whether disabled badge 
holders were aware that they 
had to register their number 
plate at reception in order to 
park in the hospital car park and 
also whether the signposts were 
clear and also at an appropriate 
height. The committee expressed 
their dissatisfaction that, despite 
being informed that these 
concerns would be rectified by 
the end of December 2014, the 
work was still outstanding. 

NHS Barnet Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Commissioners statement for 
2014/15 quality accounts

NHS Barnet Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) are the lead 
commissioner responsible for the 
commissioning of health services 
from the Royal Free London (RFL) 
NHS Foundation Trust, including the 
Hampstead, Barnet and Chase Farm 
trust sites.

Barnet CCG welcomes the 
opportunity to provide this statement 
in response to the trust’s quality 
accounts. We confirm that we have 
reviewed the information contained 
within the account and checked this 
against national data sources, where 
this is available to us, as part of the 
existing contract and performance 
monitoring information.

We can confirm that this is accurate 
in relation to the services provided.

This account has been reviewed 
within NHS Barnet Clinical 
Commissioning Group, by associate 

commissioning colleagues in 
Camden and Enfield CCGs and 
by NHS North and East London 
Commissioning Support Unit.

We can confirm that the content 
of the account complies with 
the prescribed information, form 
and content as set out by the 
Department of Health. We believe 
that the account represents a 
fair, representative and balanced 
overview of the quality of care 
at the Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust and sets out the 
trust’s vision for improving patient 
care as part of the three chosen 
priorities.

Following the acquisition of the 
Barnet and Chase Farm sites in July 
2014, Barnet CCG have worked 
closely with trust leads and have 
therefore taken particular account 
of the identified priorities for 
improvement, including how the 
intended work streams will enable 
real focus on improving the quality 
and safety of health services across 
all three trust sites.

We have discussed the development 
of this quality account with trust 
colleagues over the year as part 
of a wider stakeholder event and 
through discussions at the clinical 
quality review group meetings 
and have therefore been able 
to contribute our views to the 
development of the chosen priority 
areas. We particularly welcome the 
continuing work on patient safety 
and patient experience, with a focus 
on learning from complaints.

The CCG feel that the following 
areas have not been sufficiently 
reflected in the quality account and 
have discussed this with the trust.

•		 	The	trust	identifies	safer	surgery	
as one of their focus areas as 
part of the safety programme. 
It would have been helpful to 
explain this further, including 
what level of compliance is 
currently being achieved so that 
a baseline might provide some 
benchmarking data for next year. 
Similarly with the work on falls, 

commissioners would like to 
understand the rationale for the 
25% reduction target and what 
this is presently based on.

•		 	Clinical	commissioners	were	
disappointed that the scale of 
the work undertaken by the trust 
to address the backlog in the 
nationally set access targets for 
referral to treatment, which the 
trust inherited post acquisition, 
was not reflected upon. 
Particular reference is made to 
the trust’s extensive review of 
patients as part of the clinical 
harm review process.

•		 	Failure	to	achieve	the	national	62	
day cancer performance targets 
has caused particular concern 
among local commissioners 
and as such, Barnet CCG, as 
lead commissioner, welcomes 
the quality account’s reference 
to the trust’s recovery plan. the 
lead commissioner and rfl are 
engaged in a process to agree a 
remedial action plan.

•		 	Commissioners	will	continue	
to review the impact of the 
acquisition of the Barnet and 
Chase Farm trust sites on RFL 
maternity services as part of 
assurance taken at the clinical 
quality review group meetings. 
barnet ccg are pleased to see 
plans within the quality account 
for the introduction of the sepsis 
six care bundle for maternity 
patients at the Barnet site.

•	 	Barnet	CCG	would	like	to	see	
the trust’s improvement goals 
that focus on patient safety 
and patient experience, directly 
linked to patient safety and 
patient experience issues raised 
as part of the evidence taken at 
clinical quality review groups.

•		 	The	quality	account	does	not	
supply any evidence of the 
development of patient stories or 
examples of patient engagement 
and it would have been helpful 
to see some examples of these 
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along with data from the 
national in-patient survey.

•	 	Commissioners	would	have	liked	
to have seen some inclusion of 
the trust’s actions and progress 
made in response to the Care 
Quality Commission’s inspection 
at the Barnet site in early 
September 2014.

•	 	In	reviewing	achievement	of	
the trust’s chosen priority areas, 
the quality account is unclear 
in setting out how the trust 
intends to measure these priority 
areas. Commissioning leads for 
quality would like to see regular 
progress updates linked to the 
achievement of priority areas 
presented to the clinical quality 
review group meetings.

Throughout the past year Barnet 
CCG and the trust have worked 
successfully together through 
the clinical quality review group 
meetings to review evidence and 
resolve issues related to all aspects 
of clinical quality. This relationship 
has been strengthened following the 
quality assurance work undertaken 
as part of the trust’s acquisition of 
the Barnet and Chase trust sites.

Barnet CCG and associate 
commissioners recognise the 
breadth of improvement work the 
trust is undertaking following the 
acquisition during the middle of 
last year and welcome the areas 
of focus that include developing 
a stronger evidence base, patient 
involvement and improvements to 
patient safety.

The 2014/15 quality account 
incorporates all the essentials 
required for inclusion; however 
there is an absence of some 
information regarding known 
quality issues, as outlined above 
that raises some concern.

Overall we welcome the vision 
described within the trust’s quality 
accounts and we agree on the 
priority areas. Barnet CCG look 
forward to continued collaboration 
around the quality agenda and will 

continue to work with the Royal 
Free London NHS Foundation Trust 
to improve the quality of services 
provided to patients served by the 
three trust sites.

NHS Barnet Clinical  
Commissioning Group

Council of governors

The council of governors reviewed 
the draft quality account and a 
number provided detailed feedback 
and comments which have informed 
changes made to the final report.

The report provides a 
comprehensive summary of the 
work done by the trust in 2014/15 
to improve services for patients. 
Much of this information has been 
shared with the council of governors 
during the year by:

•	 	Regular	provision	of	the	trust	
performance report

•	 	Copies	of	the	minutes	of	the	
trust board

•	 	Updates	in	the	chief	executive’s	
briefing to the council

•	 	Briefings	from	non-executives	on	
individual board committee work 
programmes.

The governors are clear in their 
responsibility to hold to account the 
non-executive directors, collectively 
and individually, for the performance 
of the board, and focus their 
attention on ensuring that high-
quality services are available both 
for the local population and for 
patients from further afield requiring 
specialist services. 

To help them carry out their 
statutory responsibilities, governors 
attend each of the three quality 
focused board committees and 
provide challenge to the trust in 
the robustness and timeliness of 
improvement plans to enhance both 
patient and staff experience.

Governors noted the progress 
made on the quality priorities 
in 2014/15; governors in their 
own priority-driven sub-groups 

have focused their attention 
on a number of specific areas, 
including those involving patient 
and staff experience issues. This 
included working with the trust on 
improving the fractured neck of 
femur pathway, which governors 
asked to be referred to in the quality 
account. 

The quality objectives outlined 
for 2015/16 are clearly described 
and are linked to each domain for 
quality – it will be important that 
progress against these is reported 
regularly; the areas chosen are of 
national and local importance.

Herts Valley Clinical 
Commissioning Group and East 
North Hertfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group

We have received the following 
comments:

•	 	Lack	of	safeguarding	adults	
and safeguarding children 
information

•	 	No	summary	of	results	for	
national patient surveys included

•	 	No	breakdown	of	serious	
incidents numbers, themes and 
learning provided

•	 	Patient	experience	themes	and	
learning not incorporated

•	 	The	reference	to	RTT	delays	does	
not reflect the extent of the 
issues and there is no mention of 
clinical harm reviews.

•	 	We	would	like	to	have	seen	
further detail regarding the CQC 
visit to Barnet Hospital, and 
actions taken

•	 	We	would	like	to	have	seen	
reference to Hertfordshire 
patients and commissioners.
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Appendix A

Response to comments

In response to comments received from commissioners, local Healthwatch organisations and overview and scrutiny 
committees we have outlined our responses in the following table.

Stakeholders Comments Royal Free London response or changes

Healthwatch 
Barnet

We were pleased to see that the Royal Free 
London (RFL) held an engagement event for 
the quality account, but were disappointed that 
we only received notification of the event a day 
before it was due to take place which meant that 
we were not able to attend and contribute to the 
development of year three priorities. 

An invitation to this event in February 2015, co-hosted 
with the  commissioning support unit, was extended 
to all healthwatch organisations. The trust understands 
that unfortunately for some partners the designated 
date was not convenient.

To aid local people’s understanding, it would 
be helpful if the QA included details of how 
the priorities were developed with patient 
representatives.

The accounts provide information as to how we have 
undertaken the development of the local priorities.

Care Quality Commission 
In the interests of transparency, we would like 
the QA to include further details of the issues 
raised by the CQC in the visits to Barnet Hospital 
and the action taken by the trust to make 
improvements.

There is a detailed action plan which the trust is 
implementing. This includes our plans to be: Safe: 
work to improve infection control standards, the 
environment of care, our medicines storage and  
dementia care. Effective: Improvements to our 
handover communication, how we discharge patients, 
our staff development and patient consent. Caring: 
work to further improve our care and compassion, 
privacy and dignity, end-of-life care, our do not attempt 
resuscitation process, our documentation and record 
keeping and how we support patient and family 
involvement. Responsive: improve our dementia care 
and communication with patients and carers. Well-led: 
improve how we involve staff in changes and support 
team working.The CQC-published report is on both the 
trust and the regulators’ website. We have included 
this information within our accounts.

Healthwatch 
Hertfordshire

Many initiatives and service improvements are 
proposed especially in ‘part three’ which is 
consistent with the priorities. However the quality 
account seems to lack detailed information on 
the experience of patients. Travel to hospital 
and car parking is omitted from the report and 
this is something that patients do worry about. 
We hope that this is being considered with the 
redevelopment of the sites. However it is evident 
that different patient groups are being used in a 
variety of ways to improve communication as well 
as being involved in research. 

We have revised the information to better give account 
of how we are working to improve patient experience 
of our care and services.
In common with other London hospitals we 
have significant parking issues. The trust website 
recommends that patients come to our hospitals by 
public transport whenever possible and advises that 
parking at the hospitals and in the surrounding areas 
is very limited. In addition we have  a contract for 
a patient transport service. Every effort is made to 
accommodate the needs of some patients on clinical 
grounds, for example we provide dedicated parking for 
patients who are attending radiotherapy and may have 
less resistance to infections.

Looking at the progress of last year’s priorities, 
it is disappointing that the patient information 
manager post is still not filled despite three 
recruitment campaigns. This is key to making 
progress on the information strategy.

The trust recognises the importance of this post and 
intends to recruit to this role.
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Stakeholders Comments Royal Free London response or changes

Healthwatch 
Enfield

Healthwatch Enfield is disappointed that we 
were not given an opportunity to contribute to 
the review of the trust’s performance against the 
priorities set in the 2014/15 quality accounts, nor 
an opportunity to discuss the proposed priorities 
before they were agreed for the coming year.

An invitation to this event in February 2015, co-hosted 
with the  commissioning support unit, was extended 
to all healthwatch organisations. The trust understands 
that unfortunately for some partners the designated 
date was not convenient.

Priority one: World class patient information. 
Although not directly related to patient information 
we would like to take this opportunity to 
acknowledge the huge improvement in complaints 
handling for patients  using Barnet Hospital and 
Chase Farm Hospital since the acquisition in July 
2014. We have also been impressed by a number 
of initiatives the trust has undertaken in relation to 
ensuring equal access to treatment. 

In 2015/16 a focus is on ensuring that lessons learned 
from complaints are implemented and that the themes 
from complaints are tested through other feedback 
sources to identify wider themes and ensure a 
representative view is heard by the trust.

It is of course essential to obtain the views of 
patients themselves about the usefulness of the 
information provided in order to judge whether or 
not it is “world class”. We would therefore like to 
see the trust regularly seeking patient and friends/
family feedback in sufficient numbers to be 
representative, and then acting on such feedback. 
We also hope that the trust will undertake a full 
review of the overall accessibility of its information 
and communications and ensure that these 
comply with the emerging NHS standards on 
accessible information. 

The friends and family test (FFT) provides prompt 
feedback from patients and their relatives about the 
care they have received. Every adult patient attending 
A&E and the wards is telephoned within 48 hours of 
discharge and asked “how likely are you to recommend 
the Royal Free London to friends and family if they 
needed similar care or treatment?”
During 2014/5, the trust received 63,232 responses from:
•	A&E	patients	-	44,618	responses
•	in-patients	-	15,554	responses
•	maternity	service	users	-	3,060	responses	
Positive scores encourage staff that they are providing 
high-quality care and negative feedback shows where 
improvements are needed.
During 2015/16 the trust is moving from a 
target response rate to a target for the overall 
recommendation rate of 90%. It is proposed to include 
and use the FFT results and resulting actions in the 
2016/17 quality account. 

We note that performance for ”priority two: 
in-patient diabetes care” was significantly better 
at Chase Farm Hospital than at the Hampstead 
site. This held true for patient meals (choice 
and timing), foot assessments and medication 
errors. It would therefore have been useful to see 
some assessment of the reasons for the variation 
and any learning resulting from the better 
performance achieved at Chase Farm Hospital. 
We agree that in-patient diabetes care should 
remain a priority for the coming year. 

Following the acquisition, the endocrinology and 
diabetes directorate is responsible for services across 
all sites. The diabetes team are key participants in the 
diabetic work and share the best from each of our 
sites.

We would have found it helpful if the section 
on ”priority three: patient safety programme” 
had included more actual measurements of 
improvement in performance and been more 
explicitly patient-focused. While it is useful to 
know the changes in process and staff training 
that have taken place, for patients the key is 
whether these have resulted in better outcomes. 
For example, in relation to the reported 20% 
reduction in harm from falls it would be useful 
to know the base-line figure, some national 
comparators and evidence from patients 
themselves (PROMS for example).

We agree and have updated this section to reflect 
these useful comments.
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Stakeholders Comments Royal Free London response or changes

Healthwatch 
Enfield

Similarly, it would be useful to spell out how the 
challenges with the information systems around 
abnormal diagnostic images actually impact on 
patients. 

A full explanation will be added  to reflect that this can 
result in delayed diagnosis and treatment if results are 
not being processed accurately and in a timely manner.

Priorities for improvement 2015/16 
Priority one: Delivering world class experience
We welcome the development of the new patient 
experience strategy and the associated four 
aims, but would like to see a specific inclusion 
of the need to address the experience of out-
patients. Failings in out-patient administration 
and information are easily the most common 
reason for patients to contact Healthwatch with 
concerns about their experience. These include 
appointment letters arriving after the event, 
late cancellations, poor information and unclear 
instructions. These create stress for the patient 
and can lead to missed or wasted appointments. 
We are aware that, in line with the priority set 
last year, the trust has done a lot of work to try to 
improve this situation, but our experience is that 
there is still some way to go and it is not clear that 
the improvements can be sustained. We would 
like to see this remain part of the priority for 
patient experience for the coming year.

We understand that the trust has plans to call up 
all discharged in-patients to ask them about their 
experience. We would like to see a commitment 
to monitoring this and including the data 
collected in next year’s quality account.

The trust’s patient experience strategy and associated 
aims is intended to improve the experience of all our 
patients.  
Among the improvements we have made for out-
patients include the installation of wifi and  improved 
information in appointment letters about estimated 
waits and the reasons for them, such as the need for 
tests.
We are currently reviewing our approach to out-
patients, identifying those interventions which have 
most impact to ensure that they are sustained and 
learning from those that don’t work as well. We try to 
learn from complaints and ensure learning is shared 
across the trust. In 2015/16 a focus is on ensuring that 
lessons learned from complaints are implemented and 
that the themes from complaints are tested through 
other feedback sources to identify wider themes and 
ensure a representative view is heard by the trust.

We would also like to see some specific targets 
for FFT response rates – or other survey rates – for 
a range of different areas, including out-patients. 
This would allow the trust to find out what 
people’s experiences are and measure if/how 
much they improve. 

During 2015/16 the trust is moving from a target 
response rate for FFT to a target on the overall 
recommendation rate of 90%. It is proposed to include 
and use the FFT results and resulting actions in the 
2016/17 quality account.

Priority two: In-patient diabetes
As indicated earlier we support this remaining a 
priority for the trust but would like to see a clearer 
set of targets. It would be useful to have current 
performance set out as the base-line so it is clear, 
for each site, where performance is now, against 
the national picture, so that improvement is clear 
to see.

One of our focuses for 2015/16 is to define the 
improvements we aim to achieve across the trust. 
These are informed by f baseline indicators from the 
national clinical in-patients diabetes audit.

Priority three: Our focus for safety
As Healthwatch Enfield our most pressing priority 
is the resolution of the legacy of outstanding RTTs 
from Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust. 
We expected this to feature in the trust’s priorities 
for the coming year and are concerned that there 
is merely a short entry in a column towards the 
back of the accounts.

We agree this is a high priority for the trust but it is not 
a specific focus of the safety programme.
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Stakeholders Comments Royal Free London response or changes

Barnet 
overview 
and scrutiny 
committee

The committee welcomed the fact that falls had 
been reduced by 25% but requested that the 
actual figure for the number of falls be included 
in the final draft of the quality account.

We have revised information in our accounts to provide 
an overview of the actual numbers of falls in the final 
accounts.

Whilst the committee welcomed the fact that 
a patient information manager post had been 
created, the committee expressed concern that, 
despite three recruitment campaigns, the trust had 
not been successful in making an appointment.

The trust recognises the importance of this post and 
intends to recruit to this role.

  The committee expressed concern that the most 
recently published report from the national in-
patient diabetes audit demonstrated that whilst 
78% of patients were always, or almost always, 
able to choose a suitable meal at the Chase Farm 
Hospital, only 64% of patients had reported 
that they were able to do so at the Royal Free 
Hospital. The committee was also concerned that 
just 62% of patients reported that meals were 
always, or almost always, provided at a suitable 
time at Royal Free Hospital, compared to 80% at 
Chase Farm Hospital. 
 The committee expressed concern in relation to 
performance for patients with diabetes receiving 
a documented foot risk assessment within 24 
hours to assess the risk of developing foot 
disease. The committee noted that whilst Chase 
Farm Hospital had improved the number of 
patients undertaking a foot risk assessment from 
25.6% to 41.9% (a 63% increase) between the 
two audit periods, the performance at the Royal 
Free Hospital site had deteriorated from 24.2% 
to 6.5% (a 73% decrease). The committee also 
noted that the trust has made the improvement 
in the use of foot risk assessment a priority for 
next year. 
The committee welcomed improvements in 
medication management for diabetes at both 
the Royal Free Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital 
but again expressed concern that the national 
diabetes in-patient audit report reported that, 
in 2014, the Royal Free Hospital reported 
errors in medication management of 27.5%, 
whereas across England, trusts reported an 
average of 22.3% errors in diabetes medication 
management.
The committee noted that whilst ward 
movement can be more complex at the 
Royal Free Hospital, the number of specialist 
units within the hospital meant that a high 
proportion of patients with diabetes were 
treated on a variety of wards. On this basis, the 
committee felt that further attention should 
be given to diabetes and the management of 
foot assessments, meal appropriateness and 
timeliness and medicine management. 

While we have made progress in improving care for 
patients with diabetes, we want to do better. Our 
2015/16 objectives describe the intended actions we 
will prioritise for our diabetes improvement programme 
to all three hospitals.
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Stakeholders Comments Royal Free London response or changes

Barnet 
overview 
and scrutiny 
committee

The committee expressed concern about the 
figures for MRSA being five cases in total, one 
at the Royal Free Hospital and four at Barnet 
Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital.
The committee noted that the Royal Free Hospital 
had a very significant reduction in C.difficile. 
compared with the previous year, whilst the 
number of cases at Barnet Hospital and Chase 
Farm Hospital had increased. 
The committee expressed concern that staff 
working in hospitals at the trust were not 
screened for MRSA.  

The four cases of MRSA at Barnet Hospital and Chase 
Farm Hospital  represent a reduction of two cases on the 
previous year. Two of these four cases were preventable.  
We look in detail at the causes of all cases and identify 
an action plan to prevent future lapses in care. 
Barnet Hospital and Chase Farm Hospital reported 33 
cases of clostridium difficile in 2014/15 and 34 cases 
were reported in 2013/14.
The Department of Health national guidelines on MRSA 
specifically state that staff screening is not to be a routine 
process. Unless there is an outbreak, staff screening 
has not yielded any benefits as staff are predominantly 
temporary carriers of bacteria such as MRSA. 
It is important to emphasise once a staff member has 
changed uniform/clothes and had bath/shower at the 
end of each shift, any  bacteria  has been removed. 
This is the position taken by all trusts, but  we do keep 
the possibility of staff screening under review. 

The committee suggested that the phrase 
“deterioration of the unborn baby to 2, between 
01/01/15 and 31/03/18” be changed. 

We have changed the wording in our accounts.

The committee expressed disappointment that 
they had raised a number of issues when they 
had considered the 2013/14 quality accounts 
which had not been specifically referred to when 
the 2014/15 quality accounts had been drawn 
up (including the issues of staff feeling bullied, 
stressed or discriminated against).

We have revised information in our accounts to provide 
an overview of the actions we are undertaking to 
support staff who report feeling bullied, stressed or 
discriminated against.

The committee expressed concern that there was 
a lack of information about complaints and no 
analysis of complaints, which they would have 
liked to have seen within the report.

We have revised information in our accounts to provide 
an overview of the actions we are undertaking to 
manage complaints.

The committee noted the position of the trust 
in comparison to other teaching hospitals in 
England regarding the percentage of last minute 
cancellations. The committee commented that 
last minute cancellations contributed adversely to 
the patient experience. Members requested that 
the actual number of cancellations was shown, 
rather than just the percentage.

Nationally, last-minute cancellations are reported as 
percentages in order to provide benchmarking.  
We do not believe that reporting numbers would  
enable meaningful comparisons  between different-
sized trusts. 

The committee noted that the performance 
against the friends and family test was slightly 
down from last year and that they would hope to 
see an improvement next year.

The friends and families test was monitored by the trust 
with monthly submissions to NHS England. The overall 
response rate achieved the national commissioning for 
quality and innovation target of 40%.

The committee commented that car parking 
was an extremely important part of the patient 
experience. The committee noted that the 
chairman had written to the chief executive 
of the trust in November 2014 expressing the 
committee’s concerns about the new automated 
parking system at Barnet Hospital.  
The concerns included whether disabled badge 
holders were aware that they had to register their 
number plate at reception in order to park in the 
hospital car park and also whether the signposts 
were clear and also at an appropriate height.
The committee expressed their dissatisfaction 
that, despite being informed that these concerns 
would be rectified by the end of December 2014, 
the work was still outstanding.

The trust has recently installed new signage at Barnet 
Hospital which includes windscreen-height signs 
showing  bays for disabled users as well as wayfinding. 
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Joint 
comments 
from Camden 
overview 
and scrutiny 
committee 
and Camden 
healthwatch

We know that people in Camden have concerns 
over the trust’s complaints management process 
and so we were disappointed that this was not 
given more prominence in the report or highlighted 
as a priority for improvement. 
Given the importance of the complaints process in 
determining customer perceptions and satisfaction 
with the trust, we would encourage a stronger 
focus on this by the trust in the coming year.

We have revised information in our accounts to provide 
an overview of the actions we are undertaking to 
manage complaints.
We aim to resolve most concerns through PALS, but if a 
patient or relative wishes to make a formal complaint, 
our complaints team ensures that the matters raised 
are investigated thoroughly and that complainants are 
responded to in line with trust procedures.
The trust is proactive in offering meetings to 
complainants as part of the complaint resolution 
process, enabling them to meet staff to discuss their 
complaints.  
Findings and data from complaints is used to inform 
reports and shared with divisional teams to improve 
the patient experience. Patients are asked to complete 
questionnaires to provide feedback on the way their 
case was handled to help the trust make further quality 
improvements. 
We try to learn from complaints and ensure learning 
is shared across the trust, for example the stock of 
two products involved in a potential prescribing error 
are now stored in different areas of the dispensary to 
prevent the possibility of a similar error.
In 2015/16 a focus is on ensuring that lessons learned 
from complaints are implemented and that the themes 
from complaints are tested through other feedback 
sources to identify wider themes and ensure a 
representative view is heard by the trust.

NHS Barnet 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group

•			The	quality	account	does	not	supply	any	
evidence of the development of patient stories 
or examples of patient engagement and it 
would have been helpful to see some examples 
of these along with data from the national in-
patient survey.

The trust has reported a series of patient stories to 
provide examples of care within the annual accounts 
section of these annual reports and quality accounts

•		Commissioners	would	have	liked	to	have	
seen some inclusion of the trust’s actions and 
progress made in response to the Care Quality 
Commission’s inspection at the Barnet site in 
early September 2014

The trust has provided additional information within 
these accounts of our action plan provided to the CQC. 

Herts Valley 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group and 
East North 
Hertfordshire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group

•		We	would	like	to	have	seen	reference	to	
Hertfordshire patients and commissioners.

The trust has reported a series of patient stories to 
provide examples of care within the annual accounts 
section of these annual reports and quality accounts

•		No	summary	of	results	for	national	patient	
surveys included

•		Patient	experience	themes	and	learning	not	
incorporated

We have revised information in our accounts to provide 
an overview of the actions we are undertaking to 
use the valuable information derived from both the 
national patient survey and our world class care patient 
experience programme.

•		No	breakdown	of	serious	incidents	numbers,	
themes and learning provided

We provided information in our accounts page 89 to 
90 in relation to serious incidents.

•		The	reference	to	RTT	delays	does	not	reflect	the	
extent of the issues and there is no mention of 
clinical harm reviews. 

We have included information in our accounts to 
provide an overview of the actions we are undertaking 
to in response to RTT delays and our clinical harm 
review.

•		Lack	of	safeguarding	adults	and	safeguarding	
children information

This is not an area that we routinely report on as part 
of our accounts. The trust will seek to review and 
consider how this can be integrated into our 2015/16 
quality accounts in the future

•		We	would	like	to	have	seen	further	detail	
regarding the CQC visit to Barnet Hospital, and 
actions taken

The trust has provided additional information within 
these accounts of our action plan provided to the CQC.
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Annex 2:

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the quality report

The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations to prepare quality 
accounts for each financial year.

Monitor has issued guidance to 
NHS foundation trust boards on the 
form and content of annual quality 
reports (which incorporate the above 
legal requirements) and on the 
arrangements that NHS foundation 
trust boards should put in place 
to support the data quality for the 
preparation of the quality report.

In preparing the quality report, 
directors are required to take steps 
to satisfy themselves that:

•		 	The	content	of	the	quality	report	
meets the requirements set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2014/15 and 
supporting guidance

•		 	The	content	of	the	quality	
report is not inconsistent with 
internal and external sources of 
information including:

-     Board minutes and papers  
for the period April 2014 to  
28 May 2015

-     Papers relating to quality 
reported to the board over  
the period April 2014 to  
28 May 2015

-     Feedback from commissioners 
dated 26 May 2015

-      Feedback from governors dated 
18 May 2015

-     Feedback from local Healthwatch 
organisations dated 13 May 2015

-      Feedback from overview and 
scrutiny committee dated 13 
May 2015

-     The trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 
of the Local Authority Social 
Services and NHS Complaints 
Regulations 2009, dated 30 July 
2014

-     The latest national patient  
survey 2014

-     The latest national staff survey 
2014

-     The head of internal audit’s 
annual opinion over the trust’s 
control environment dated 21 
May 2015

-      CQC intelligent monitoring 
report dated 18 December 2014

•		 	The	quality	report	presents	a	
balanced picture of the NHS 
foundation trust’s performance 
over the period covered

•		 	The	performance	information	
reported in the quality report is 
reliable and accurate

•		 	There	are	proper	internal	controls	
over the collection and reporting 
of the measures of performance 
included in the quality report, 
and these controls are subject to 
review to confirm that they are 
working effectively in practice

•		 	The	data	underpinning	the	
measures of performance 
reported in the quality report is 
robust and reliable, conforms to 
specified data quality standards 
and prescribed definitions, is 
subject to appropriate scrutiny 
and review and

•		 	The	quality	report	has	been	
prepared in accordance with 
Monitor’s annual reporting 
guidance (which incorporates 
the quality accounts regulations) 
(published at ww.monitor.gov.
uk/annualreportingmanual) as 
well as the standards to support 
data quality for the preparation 
of the quality report (available 
at www.monitor.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual).

The directors confirm to the best 
of their knowledge and belief they 
have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the 
quality report.

By order of the board.

Dominic Dodd  
Chairman

28 May 2015

David Sloman 
Chief executive

28 May 2015
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Appendix B

Independent auditors’ limited assurance report to the council of governors  
of royal free london nhs foundation trust on the annual quality report 

We have been engaged by the council of governors of the Royal Free 
London NHS Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance 
engagement in respect of Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust’s quality 
report for the year ended 31 march 2015 (the ‘quality report’) and specified 
performance indicators contained therein.

Scope and subject matter 

The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2015 subject to limited 
assurance (the “specified indicators”); marked with the symbol A  in 
the quality report, consist of the following national priority indicators as 
mandated by Monitor:

Specified Indicators Specified indicators criteria 

Percentage of incomplete pathways 
within 18 weeks for patients on 
incomplete pathways

Page 181 of quality report

Maximum waiting time of 62 days 
from urgent GP referral to first 
treatment for all cancers

Page 181 of quality report

Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors 

The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the 
quality report in accordance with the specified indicators criteria referred to 
on pages of the quality report as listed above (the “criteria”). The directors 
are also responsible for the conformity of their Criteria with the assessment 
criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual (“FT 
ARM”) and the “detailed requirements for quality reports 2014/15” issued 
by the independent regulator of NHS foundation trusts (“Monitor”). 

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance 
procedures, on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us 
to believe that:

•	 	The	quality	report	does	not	incorporate	the	matters	required	to	be	
reported on as specified in Annex 2 to Chapter 7 of the FT ARM and the 
“Detailed requirements for quality reports 2014/15”;

•	 	The	quality	report	is	not	consistent	in	all	material	respects	with	the	
sources specified below; and

•	 	The	specified	indicators	have	not	been	prepared	in	all	material	respects	
in accordance with the criteria and the six dimensions of data quality set 
out in the “2014/15 Detailed guidance for external assurance on quality 
reports”.

We read the quality report and consider whether it addresses the content 
requirements of the FT ARM and the “detailed requirements for quality 
reports 2014/15; and consider the implications for our report if we become 
aware of any material omissions. 
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We read the other information 
contained in the quality report and 
consider whether it is materially 
inconsistent with the following 
documents: 

	•	 	Board	minutes	for	the	period	
April 2014 to the date of signing 
the limited assurance report (the 
period)

•	 	Papers	relating	to	quality	
reported to the board over  
the period April 2014 to the date 
of signing the limited assurance 
report

•	 	Feedback	from	NHS	Barnet	
Clinical Commissioning Group 
dated 21 May 2015 

•	 	Feedback	from	NHS	Herts	Valleys	
Clinical Commissioning Group 
and East North Hertfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
dated 26 May 2015 

•	 	Feedback	from	governors	dated	
18 May 2015

•	 	Feedback	from	local	Healthwatch	
organisations, Healthwatch 
Camden and Healthwatch 
Barnet dated 13 May 2015

•	 	Feedback	from	the	London	
Borough of Barnet and London 
Borough of Camden overview 
and scrutiny committees dated 
13 May 2015

•	 	The	trust’s	complaints	report	
published under regulation 18 
of the Local Authority Social 
Services and NHS Complaints 
Regulations 2009, dated 30 July 
2014

•	 	The	latest	national	patient	survey	
dated 2014 

•	 	The	latest	national	staff	survey	
dated 2014

•	 	Care	Quality	Commission	
intelligent monitoring reports 
dated 18 December 2014

•	 	The	head	of	internal	audit’s	
annual opinion over the trust’s 
control environment dated 21 
May 2015

We consider the implications for 
our report if we become aware 
of any apparent misstatements 
or material inconsistencies with 
those documents (collectively, the 
“documents”). Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other 
information. 

We are in compliance with the 
applicable independence and 
competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales (“ICAEW”) 
Code of Ethics. Our team comprised 
assurance practitioners and relevant 
subject matter experts. 

This report, including the 
conclusion, has been prepared solely 
for the council of governors of the 
Royal Free London NHS Foundation 
Trust as a body, to assist the council 
of governors in reporting the Royal 
Free London NHS Foundation Trust’s 
quality agenda, performance and 
activities. We permit the disclosure 
of this report within the annual 
report for the year ended 31 March 
2015, to enable the council of 
governors to demonstrate they 
have discharged their governance 
responsibilities by commissioning 
an independent assurance report 
in connection with the indicators. 
To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than 
the council of governors as a body 
and the Royal Free London NHS 
Foundation Trust for our work or 
this report save where terms are 
expressly agreed and with our prior 
consent in writing. 

Assurance work performed 

We conducted this limited assurance 
engagement in accordance 
with International Standard on 
Assurance Engagements 3000 
“Assurance Engagements other 
than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information” issued by 
the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 
3000’). Our limited assurance 
procedures included: 

•	 	reviewing	the	content	of	the	
quality report against the 
requirements of the FT ARM 
and “detailed requirements for 
quality reports 2014/15”;

•	 	reviewing	the	quality	report	
for consistency against the 
documents specified above; 

•	 	obtaining	an	understanding	of	
the design and operation of 
the controls in place in relation 
to the collation and reporting 
of the specified indicators, 
including controls over third 
party information (if applicable) 
and performing walkthroughs to 
confirm our understanding;

•	 	based	on	our	understanding,	
assessing the risks that the 
performance against the 
specified indicators may be 
materially misstated and 
determining the nature, timing 
and extent of further procedures; 

•	 	making	enquiries	of	relevant	
management, personnel and, 
where relevant, third parties;

•	 	considering	significant	
judgements made by the NHS 
foundation trust in preparation 
of the specified indicators; 

•	 	performing	limited	testing,	on	
a selective basis of evidence 
supporting the reported 
performance indicators, and 
assessing the related disclosures; 
and

•	 reading	the	documents.
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A limited assurance engagement 
is less in scope than a reasonable 
assurance engagement. The nature, 
timing and extent of procedures 
for gathering sufficient appropriate 
evidence are deliberately limited 
relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement. 

Limitations 

Non-financial performance 
information is subject to more 
inherent limitations than financial 
information, given the characteristics 
of the subject matter and the 
methods used for determining such 
information. 

The absence of a significant body 
of established practice on which 
to draw allows for the selection 
of different but acceptable 
measurement techniques which 
can result in materially different 
measurements and can impact 
comparability. The precision of 
different measurement techniques 
may also vary. Furthermore, the 
nature and methods used to 
determine such information, as well 
as the measurement criteria and 
the precision thereof, may change 
over time. It is important to read the 
quality report in the context of the 
assessment criteria set out in the FT 
ARM the “detailed requirements for 
quality reports 2014/15” and the 
criteria referred to above. 

The nature, form and content 
required of quality reports are 
determined by Monitor. This  
may result in the omission of 
information relevant to other users, 
for example for the purpose of 
comparing the results of different 
NHS foundation trusts. 

In addition, the scope of our 
assurance work has not included 
governance over quality or non-
mandated indicators in the quality 
report, which have been determined 
locally by the Royal Free London 
NHS Foundation Trust.

Basis for disclaimer of conclusion 
– percentage of incomplete 
pathways within 18 weeks 
for patients on incomplete 
pathways

The percentage of incomplete 
pathways within 18 weeks for 
patients on incomplete pathways 
indicator requires the measurement 
of the time patients wait for 
consultant-led services from the 
date of receipt of referral by the 
trust. The clock start date is defined 
as the date that the referral is 
received by the trust, meeting the 
criteria set out by the Department 
of Health guidance. However, there 
is an error with the trust’s system 
for extracting the data which causes 
inaccuracies or omissions that 
cannot be quantified. This results 
in patient details being matched to 
incorrect clock start dates for the 
calculation of pathway lengths. 
As a result, we were unable to 
establish the clock start dates for 
the indicator and the length of 
incomplete pathways used to report 
this indicator.

Conclusion (including disclaimer 
of conclusion on the 18 weeks 
indicator)

Because of the significance of the 
matter described in the basis for 
disclaimer of conclusion paragraph, 
we have not been able to form a 
conclusion on the percentage of 
incomplete pathways within 18 
weeks for patients on incomplete 
pathways indicator.

Based on the results of our 
procedures, nothing has come to 
our attention that causes us to 
believe that:

•	 	The	quality	report	does	not	
incorporate the matters required 
to be reported on as specified 
in Annex 2 to Chapter 7 of 
the FT ARM and the “detailed 
requirements for quality reports 
2014/15”;

•	 	The	quality	report	is	not	
consistent in all material respects 
with the documents specified 
above; and

•	 	The	62-day	cancer	wait	indicator	
has not been prepared in all 
material respects in accordance 
with the criteria and the six 
dimensions of data quality set 
out in the “detailed guidance 
for external assurance on quality 
reports 2014/15”. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
London 
28 May 2015

The maintenance and integrity 
of the Royal Free London NHS 
FT’s website is the responsibility 
of the directors; the work carried 
out by the assurance providers 
does not involve consideration of 
these matters and, accordingly, 
the assurance providers accept no 
responsibility for any changes that 
may have occurred to the reported 
performance indicators or criteria 
since they were initially presented 
on the website.
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